
1. CALL TO ORDER

2. ROLL CALL

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

4. PRESENTATIONS/PROCLAMATIONS/ANNOUNCEMENTS

5. BLUE FOLDER ITEMS (SUPPLEMENTAL)
Blue folder (supplemental) items are additional back up materials to administrative reports, changes to the posted
agenda packet, and/or public comments received after the printing and distribution of the agenda packet for receive and
file.

5.A. FOR BLUE FOLDER DOCUMENTS APPROVED AT THE CITY COUNCIL
MEETING
RECOMMENDATION: Approved

6. PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS
This is the appropriate time for members of the public to make comments regarding items not listed on this agenda.
Pursuant to the Brown Act, no action will take place on any items not on the agenda.

7. CONSENT CALENDAR
Business items, except those formally noticed for public hearing, or those pulled for discussion are assigned to the
Consent Calendar. The Mayor or any Councilmember may request that any Consent Calendar item(s) be removed,
discussed, and acted upon separately. Items removed from the Consent Calendar will be taken up under the "Excluded
Consent Calendar" section below. Those items remaining on the Consent Calendar will be approved in one motion. The
Mayor will call on anyone wishing to address the City Council on any Consent Calendar item on the agenda, which has
not been pulled by Councilmembers for discussion.

  2 PORTUGUESE BEND ROAD
ROLLING HILLS, CA 90274

(310) 377-1521
   
AGENDA
Regular City Council Meeting

CITY COUNCIL
Monday, April 25, 2022

CITY OF ROLLING HILLS
7:00 PM

 
The meeting agenda is available on the City’s website. The City Council meeting will be live-streamed on the
City’s website. Both the agenda and the live-streamed video can be found here: 
https://www.rolling-hills.org/government/agenda/index.php 

Members of the public may submit written comments in real-time by emailing the City Clerk’s office at
cityclerk@cityofrh.net. Your comments will become part of the official meeting record. You must provide your

full name, but please do not provide any other personal information that you do not want to be published. 
Recordings to City Council meetings can be found here: https://www.rolling-

hills.org/government/agenda/index.php
Next Resolution No. 1295                                                   Next Ordinance No. 376

 

  

  

  

  

  

 CL_AGN_220425_CC_BlueFolderItem_7I.pdf
CL_AGN_220425_CC_BlueFolderItem_11F.pdf

 

  

1

https://www.rolling-hills.org/government/agenda/index.php
https://www.rolling-hills.org/government/agenda/index.php
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/0f278c1f6902d70365249a84e18b4c780.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1431651/CL_AGN_220425_CC_BlueFolderItem_7I.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1431700/CL_AGN_220425_CC_BlueFolderItem_11F.pdf


7.A. APPROVE AFFIDAVIT OF POSTING FOR THE CITY COUNCIL REGULAR
MEETING OF APRIL 25, 2022
RECOMMENDATION: Approve.

7.B. APPROVE MOTION TO READ BY TITLE ONLY AND WAIVE FURTHER
READING OF ALL ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS LISTED ON THE
AGENDA
RECOMMENDATION: Approve.

7.C. APPROVE THE FOLLOWING CITY COUNCIL MINUTES: APRIL 7, 2022, APRIL
11, 2022
RECOMMENDATION: Approve as presented.

7.D. PAYMENT OF BILLS
RECOMMENDATION: Approve as presented.

7.E. REPUBLIC SERVICES RECYCLING TONNAGE REPORT FOR MARCH 2022.
RECOMMENDATION: Receive and file.

7.F. APPROVE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT AND AUTHORIZE THE
CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT AMENDMENT WITH THE PALOS
VERDES PENINSULA LAND CONSERVANCY TO PROVIDE ONE-YEAR FIRE
FUEL MAINTENANCE SERVICE FOR PHASE 4 AREA
RECOMMENDATION: Approve as presented.

7.G. APPROVE RESPONSE TO LA WATER BOARD BOARD COMMENTS ON EWMP
ADDENDUM.
RECOMMENDATION: Approve as presented. 

7.H. ADOPT A RESOLUTION DENYING AN APPEAL AND UPHOLDING THE
COMMITTEE ON TREES AND VIEWS' DECISION ON A VIEW PRESERVATION
COMPLAINT - 61 EASTFIELD DRIVE (JUGE - COMPLAINANT) AND 59
EASTFIELD DRIVE (TAMAYO/SIERRA - VEGETATION OWNER)
RECOMMENDATION: Adopt Resolution No. 1294.

 

 CL_AGN_220425_CC_AffidavitofPosting.pdf
 

  

 CL_MIN_220407_CC_F.pdf
CL_MIN_220411_CC_F.pdf

 

 CL_AGN_220425_PaymentOfBills.pdf
 

 CL_AGN_220425_Rolling Hills YTD Tonnage Report.pdf
 

 PVPLC Reducing Fuel Load Project RH 2022(Phase 4)_Revised.pdf
Fourth Amendment to Fire Fuel Abatement (conservancy)-draft.pdf

 

 RollingHillsAddendum_RTCs(FinalDraft).pdf
PVP_EWMP_Sec_3.5.2(FinalDraft).pdf
Email from WaterBoard 040622.pdf
Rolling Hills Addendum Letter & Attachments 1.31.2022.pdf

 

 ResolutionNo1294_59-61_EastfieldDrive_JugeTamayo.pdf
Exhibit A - Photo Key and Photos.pdf
Exhibit B - April 2014 Deck Photo.pdf
Exhibit C - Arborist Report 59 - 61 Eastfield Dr 11-30-2021.pdf
CL_AGN_220328_ResolutionNo2021-21-CTV.pdf

2

https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/18e9ebd11136aaa5636f05e11887e1260.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1327429/CL_AGN_220425_CC_AffidavitofPosting.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/3cfa59e4dffe24db5827d88f5886003a0.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/4f04642c5157bca713cb85e759f817f90.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1329774/CL_MIN_220407_CC_F.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1329775/CL_MIN_220411_CC_F.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/bfd1121e871c22ff7f6fe99c0af7ae390.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1339276/CL_AGN_220425_PaymentOfBills.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/47ef14ea625452dbc885acdbc2ef8dca0.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1340873/CL_AGN_220425_Rolling_Hills_YTD_Tonnage_Report.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/cab4c6295336b4a640d8920ce5e3eba20.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1342238/PVPLC_Reducing_Fuel_Load_Project_RH_2022_Phase_4__Revised.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1343544/Fourth_Amendment_to_Fire_Fuel_Abatement__conservancy_-draft.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/2ac5b1841074bab73cb925feb1301b970.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1341968/RollingHillsAddendum_RTCs_FinalDraft_.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1341969/PVP_EWMP_Sec_3.5.2_FinalDraft_.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1342015/Email_from_WaterBoard_040622.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1342016/Rolling_Hills_Addendum_Letter___Attachments_1.31.2022.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/4d92c21eef5b396160df5cc1e31b627c0.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1343708/ResolutionNo1294_59-61_EastfieldDrive_JugeTamayo.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1343746/Exhibit_A_-_Photo_Key_and_Photos.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1343747/Exhibit_B_-_April_2014_Deck_Photo.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1343748/Exhibit_C_-_Arborist_Report_59_-_61_Eastfield_Dr_11-30-2021.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1343750/CL_AGN_220328_ResolutionNo2021-21-CTV.pdf


7.I. APPROVE THE CITY OF ROLLING HILLS AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021.
RECOMMENDATION: Approve the audited financial statements for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2021.

7.J. APPROVE MINOR ADDITION TO THE EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK AND
PERSONNEL POLICY MANUAL.
RECOMMENDATION: Approve as presented.

7.K. CONSIDER AND APPROVE AMENDED CITY MANAGER EMPLOYMENT
CONTRACT.
RECOMMENDATION: Approve as presented.

8. EXCLUDED CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS

9. COMMISSION ITEMS

10. PUBLIC HEARINGS

11. OLD BUSINESS AND NEW BUSINESS

11.A. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION OF REQUEST BY THE NEEDS OF
SENIORS COMMITTEE TO HOLD AN EVENT AT THE CITY HALL CAMPUS IN
JUNE.
RECOMMENDATION: Provide direction to staff.

11.B. DISCUSS POTENTIAL USES FOR THE CORONAVIRUS STATE AND LOCAL
FISCAL RECOVERY FUNDS.
RECOMMENDATION: Discuss and provide direction to staff.

11.C. REVIEW DESIGN PROGRESS FOR THE 8" SEWER MAIN ALONG ROLLING
HILLS ROAD; AND APPROVE AN AMENDED PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
AGREEMENT WITH NV5 FOR ADDITIONAL SERVICES TO COMPLETE
CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS.
RECOMMENDATION: Approve the additional services request from NV5 and
direct staff to prepare Amendment No. 1 to the service agreement with NV5 in
the amount of $92,411.

11.D. APPROVE LAYOUT OPTION 3 FOR THE CITY HALL ADA IMPROVEMENTS

 

 CL_AGN_220411_2021 Financial_Audit_Results-RH.pdf
CL_AGN_220411_City of Rolling Hills FS Final 04-08-22.pdf
CL_AGN_220411_City of Rolling Hills Report on IC Final 04-08-22.pdf
CL_AGN_220411_City of Rolling Hills Audit Communication Letter Final 04-08-22.pdf
CL_AGN_220425_Item7I_RH City Audit_PublicComment_Redacted.pdf

 

 HR_EHB_220425_Final.pdf
 

 SecondAmendment_CM_Agreement_ElaineJeng_2022_F.pdf
 

  

  

  

  

  

 2022-01-17 US Treasury - ARPA Final Rule - Guidance v2-c1.PDF
 

 CL_AGN_220314_CC_SewerMain_PortugueseBend_CostEstimate_2021.pdf
NV5_Rolling Hills Sewer Main Torrance Additions 3282022-2.pdf

 

3

https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/2189ec67abf03a2436b386e636e0f1da0.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1332473/CL_AGN_220411_2021_Financial_Audit_Results-RH.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1332474/CL_AGN_220411_City_of_Rolling_Hills_FS_Final_04-08-22.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1332475/CL_AGN_220411_City_of_Rolling_Hills_Report_on_IC_Final_04-08-22.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1332476/CL_AGN_220411_City_of_Rolling_Hills_Audit_Communication_Letter_Final_04-08-22.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1431641/CL_AGN_220425_Item7I_RH_City_Audit_PublicComment_Redacted.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/8e3eaded9ea6323fbbdb6df0c67f91b40.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1339611/HR_EHB_220425_Final.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/d69c0db15042d198d7d488cdd29f41e10.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1341237/SecondAmendment_CM_Agreement_ElaineJeng_2022_F.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/72f3aacc0e91f6efbcbb29b00021ad120.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/95ca8fef6a7a6e72f8a199c33b71619d0.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1342916/2022-01-17_US_Treasury_-_ARPA_Final_Rule_-_Guidance_v2-c1.PDF
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/28c5441c6c352fe4409b5136998ab52b0.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1276746/CL_AGN_220314_CC_SewerMain_PortugueseBend_CostEstimate_2021.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1337190/NV5_Rolling_Hills_Sewer_Main_Torrance_Additions_3282022-2.pdf


PROJECT, AND APPROVE AN AMENDED PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
AGREEMENT WITH PACIFIC ARCHITECTURE AND ENGINEERING, INC. TO
PROVIDE CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS.
RECOMMENDATION: Approve layout Option 3 and direct staff to prepare
Amendment No. 3 to the service agreement with Pacific Architecture and
Engineering, Inc. in the amount of $96,485.

11.E. REVIEW OF CITY OF MALIBU SIREN FEASIBILITY REPORT BY MISSION
CRITICAL PARTNERS, SUGGESTION BY RESIDENT, AND SUGGESTION BY
COUNCILMEMBER DIERINGER REGARDING NATIONAL OCEANIC AND
ATMOSPHERIC ADMINISTRATION (NOAA) WEATHER RADIO.
RECOMMENDATION: Receive presentation and provide direction to staff.

11.F. APPROVE FIRST AMENDMENT TO PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT
WITH HQE SYSTEMS INC. COVERING SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICES FOR A
NOT-TO-EXCEED AMOUNT OF $3500.
RECOMMENDATION: Approve professional services agreement as
presented.

12. MATTERS FROM THE CITY COUNCIL

12.A. DISCUSS SETTING TIME LIMITS FOR PUBLIC COMMENTS AND COUNCIL
COMMENTS ON AGENDA ITEMS. (MAYOR BLACK)
RECOMMENDATION: Consider and provide direction to staff.

12.B. DISCUSS HOLDING AN ANNUAL STATE OF THE CITY EVENT. (MIRSCH)
RECOMMENDATION: Consider and provide direction to staff.

12.C. DISCUSS TRACKING TIME SPENT BETWEEN CITY MANAGER AND
INDIVIDUAL COUNCIL MEMBERS. (MAYOR BLACK)
RECOMMENDATION: Consider and provide direction to staff.

12.D. CONSIDER POTENTIAL FORMATION OF SUBCOMMITTEE CONSISTING OF
MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL AND ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY
ASSOCIATION BOARD MEMBERS TO DISCUSS DRAINAGE ISSUES
CITYWIDE. (MAYOR BLACK)
RECOMMENDATION: Provide direction to staff.

 CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Improvements.pdf
CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option01.pdf
CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option01B.pdf
CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option02.pdf
CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option03.pdf

 

 April11-2022EmailKamranJahangard.pdf
Malibu_Siren Feasibility Report_14JULY2020_FINAL.pdf
NOAA Weather Radio.pdf
NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia.pdf
Amazon.comMidlandNOAAWeatherRadio.pdf
Sign up for Alert LA County.pdf

 

 CL_AGN_220411_CC_PSA_HQE_Amendment01.pdf
CL_AGN_220425_Item11F_HQE_SirenProject_PublicComment_Redacted.pdf

 

  

  

  

  

  

4

https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/3acee6d3beafe53c97208b339dc1bb500.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1296585/CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Improvements.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1296586/CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option01.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1296587/CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option01B.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1296588/CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option02.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1296589/CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option03.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/f1a543341e321b3e8934b1535e5c86f20.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1339848/April11-2022EmailKamranJahangard.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1339818/Malibu_Siren_Feasibility_Report_14JULY2020_FINAL.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1339857/NOAA_Weather_Radio.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1339858/NOAA_Weather_Radio_-_Wikipedia.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1339845/Amazon.comMidlandNOAAWeatherRadio.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1339859/Sign_up_for_Alert_LA_County.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/66d39c9597f87a7eeb3dd09393145ffe0.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1327346/CL_AGN_220411_CC_PSA_HQE_Amendment01.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1431683/CL_AGN_220425_Item11F_HQE_SirenProject_PublicComment_Redacted.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/5ebd8bd2f06dcd89da8407aa4a692b560.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/eb6586fd90736642b8487f2801657ba20.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/d5d27438fe023b5a47bb790a85f0821b0.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/a969dfef5066b8552c0676d8e8a3a3220.pdf


13. MATTERS FROM STAFF

13.A. FIRE FUEL ABATEMENT ENFORCEMENT AND CODE ENFORCEMENT CASES
QUARTERLY REPORT FOR THE FIRST QUARTER OF 2022 (JANUARY 1
THROUGH MARCH 31).
RECOMMENDATION: Receive and file.

14. RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION

14.A. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS CALIFORNIA GOVERNMENT
CODE SECTION 54957.6 CITY DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVE: CITY
MANAGER UNREPRESENTED EMPLOYEE: SENIOR MANAGEMENT ANALYST
CANDIDATE
RECOMMENDATION: None.

15. RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION

16. ADJOURNMENT
Next regular meeting: Monday, May 9, 2022 at 7:00 p.m. in the City Council Chamber,
Rolling Hills City Hall, 2 Portuguese Bend Road, Rolling Hills, California, 90274.

  

 Opened_Cases_Report_Q12022.pdf
Closed_Cases_Report_Q12022.pdf
All_Cases_Report_2021-2022.pdf

 

  

  

  

  
Notice:

Public Comment is welcome on any item prior to City Council action on the item.

Documents pertaining to an agenda item received after the posting of the agenda are available for review in
the City Clerk's office or at the meeting at which the item will be considered.

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), if you need special assistance to participate in
this meeting due to your disability, please contact the City Clerk at (310) 377-1521 at least 48 hours prior to the
meeting to enable the City to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility and accommodation for
your review of this agenda and attendance at this meeting.

5

https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/ede00c1f622a30380ff27d6e7c768def0.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1341297/Opened_Cases_Report_Q12022.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1341298/Closed_Cases_Report_Q12022.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1341299/All_Cases_Report_2021-2022.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/e98b785556af70e6d8321b9c968d4f1e0.pdf


Agenda Item No.: 5.A 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH, CITY CLERK / EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT TO
CITY MANAGER

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: FOR BLUE FOLDER DOCUMENTS APPROVED AT THE CITY COUNCIL
MEETING

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
None.
 
DISCUSSION:
None.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Approved.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
CL_AGN_220425_CC_BlueFolderItem_7I.pdf
CL_AGN_220425_CC_BlueFolderItem_11F.pdf

6

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1431651/CL_AGN_220425_CC_BlueFolderItem_7I.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1431700/CL_AGN_220425_CC_BlueFolderItem_11F.pdf


BLUE FOLDER ITEM (SUPPLEMENTAL) 
Blue folder (supplemental) items are additional back up materials to administrative reports, changes to the posted agenda packet, 

and/or public comments received after the printing and distribution of the agenda packet for receive and file. 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
April 25, 2022 

 

7.I APPROVE THE CITY OF ROLLING HILLS AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 
THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021. 

 
FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH, CITY CLERK/EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT TO THE CITY 
MANAGER 
 
 
CL_AGN_220425_Item7I_RH City Audit_PublicComment_Redacted.pdf 

7

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/attachment/1431641/CL_AGN_220425_Item7I_RH_City_Audit_PublicComment_Redacted.pdf


BLUE FOLDER ITEM (SUPPLEMENTAL) 
Blue folder (supplemental) items are additional back up materials to administrative reports, changes to the posted agenda packet, 

and/or public comments received after the printing and distribution of the agenda packet for receive and file. 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
April 25, 2022 

 

11.F APPROVE FIRST AMENDMENT TO PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
WITH HQE SYSTEMS INC. COVERING SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICES FOR A NOT-
TO-EXCEED AMOUNT OF $3500. 

 
FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH, CITY CLERK/EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT TO THE CITY 
MANAGER 
 
 
CL_AGN_220425_Item11F_HQE_SirenProject_PublicComment_Redacted.pdf 

8

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/attachment/1431683/CL_AGN_220425_Item11F_HQE_SirenProject_PublicComment_Redacted.pdf


Agenda Item No.: 7.A 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH,

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: APPROVE AFFIDAVIT OF POSTING FOR THE CITY COUNCIL
REGULAR MEETING OF APRIL 25, 2022

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
None.
 
DISCUSSION:
None.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Approve.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
CL_AGN_220425_CC_AffidavitofPosting.pdf

9

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1327429/CL_AGN_220425_CC_AffidavitofPosting.pdf


 
 

 
 

 
Administrative Report 

 
 

 
8.A., File # 1136             Meeting Date: 04/25/2022 
 
 
 
To: MAYOR & CITY COUNCIL 
 
From: Christian Horvath, City Clerk 
 
 
TITLE 
APPROVE AFFIDAVIT OF POSTING FOR THE CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING OF APRIL 25, 2022 
    
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA  ) 
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES )  SS 
CITY OF ROLLING HILLS  ) 
 
 

AFFIDAVIT OF POSTING 
 
In compliance with the Brown Act, the following materials have been posted at the locations below. 
 
Legislative Body  City Council 
 
Posting Type   Regular Meeting Agenda 
 
Posting Location  2 Portuguese Bend Road, Rolling Hills, CA 90274 
    City Hall Window 
 
Meeting Date & Time  April 25, 2022  7:00pm Open Session  
 
As City Clerk of the City of Rolling Hills, I declare under penalty of perjury, the document noted above was 
posted at the date displayed below. 
 
 
 
 
Christian Horvath, City Clerk 
 
Date: April 21, 2022 

10



Agenda Item No.: 7.B 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH,

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: APPROVE MOTION TO READ BY TITLE ONLY AND WAIVE FURTHER
READING OF ALL ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS LISTED ON THE
AGENDA

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
None.
 
DISCUSSION:
None.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Approve.
 
ATTACHMENTS:

11



Agenda Item No.: 7.C 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH,

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: APPROVE THE FOLLOWING CITY COUNCIL MINUTES: APRIL 7, 2022,
APRIL 11, 2022

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
None.
 
DISCUSSION:
None.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Approve as presented.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
CL_MIN_220407_CC_F.pdf
CL_MIN_220411_CC_F.pdf

12

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1329774/CL_MIN_220407_CC_F.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1329775/CL_MIN_220411_CC_F.pdf


MINUTES – CITY COUNCIL MEETING FIELD TRIP 
Thursday, April 7, 2022 
Page 1 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Rolling Hills City Council 
Thursday, April 7, 2022 

Adjourned Meeting 7:00 a.m. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
The City Council of the City of Rolling Hills met in person at 59 and 61 Eastfield Drive on the above date at 
7:00 a.m.  
 
2. ROLL CALL 
Councilmembers Present: Mirsch, Pieper, Wilson, Mayor Pro Tem Black, Mayor Dieringer  
Councilmembers Absent: None 
Staff Present:    John Signo, Planning & Community Services Director  

Melissa Flores, Administrative Clerk 
Others Present: Joe Juge, Denise Jacobs, Julio Sierra, Beatriz Tamayo, Edgar 

Coronado, Gordon Inman 
    
3. PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS – NONE 
 
4. FIELD TRIP  
 
4.A.  FIELD TRIP ON APPEAL OF COMMITTEE ON TREES AND VIEWS' DECISION ON VIEW 

PRESERVATION COMPLAINT - 61 EASTFIELD DRIVE (JUGE - COMPLAINANT) AND 59 
EASTFIELD DRIVE (TAMAYO/SIERRA – VEGETATION OWNER) 

 
Presentation by Planning & Community Services Director John Signo 
 
Mr. Juge explained the photographs. The Councilmembers observed the view from various view-points 
inside the residence. 
 
18. ADJOURNMENT:   7:19 A.M.     
  
The meeting was adjourned at 7:19 a.m on April 7, 2022 and the public hearing continued to the next regular 
meeting of the City Council scheduled to be held on Monday, April 11, 2022 beginning at 7:00 p.m. in the 
City Council Chamber at City Hall, 2 Portuguese Bend Road, Rolling Hills, California.  
 
All written comments submitted are included in the record and available for public review on the City website.  
 
        Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
        ____________________________________ 
        Christian Horvath, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved, 
 
 
____________________________________ 
James Black, M.D., Mayor 

13



MINUTES – CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
Monday, April 11, 2022 

Page 1 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Rolling Hills City Council 
Monday, April 11, 2022 

Regular Meeting 7:00 p.m. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

The City Council of the City of Rolling Hills met in person on the above date at 7:02 p.m. Mayor Bea Dieringer 
presiding. 
 
2. ROLL CALL 

Councilmembers Present: Mirsch, Pieper, Wilson, Mayor Pro Tem Black, Mayor Dieringer  
Councilmembers Absent: None 
Staff Present:    Elaine Jeng, City Manager 

Jane Abzug, City Attorney 
John Signo, Planning & Community Services Director  
Christian Horvath, City Clerk / Executive Assistant to the City Manager 

    
3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE - Mayor Dieringer  
 
4. PRESENTATIONS/PROCLAMATIONS/ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
4.A.  CITY COUNCIL REORGANIZATION 
 

Mayor Dieringer called for a reorganization of the City Council and opened the floor to nominations. 
 
Motion by Councilmember Mirsch, seconded by Councilmember Pieper to nominate Mayor Pro Tem Black 
to serve as Mayor. Motion carried unanimously with the following vote: 
 
AYES:  Mirsch, Wilson, Pieper, Black, Mayor Dieringer 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT:  None 
 

Motion by Mayor Black, seconded by Councilmember Mirsch to nominate Councilmember Wilson to serve 
as Mayor Pro Tem. Motion carried unanimously with the following vote: 
 
AYES:  Mirsch, Wilson, Pieper, Dieringer, Mayor Black  
NOES:  None 
ABSENT:  None 
 

Mayor Black presented a plaque of recognition and thanked former Mayor Dieringer for her service.  
 
Former Mayor Dieringer gave remarks on her term as Mayor, thanked her colleagues, staff and those in 
attendance. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Wilson thanked former Mayor Dieringer for her service. 
 
The following presented former Mayor Dieringer with certificates in recognition for her service: 

Jennifer Harbeck representing Congressman Ted Lieu 
 Liliana Pond representing State Senator Ben Allen 
 Aaron Forburger representing State Assemblymember Al Muratsuchi 

14



MINUTES – CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
Monday, April 11, 2022 

Page 2 

 Rolling Hills Estates Mayor Frank Zerunyan and Mayor Pro Tem Britt Huff 
 Palos Verdes Estates Mayor Victoria A. Lozzi 
 Rancho Palos Verdes Mayor Pro Tem Barbara Ferraro 
 Palos Verdes Library District Board President Brian Campbell 
 City Clerk Horvath on behalf of LA County Supervisor Hahn and her deputy Erika Velazquez 
 
Mayor Black called for a brief recess at 7:25 p.m. 
 
Mayor Black called the meeting back to order at 7:40 p.m. 
 
5. APPROVE ORDER OF THE AGENDA 
 

Mayor Black skipped this item. 
 
Mayor Black requested to move to the Consent Calendar. Without objection, so ordered. 
 
8. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
8.A.  APPROVE AFFIDAVIT OF POSTING FOR THE CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING OF APRIL 

11, 2022 
 
8.B.  APPROVE MOTION TO READ BY TITLE ONLY AND WAIVE FURTHER READING OF ALL 

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS LISTED ON THE AGENDA 
 
8.C.  APPROVE THE FOLLOWING CITY COUNCIL MINUTES: MARCH 28, 2022 
 
8.D.  PAYMENT OF BILLS 
 
8.E.  REPUBLIC SERVICES RECYCLING TONNAGE REPORT FOR FEBRUARY 2022 AND FORCE 

MAJEURE NOTIFICATION RELATED TO UNAVAILABILITY OF CVT FACILITY DUE TO FIRE 
 
8.F.  PULLED BY STAFF 
 
8.G.  PULLED BY COUNCILMEMBER DIERINGER 
 
Motion by Councilmember Dieringer, seconded by Councilmember Pieper to approve Consent Calendar 
excluding Items 8F and 8G. Motion carried unanimously with the following vote: 
 
AYES:  Dieringer, Pieper, Mirsch, Wilson, Mayor Black  
NOES:  None 
ABSENT:  None 
 
9.  EXCLUDED CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS  
 
8.G.  APPROVE FIRST AMENDMENT TO PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH HQE 

SYSTEMS INC. COVERING SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICES FOR A NOT-TO-EXCEED AMOUNT 
OF $3500.00 

 
Motion by Councilmember Pieper, seconded by Councilmember Dieringer to continue item to next meeting 
and direct staff to further explore National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) options that the 
City of Malibu has recently considered. Motion carried unanimously with the following vote: 
 
AYES:  Dieringer, Pieper, Mirsch, Wilson, Mayor Black  

15



MINUTES – CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
Monday, April 11, 2022 

Page 3 

NOES:  None 
ABSENT:  None 
 
Mayor Black requested to move to Item 14A. Without objection, so ordered. 
 
14. MATTERS FROM THE CITY COUNCIL  
 
14.A.  UPDATE ON ROLLING HILLS TENNIS COURTS IMPROVEMENTS TO ADD PICKLEBALL 

COURTS. (PIEPER) 
 
Presentation by Elaine Jeng, City Manager and Councilmember Pieper 
 
Public Comment: Gordon Inman, Alan Cherry, Tom Lieb 
 
Motion by Councilmember Pieper, seconded by Councilmember Dieringer to communicate scope of work to 
the Rolling Hills Community Association regarding converting Tennis Court 1 to permanent pickle ball courts 
and council discussion. Motion carried unanimously with the following vote: 
 
AYES:  Dieringer, Pieper, Mirsch, Wilson, Mayor Black  
NOES:  None 
ABSENT:  None 
 
Mayor Black requested to move to Item 13A. Without objection, so ordered. 
 
13. NEW BUSINESS  
 
13.A.  CONSIDER REQUEST FROM THE ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION NEEDS OF 

SENIORS COMMITTEE TO IMPROVE CITY HALL CAMPUS AND APPROVE SUGGESTED 
IMPROVEMENTS 

 
Presentation by Elaine Jeng, City Manager and Claudia Feld, Seniors Committee member 
 
Council directed staff to work with existing landscape architect vendor and bring back more information on 
this item at the May 23, 2022 meeting. 
 
Mayor Black requested to move to Item 4B. Without objection, so ordered. 
 
4. PRESENTATIONS/PROCLAMATIONS/ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
4.B.  PRESENTATION FROM REPUBLIC SERVICES ON CUSTOMER SERVICE 
 
Presentation by Dawn Harris, Municipal Relationship Manager, Republic Services 
 
Public Comment: Jim Aichele, Dustin McNabb 
 
Mayor Black moved to Item 7. Without objection, so ordered. 
 
7. PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS – NONE 
 

Mayor Black moved to Item 6. Without objection, so ordered. 
 
6. BLUE FOLDER ITEMS (SUPPLEMENTAL) 
 

16



MINUTES – CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
Monday, April 11, 2022 

Page 4 

Mayor Black noted there were Blue Folder Items. No action was taken to receive and file. 
 

Mayor Black moved to Item 10A. Without objection, so ordered. 
 
10.  COMMISSION ITEMS – NONE   
 
10.A.  ZONING CASE 21-29: REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT AND A 

VARIANCE TO ALLOW A NEW 934-SQUARE-FOOT STABLE AND EXISTING 3,500-SQUARE-
FOOT CORRAL TO BE LOCATED WITHIN THE REAR AND SIDE YARD SETBACKS AND 
EXCEED THE LOT COVERAGE FOR A PROPERTY LOCATED AT 29 CREST ROAD WEST (LOT 
174-C-2-MS), ROLLING HILLS, CA (PERRIN). 

 
Presentation by John Signo, Planning & Community Services Director 
 
Public Comment: Pat Perrin 
 
Motion by Councilmember Pieper, seconded by Councilmember Mirsch to receive and file. Motion carried 
unanimously with the following vote: 
 
AYES:  Dieringer, Pieper, Mirsch, Wilson, Mayor Black 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT:  None 
 
11. PUBLIC HEARINGS  
 
11.A.  CONTINUATION OF APPEAL OF COMMITTEE ON TREES AND VIEWS' DECISION ON VIEW 

PRESERVATION COMPLAINT - 61 EASTFIELD DRIVE (JUGE - COMPLAINANT) AND 59 
EASTFIELD DRIVE (TAMAYO/SIERRA - VEGETATION OWNER) 

 
Presentation by John Signo, Planning & Community Services Director 
 

Public Comment: Joseph Juge, Edgar Coronado, Denise Jacobs, Dr. Beatriz Tamayo 
 
Denise Jacobs provided a new picture to be entered into the record. 
 
Motion by Councilmember Pieper, seconded by Councilmember Mirsch to deny the appeal, uphold the Trees 
and Views Committee findings and direct the City Attorney to draft a resolution.  
 
Councilmember Dieringer offered a friendly amendment that the ridgeline of 59 Eastfield be included and 
that the view seeker bear the costs for the second phase of the initial remediation. Friendly amendment was 
accepted. 
 
Motion carried unanimously with the following vote: 
 
AYES:  Dieringer, Pieper, Mirsch, Wilson, Mayor Black 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT:  None 
 
14. MATTERS FROM THE CITY COUNCIL  
 
14.B.  DISCUSS HOLDING AN ANNUAL STATE OF THE CITY EVENT. (MIRSCH) 
 

Councilmember Mirsch requested continuing this item to the next meeting 

17



MINUTES – CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
Monday, April 11, 2022 

Page 5 

 
Mayor Black requested two agenda items for the next meeting. The first to discuss creating a time limit for 
public comment and council members on items. The second to discuss having the City Manager track her 
time with each Councilmember per week. 
 
15. MATTERS FROM STAFF  
 
City Manager Jeng noted that prior to the meeting staff received a comment response letter from the 
California Department of Housing and Community Development regarding the city’s 6 th Cycle Housing 
Element. 
 
16. RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION   
 

Mayor Black recessed the City Council to Closed Session at 9:58 p.m. 
 
16.A.  CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL: ANTICIPATED LITIGATION GOVERNMENT CODE 

SECTION 54956.9(d)(2) 
 
16.B.  CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS CALIFORNIA GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 

54957.6 CITY DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVE: CITY MANAGER  
UNREPRESENTED EMPLOYEE: SENIOR MANAGEMENT ANALYST CANDIDATE 

 
16.C.  CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 54957.6  

CITY'S DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVE: MAYOR BEA DIERINGER  
UNREPRESENTED EMPLOYEE: CITY MANAGER ELAINE JENG 

 
17. RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION 
 

The City Council reconvened to Open Session at 10:43 p.m. and there was no reportable action. 
 
18. ADJOURNMENT:   10:44 P.M.     

  
The meeting was adjourned at 10:44 p.m on April 11, 2022. The next regular meeting of the City Council is 
scheduled to be held on Monday, April 25, 2022 beginning at 7:00 p.m. in the City Council Chamber at City 
Hall, 2 Portuguese Bend Road, Rolling Hills, California. It will also be available via City’s website link at: 
https://www.rolling-hills.org/government/agenda/index.php 
 
All written comments submitted are included in the record and available for public review on the City website.  
 
        Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
        ____________________________________ 
        Christian Horvath, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved, 
 
 
____________________________________ 
James Black, M.D., Mayor 

18

https://www.rolling-hills.org/government/agenda/index.php


Agenda Item No.: 7.D 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH,

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: PAYMENT OF BILLS

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
None.
 
DISCUSSION:
None.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Approve as presented.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
CL_AGN_220425_PaymentOfBills.pdf

19

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1339276/CL_AGN_220425_PaymentOfBills.pdf


20



Agenda Item No.: 7.E 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH,

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: REPUBLIC SERVICES RECYCLING TONNAGE REPORT FOR MARCH
2022.

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
None.
 
DISCUSSION:
None.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Receive and file.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
CL_AGN_220425_Rolling Hills YTD Tonnage Report.pdf

21

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1340873/CL_AGN_220425_Rolling_Hills_YTD_Tonnage_Report.pdf


Year 2022

Franchise Y/N Y

 Month Commodity Tons Collected Tons Recovered Tons Disposed Diversion % 

Jan Greenwaste 98.26                      98.26                        -                         100.00%

Trash 156.54                    -                            156.54                   0.00%

Jan Total 254.80                  98.26                      156.54                  38.56%

Feb Greenwaste 93.00                      93.00                        -                         100.00%

Trash 134.41                    -                            134.41                   0.00%

Feb Total 227.41                  93.00                      134.41                  40.90%

Mar Greenwaste 111.44                    111.44                      -                         100.00%

Trash 183.40                    -                            183.40                   0.00%

Mar Total 294.84                  111.44                    183.40                  37.80%

Grand Total 777.05                  302.70                    474.35                  38.96%

111.44

CITY OF ROLLING HILLS RESIDENTIAL FRANCHISE
2022

Contract Requires 30% Household - 

Page 1 of 2

22



Agenda Item No.: 7.F 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH,

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: APPROVE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT AND
AUTHORIZE THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT
AMENDMENT WITH THE PALOS VERDES PENINSULA LAND
CONSERVANCY TO PROVIDE ONE-YEAR FIRE FUEL MAINTENANCE
SERVICE FOR PHASE 4 AREA

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
On March 28, 2022, the City Council voted unanimously to direct staff to prepare an
amendment with the Palos Verdes Peninsula Land Conservancy (PVPLC) for one year
maintenance of the Phase 4 area for a not to exceed amount of $32,400.00 by excluding
proposed specific southernmost sections of Acacia removal near Burma Road/Ichibod Trail.
 
DISCUSSION:

PVPLC has revised the budget but it still exceeds the City Council's maximum of $32,400 by
$2,500. The proposal is for $34,900 to cover an area of 6.5 acres that will take four weeks to
complete.  PVPLC indicates they are working with several contractors and this price reflects
their costs with oversight. They indicate they are not able to bring that budget lower.  If the
Council does not accept the exceedance, there are two options that can be considered: a)
reduce the area of acacia work to meet City's not to exceed amount; or b) remove the acacia
part of the project entirely.

 
FISCAL IMPACT:
One year maintenance of Phase 4 will cost $34,900.00 which will be taken from the General
Fund.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Approve as presented.
 
ATTACHMENTS:

23



PVPLC Reducing Fuel Load Project RH 2022(Phase 4)_Revised.pdf
Fourth Amendment to Fire Fuel Abatement (conservancy)-draft.pdf

24

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1342238/PVPLC_Reducing_Fuel_Load_Project_RH_2022_Phase_4__Revised.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1343544/Fourth_Amendment_to_Fire_Fuel_Abatement__conservancy_-draft.pdf


1  

 
 

Proposal to the City of Rolling Hills 

Fuel Load Reduction in 2022 

(Phase 4 Revised) 

Submitted by the Palos Verdes Peninsula Land Conservancy 
 
The Palos Verdes Peninsula Land Conservancy (Conservancy) is continues to be intimately 
aware of the fire concerns on the Palos Verdes Peninsula, and continues to discuss measures 
to reduce fire risk with the four peninsula cities. Conservancy staff members work with City of 
Rolling Hills staff to implement fuel modification work as required by County Department of 
Agriculture Weights and Measures as part of landowner responsibilities for fuel modification 
near adjacent homes as well as measures above and beyond. Additionally, the Conservancy 
clears over 90 acres of weeds in restoration sites within the Palos Verdes Nature Preserve and 
clears 30+ miles of trails annually. This weeding approach is very specialized and must be 
accomplished while complying with the NCCP/HCP implementation guidelines and respecting 
the natural resources on the preserve. We understand that the city desires to continue to 
prioritize efforts to reduce fuel load in Preserve areas, and the Conservancy understands that 
vegetation exists beyond current fuel mod zones that pose fire threats. Therefore, the 
Conservancy is offering technical expertise to aid the City and augment city staff in the effort 
to continue reduce fuel load vegetation by targeting the removal of invasive plants such as 
Acacia and Mustard and other non-native plants, which in turn improves habitat for local 
wildlife, including the federally threatened coastal California gnatcatcher, the cactus wren, a 
state species of concern and the federally endangered Palos Verdes Blue Butterfly. 

 
This proposal outlines the potential areas for this extra 2022 work. The areas identified in 
Portuguese Bend Reserve include the areas abutting and leading into Rolling Hills in Portuguese 
Canyon, Ishibashi Canyon and Paintbrush Canyon. In total, an approximate 6.5 acres are 
proposed for fuel load reduction in the Preserve. This work can be completed in less 
than 4 weeks by simultaneously removing Acacia and mowing dry brush in order to 
complete this work in a timely manner during fire season. For these additional 
efforts, the Conservancy requests a one-time grant from the city up to $34,900 for 
the proposed work outlined herein. The Conservancy understands the city’s timing 
considerations and would be prepared to begin the work as soon as funding is made available. 

 
The Conservancy has identified the priority removal of tall Acacia shrubs due to their combustible 
nature (Acacia shrub contain an estimated 90% dry plant matter and volatile resins) and their 
prevalence throughout the Preserve and border areas. The locations for the proposed Acacia 
removal were chosen due to prior fires occurring in those areas, proximity to homes and risk to 
the community as well as the ecological benefits of invasive plant removal. Fire agencies agree 
that Acacia is a highly flammable plant and that it should be removed wherever possible. It was 
included as a high-hazard plant in the L.A. County Fire Department’s recently published “Ready! 

25



2  

Set! Go!” pamphlet. This proposal also includes the removal of other non-native shrubs and trees 
like Chinese Pistache, Myoporum and Ash trees. Mustard when dry, continues to be a high fire 
risk species. The continued expansion of mowing areas is also included in this proposal. 

 
The Conservancy, as Habitat Managers for the Preserve, has qualified experts on staff with the 
experience required to oversee the work to be performed and will assure the correct and safe 
removal of the invasive plants using the best techniques at the most efficient cost. The results of 
this work will be shared with the City provided at the conclusion of the work performed. 

 
Where possible and with simpler tasks, volunteers will be deployed to augment the work volume 
and control costs. In ongoing maintenance activities, the Conservancy will create internship and 
volunteer opportunities for invasive plant management to keep the Acacia from re-invading the 
areas and to assist in monitoring activities. In this way, additional valuable learning opportunities 
will be made available to local youth. 

 
As projects are completed and conditions are assessed, restoration in these locations may be 
appropriate and funding may be pursued, since this proposal does not include replanting in the 
Acacia removal sites. 

 
Acacia Removal 
Approximately 1 acre 

 
These Acacia removal sites are situated in the northern portion of Portuguese Bend Reserve along 
the border with the city of Rolling Hills. A fire occurred at this location in 2009 burning 
approximately 230 acres. Much of the vegetation was burned, including the non-native Acacia, 
which has since begun to grow back from stump sprouting and seed germination. 

 
It is recommended that crews enter the area on foot as possible and remove shrubs with 
chainsaws and lighter equipment. Trees should be chipped in designated areas and treated to 
prevent regrowth. The site will be monitored for seed germination and removal. 

 
The Acacia throughout this area totals approximately 1 acre. This site is known habitat of the 
federally threatened coastal California gnatcatcher and the cactus wren, a state species of 
concern as well as other species of concern. 

 
Mowing Area 
Approximately 5.5 acres 

 
There is a large stand of invasive mustard in west of Paintbrush Canyon that is dry and can be 
mowed. This site is adjacent to historical farmland and were disked in subsequent years, so 
the loose soils have provided a disturbance regime which is particularly favorable to mustard 
and non-native grasses and weeds. Approximately 5.5 acres of mustard is at this location. 
Slopes are very steep and high quality coastal sage scrub habitat is scattered throughout the 
slope. Careful consideration to not damage native plants and close oversight will be needed. 
In response to community concern about the vast expanse of dry mustard growth at 
Portuguese Bend Reserve, the Conservancy will oversee mowing in this area and conduct 
bird nesting surveys.  

26



10  

 
Acacia Removal Site in Red Polygon, Mowing Sites in Blue 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

27



11  

Budget 
 

The budget reflects a typical detailed tree and shrub removal project within the preserve with 
minimal disturbance to native habitat and to the surrounding vegetation, following NCCP/HCP 
protocols. Careful non-native tree removals proposed in this project, increase the habitat value 
for the federally threatened coastal California gnatcatcher and cactus wren, a state species of 
concern, as well as other native species while providing public benefit. These costs reflect the 
estimated time it would take the contractors to complete the project using hand tools and 
machinery to either chip tree material or haul plant material offsite and oversight and bird 
monitoring by Conservancy biologists to assure that best management practices are 
implemented (ie. minimization and avoidance measures such as nesting bird surveys are required 
by the NCCP/HCP). 

 
These costs are based on best estimates provided by contractors for the Acacia removal and for 
mowing as two separate projects. For maximum benefit for fuel load reduction and habitat, 
both projects are recommended to be completed concurrently. 

 
 

Project Acres Budget 

Acacia Cutting and Chipping ~1 $9,100 
Mowing of mustard ~5.5 $25,800 
One-time Project Total ~6.5 $34,900 

28



12  

Other Project Considerations 
 

This project is a worthwhile investment into the long-term benefit of the communities adjacent 
to the open space and wildlife within. While more costly per acre to implement new, labor- 
intensive work than annual fuel modification weed whacking efforts, removing Acacia and other 
non-native trees is a positive, visible impact to the landscape and a one-time project cost to the 
City in these target areas. This is unlike areas of mustard which, while needed to reduce fire 
threat, require annual treatment and ongoing maintenance costs. To help ensure that this 
investment is successful, the Conservancy recommends annual monitoring of areas to prevent 
regrowth. This project strategy is supported by the Fire Department, which has identified Acacia 
removal as a priority effort to reduce fire fuel load in the Preserve. This project is also 
responding to the nearby community requests to respond to nuisance Acacia and mustard near 
homes on the Preserve border. 

 
 

Community Partnerships 
 

As part of the Conservancy’s collaborative approach, we partner with various organizations to 
complete projects and provide various benefits to the community. If the timing and logistics are 
appropriate, we would work with some of our partner organizations to add to the costs savings. 
We work with the Los Angeles Zoo and Botanical Gardens which accept fresh Acacia greenery 
for the enhancement of their animal’s physical and mental health. We will save many of the 
straight long branches from the Acacia tree for delineation of trails and to provide ground snags 
for lizards and insects. We also have a partnership with the local schools that offer 
woodworking classes for instructional teaching. Lastly, if the material does not contain seeds, 
we will use the chipped wood as a mulch in fuel modification zones to keep weeds down into 
the future. 

 
The Conservancy will also engage the local colleges with applicable internships which allow 
students to gain a better understanding of the natural world, resource management and gain 
experience to prepare to enter the workforce.  Thousands of hours of intern assistance with 
projects have been logged and counting. By engaging these students who span from across 
the globe, we are creating a lasting experience and leaving a lasting impression of the great 
natural habitat that exists on the peninsula. 
 
Currently the Conservancy is hosting an Americorp team and if schedule permits, the team 
will assist with this project. 

 
 

Potential for Restoration and Supplemental Work 
 

As these projects are completed, the cleared land can provide opportunity for habitat restoration 
and enhancement. A species that is potentially applicable to many of the local habitat types of 
Palos Verdes, is our local cactus. While no plant is fireproof, there are certain characteristics 
which make some plants more resistive to fire, such as cactus. Where applicable cactus can be 

29



13  

planted and maintained until establishment, if supplemental funding is available. Mature cactus 
holds a mutual relationship with the cactus wren, a state species of concern, since the cacti 
needles protect young nestlings from predators, providing the best habitat. 
 
To make a larger impact, the Conservancy typically plants mature cactus that is appropriate for 
immediate nesting, giving us more value per dollar spent. The approximate cost for planting and 
maintaining a 1 acre cactus restoration project over a 5 year span is approximately $30,000, and 
the Conservancy would be pleased to provide a restoration plan for lands along the Rolling 
Hills border of the Preserve for the benefit of community and wildlife. 

 

30



 
Fire Fuel Abatement  
Fourth Amendment to Agreement   

 

- 1 -

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF ROLLING HILLS 
 

FOURTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR FIRE FUEL ABATEMENT 
 
 
 

 THIS FOURTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR FIRE FUEL ABATEMENT is 
made and entered into as of April 25, 2022 by and between the CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, a 
municipal corporation ("City") and the PALOS VERDES PENINSULA LAND 
CONSERVANCY, a California public benefit corporation ("Conservancy"). 
 
 

R E C I T A L S  
 

 
 A. City and Conservancy entered into an Agreement for Fire Fuel Abatement dated 
October 21, 2019 whereby Conservancy is obligated to remove the fire fuel on the land under 
the City’s control as a fire hazard abatement measure for the direct benefit of Rolling Hills 
residents (the “Agreement”). 
 
 B. In 2020, the City paid Conversancy the fixed sum of $34,200 for services rendered 
under the Agreement. 
 
 C. City and Conservancy entered into a First Amendment to Agreement for Fire 
Fuel Abatement dated June 8, 2020 to expand the scope of work and increase the cost to 
include additional areas of work and work days for acacia and non-native shrub/tree removal 
and mustard mowing services (the “First Amendment”). 
 
 D. In 2020, the City paid Conversancy the fixed sum of $50,000 for services rendered 
under the First Amendment. In 2020, the City also paid Conservancy $12,000 for annual 
mowing services. The total amount the City paid to the Conservancy in 2020, for all services 
was $96,200. 
 
 E. City and Conservancy entered into a Second Amendment to Agreement for Fire 
Fuel Abatement dated July 13, 2021 to expand the scope of work and add funds for the 
expanded scope of work (the “Second Amendment”). In 2021, the City paid Conservancy the 
fixed sum of $119,800. 
 

31



 
Fire Fuel Abatement  
Fourth Amendment to Agreement   

 

- 2 -

 F. On February 28, 2022, City and Conservancy entered into a Third Amendment to 
Agreement for Fire Fuel Abatement to expand the scope of work for phase III maintenance in 
2022 and add funds for the expanded scope of work (the “Third Amendment”).  
 
 G. City and Conservancy now desire to enter into this Fourth Amendment to the 
Agreement for Fire Fuel Abatement to expand the scope of work for phase IV work and add 
funds for the expanded scope of work (the “Fourth Amendment”).  
 
 H. Conservancy has represented to City that it has the expertise, experience, and 
qualifications to perform or cause the performance of the services. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the covenants and 
agreements set forth below, City and Conservancy agree as follows: 
 
1. City and Conservancy agree to amend and supplement the Scope of Services attached to 
the Agreement as Exhibit A, the Scope of Services (Supplemental) attached to the Second 
Amendment as Exhibit A, and the Scope of Services (Second Supplemental) attached to the 
Third Amendment as Exhibit A with the Scope of Services (Third Supplemental) attached to 
this Fourth Amendment as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference.   
   
2. Section 2 “Compensation” of the Agreement is amended to read as follows: 
 
 A. In 2021, City shall pay Conservancy the fixed sum of $87,000 for the services 
described in Exhibit A (Supplemental), and $32,800 for mowing services ($12,000 for annual 
mowing services and $20,800 for follow up mustard mowing services), for a total amount not 
to exceed $119,800, and representing the total compensation for all work, labor, equipment, 
materials and expenses incurred by Conservancy in 2021. Conservancy shall submit an invoice 
to City upon completion of the services and the City will make payment within 10 days of the 
close of the month in which work was performed.  
 
 B. In 2022, City shall pay Conservancy for the services described in Exhibit A 
(Second Supplemental) and Exhibit A (Third Supplemental) $72,600 for mowing services 
($37,800 for annual mowing services and $34,800 for follow up mustard mowing services) and 
$9,100 for acacia cutting and chipping for a total amount not to exceed $81,700, representing 
the total compensation for all work, labor, equipment, materials and expenses incurred by 
Conservancy in 2022. Conservancy shall submit an invoice to City upon completion of the 
services and the City will make payment within 10 days of the close of the month in which 
work was performed.  
 
 C. In 2023, City shall pay Conservancy $20,800 for follow up mustard mowing 
services.  
 
         D.   Prevailing Wage.  Conservancy or its contractor shall abide be the minimum 
prevailing rate of wages as determined by the State of California, Department of Industrial 
Relations for each craft, classification, or type of workman employed to carry out provisions of 

32



 
Fire Fuel Abatement  
Fourth Amendment to Agreement   

 

- 3 -

the Agreement.  During the term of this Agreement, Conservancy shall keep on file sufficient 
evidence of its employee compensation to enable verification of compliance of Prevailing 
Wages as established by State of California, Department of Industrial Relations. 
 
3. All terms and conditions of the Agreement not amended by the First Amendment, 
Second Amendment, Third Amendment, and this Fourth Amendment remain in full force and 
effect. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto for themselves, their heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors, and assigns do hereby agree to the full performance of the 
covenants herein contained and have caused this Third Amendment to be executed by setting 
hereunto their names, titles, hands, and seals this 25th day of April 2022. 
 
 
CONSERVANCY:  ______________________________________________________ 
 
    ______________________________________________________ 
               (Title) 
 

CITY:______________________________________________________________________ 
Elaine Jeng, City Manager of the City of Rolling Hills 

 
Attested:_____________________________________________________________________ 

Christian Horvath, City Clerk of the City of Rolling Hills 
 
Date: _________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

33



 
Fire Fuel Abatement  
Fourth Amendment to Agreement   

 

- 4 -

EXHIBIT A 
(THIRD SUPPLEMENTAL) 

 
 
 

34



Agenda Item No.: 7.G 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: JOHN SIGNO, DIRECTOR OF PLANNING & COMMUNITY SERVICES

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: APPROVE RESPONSE TO LA WATER BOARD BOARD COMMENTS
ON EWMP ADDENDUM.

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
On January 31, 2022, an Addendum to the Palos Verdes Peninsula Enhanced Watershed
Management Program (EWMP Addendum) to include Rolling Hills as an 85th%, 24-hour
runoff retention area was submitted to the California Regional Water Quality Control Board
(Water Board). On April 6, 2022, the Water Board provided the City with comments on the
EWMP Addendum that the City must address by May 13, 2022.
 
DISCUSSION:
The EWMP Addendum consists of two parts:
 

A detailed matrix of itemized changes to the 2021 EWMP, organized by EWMP section
and formatted in the strikeout/replacement format requested by Water Board staff; and
A new narrative subsection 3.5.2 devoted to 85th percentile, 24-hour retention areas with
a discussion of the Rolling Hills Nature-Based Runoff Retention Area.

 
The EWMP Addendum has been shared with the Palos Verdes Peninsula EWMP group and
they are not opposed to the City of Rolling Hills joining.
 
The Water Board's comments are summarized below:

1. Is the City reporting no natural flows from Sepulveda Canyon? If in the future there are
natural flows, how will the City distinguish between natural flows and stormwater runoff?

2. Include a summary of hydrologic analysis in the new Section 3.5.2.
3. The remaining three comments deal with including Rolling Hills in the tables and other

discussions.
 
The City has prepared responses and modified Section 3.5.2 to address the Water Board's
comments which are attached.
 

35



FISCAL IMPACT:
Expenditures will be taken from the FY 2021-2022 General Fund. This includes McGowan
Consulting's time for responding to comments which is a part of McGowan's contract for this
fiscal year.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Approve as presented.  
 
ATTACHMENTS:
RollingHillsAddendum_RTCs(FinalDraft).pdf
PVP_EWMP_Sec_3.5.2(FinalDraft).pdf
Email from WaterBoard 040622.pdf
Rolling Hills Addendum Letter & Attachments 1.31.2022.pdf

36

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1341968/RollingHillsAddendum_RTCs_FinalDraft_.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1341969/PVP_EWMP_Sec_3.5.2_FinalDraft_.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1342015/Email_from_WaterBoard_040622.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1342016/Rolling_Hills_Addendum_Letter___Attachments_1.31.2022.pdf


 

 
INCORPORATED JANUARY 24, 1957 

 
 

 

NO. 2 PORTUGUESE BEND ROAD 

ROLLING HILLS, CA  90274 

(310) 377‐1521 

FAX (310) 377‐7288 

 
May 13, 2022 
 
Renee Purdy, Executive Officer 
California Regional Water Quality Control Board 
Los Angeles Region 
320 W. 4th Street, Suite 200 
Los Angeles, CA 90013 
 
Via email: MS4stormwaterRB4@waterboards.ca.gov 
 
Attention:  Dr. LB Nye (LB.Nye@waterboards.ca.gov) 

Ivar Ridgeway (Ivar.Ridgeway@waterboards.ca.gov)   
Rebecca Christmann (Rebecca.Christmann@waterboards.ca.gov) 

 
Subject:  Response to Regional Board Comments on the Addendum to the Palos Verdes 

Peninsula EWMP to include the City of Rolling Hills 
 
Dear Ms. Purdy: 
 
The City of Rolling Hills (Rolling Hills or City) is providing this letter in response to comments received via 
email from Regional Board staff on the Addendum to the Palos Verdes Peninsula EWMP to include the 
City of Rolling Hills dated April 6, 2022 (Addendum).  The following contains a detailed response to each 
of the numbered comments provided, which are included in italics below for reference. The noted changes 
will be incorporated into the revised Palos Verdes Peninsula EWMP to be submitted separately by the 
Peninsula Watershed Management Group (Peninsula WMG). 

1. It was previous[ly] reported that Sepulveda Canyon, George F. Canyon, Bent Springs Canyon, 
and Klondike Canyon are known to contain natural flows. (Rolling Hills Non-Storm Water 
Screening and Monitoring Program, November 2014) Is the City now reporting no natural flows 
from Sepulveda Canyon? If in the future there are natural flows, how will the City distinguish 
between natural flows and stormwater runoff?  

Response:  The City is indeed reporting no natural flows discharging from Sepulveda Canyon 
based on two years of continuous flow monitoring.  This data is further supported by ten years of 
monthly dry weather observations at the downstream Machado Lake Nutrient TMDL monitoring 
site which also indicate that there has been no natural baseline flow reaching the downstream 
storm drain system.  The information previously used for the Non-Stormwater Screening and 
Monitoring Program (2014) to identify Sepulveda canyon as having natural flow was that its 
upper reaches are shown as a blue line stream on the USGS quadrangle map and it was 
mentioned as having a year-round spring in a published book by a local naturalist (dating from 
the 1970s).   
 
If dry weather baseline flow were to be observed in Sepulveda Canyon in the future, then a 

37



Page 2 of 2 

 
 

source investigation would be conducted to identify the source(s) of the flow. If prohibited non-
stormwater discharges and other non-natural sources could not be ruled out or otherwise 
eliminated through such an investigation and baseline natural flows were to continue, the City 
would work with Regional Board staff to propose an appropriate methodology for continued 
verification of the City’s 85th%, 24-hr runoff retention status. The City understands that natural 
flows are not subject to regulation under the MS4 Permit and as such, it is only storm flows and 
conditionally exempt, non-essential non-stormwater discharges that are to be retained. 

2. In the new Section 3.5.2, include a summary of the hydrologic analysis conducted as discussed 
in your letter.  

Response: A summary of the hydrologic analysis as discussed in the City’s January 27, 2021 
transmittal letter submitted with the draft Addendum will be included in Section 3.5.2 of the 
revised Palos Verdes Peninsula EWMP. 

3. In Section 2.3.1, does Table 2-15 on page 2-29, include the land uses within Rolling Hills? If not, 
does this Table need to be updated to include the land uses in Rolling Hills?  

Response: Table 2-15 in Section 2.3.1 on page 2-29 was excerpted from the Peninsula Adaptive 
Management Report prepared in 2018 and does not include Rolling Hills land use.  This table will 
be replaced with a table that does include Rolling Hills land use in the revised Palos Verdes 
Peninsula EWMP.  

4. Footnote (c) of Table 3-1, page 3-11, states, “Does not include non-Peninsula EWMP drainage 
area.” Is this statement still valid now that Rolling Hills is joining the WMP?  

Response: Footnote (c ) of Table 3-1 on page 3-11 in the Palos Verdes Peninsula EWMP will be 
modified to state:  “Does not include Rolling Hills 85%, 24-hr stormwater runoff retention area” .  

5. Update the Peninsula WMP to include the modifications outlined in the Addendum to the Palos 
Verdes Peninsula EWMP to include the City of Rolling Hills.  

The modifications outlined in the Addendum to the Palos Verdes Peninsula EWMP to include the 
City of Rolling Hills will be made in the revised Palos Verdes Peninsula EWMP to be submitted 
separately by the Peninsula WMG.  

 
Rolling Hills appreciates the opportunity to address LA Water Board staff’s comments. If you require 
additional clarification, please do not hesitate to contact John Signo or me at 310-377-1521 or via email 
(EJeng@CityofRH.net and JSigno@CityofRH.net ). 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Elaine Jeng, P.E. 
City Manager 
 
 

38



3.5.2 85th Percentile, 24‐hour Runoff Retention Areas 
As  provided  in  Order  R4‐2021‐0105  Part  IX.A.4.k., Watershed Management  Programs  may 
demonstrate that strategies, control measures, and BMPs cumulatively retain the runoff volume 
from the 85th percentile, 24‐hour storm event for the drainage area tributary to the applicable 
receiving water and for such areas an RAA is not required. Furthermore, as provided in Order R4‐
2021‐0105 Part X.B.2.b.iii., a Permittee is deemed in compliance with final WQBELs and receiving 
water limitations if it has retained all conditionally exempt, non‐essential non‐stormwater and 
all stormwater runoff up to and including the volume equivalent to the 85th percentile, 24‐hour 
event for the drainage area tributary to the applicable receiving water provided the Permittee is 
implementing  all  actions  and  schedules  in  an  approved Watershed Management  Program.  
Watershed areas that fully retain the 85th percentile, 24‐hour runoff volume and were excluded 
from the RAA analysis are shown in Figure 3.12 and described in the subsequent narrative. 

 
Figure 3‐12  85th Percentile, 24‐Hour Runoff Retention Areas Excluded from RAA 

 
 
   

39



Rolling Hills Nature‐Based Runoff Retention Area 

The City of Rolling Hills  (Rolling Hills)  is a  small, entirely  residential  semi‐rural  community of 

single‐family homes with fewer than 2,000 residents in three square miles. By design, it is a model 

of low‐impact development utilizing nature‐based solutions for management of stormwater.  Its 

zoning  code  includes  strict  standards  for  development  ratios  on  each  property  and  limits 

disturbed area during development.  A substantial area of land in Rolling Hills is constrained from 

development due to steep hillsides and canyons; the use of these areas as wildlife habitat and  

for native vegetation is emphasized. Rolling Hills’ zoning code further promotes the preservation 

and appreciation of open space by requiring easements for equestrian/hiking trails on all  lots. 

There are approximately 30 miles of unpaved equestrian/hiking trails throughout the city.1 

Under Rolling Hills municipal code2, only 40% of the net area of a residential lot may be disturbed 

during  construction  and  the  remaining  area  of  the  lot  must  remain  in  its  natural,  pre‐

development state. Only 35% of the net  lot area may be developed with  impervious surfaces, 

including structures, patios, and other paved areas. Given that the minimum  lot size  in Rolling 

Hills  is  1  acre, with many  substantially  larger  lots,  the  limitation  on  lot  coverage  preserves 

significant permeable area throughout the city. Additionally, driveways may not cover more than 

20% of the area of the yard in which they are located, and uncovered motor courts/parking pads 

may not cover more than 10% of the yard in which they are located.  

Roads within the City have many green street features. They are designed as narrow, two‐lane 

undivided winding roads 20 to 25  feet wide with rolling to steep grades  lined with significant 

naturalized landscaping. There are no sidewalks or curb‐and‐gutter systems, and roads are not 

designed to be stormwater conveyance systems.3  

Stormwater  run‐off  that  is not  contained on properties  is  conveyed  through Rolling Hills  via 

natural,  soft  bottom,  vegetated  drainage  courses/canyons  (see  Figure  3‐13),  providing 

disconnection of  impervious developed areas and ample opportunity  for natural bioretention 

and  infiltration as described  in Section 2.3.1: Pollutant Fate and Transport Mechanisms within 

the Watershed. There  is  limited public  infrastructure and no city‐owned or maintained storm 

drains,  roads,  sidewalks,  or  curb‐and‐gutter,  though  there  are  some  limited,  discontinuous 

drainage  improvements  owned/operated  by  the  Los  Angeles  County  Flood  Control  District 

(LACFCD).   

 
 

                                                       
1 City of Rolling Hills 1990. General Plan – Land Use Element. June 25, 1990. 
2 Rolling Hills Municipal Code, Title 17 
https://library.municode.com/ca/rolling_hills/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT17ZO  
3 City of Rolling Hills 1990. General Plan – Circulation Element. June 25, 1990. 

40



 
Figure 3‐13 Rolling Hills Nature‐Based Stormwater Runoff Retention Area 

The net effect of Rolling Hills’ planning and land development standards along with its extensive 
network of natural canyon drainage systems is to promote retention and infiltration, creating a 
system of nature‐based solutions for stormwater management. Along with the Minimum Control 
Measures, Non‐Stormwater Discharge Measures, and Targeted Non‐Structural Control Measures 
described  in Sections 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3, this system of nature‐based runoff retention measures 
effectively  retains  runoff  from  the 85%, 24‐hr  rain event within Rolling Hills as demonstrated 
through monitoring. 
 
Continuous flow monitoring was conducted in Sepulveda Canyon in Rolling Hills for two complete 
wet‐weather seasons, from October 26, 2020 through April 2022. Sepulveda Canyon is the largest 
canyon system within the Machado Lake tributary area of City, and the second largest in the City 
as a whole. It extends from the top of the Palos Verdes Peninsula at the drainage divide between 
the Machado Lake and Santa Monica Bay watersheds, running northward to the City’s northern 
boundary. Sepulveda Canyon consists of approximately 280 acres  lying entirely within Rolling 
Hills with tributary land use representative of the City as a whole.  
 

Google Earth

41



The  continuous  flow monitoring was  conducted  using  an  ultra‐sonic  sensor  and  data  logger 
within  a  culvert  at  the  Middleridge  Road  crossing  (33.773522,  ‐118.348538),  which  is  an 
accessible  location near  the bottom of  the canyon suitable  for  flow monitoring. No  flow was 
recorded by  the Sepulveda Canyon monitoring equipment during  two  complete wet  seasons 
except for during one intense rain event that occurred from December 29 ‐ 30, 2021. Monthly 
visual  field  inspections  conducted  between  November  2020  and  June  2021  confirmed  the 
absence of flows and documented the site conditions during storm events.  In Rolling Hills the 
85th %, 24‐hr rain event ranges from 1.0 ‐ 1.1 inches, depending on location. From October 26, 
2020, through April 30, 2022, there were four (4) rainfall events greater than or equal to (≧) the 
85th%, 24‐hr event with numerous lesser rainfall events occurring.  No flow was measured at the 
Sepulveda Canyon monitoring station during three of the ≧85th%, 24‐hr rain events which ranged 
from 1.13 to 1.38 inches of rainfall, nor was any flow measured during the smaller rain events.  
The fourth large rain event, which occurred from December 29‐30, 2021, was more intense and 
more than twice the 85th% 24‐hour storm depth; the LA County rain gauge at the Rolling Hills Fire 
Station recorded 2.36 inches in the 24‐hour period from 10am on December 29th through 10am 
on December 30th, 2021, which was  in excess of  the 95%, 24‐hour storm depth.  In  total,  the 
Rolling Hills Fire Station rain gauge recorded more than 3 inches for that entire rain event which 
spanned 31 hours and produced  flow at  the Sepulveda Canyon monitoring  station beginning 
approximately 14 hours after the rain event began. That rainfall event provides an estimate of 
the upper bound on the retentive capacity of runoff retention in Rolling Hills. The no‐flow results 
observed during the three other ≧85th%, 24‐hr rainfall events as well as the numerous smaller 
rainfall  events  that  occurred  throughout  the  monitoring  period  provide  evidence  that  the 
strategies,  control  measures  and  BMPs  implemented  by  Rolling  Hills  cumulatively  retain 
stormwater runoff up to and including runoff from the 85th percentile, 24‐hour storm event, as 
well as any conditionally exempt non‐stormwater discharges. 

42



1

John Signo

From: Christmann, Rebecca@Waterboards <Rebecca.Christmann@waterboards.ca.gov>
Sent: Wednesday, April 6, 2022 1:54 PM
To: Elaine Jeng
Cc: John Signo; Christian Horvath; 'Kathleen McGowan'; Newman, Jenny@Waterboards; 

Nye, LB@Waterboards; Ridgeway, Ivar@Waterboards
Subject: Review of the Addendum to the Palos Verdes Peninsula 2021 WMP

Dear Ms. Jeng, 

I am providing you with my comments on the Addendum to the Palos Verdes Peninsula EWMP to 
include the City of Rolling Hills. Please address the following comments and questions and submit a 
revised Peninsula WMP by May 13, 2022, in coordination with the Palos Verdes Peninsula 
Watershed Management Group. 

1. It was previous reported that Sepulveda Canyon, George F. Canyon, Bent Springs Canyon, and 
Klondike Canyon are known to contain natural flows. (Rolling Hills Non-Storm Water Screening 
and Monitoring Program, November 2014) Is the City now reporting no natural flows from 
Sepulveda Canyon? If in the future there are natural flows, how will the City distinguish between 
natural flows and stormwater runoff? 

2. In the new Section 3.5.2, include a summary of the hydrologic analysis conducted as discussed in 
your letter. 

3. In Section 2.3.1, does Table 2-15 on page 2-29, include the land uses within Rolling Hills? If not, 
does this Table need to be updated to include the land uses in Rolling Hills? 

4. Footnote (c) of Table 3-1, page 3-11, states, “Does not include non-Peninsula EWMP drainage 
area.” Is this statement still valid now that Rolling Hills is joining the WMP? 

5. Update the Peninsula WMP to include the modifications outlined in the Addendum to the Palos 
Verdes Peninsula EWMP to include the City of Rolling Hills. 

 
Thank you, 

Rebecca Christmann 
Stormwater Permitting Unit 
 

 

Rebecca Christmann 
Water Resource Control Engineer 
Los Angeles Regional Water Quality Control Board 
320 West 4th Street, Suite 200, Los Angeles, CA 90013 
Tel: (213) 576-5734 
rebecca.christmann@waterboards.ca.gov 

Due to COVID‐19, I am teleworking on a full‐time basis. E‐mail is the best way to reach me for immediate assistance. 
 

43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



Agenda Item No.: 7.H 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: JOHN SIGNO, DIRECTOR OF PLANNING & COMMUNITY SERVICES

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: ADOPT A RESOLUTION DENYING AN APPEAL AND UPHOLDING THE
COMMITTEE ON TREES AND VIEWS' DECISION ON A VIEW
PRESERVATION COMPLAINT - 61 EASTFIELD DRIVE (JUGE -
COMPLAINANT) AND 59 EASTFIELD DRIVE (TAMAYO/SIERRA -
VEGETATION OWNER)

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
On March 28, 2022, April 7, 2022, and April 11, 2022, the City Council opened the public
hearing, took public testimony, discussed the item, and voted to adopt Resolution No. 1294
denying an appeal and upholding the Committee on Trees and Views' decision on a view
preservation case.
 
DISCUSSION:
At the April 11, 2022 City Council meeting, the City Council voted unanimously to adopt
Resolution No. 1294 with an amendment that the ridgeline of 59 Eastfield Drive be included
and that the view seeker bear the costs for the second phase of the initial remediation. The
attached resolution reflects the decision made by the City Council.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Adopt Resolution No. 1294.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
ResolutionNo1294_59-61_EastfieldDrive_JugeTamayo.pdf
Exhibit A - Photo Key and Photos.pdf
Exhibit B - April 2014 Deck Photo.pdf
Exhibit C - Arborist Report 59 - 61 Eastfield Dr 11-30-2021.pdf
CL_AGN_220328_ResolutionNo2021-21-CTV.pdf

58

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1343708/ResolutionNo1294_59-61_EastfieldDrive_JugeTamayo.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1343746/Exhibit_A_-_Photo_Key_and_Photos.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1343747/Exhibit_B_-_April_2014_Deck_Photo.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1343748/Exhibit_C_-_Arborist_Report_59_-_61_Eastfield_Dr_11-30-2021.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1343750/CL_AGN_220328_ResolutionNo2021-21-CTV.pdf


65277.00001\35029019.1 
 

  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1294 
  

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROLLING HILLS UPHOLDING THE ADVISORY DECISION 
OF THE COMMITTEE ON TREES AND VIEWS ON THE 
VIEW PRESERVATION DISPUTE BETWEEN JOSEPH 
JUGE, ON THE ONE HAND, AND BEATRIZ TAMAYO AND 
JULIO SIERRA, ON THE OTHER  

  
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROLLING HILLS DOES HEREBY FIND, 
RESOLVE, AND ADVISE AS FOLLOWS:  
  

SECTION 1. On October 28, 2020, Mr. Joseph Juge (“Complainant”) filed a view 
impairment complaint (“Complaint”), alleging that the view from his home at 61 Eastfield 
Drive, Rolling Hills was significantly impaired by certain vegetation on the property of Dr. 
Beatriz Tamayo and Mr. Julio Sierra (“Respondents”), located at 59 Eastfield Drive, 
Rolling Hills (the “Dispute”). Complainant and Respondents are referred to together 
herein as the “Parties.”  

 
SECTION 2. Respondents initially agreed to mediate the Dispute but 

subsequently withdrew their consent to mediate. A public hearing before the City of 
Rolling Hills (“City”) Committee on Trees and Views (“Committee”) was properly noticed 
and advertised pursuant to Rolling Hills Municipal Code (“RHMC”) section 
17.26.040(C)(4). The subject public hearing was conducted on November 2, 2021. On 
November 3, 2021, the Committee held a field trip meeting at Complainant’s home. The 
public hearing was continued to November 30, 2021. The Complainant and the 
Respondents were in attendance at the public hearing; Respondents were not present at 
the November 3 field trip. Complainant represented himself; Respondents were 
represented by Edgar Coronado, Esq. Evidence was heard and presented from all 
persons interested in the Dispute, from members of the City staff, and a certified arborist, 
Gregory MacDonald. The Committee reviewed, analyzed and studied the evidence 
submitted. The Committee adopted Resolution No. 2021-21-CTV finding that 
Complainant had a view impairment and advising on restorative actions.  

 
SECTION 3. On January 27, 2022, Respondents appealed the Committee 

decision to the City Council. A de novo public hearing before the City Council was properly 
noticed and advertised pursuant RHMC section 17.26.040(D)(4). The subject public 
hearing was conducted on March 28, 2022, when the City Council continued the public 
hearing to April 7, 2022 to conduct a field trip at Complainant’s and Respondent’s homes. 
The public hearing was continued to April 11, 2022. The Complainant and the 
Respondents were in attendance at the public hearing. Complainant represented himself; 
Respondents were represented by Mr. Coronado. Evidence was heard and presented 
from all persons interested in the Dispute and from members of the City staff.  The City 
Council reviewed, analyzed, and studied the evidence submitted. 

 
SECTION 4. The public hearing was conducted using terms as defined in RHMC 

section 17.26.020, including but not limited to: 
 

59



 
2 

 

A. “View impairment”: any obstruction of a pre-existing view by vegetation on 
another property within the City that significantly diminishes that pre-existing view; 

 
B. “Pre-existing view”: the view that existed at any time since the 

complainant’s property was most recently purchased for fair market value through an 
arm’s length purchase or sale, as evidenced by a deed. The pre-existing view cannot be 
the result of a natural disaster or illegal activities; 

 
C. “View”: a visually impressive scene or vista, such as the Pacific Ocean, off-

shore islands, mountains, lights of the Los Angeles basin, the Palos Verdes Hills and 
canyons, the Los Angeles Harbor and/or Long Beach Harbor, and similar, as observed 
from a viewing point. A view may include structures or vegetation in the foreground or 
background of the view seeker’s property. A “view” may be observed from one or more 
viewing point, and may be panoramic; 
 

D. “Viewing point”: any view from the primary living area or active use area of 
a primary residence, excluding views from minor rooms, such as garages or closets, and 
also includes views from accessory buildings or structures, including pool decks and 
gazebos, but excluding animal pens, aviaries, corrals, greenhouses, porte cocheres, 
riding rings, run-in sheds, sheds, stable/barns, free-standing storage rooms, and tack 
rooms. 

 
SECTION 5. The City Council, pursuant to RHMC section 17.26.050(A), finds that 

a pre-existing view, within the meaning of RHMC chapter 17.26, has been obstructed and 
significantly impaired based on the following facts: 

 
A. Complainant purchased the property on which his home currently sits in 

1982. 
 
B. Complainant remodeled his home after he purchased the property, and 

such remodel took place generally on the same site as the home purchased in 1982. 
 
C. Respondents purchased their home in 2007. 
 
D. Complainant submitted photos dated 1987 and 1988 and provided 

testimony that such photos were taken from a location that would be the breakfast 
room/dining room area today in his existing residence. The photo key that includes the 
photos dated 1987 and 1988 is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as 
Exhibit A. 
 

E. Respondents testified the photos dated 1987 and 1988 could not have been 
taken in 1987 and 1988 because their pool house, which was constructed in 1964, is not 
identified in the photos.  

 
F. The field trip visit to Complainant’s property and Respondent’s property 

revealed that the pool house on Respondents’ property is located on a lower pad than 
Respondents’ residence, which is lower than Complainant’s property, and therefore could 
not feasibly be visible from Complainant’s property.  

60



 
3 

 

 
G. Denise Jacobs submitted a photo dated April 8, 2014 and testified that she 

took the photo from the deck of Complainant’s existing home. The image of the photo 
appears to have been taken from the deck adjacent to the living room area of 
Complainant’s existing residence. The photo dated April 8, 2014 is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit B. 

 
H. Based on the photos and testimony provided by Complainant and photo and 

testimony provided by Ms. Jacobs, the view included both canyon and city vistas. 
 

I. Complainant made extensive efforts to resolve and mitigate the view 
impairment through private channels with the Respondents, as evidenced by the 
correspondence included in the Complaint, spanning four (4) years – from December 
2016 to summer 2020. Specifically, 

 
(i) On May 26, 2020, Complainant requested that the Parties enter into 

mediation to resolve the Dispute. 
 

(ii) On July 25, 2020, within the 60-day period for response pursuant to 
RHMC section 17.26.040(B)(1), Respondents agreed to mediation. 
 

(iii) On August 13, 2020, Complainant proposed two mediators for 
Respondents’ consideration. 
 

(iv) On October 9, 2020, Respondents asked, prior to making a choice, 
who would be responsible for the mediator’s fee. 
 

(v) As noted above, on or about October 28, 2020, Complainant filed the 
Application with the applicable fee to the City.  
 

J. Complainant made efforts to mediate but Respondents ultimately refused 
to mediate. Specifically,   
 

(i) On June 1, 2021, the Committee held a virtual hearing at which only 
Complainant was in attendance.  

 
(ii) The hearing was continued to August 4, 2021 to allow the Parties to 

mediate.  
 

(iii) The City provided suggestions for possible mediators. The Parties 
did not select a mediator.  

 
(iv) The August 4 meeting did not occur.  

 
(v) On August 17, 2021, the Committee held a meeting to receive an 

update on mediation efforts between the Parties. The Committee 
continued the public hearing to October 5, 2021.  

61



 
4 

 

 
(vi) The City provided more suggestions of possible mediators. 

Complainant contacted the City’s suggested mediators and obtained 
fee and availability information.  

 
(vii) On August 23, 2021, Complainant shared this information with 

Respondents.  
 

(viii) On September 1, 2021, Respondents withdrew their agreement to 
mediate. 

 
K. Pursuant to RHMC section 17.26.040(D)(4)(e), a pre-existing view, within 

the meaning of RHMC chapter 17.26, existed based on the photos dated 1987 and 1988 
in Exhibit A and photo dated April 8, 2014 in Exhibit B after Complainant purchased the 
property. The pre-existing view is now significantly impaired by vegetation growing on 
Respondents’ property as identified in the photos dated 2018 in Exhibit A and as 
observed during the April 7, 2022 field trip, resulting in a view impairment. 

 
SECTION 6. The City Council, pursuant to RHMC section 17.26.050(B), makes 

the following findings to support its advisory restorative action in Section 7 below:  
 
A. A certified arborist, Gregory MacDonald, was consulted for purposes of 

issuing an arborist report for the vegetation and trees on 61 Eastfield Drive. A copy of the 
arborist report is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit C. 

 
B. None of Respondents’ trees that are impairing Complainant’s view are rare.  
 
C. Sound and heat mitigation should not be affected, as any proposed 

restorative action would not involve removal of any trees. 
 
D. There should be no reduction of stature in any trees, resulting in harm or 

loss of Respondents’ privacy. 
 
E. Vegetation existed upon Respondents’ purchase of their property in 2007. 
 
F. Vegetation on the south side of Respondents’ structure acted as a privacy 

buffer. 
 

SECTION 7. Based on (i) the City Council’s observations at the site visit it 
conducted on April 7, 2022, (ii) the key attached hereto as Exhibit A, (iii) the photo dated 
April 8, 2014 attached hereto as Exhibit B, and (iii) the certified arborist’s written report 
attached hereto as Exhibit C, and pursuant to RHMC section 17.26.060, the City Council 
finds and recommends the following restorative actions:  

 
A. Pursuant to RHMC sections 17.26.040(D)(4)(f) and 17.26.060(B), 

Complainant should bear the cost of the initial restorative action described below, unless 
otherwise stated and unless the parties agree to share the costs in some other manner. 

62



 
5 

 

 
B. The restorative actions set forth in this Section 7 should occur sometime 

within 120 days of adoption of this resolution.  
 
C. All vegetation and trees should be reduced so as not to exceed the 

corresponding 59 Eastfield ridgelines adjacent to the respective vegetation or tree. To the 
greatest extent possible, crown reduction should be used to reduce height. 

 
D. The loquat tree in the view corridor should be decreased by approximately 

6 feet. 
 
E. The southside vegetation, including the oleander, corresponding to the 59 

Eastfield roofline that is no further east of the chimney, should be reduced. 
 
F. The ash tree should be crowned and laced (with crown cleaning) so that it 

can be reduced to the nearest 59 Eastfield dwelling ridgeline of the south side of the 
property. 

 
G. The Toyon tree should be crowned and laced to approximately 4 feet below 

the 59 Eastfield ridgeline; provided, however, that initial restorative action should not 
result in more than 25% reduction. If the prescribed reduction level is not met due to the 
25% maximum reduction limitation, another attempt should be made the following year – 
at Complainant’s expense. 

 
H. No action is recommended for the avocado tree. 
 
I. Any trees or vegetation adjacent to and west of the chimney on 

Respondents’ residence should not exceed the 59 Eastfield ridgeline. 
 
J. The westerly trunk of the pepper tree, besides being reduced in size to its 

corresponding 59 Eastfield ridgeline, should be laced and reduced laterally. 
 
K. The two (2) pine trees should be crowned and reduced to their respective 

ridgelines; provided, however, that initial restorative action should not result in more than 
30% reduction. If the prescribed reduction level is not met due to the 30% maximum 
reduction limitation, another attempt should be made the following year – at 
Complainant’s expense. 

 
SECTION 8. The Committee recommends the following conditions to prevent 

future view impairments:  
 
A. Pursuant to RHMC section 17.26.060(B), maintenance of the trees and 

vegetation in question subsequent to initial restorative action should be performed at the 
cost and expense of Respondents, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties. 

 
B. All trees and vegetation should be maintained at the levels prescribed in 

Section 7 above so as not to allow for future view impairments. 
 

63



 
6 

 

C. The parties should review the state of Respondents’ trees and vegetation 
on an annual basis. 
 

SECTION 9. If the parties agree with the Council's advisory resolution, they must 
notify the City in writing within fifteen days of adoption. Within sixty days of the date of the 
advisory resolution, if either or both parties disagree with the advisory resolution and wish 
to pursue arbitration, the disagreeing party must notify the City in writing that they wish to 
proceed with arbitration. This resolution is advisory and unenforceable by the City of 
Rolling Hills.   

  
 
  
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 25th day of April, 2022.  
  
 
 
 ___________________________________ 
 JAMES BLACK, M.D. 
 MAYOR  
 
 
ATTEST:  
 
 

 
CHRISTIAN HORVATH 
CITY CLERK 
  

64



 
7 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA  )  
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES  ) §§  
CITY OF ROLLING HILLS  )  
  
The foregoing Resolution No. 1294 entitled:  
  

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROLLING 
HILLS UPHOLDING THE ADVISORY DECISION OF THE COMMITTEE 
ON TREES AND VIEWS ON THE VIEW PRESERVATION DISPUTE 
BETWEEN JOSEPH JUGE, ON THE ONE HAND, AND BEATRIZ 
TAMAYO AND JULIO SIERRA, ON THE OTHER  
 

was approved and adopted at regular meeting of the City Council on the 25th day of 
April, 2022, by the following roll call vote: 
  
AYES:   
  
NOES:   
  
ABSENT:   
  
ABSTAIN:    
  
  
 

 ___________________________  
 CHRISTIAN HORVATH 
 CITY CLERK 

 

65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



ARBORIST REPORT for 

61 Eastfield Drive, Rolling Hills, CA ‐ View restoration 

 

     On November 30, 2021, I, Gregory MacDonald, Certified Arborist #WE 6469A did a site visit 

to assess recommendations for view restoration. There are a number of trees and some shrubs 

involved. Starting from the far left of the view issue, there is a Toyon shrub that should be fine 

with some reduction trimming up to 25% of foliage. It could possibly be trimmed lower at the 

next years trimming if it responds well to the first trim.  

     Much lower on the slope, there is an apparently fully dead Eucalyptus that should be 

removed down to near ground level. It may or may not be a view issue but as a course of 

regular maintenance and safety needs to be addressed. The entire root system should probably 

be left in place to not disturb the slope.   

     The large ash tree appears to be 60 + years old and in less than great health. It has dieback 

typical of drought stress but should not be adversely affected by the recommended reduction 

and lacing. As a deciduous tree, it has systems in place to deal with foliage loss. I would add the 

need for crown cleaning to remove all completely dead branches.  

    The two relatively young Canary Island Pine Trees should do fine with crown reduction 

trimming to an appropriate side branch/whorl. I would advise not removing more than 30% of 

the foliage at this time. If possible, the side branches should not be cut at this time but could 

possible be reduced in following years. This action will completely change the natural form of 

these two trees, but if follow‐up trimming is done with care, they can be good shade and slope 

stabilizing trees. 

    The Avocado appears to be in decline and needs no trimming. 

    The large Pepper tree was recommended to be reduced to the roofline of the adjacent 

structure. This tree has well developed branching, so this should be fine if reduction cuts are 

used and no topping cuts are done. The request to remove the large trunk growing over the 

pathway down towards the pool house is not recommended. I feel it would be far better 

reduced both vertically at the end as well as laterally. This would reduce the weight out to the 

side. The tree has survived being cut significantly at the base (many years ago) and I would not 

suggest adding to that by removing a trunk of the tree. I would advise against cuts larger than 

4” diameter as Schinus molle are not known to compartmentalize decay very well.  

    The Loquat tree close to the structure should be fine with crown reduction trimming. It too, 

has well developed branching that allows for smaller cuts.  

    The pomegranate tree will do fine with reduction trimming. As a deciduous tree, it has 

systems in place to deal with foliage loss. 

75



The Oleander hedge is suffering from “Oleander Leaf Scorch” also called “Bacterial Leaf Scorch” 

(BLS) and there is no known cure. It is possible to prolong the life of these shrubs with 

additional watering, and I strongly recommend adding a drip irrigation system. If screening and 

sound reduction are the goal, I would suggest interplanting with True Bay, Wax leaf Privet, or 

Australian Brush Cherry. They can be planted in between the existing Oleanders and as the 

Oleander continue to die, the new shrubs can take over the role of a hedge. The insect that 

carries the bacterial disease (Xylella fastidiosa), gets the bacteria by feeding on diseased shrubs 

and trees, so removal of these diseased shrubs may be a consideration. Once infected, the 

shrubs slowly lose the ability to transport water through their Xylem to other parts of the 

shrub. Trimming this hedge at the roof line should be fine. 

   The Schefflera shrub can be reduced in height one branch at a time with a lower risk of 

damage to it. 

   An inspection and Arborist Report with recommendations do not in any way give or imply any 

warrantee against tree or limb failures. Trees and their limbs can and do fail. No inspection can 

prevent that, and recommendations given here are simply given as options to consider. Every 

tree can react differently to trimming, climate, soil conditions, and watering. Any action taken 

are the responsibility of the property owner and the company doing the physical work.  

     I thank you for the opportunity to be of help with these trees, 

Gregory MacDonald 

ISA Certified Arborist #We 6469A 

Rancho Palos Verdes, CA 90275 

(310) 941‐2174 

 

76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



Agenda Item No.: 7.I 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: ROBERT SAMARIO, FINANCE DIRECTOR

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: APPROVE THE CITY OF ROLLING HILLS AUDITED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021.

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
As required by State law, each city and county must prepare an annual financial report that
presents its financial condition and results of operations for the fiscal year. In addition, the
financial statements must be audited by an independent certified public accounting firm to
ensure the financial statements are free of material misstatements. In addition to the audit of
the financial statements, the accounting firm performs tests of transactions to ensure the
adequacy of internal accounting controls. 
 
The City has completed its financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, which
have been audited by LSL CPAs, and are ready for presentation to the City Council for
acceptance. In addition, the auditors will provide a verbal presentation summarizing the results
of the audit.
 
The Finance/Budget/Audit Committee reviewed the presentation at their April 11, 2022
meeting.
 
DISCUSSION:
The audited financial report contains three (3) major sections: (1) the Financial Section, (2) the
Required Supplementary Information, and (3) the Combining and Individual Fund Statements
and Schedules. 
 
While each of these sections presents important information, the Financial Section provides
the most meaningful and important information regarding the finances of the City. This section
includes a narrative summary of the financial results for the fiscal year (called the
Management's Discussion and Analysis); city-wide financial statements that show the financial
condition (i.e., health) of the City; individual fund financial statements for the largest funds,
including the General Fund; and the Independent Auditor's Report. 
 

84



At a City-wide level and individual fund level, the City's primary and largest fund is the General
Fund where most of the City's services are accounted for, including law enforcement and
planning services. The services provided through the General Fund are financed largely from
tax revenues, including property taxes and sales taxes, and from charges for development-
related services. 
 
As reflected in the financial statements, the City of Rolling Hills' financial condition as of June
30, 2021, is very strong. This is due to the size of its reserve balances in the General Fund.
One key measure of financial strength is the percent of the General Fund unassigned reserves
to total expenditures. The majority of cities in California maintain unassigned reserve levels
less than 50% of budgeted expenditures. As of June 30, 2021, the City's unassigned reserves
were 168% of budgeted General Fund expenditures for fiscal year 2022.These reserves are
available to respond to emergencies, such as natural disasters, economic downturns, and
capital improvement projects. 
 
Another important measure of financial health is the results of operations for the fiscal year
and the trend over the last several years. For example, if the City's ongoing revenues are not
adequate to cover ongoing costs each year, this will ultimately erode reserve balances that
may currently be strong. Historically, the City of Rolling Hills has generated surpluses in its
operations, further indicating financial strength and stability. During the fiscal year ended June
30, 2021, both at a City-wide level and for the General Fund, the City ended the year with
revenues almost matching expenditures. Given that the originally adopted budget anticipated
using reserves for ongoing operating costs and capital improvement projects of approximately
$480,000, ending the year essentially balanced is a very welcome and favorable outcome. 
 
For fiscal year 2021, the favorable year-end results are largely due to expenditure savings
rather than better than expected revenue performance. As such, at a budgetary level, the City
will continue to face a structural imbalance that began last fiscal year largely due to reduction
in building-related revenues impacted by the global pandemic. In fiscal year 2018, Licenses
and Permit revenues peaked at $739,138. In fiscal year 2021, revenues were just $183,378.
To the degree these revenues start to pick, which we evidence of in the first half of fiscal year
2022, this will help close the structural gap.
 
One of the positive aspects of the City's revenues is that 64% of total General Fund revenues
are from property taxes. Although these revenues only grew by 1.8% from the prior year,
property tax revenues are generally very stable and do are not materially impacted by the
normal ebbs and flows of the economic cycle or, more recently, by COVID-19. 
 
Lastly, as discussed in the Independent Auditor's Report, the auditors issued what is referred
to as an "Unmodified Opinion" which means the auditors have opined that the City's financial
statements are free of material misstatement. 
 
The Finance/Audit/Budget Committee reviewed the audited financial statements and the
related audit reports on April 11, 2022 and recommended City Council approval.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends City Council accept and file the City of Rolling Hills Financial Statements for

85



the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
CL_AGN_220411_2021 Financial_Audit_Results-RH.pdf
CL_AGN_220411_City of Rolling Hills FS Final 04-08-22.pdf
CL_AGN_220411_City of Rolling Hills Report on IC Final 04-08-22.pdf
CL_AGN_220411_City of Rolling Hills Audit Communication Letter Final 04-08-22.pdf
CL_AGN_220425_Item7I_RH City Audit_PublicComment_Redacted.pdf

86

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1332473/CL_AGN_220411_2021_Financial_Audit_Results-RH.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1332474/CL_AGN_220411_City_of_Rolling_Hills_FS_Final_04-08-22.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1332475/CL_AGN_220411_City_of_Rolling_Hills_Report_on_IC_Final_04-08-22.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1332476/CL_AGN_220411_City_of_Rolling_Hills_Audit_Communication_Letter_Final_04-08-22.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1431641/CL_AGN_220425_Item7I_RH_City_Audit_PublicComment_Redacted.pdf


CITY OF ROLLING HILLS

FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

FINANCIAL AUDIT RESULTS

87



www.lslcpas.com

FY 2021 Audit Communication Results

Financial Audit

• Opinion Letter (New Format)

• Report on Internal Control and Other Matters

• Audit Communication Letter (SAS 114 – conclusion)

88



www.lslcpas.com

Opinion Letter

• Unmodified Opinion
– Now the First Paragraph

– Based on our audit of significant transactions, our understanding of the City’s 

policies and procedures, and our testwork results, we have issued an Opinion 

that the financials statements are free of material misstatements at 

June 30, 2021.

89



www.lslcpas.com

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

and on Compliance and Other Matters

• In planning and performing the audit, we consider the

City’s Internal Controls over Financial Reporting specific

to giving an opinion of the Financial Statements, but this

is not the purpose of the audit.

• No opinion is expressed on the internal controls

• During our course of audit procedures weaknesses may

come to our attention and communicated to

Management and to you in this letter. None to report at

this time.

90



www.lslcpas.com

Audit Communication Letter (SAS 114 – conclusion)

• Accounting Practices
– Significant and Appropriate Estimates: OPEB and Pension Liabilities

• No Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit

• No Disagreements with Management to disclose

• Management Representation includes a letter to the 

auditors regarding their acceptance of responsibilities 

and disclosures of no known errors or fraudulent 

activities to communicate to auditors

91



www.lslcpas.com

Audit Communication Letter (Continued)

• Upcoming Standards
– GASB 87 – Leases

• This will change how the value of the outstanding balance 

will be shown.  

• Evaluate contracts/agreements as a lessor/lessee for any 

exchange of property use.

92



www.lslcpas.com

Thank you

• Contact information:
– Deborah.harper@lslcpas.com

– 714-672-0022

• Any Questions

93

mailto:Deborah.harper@lslcpas.com


 

CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

94



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PREPARED BY: 
 

THE CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 

FINANCIAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT

95



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

96



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 Page 
 Number 
 
FINANCIAL SECTION 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT .................................................................................................. 1 
 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ................................................................................ 5 
 
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements: 

Statement of Net Position ............................................................................................................... 13 
 
Statement of Activities .................................................................................................................... 14 
 

Fund Financial Statements: 
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds ........................................................................................... 16 
 
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds 
to the Statement of Net Position ..................................................................................................... 19 
 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 
Balances - Governmental Funds .................................................................................................... 20 
 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities ....................... 22 

 
Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds ............................................................................... 23 
 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net 
Position - Proprietary Funds ........................................................................................................... 24 
 
Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds ............................................................................... 25 
 

Notes to Financial Statements .............................................................................................................. 27 

97



 

CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 Page 
 Number 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 

Notes to Required Supplementary Information .............................................................................. 51 
 
Budgetary Comparison Schedule – General Fund ......................................................................... 52 
 
Budgetary Comparison Schedule – Transit Fund .......................................................................... 53 

 
Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability – Miscellaneous ............................ 54 
 
Schedule of Plan Contributions – Miscellaneous ........................................................................... 55 
 
Schedule of Changes in the Net OPEB Asset and Related Ratios ................................................ 56 
 
Schedule of Plan Contributions – OPEB ........................................................................................ 57 

 
COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES 
 

Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Governmental Funds ....................................................... 58 
 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes 
in Fund Balances – Nonmajor Governmental Funds ..................................................................... 60 
 
Budgetary Comparison Schedules – Special Revenue Funds: 

Community Facilities Fund ....................................................................................................... 62 
Traffic Safety Fund ................................................................................................................... 63 
Measure R Fund ...................................................................................................................... 64 
COPS Fund .............................................................................................................................. 65 
CLEEP Fund ............................................................................................................................ 66 
Measure M Local Fund ............................................................................................................ 67 
LA County Measure W ............................................................................................................. 68 

 
Budgetary Comparison Schedules – Capital Projects Funds: 

Underground Utility Fund ......................................................................................................... 69 
Capital Projects Fund ............................................................................................................... 70 

 
 

98



 
 
 

  
 

 

 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

203 N. Brea Blvd., Suite 203 Brea, CA 92821 Lance, Soll & Lunghard, LLP Phone: 714.672.0022 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Rolling Hills, California 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
Opinions 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Rolling Hills, California, 
(the City) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, , each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of City of Rolling Hills, California, as of  
June 30, 2021, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof 
for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America. 
 
Basis for Opinions 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
 of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report.  We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits.  We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for twelve months beyond the date of the financial statements. 
 

99



 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Rolling Hills, California 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the GAAS and Government Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are 
considered material if, there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would 
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 
 
Other Reporting Responsibilities 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, the budgetary comparison schedules for the General Fund and the Transit Fund, 
the schedule of proportionate share of the net pension liability, the schedule of plan contributions – 
miscellaneous plan, the schedule of changes in net OPEB asset and related ratios, and the schedule of 
plan contributions – OPEB, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is 
the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of 
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or 
provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

2 100



 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Rolling Hills, California 
 
Supplementary Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial 
statements and schedules are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of 
the basic financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from 
and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements.  
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly 
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the 
basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual 
nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules are fairly stated, in all material respects in relation to the 
basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 7, 2022 
on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The 
purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
City’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance. 

 

Brea, California 
April 7, 2022 
 

3 101



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

4 102



 

Management Discussion and Analysis 

The following narrative provides an overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of  
Rolling Hills for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. We encourage readers to consider the information 
presented here in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in the City’s financial 
statements. 

Financial Highlights 

 The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows 
of resources at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $8,156,622 (net position). Of this amount, 
$5,091,420, (unrestricted net position) may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to 
citizens and creditors.   

 As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending 
fund balances of $7,556,283. Of this amount $5,175,508 is unassigned and available for spending at 
the City’s discretion. 

 At the end of the current year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $5,175,508 which 
represents 2.54 times the total General Fund expenditures. 

 General Fund revenues available for appropriation were $10,160 more than budgeted while actual 
expenditures were $474,880 less than budgeted. After transfers in and out, the General Fund showed 
a $33,195 increase in fund balance. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements. 
The City’s basic financial statements contain the following three components: 1) Government-wide Financial 
Statements, 2) Fund Financial Statements and 3) Notes to the Financial Statements. 

Government-wide Financial Statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances, in a manner similar to a private sector business. 
These statements include all assets and liabilities of the City using the accrual basis of accounting, which is 
similar to the accounting used by most private-sector companies. All of the current year’s revenues and 
expenses are taken into account regardless of when cash is received or paid. 

The statement of net position presents information on all of the City’s assets, deferred inflows/outflows of 
resources and liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or 
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is 
improving or deteriorating. The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s 
net position changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as 
the underlying event giving rise to the change regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, some of 
the revenues and expenses reported in this statement will have no effect on cash until some future fiscal 
period. 

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from functions that are 
intended to recover some or all of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). 

Governmental activities. With the exception of refuse services, all of the City’s basic services are reported in 
this category, including the general administration, public safety, planning and development, recreation and 
public works. Property taxes, sales tax, real estate transfer tax, licenses and permits, franchise fees, charges 
for services, interest income, grants, contributions from other agencies, and other revenues finance these 
activities. 

5 103



 

Business-type activities. The City charges a fee to customers to cover all or most of the costs of certain 
services it provides. The City’s Refuse Collection operation is reported in this category. 

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 13 to 15 of this report. 

Fund Financial Statements. The fund financial statements provide detailed information about the City’s 
most significant funds. All of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, 
and proprietary funds. 

Governmental funds. Most of the City’s basic services are reported in governmental funds, which focus on 
how money flows in and out of those funds and balances left at year-end that are available for spending. 
These funds are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting, which measures 
cash and all other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash. The governmental fund statements 
provide a detailed short-term view of the City’s general government operations and the basic services it 
provides. Governmental fund information helps determine whether there are more or fewer financial 
resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the City’s programs. The difference between the 
results in the Governmental Fund financial statements to those in the Government wide financial statements 
are explained in a reconciliation following each Governmental Fund financial statement. 

In addition to the major funds reported separately on the governmental fund balance sheet and in the 
governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance, the City also maintains 
7 special revenue funds and one capital project fund. Data from these funds are combined into a single, 
aggregated presentation referred to as other governmental funds. 

Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds are provided in the form of combining 
statements elsewhere in this report. 

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for all of its governmental and proprietary funds. A budget 
comparison statement has been provided for the General Fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget. 
This comparison can be found on page 52 of this report. 

The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 16 to 22 of this report. 

Proprietary funds. When the City charges customers for the services it provides, these services are 
generally reported in proprietary funds. Within the category of proprietary funds are Enterprise Funds and 
Internal Service Funds.  Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type 
activities in the government-wide financial statements. The City uses an enterprise fund to account for its 
Refuse activity. Internal service funds are an accounting devise used to accumulate and allocate costs 
internally among the City’s various functions. The City uses an internal service fund to account for its 
Municipal Self Insurance costs. Because these services predominantly benefit governmental rather than 
business-type functions, this fund has been included within the governmental activities in the government-
wide financial statement. 

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 23 to 25 of this report.   

Notes to the Financial Statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the 
financial statements can be found on pages 27 to 49 of this report. 

Other Information. The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental 
funds are presented immediately following the notes to the financial statements. Combining and individual 
fund statements and schedules can be found on pages 58 to 61 of this report. 

 

6 104



 

Governmental-wide Financial Analysis 

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. 
The City’s net position for fiscal years 2019-20 and 2020-21 are shown in Table 1. In the City of  
Rolling Hills, total assets and deferred outflows exceeded total liabilities and deferred inflows by $8,156,622 
at June 30, 2021. This is a slight decrease from prior year. Overall, the City’s financial position has been very 
stable over the last few years, which is a good thing to see. 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Assets:
Current and other assets 8,344,698$   8,319,369$  54,046$   519,911$ 8,398,744$  8,839,280$  
Capital assets 684,427        613,790       -               -               684,427       613,790       

Total Assets 9,029,125     8,933,159    54,046     519,911    9,083,171    9,453,070    

Deferred outflows of
  resources:

Pension/OPEB related items 236,068        236,265       -               236,068       236,265       

Liabilities:
Current and other liabilities 1,088,082     937,253       -               412,545    1,088,082    1,349,798    

Total Liabilities 1,088,082     937,253       -               412,545    1,088,082    1,349,798    

Deferred inflows of resources:
Pension related items 74,535          92,719         -               -               74,535         92,719         

Net position:
Invested in capital assets 684,427        613,790       -               684,427       613,790       
Restricted 2,380,775     2,386,275    -               2,380,775    2,386,275    
Unrestricted 5,037,374     5,139,387    54,046     107,366    5,091,420    5,246,753    

Total Net Position 8,102,576$   8,139,452$  54,046$   107,366$ 8,156,622$  8,246,818$  

Government Activities Business Activities Primary Government
Total

Table 1
City of Rolling Hills

Net Position

 

Of the City of Rolling Hills net position shown in the bottom section of Table 1, 8.4% reflects its investment 
in capital assets.  An additional portion of the City of Rolling Hills net position, 29.2% represents resources 
that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net 
position of $5,091,420 (62.4%) may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations. It is worth 
noting that the unrestricted net position of over $5 million is approximately 150% of total expenditures. This 
puts the City in a very strong financial position relative to most cities across the country, which provides a 
high level of resources to respond to natural disasters, economic downturns such as the Great Recession in 
2008, and other unexpected events that may call on these resources. 

 

 

 

7 105



 

Governmental Activities. A summary of the changes to the net position is provided in Table 2 below.  

 

As previously noted, the governmental activities category includes all City funds except for the  
Refuse Collection Fund. In addition, this category almost entirely is made up of the General Fund, which is 
where most city services, along with tax revenues that primarily pay for those services, are reported.  
 
As shown in Table 2 above, the City’s governmental activities decreased slightly by $36,876 during the 
current fiscal year. Excluding transfers, the year ended with a small surplus of $7,830.  Given that the 
originally adopted fiscal year 2021 General Fund budget called for the use of reserves in the amount of 
$348,518, the year-end results are quite favorable.  
 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021  2020

Revenues:

Program revenues: 
Charges for Services  247,203$    414,416$  784,200$ 789,835$ 1,031,403$    1,204,251$  
Operating Grants and contributions 494,533     275,477  -  -  494,533      275,477  

General revenues:
   Property taxes 1,222,948     1,201,368  -  -  1,222,948     1,201,368  
   Franchise taxes 10,753     14,498  -  -  10,753      14,498  

Other taxes 116,711     51,856  -  -  116,711      51,856  
Motor vehicle in-lieu - unrestricted 236,725     226,033  -  -  236,725      226,033  
Use of money and property 160,061     292,721  -  -  160,061      292,721  
Other 3,278     334  3,917  20,154  7,195      20,488  

Total Revenues 2,492,212     2,476,703  788,117  809,989  3,280,329     3,286,692  

Expenses: 
General government 1,105,892     1,004,875  -  -  1,105,892     1,004,875  
Public safety 399,379     394,187  -  -  399,379      394,187  
Planning and development  768,665     835,459  -  -  813,918      835,459  
Recreation -   2,341  -  -  -     2,341  
Public works  210,446     158,591  -  -  165,193      158,591  
Refuse collection -   -  886,143  856,144  886,143      856,144  

Total Expenses  2,484,382     2,395,453  886,143  856,144  3,370,525     3,251,597  

Excess (Deficiency) Before Transfers  7,830     81,250  (98,026)  (46,155)  (90,196)     35,095  

Transfers (44,706)     24,000  44,706  (24,000)  -     -  

Increase (Decrease) in Net Position (36,876)     105,250  (53,320)  (70,155)  (90,196)     35,095  

Net Position - Beginning  8,139,452     8,034,202  107,366  177,521  8,246,818     8,211,723  

Net Position - Ending  8,102,576$    8,139,452$  54,046$  107,366$ 8,156,622$    8,246,818$  

Total
Government Activities Business Activities Primary Government

Table 2
City of Rolling Hills

Changes in Net Position

8 106



 

Another thing to note is that the fiscal year 2021 results are only slightly below the results in fiscal year 
2020, which indicates a certain degree of stability given that both revenues and expenditures have not 
fluctuated very much over the last two years.  
 
Business-Type Activities. The program for the business-type activities includes refuse collection operations. 
Refuse collection services are considered a utility and, as such, are typically fully funded from direct charges 
to customers utilizing these services. For this reason, they tend to operate much like the private sector and 
thus are classified as a “business-type activity.” In the case of the City’s refuse operation, refuse rates have 
been partially subsidized by unrestricted General Fund revenues since 2016 in order to keep rates flat at 
$1,100 per year per parcel in spite of increases each year to the contracted services provided by a private 
hauling company. In fiscal year 2021, the General Fund transferred $68,706 to the Refuse Collection Fund. 
This was partially offset by a transfer from the Refuse Collection Fund of $24,000 back to the General Fund 
to cover administrative overhead costs. This explains the net transfer of $44,706 shown in Table 2 above. 

The net result of operations was a decrease in net position of $53,320, reducing the net position to just 
$54,046.  

 
Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds  
 
As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance related 
legal requirements. 

Governmental Funds. The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term 
inflows, outflows and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s 
financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a 
government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 

As of the end of fiscal year 2020-21, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances 
of $7,556,283, which indicates a very strong financial position, largely due to the General Fund. While this is 
a decrease of $48,651 from the previous year, overall the net position has been stable over the last few years.  
 
In contrast to governmental funds as a whole, the General Fund’s financial position slightly improved by 
$33,195 for a net position at June 30, 2021 of $5,650,328. This is a much better result than the dollar 
amounts may suggest given the original fiscal year 2021 budget anticipated a deficit of $478,845. Excluding 
net transfers of -$40,431, which are generally more discretionary, the net result of operations (operating 
revenues less operating expenditures) was $73,626.  
 
Overall General Fund expenditures increased by approximately $25,245 from prior year. Although revenues 
also did not change much, increasing slightly from fiscal year 2020 by $61,395, individual revenue 
categories changed more dramatically from the prior year. For example, property taxes increased by 1.8% to 
$1,222,948 from the prior year. With property tax revenues making up 64% of General Fund operating 
revenues, growth is welcomed and helps the City keep up with the increasing costs of providing services.  
Although much smaller, real property transfer tax revenue almost doubled to $93,449. The City also received 
or earned approximately $113,000 in one-time revenues, including $63,000 in Proposition A exchange 
revenues as a result of providing other neighboring cities $84,000 of the City’s restricted Proposition A 
revenues. The remaining $50,000 is funding received from the State as COVID relief funds.  
 
On the flip side, General Fund revenues License and Permits continues its decline that started after peaking 
in fiscal year 2018 at $739,138 and has fallen to $183,378 in fiscal year 2021. From the prior year alone, 
these revenues fell by 50.3%. This is directly tied to the impacts of the pandemic on building activity and 
building-related permit revenues. Although property tax revenues have remaining strong, due to the strength 

9 107



 

of the real estate market in spite of the pandemic, this decline has put an overall strain on the General Fund 
from a budgetary perspective as discussed more below.  
 
Another decline is in Use of Money and Property revenue which fell by approximately $125,000 to 
$159,203. This loss is entirely due to decreases in the interest rates during the fiscal year and the requirement 
to adjust investments for unrealized losses in investments.  
 
The Underground Utility Fund on the City’s governmental funds balance sheet is a major fund. The Capital 
Projects – Utility Fund provides funds for consultant and construction services for underground utilities 
projects and other infrastructure improvements. The Capital Projects – Utility Fund has a total fund balance 
of $1,383,880. In fiscal year 2019, the City exchanged $675,295 with a neighboring City and received 
Southern Cal Edison Rule 20A credits of $1,125,491 for undergrounding projects. Virtually all of these 
credits will be used starting in fiscal year 2022 for two undergrounding projects, one on Crest Road East and 
other on Eastfield Drive. 

Proprietary Funds. The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the 
government-wide financial statements but in greater detail. 

Ending unrestricted net position for the Refuse Collection - Enterprise Fund is $54,046. The total change in 
net position for the Refuse Collection - Enterprise Fund was a net position decrease of $53,320.  

Ending unrestricted net position for the Municipal Self Insurance Fund - Internal Service Fund was 
unchanged at $260,374 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

The originally adopted fiscal year 2021 budget, plus amendments, was unbalanced. Anticipated revenues of 
$2,134,400 were $451,845 below budgeted expenditures of $2,586,245. However, actual revenues including 
transfers came in slightly higher than originally anticipated at $2,144,560, and actual expenditures were 
$2,111,365 for a net result of $33,195. The largest variance on the revenue side was in property taxes. The 
budget of $1,247,600 assumed a normal growth of approximately 2-3%; however, actual revenues grew by 
6.5% to $1,350,412. Otherwise, all revenues were close to budgeted amounts. On the expenditure side, the 
favorable variance was largely due to salary and benefit savings caused by staff turnover, as well as other 
line-items with varying levels of savings.  

Capital Asset and Debt Administration  

Capital Assets. The City’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of 
June 30, 2021 amounts to $684,427. This investment includes land for the City Hall campus, tennis courts, 
Poppy Trail land, Hesse’s Gap, Hix Ring and Storm Hill Park.  Additional information on the City of  
Rolling Hills capital assets can be found in Note 5 on page 38 of this report. 

Long-term Debt. The City has no bonded indebtedness. At the end of the current fiscal year, the City’s 
compensated absences decreased by $27,496 to $46,759. 

Other Post-Employment Health Care Benefits 

The City offers its retired employees medical benefits through CalPERS, which provides medical insurance 
benefits to eligible retirees. Through CalPERS, the City pre-funds these benefits while the employees are 
actively working. Pursuant to GASB Statement 78, adopted during fiscal year 2017-18, the City is required 
to recognize a liability for any unfunded accrued liabilities as determined by an actuary. As of June 30, 2021, 
the City’s total accrued liability was $411,066. However, this liability was offset by the prefunded 
investments held by CalPERS on the City’s behalf which totaled $657,747. As a result, the City’s net 

10 108



 

position was a net asset of $246,681, which is included on the Statement of Net Position. See Note 9 on 
pages 46 to 49. 

Pension Plan Obligations 

The City provides a defined benefit pension plan to its employees which is administered by CalPERS. 
Details of this pension plan can be found in Note 8 found on page 41.   Pursuant to GASB Statement 68, the 
City reports any unfunded accrued liabilities in its financial statements. As of June 30, 2021, the net pension 
liability was $759,963.  

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets 

The City Council adopted the Fiscal Year 2021-22 budget in June 2021, and the following factors were 
considered in preparing the budget: 

 General Fund revenues were projected to decrease by approximately 3% in total. 

 Fiscal year 2021-22 General Fund budgeted operating expenditures (i.e., excluding transfers) are 
$675,681 higher than the 2020-21 budgeted expenditures. The largest increases were in the City 
Administrator’s Office and Planning Department based on new subscriptions to technology 
installations to improve internal process, deferred maintenance at the City Hall campus, and 
compliance efforts simultaneously for the 5th Cycle Housing Element, and the 6th Cycle Housing 
Element. 

 Development activity was expected to remain stable, along with building-related revenue. 

 The City’s General Fund adopted budget anticipates having a deficit after transfers in and out of 
$1,217,499 for Fiscal Year 2021-22.  Included are transfers out to the Capital Improvement Fund of 
$88,000 for various projects, to the Refuse Collection Fund of $135,200 for a rate subsidy, and to the 
Traffic Safety Fund of $10,000 for road striping.  

Contacting the City’s Financial Department 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances and to demonstrate the 
City’s accountability for the money it receives. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this 
report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the City’s Finance Department 
at the City of Rolling Hills, 2 Portuguese Bend Road, Rolling Hills, California 90274. 

 

11 109



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

12 110



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total

Assets:

Cash and investments 6,812,708$       -$                      6,812,708$       

Receivables:

Accounts 123,446            54,046              177,492            

Accrued interest 11,748              -                        11,748              

Deposits 675,295            -                        675,295            

Restricted cash and investments 474,820            -                        474,820            

Capital assets not being depreciated 658,634            -                        658,634            

Capital assets, net of depreciation 25,793              -                        25,793              

Net other post-employment benefits asset 246,681            -                        246,681            

Total Assets 9,029,125         54,046              9,083,171         

Deferred Outflows of Resources:

Pension deferrals 195,138            -                        195,138            

Other post-employment benefit deferrals 40,930              -                        40,930              

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 236,068            -                        236,068            

Liabilities:

Accounts payable 245,210            -                        245,210            

Accrued liabilities 8,782                -                        8,782                

Deposits payable 27,368              -                        27,368              

Compensated absences, due within one year 12,000              -                        12,000              

Noncurrent liabilities:

Compensated absences 34,759              -                        34,759              

Net pension liability 759,963            -                        759,963            

Total Liabilities 1,088,082         -                        1,088,082         

Deferred Inflows of Resources:

Pension deferrals 47,197              -                        47,197              

Other post-employment benefit deferrals 27,338              -                        27,338              

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 74,535              -                        74,535              

Net Position:

Investment in capital assets 684,427            -                        684,427            

Restricted:

Public safety 33,249              -                        33,249              

Public works 276,452            -                        276,452            

Capital projects 1,587,045         -                        1,587,045         

Quimby Act 9,209                -                        9,209                

Pension stabilization trust 474,820            -                        474,820            

Unrestricted 5,037,374         54,046              5,091,420         

Total Net Position 8,102,576$       54,046$            8,156,622$       

JUNE 30, 2021

Primary Government

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

13 111



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Operating

Charges for Contributions

Expenses Services and Grants

Functions/Programs

Governmental Activities:

General government 1,105,892$        473$                  63,000$             

Public safety 399,379             23,194               157,731             

Planning and development 768,665             223,536             -                         

Public works 210,446             -                         273,802             

Total Governmental Activities 2,484,382          247,203             494,533             

Business-Type Activities:

Refuse collection 886,143             784,200             -                         

Total Business-Type Activities 886,143             784,200             -                         

Total 3,370,525$        1,031,403$        494,533$           

General Revenues:

Taxes:

Property taxes

Sales taxes

Franchise taxes

Other taxes

Motor vehicle in lieu - unrestricted

Use of money and property

Other

Transfers

Total General Revenues and Transfers

Change in Net Position

Net Position, Beginning of the Year

Net Position, End of the Year

Program Revenues

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

14 112



Primary Government

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total

(1,042,419)$       -$                       (1,042,419)$       

(218,454)            -                         (218,454)            

(545,129)            -                         (545,129)            

63,356               -                         63,356               

(1,742,646)         -                         (1,742,646)         

-                         (101,943)            (101,943)            

-                         (101,943)            (101,943)            

(1,742,646)         (101,943)            (1,844,589)         

1,222,948          -                         1,222,948          

23,262               -                         23,262               

10,753               -                         10,753               

93,449               -                         93,449               

236,725             -                         236,725             

160,061             -                         160,061             

3,278                 3,917                 7,195                 

(44,706)              44,706               -                         

1,705,770          48,623               1,754,393          

(36,876)              (53,320)              (90,196)              

8,139,452          107,366             8,246,818          

8,102,576$        54,046$             8,156,622$        

 Net (Expenses) Revenues and Changes in Net 

Position 

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

15 113



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS     

JUNE 30, 2021

Special 

Revenue Fund

Capital Projects 

Fund

General

Assets:
Cash and investments 5,155,284$        167,039$           708,585$           
Receivables:

Accounts 123,446             -                         -                         
Accrued interest 11,748               -                         -                         

Deposits -                         -                         675,295             
Restricted cash and investments 474,820             -                         -                         

Total Assets 5,765,298$        167,039$           1,383,880$        

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 78,820$             149,000$           -$                       
Accrued liabilities 8,782                 -                         -                         
Deposits payable 27,368               -                         -                         

Total Liabilities 114,970             149,000             -                         

Fund Balance:
Restricted:

Public safety - police -                         -                         -                         
Grants - public works -                         18,039               -                         
Capital projects -                         -                         1,383,880          
Quimby Act -                         -                         -                         
Pension stabilization trust 474,820             -                         -                         

Unassigned 5,175,508          -                         -                         

Total Fund Balance 5,650,328          18,039               1,383,880          

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance 5,765,298$        167,039$           1,383,880$        

Underground 

Utility FundTransit Fund

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

16 114



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2021

Assets:
Cash and investments
Receivables:

Accounts
Accrued interest

Deposits
Restricted cash and investments

Total Assets

Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Deposits payable

Total Liabilities

Fund Balance:
Restricted:

Public safety - police
Grants - public works
Capital projects
Quimby Act
Pension stabilization trust

Unassigned

Total Fund Balance

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance

Nonmajor Total
Governmental Governmental

Funds Funds

521,426$           6,552,334$        

-                         123,446             
-                         11,748               

-                         675,295             
-                         474,820             

521,426$           7,837,643$        

17,390$             245,210$           
-                         8,782                 
-                         27,368               

17,390               281,360             

33,249               33,249               
258,413             276,452             
203,165             1,587,045          

9,209                 9,209                 
-                         474,820             
-                         5,175,508          

504,036             7,556,283          

521,426$           7,837,643$        

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

17 115



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

18 116



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2021

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Total fund balances - governmental funds 7,556,283$      

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,

therefore, are not reported in the funds. 684,427           

Compensated absences are not due and payable in the current period,

and therefore, are not reported in the funds. (46,759)            

Governmental funds report all pension contributions as expenditures; however,

in the statement of activities, the excess/deficiency of the total pension liability

over/under the plan fiduciary net position is reported as a net pension liability/asset. (759,963)          

Pension-related deferred outflows of resources that have not been included as

financial uses in the governmental fund activity are as follows:

Contributions made after the actuarial measurement date 92,977$        

Difference between expected and actual experiences 39,163          

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on plan investments 22,576          

Adjustments due to differences in proportions 40,422          195,138           

Pension-related deferred inflows of resources that have not been included as

financial resources in the governmental fund activity are as follows:

Changes in assumptions (5,420)           

Difference in proportionate share (41,777)         (47,197)            

Governmental funds report all other post-employment benefits contributions as

expenditures; however, in the statement of net position, the excess of the plan

fiduciary net position over the total other post-employment benefits liability is

reported as a net other post-employment benefits asset. 246,681           

Other post-employment benefits-related deferred outflows of resources that have not

been included as financial uses in the governmental fund activity are as follows:

Contributions made after the actuarial measurement date 18,424          

Assumption changes 16,379          

Differences between projected and actual return on assets 6,127            40,930             

Other post-employment benefits-related deferred inflows of resources that have not been included as

financial resources in the governmental fund activity are as follows:

Differences between expected and actual experience (25,507)         

Differences between projected and actual return on assets (1,831)           (27,338)            

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain

activities, such as equipment and technology replacement, to individual funds.

The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds must be added to the 

statement of net position. 260,374           

Net Position of Governmental Activities 8,102,576$      

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

19 117



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

STATEMENT OF REVENUES,

EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS     
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Special 

Revenue Fund

Capital Projects 

Fund

     General    
Revenues:

Taxes 1,350,412$        -$                       -$                       

Licenses and permits 183,378             -                         -                         

Intergovernmental 369,130             69,642               -                         

Charges for services 40,631               -                         -                         

Use of money and property 159,203             292                    -                         

Fines and forfeitures 4,793                 -                         -                         

Miscellaneous 3,278                 -                         -                         

Total Revenues 2,110,825          69,934               -                         

Expenditures:
Current:

General government 1,061,393          -                         -                         

Public safety 223,199             -                         -                         

Planning and development 749,794             -                         -                         

Public works -                         149,000             7,120                 

Capital outlay 2,813                 -                         39,345               

Total Expenditures 2,037,199          149,000             46,465               

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 73,626               (79,066)              (46,465)              

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Transfers in 33,735               -                         -                         

Transfers out (74,166)              -                         -                         

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (40,431)              -                         -                         

Net Change in Fund Balance 33,195               (79,066)              (46,465)              

Fund Balance, Beginning of the Year 5,617,133          97,105               1,430,345          

Fund Balance, End of the Year 5,650,328$        18,039$             1,383,880$        

Transit Fund

Underground 

Utility Fund

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

20 118



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

STATEMENT OF REVENUES,

EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

 
Revenues:

Taxes

Licenses and permits

Intergovernmental

Charges for services

Use of money and property

Fines and forfeitures

Miscellaneous

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:

General government

Public safety

Planning and development

Public works

Capital outlay

Total Expenditures

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Transfers in

Transfers out

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance

Fund Balance, Beginning of the Year

Fund Balance, End of the Year

Nonmajor Total

Governmental Governmental

Funds Funds

-$                       1,350,412$        

-                         183,378             

310,887             749,659             

-                         40,631               

566                    160,061             

-                         4,793                 

-                         3,278                 

311,453             2,492,212          

-                         1,061,393          

176,180             399,379             

-                         749,794             

53,753               209,873             

33,560               75,718               

263,493             2,496,157          

47,960               (3,945)                

5,460                 39,195               

(9,735)                (83,901)              

(4,275)                (44,706)              

43,685               (48,651)              

460,351             7,604,934          

504,036$           7,556,283$        

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

21 119



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (48,651)$          

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the

statement of activities, the cost of these assets is allocated over their estimated

useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.  This is the amount by which

capital outlays was less than depreciation expense in the current period.

Capital outlay 75,145$        

Depreciation (4,508)           70,637             

Compensated absences expenses reported in the statement of activities do not

require the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as

expenditures in governmental funds. (27,496)            

Pension obligation expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require

the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as

expenditures in governmental funds. (49,717)            

Other post-employment benefits obligation expenses reported in the statement of

activities do not require the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are

not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. 18,351             

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities (36,876)$          

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

22 120



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS   

JUNE 30, 2021

Governmental

Activities-

Internal

Service Fund

Assets:

Current:

Cash and investments -$                        260,374$            

Accounts receivable 54,046                -                          

Total Current Assets 54,046                260,374              

Total Assets 54,046                260,374              

Net Position:

Unrestricted 54,046                260,374              

Total Net Position 54,046$              260,374$            

Business-Type

Activities -

Enterprise Fund

 Refuse 

Collection Fund 

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

23 121



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES

AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Governmental

Activities-

Internal

Service Fund

Operating Revenues:

Sales and service charges 784,200$            -$                        

Miscellaneous 3,917                  -                          

Total Operating Revenues 788,117              -                          

Operating Expenses:

Refuse collection 886,143              -                          

Total Operating Expenses 886,143              -                          

Operating Loss Before Transfers (98,026)               -                          

Transfers in 68,706                -                          

Transfers out (24,000)               -                          

Change in Net Position (53,320)               -                          

Net Position, Beginning of the Year 107,366              260,374              

Net Position, End of the Year 54,046$              260,374$            

Business-Type

Activities - 

Enterprise Fund

 Refuse 

Collection Fund 

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

24 122



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS   

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Governmental

Activities-

Internal

Service Fund

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Cash received from customers and users 777,579$            -$                        

Cash paid to suppliers for goods and services (1,298,688)          -                          

Net Cash Used for Operating Activities (521,109)             -                          

Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities:

Cash transfers out (24,000)               -                          

Cash transfers in 68,706                -                          

Net Cash Used for Non-Capital Financing Activities 44,706                -                          

Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents (476,403)             -                          

Cash and Cash Equivalents, July 1 476,403              260,374              

Cash and Cash Equivalents, June 30 -$                        260,374$            

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash

Used for Operating Activities:

Operating loss (98,026)$             -$                        

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss

to net cash provided by operating activities:

Increase in accounts receivable (10,538)               -                          

Decrease in accounts payable (412,545)             -                          

Total adjustments (423,083)             -                          

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities (521,109)$           -$                        

Non-Cash Investing, Capital, and Financing Activities:

There were no non-cash transactions during the fiscal year

Business-Type 

Activities - 

Enterprise Fund

 Refuse 

Collection Fund 

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

25 123



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

26 124



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
I. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
Note 1: Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

The basic financial statements of the City of Rolling Hills, California (the City) have been 
prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAP). The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted  
standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting 
principles. The more significant of the City's accounting policies are described below. 
 
a. Description of Entity 

 
The accompanying basic financial statements present the financial activity of the City of  
Rolling Hills. The City is the level of government primarily accountable for activities relevant 
to the operations of the City of Rolling Hills, California. 
 
The City of Rolling Hills (the City) was incorporated on January 25, 1957, under the 
provisions of the State of California. The City operates under a Council-Manager form of 
government and provides the following services as authorized by its charter: public safety, 
sanitation, animal control, culture and recreation, public improvement planning and zoning, 
and general administrative services. 
 
The Rolling Hills Community Association is not a part of the City's reporting entity because 
the City has no accountability for fiscal matters of the Rolling Hills Community Association. 
 

b. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the 
statement of activities) report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the primary 
government and its component units. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has 
been removed from these statements. Governmental activities, which normally are 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from 
business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given 
function or segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are 
clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program revenues include:  
1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, 
services or privileges provided by a given function or segment, and 2) grants and 
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a 
particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among 
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds. 
Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as 
separate columns in the fund financial statements. 

27 125



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 1: Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

c. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 
 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund 
financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded 
when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes 
are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items 
are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider 
have been met. 
 
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-
wide financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the City’s 
proprietary funds function and various other functions of the City. Elimination of these 
charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for various functions 
concerned. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are 
recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered 
to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter 
to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the government considers revenues 
to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period.  
Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to 
compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is 
due. 
 
Property taxes, franchise taxes, licenses and interest associated with the current fiscal 
period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as 
revenues of the current fiscal period. Only the portion of special assessments receivable 
due within the current fiscal period is considered to be susceptible to accrual as revenue 
of the current period. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and 
available only when the government receives cash. 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s policy 
to use restricted resources first, and then use unrestricted resources as needed. 
 
The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

 
The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. It is used to account for all 
financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

 
The Underground Utility capital projects fund is used to facilitate the expenditures 
necessary to construct the City's underground utility projects. 
 
The Transit special revenue fund is used to account for Proposition A and C funds 
received from the Los Angeles Metropolitan Transportation Authority. 

28 126



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 1: Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
The City reports the following major proprietary fund: 
 

The Refuse Collection Fund is used to account for operations (a) that are financed and 
operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises - where the intent of 
the governing body is that the costs of providing goods or services to the general public 
on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges or  
(b) where the governing body has decided that periodic determination of revenues 
earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, 
public policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes. 
 

Additionally, the City reports the following fund types: 
 
 The internal service fund accounts for the financing of goods and services provided by 

one department to other departments on a cost reimbursement basis. The City’s 
internal service fund is for self-insurance.  

 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.  
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing 
and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. 
The principal operating revenues of the government’s proprietary funds are charges to 
customers for sales and services. Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the 
cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets.  
All revenues and expenses not meeting these definitions are reported as non-operating 
revenues and expenses. 
 

d.  Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows and Net Position or Equity 
 

Cash and Investments 
 

All cash and investments, except those that are held by fiscal agents, are held in a City 
pool. These pooled funds are available upon demand and, therefore, are considered 
cash and cash equivalents for purposes of the statement of cash flows. Investments 
held by fiscal agents with an original maturity of three months or less are also 
considered cash equivalents and are shown as restricted assets for financial statement 
presentation purposes. 
 
Investments for the City, as well as for its component units, are reported at fair value. 
The City's policy is generally to hold investments until maturity. 

 
Receivables and Payables 
 

Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements 
outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either "due to/from other 
funds" (i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) or "advances to/from other funds" 
(i.e., the non-current portion of interfund loans). All other outstanding balances 
between funds are reported as "due to/from other funds." Any residual balances 
outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are 
reported in the government-wide financial statements as "internal balances." All trade 
and property tax receivables are shown net of allowance for uncollectibles. 

29 127



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 1: Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Prepaid Costs 
 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and 
are recorded as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements 
using the purchases method. 
 

Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets 
(e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks and similar items), are reported in the governmental 
activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. The City defines 
capital assets as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000  
(amount not rounded) and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such assets 
are recorded at historical cost when purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets 
are recorded at acquisition value at the date of acquisition.  
 
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the assets 
or materially extend assets lives are not capitalized. Major outlays for capital assets 
and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. 

 
Property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure of the primary government are 
depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 
 

Assets Years

Building improvements 7-50
Improvements other than buildings 20
Computer equipment 5-20
Equipment and vehicles 5-20
Furniture and fixtures 20  

 
Compensated Absences 
 

It is the City's policy to permit employees to accumulate a limited amount of earned but 
unused vacation, which will be paid to employees in the period taken or upon 
separation from City's service. All vacation pay is accrued when incurred in the 
government-wide financial statements. In governmental funds, the cost of vacations is 
recognized when payments are made to employees. 
 
Accumulated sick leave benefits are not recognized as liabilities of the City. The City's 
policy is to record sick leave as an operational expense in the period taken, since such 
benefits do not vest, nor is payment probable; however, unused sick leave is added to 
the creditable service period for calculation of retirement benefits when the employee 
retires. 

 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position and governmental fund balance 
sheet will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This 
separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a 
consumption of net position or fund balance that applies to a future period(s) and so 
will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/ expenditure) until then. 
The government has two items that qualify for reporting in this category. They are 
deferred outflows relating to the net pension obligation and deferred outflows related 
 

30 128



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 1: Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
to other post-employment benefits reported in the government-wide statement of net 
position. These outflows are the results of contributions made after the measurement 
period, the net difference between projected and actual earnings on plan investments, 
changes in actuarial assumptions, differences between expected and actual 
experiences, and adjustments due to differences in proportions.  The amounts for 
contributions made after the measurement period will be recognized in the subsequent 
fiscal year; the net difference between projected and actual earnings on plan 
investments will be amortized over five years; and all remaining deferrals will be 
amortized over the remaining expected average remaining service life.  
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position or governmental fund 
balance sheet will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of 
resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, 
represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will 
not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The government 
may report one item which arises only under a modified accrual basis of accounting 
that qualifies for reporting in this category, accordingly, unavailable revenue, is 
reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet and is related to grant revenue. 
These amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period 
that the amounts become available. The other item that qualifies for reporting in this 
category are deferred inflows relating to the net pension obligation reported in the 
government-wide statement of net position. These inflows are the result changes in 
actuarial assumptions, differences between expected and actual experiences, 
adjustments to proportions, and differences in the proportionate share of contributions. 
These amounts are deferred and amortized over the remaining service life. 

 
Fund Equity 

 
In the fund financial statements, government funds report the following fund balance 
classification: 
 

Non-spendable includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either  
(a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained 
intact. 
 
Restricted include amounts that are constrained on the use of resources by either 
(a) external creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws of regulations of other 
governments or (b) by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.  
 
Committed include amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant 
to constraints imposed by the City Council through resolution. The City has no 
committed fund balance as of June 30, 2021.  
 
Assigned include amounts that are constrained by the government’s intent to be 
used for specific purposes but are neither restricted nor committed. The assigned 
balance is set aside with the intent to be used for a specific purpose by the  
City Council through resolution. 

31 129



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 1: Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Unassigned include the residual amounts that have not been restricted, committed, 
or assigned to specific purposes. 
 
An individual governmental fund could include non-spendable resources and 
amounts that are restricted or unrestricted (committed, assigned, or unassigned) 
or any combination of those classifications.  
 
The City established certain a minimum fund balance policy as follows: 

 
The General Fund, Community Facilities Fund, and Underground Utility Fund shall 
maintain unrestricted fund balance (amount remaining after non-spendable and 
restricted fund balance) equivalent to a minimum of 100% of originally adopted 
annual expenditures (excluding one-time expenditures greater than $25,000) 
before transfers plus any City Council approved committed or assigned fund 
balance. 

 
Fund Equity Flow Assumptions 
 

Sometimes the government will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both 
restricted and unrestricted resources (the total of committed, assigned, and 
unassigned fund balance). In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted, 
committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance in the governmental fund financial 
statements a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources 
are considered to be applied. It is the government’s policy to consider restricted fund 
balance to have been depleted before using any of the components of unrestricted 
fund balance. Further, when the components of unrestricted fund balance can be used 
for the same purpose, committed fund balance is depleted first, followed by assigned 
fund balance. Unassigned fund balance is applied last. 

 
Net Position Flow Assumption 
 

Sometimes the government will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both 
restricted (e.g., restricted grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to 
calculate the amounts to report as restricted – net position and unrestricted –  
net position in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, a flow 
assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to 
be applied.  It is the government’s policy to consider restricted – net position to have 
been depleted before unrestricted – net position is applied. 

 
Property Tax 
 

Property tax revenue is recognized on the basis of GASB Code Section P70, that is, 
in the fiscal year for which the taxes have been levied providing they become available. 
Available means due or past due and receivable within the current period and collected 
within the current period or expected to be collected soon enough thereafter  
(not to exceed 60 days) to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. 
 
The County of Los Angeles collects property taxes for the City. Tax liens attach 
annually as of 12:01 AM on the first day in January prior to the fiscal year for which the 
taxes are levied. Taxes are levied on both real and personal property, as it exists on 
that date. The tax levy covers the fiscal period July 1 to June 30. All secured personal 
property taxes and one-half of the taxes on real property are due  
November 1; the second installment is due February 1. All taxes are delinquent, if 
unpaid, by December 10 and April 10, respectively. Unsecured personal property taxes 
become due on March 1 each year and are delinquent, if unpaid, on August 31. 

32 130



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 1: Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Pension Plans 

 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows and inflows of 
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary 
net position and additions to/deductions from the fiduciary net position have been 
determined on the same basis as they are reported by the CalPERS Financial Office. 
For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are 
recognized when currently due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. 
Investments are reported at fair value. CalPERS audited financial statements are 
publicly available reports that can be obtained at CalPERS’ website under Forms and 
Publications. 
  
GASB 68 requires that the reported results must pertain to liability and asset 
information within certain defined timeframes. For this report, the following timeframes 
are used.  
 
Valuation Date (VD): June 30, 2019 
 
Measurement Date (MD): June 30, 2020 
 
Measurement Period (MP): July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 

 
Other Post-Employment Benefits Plan 

 
For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability (asset), deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, 
information about the fiduciary net position of the  City’s plan (OPEB Plan), the assets 
of which are held by the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS), 
and additions to/deductions from the OPEB Plan’s fiduciary net position have been 
determined by an independent actuary. For this purpose, benefit payments are 
recognized when currently due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. 
Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
Generally accepted accounting principles require that the reported results must pertain 
to liability and asset information within certain defined timeframes. For this report, the 
following timeframes are used: 
 
Valuation Date (VD): June 30, 2019 
 
Measurement Date (MD): June 30, 2020  
 
Measurement Period (MP): July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020

33 131



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
II. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS 

 
Note 2: Cash and Investments 

 
As of June 30, 2021, cash and investments were reported in the accompanying financial 
statements as follows: 
 

Cash and Investments:
Governmental activities 6,812,708$       

Total cash and investments 6,812,708         

Restricted cash and investments:
Governmental activities 474,820            

Total restricted cash and investments 474,820            

Total 7,287,528$      
 

 
Cash and investments as of June 30, 2021, consisted of the following: 
 

Cash on hand 1,500$              
Demand deposits 17,554             
Restricted investments (Section 115 Trust) 474,820          
Investments 6,793,654      

Total Cash and Investments 7,287,528$      

 
The City follows the practice of pooling cash and investments of all funds, except for funds 
required to be held by fiscal agents under provisions of bond indentures. Interest income 
earned on pooled cash and investments is allocated annually to the various funds based on 
average daily cash balances.  Interest Income from cash and investments with fiscal agents is 
credited directly to the related fund. 
 
a. Deposits 

 
As of June 30, 2021, the carrying amount of the City’s deposits was $17,554 and the bank 
balance was $52,210. The $34,656 difference represents outstanding checks and deposits 
in transit. 

34 132



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 2: Cash and Investments (Continued) 

 
The California Government Code requires California banks and savings and loan 
associations to secure a City’s deposits by pledging government securities with a value of 
110% of a City’s deposits. California law also allows financial institutions to secure City 
deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 150% of a City’s 
total deposits. The City Treasurer may waive the collateral requirement for deposits which 
are fully insured up to $250,000 by the FDIC. The collateral for deposits in federal and state 
chartered banks is held in safekeeping by an authorized Agent of Depository recognized 
by the State of California Department of Banking. The collateral for deposits with savings 
and loan associations is generally held in safekeeping by the Federal Home Loan Bank in 
San Francisco, California as an Agent of Depository. These securities are physically held 
in an undivided pool for all California public agency depositors. Under Government Code 
Section 53655, the placement of securities by a bank or savings and loan association with 
an “Agent of Depository” has the effect of perfecting the security interest in the name of the 
local governmental agency. Accordingly, all collateral held by California Agents of 
Depository are considered to be held for, and in the name of, the local governmental 
agency. 
 

b. Investments 
 

Under provision of the City’s investment policy, and in accordance with the  
California Government Code, the following investments are authorized: 
 
 U.S. Treasury Bonds, Notes and Bills 
 Money Market Savings Accounts 
 Local Agency Investment Fund (State Pool)  
 Deposit of Funds 
 

c. Investments Authorized by Debt Agreements 
 

The above investments do not address investment of debt proceeds held by a bond trustee. 
Investments of debt proceeds held by a bond trustee are governed by provisions of the 
debt agreements, rather than the general provisions of the California Government Code or 
the City’s investment policy. 

 
d. Investments in State Investment Pool 

 
The City is a voluntary participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is 
regulated by California Government Code Section 16429 under the oversight of the 
Treasurer of the State of California. LAIF is overseen by the Local Agency Investment 
Advisory Board, which consists of five members, in accordance with State statute. The 
State Treasurer’s Office audits the fund annually. The fair value of the position in the 
investment pool is the same as the value of the pool shares. 
 

e. Pension Rate Stabilization Program Section 115 Trust 
 

In July 2018, the City Council authorized participation in the PARS Pension Rate 
Stabilization Program Section 115 Trust in order to mitigate rising pension costs through 
CalPERS.  The initial funding amount was $185,000.  The program has been established 
as a multiple employer trust so that public agencies regardless of size can join the program 
and receive the necessary economies of scale to keep administrative feels low and avoid 
any setup costs.  The trust permits the City, under Federal and State law, to invest in a 
more diversified array of investments to maximize investment returns long term.  The 
balance of the Trust at June 30, 2021 is $474,820 and is reported as restricted cash and 
investments. 

35 133



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 2: Cash and Investments (Continued) 

 
f. Credit Risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder 
of the investment. The City mitigates its credit risk generally by following its  
three primary investment objectives, in order, of safety, liquidity and yield. The  
California Government Code generally limits allowable investments to those classes of 
investments with lower risk (and therefore lower yields). The City's investment policy further 
restricts these investments to the highest quality within a category and excludes certain 
otherwise allowable investments as not meeting the City's liquidity requirement. 
 
Credit risk is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical 
rating organization.  
 
As of June 30, 2021, all securities were investment grade and were legal under State and 
City law. Investments in U.S. government securities are not considered to have a credit 
risk and, therefore, their credit quality is not disclosed As of June 30, 2021, the City's 
investments in external investment pools and money market mutual funds are unrated. 
 

g. Custodial Credit Risk 
 

The custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository 
financial institution, a government will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to 
recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  
 
As of June 30, 2021, none of the City’s deposits or investments were exposed to custodial 
credit risk. 
 

h. Concentration of Credit Risk 
 

The City is in compliance with restrictions imposed by its investment policy, which limits 
certain types of investments. As of June 30, 2021, in accordance with GASB Statement 
No. 40, if the City has invested more than 5% of its total investments in any one issuer then 
it is exposed to credit risk. The Investments guaranteed by the U.S. government and 
investments in mutual funds and external investment pools are excluded from this.  
 
As of June 30, 2021, none of the City’s deposits or investment were exposed to 
concentration of credit risk.  
 

36 134



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 2: Cash and Investments (Continued) 

 
i. Interest Rate Risk 
 

The City's investment policy limits investment maturities as a means of managing its 
exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. The City's investment 
policy establishes a maximum maturity of three years for all individual investments. 
 
As of June 30, 2021, the City had the following investments and original maturities: 
 

1 year 1 - 3 3 - 5 Fair
or less years years Value

Investments:
Local Agency Investment Fund 3,475,996$     -$                  -$                  3,475,996$     
Money Market Saving Accounts 104,196         -                    -                    104,196         
Certificates of Deposits 740,069         2,473,393      -                    3,213,462      

Restricted investments:
Money Market Funds 474,820         -                    -                    474,820         

4,795,081$     2,473,393$     -$                  7,268,474$     

Investment Maturities (in Years)

 
j. Fair Value Hierarchy 
 

The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established 
by generally accepted accounting principles.  The hierarchy is based on the valuation 
inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset.  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; 
Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.  At June 30, 2021, all of the City’s 
investments are valued using Level 1 inputs, with the exception of the Local Agency 
Investment Fund and money market funds, which are considered to be uncategorized. 

 
Note 3: Receivables  
 

Receivables at June 30, 2021, for the City's individual major funds, and non-major and internal 
service funds in the aggregate, including applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are 
detailed below. All receivables are expected to be collected within one year, except for 
delinquent property taxes. 
 

Refuse
General Collection 

Fund Fund Total

Accounts 123,446$   -$             123,446$   
Taxes assessed for rubbish collection -               54,046      54,046      

Total Receivables 123,446$   54,046$     177,492$   

Accounts Receivable

 

37 135



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 4:  Interfund Transfers 
 

Individual fund operating transfers for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, are as follows: 
 

Refuse
General Collection Non-Major

Funds Fund Fund Funds Total
Transfers In:

General Fund -$                 24,000$         9,735$          33,735$         
Refuse collection fund 68,706          -                   -                   68,706          
Non-Major Funds 5,460            -                   -                   5,460              

       Total 74,166$         24,000$         9,735$          107,901$       

Transfers Out

 
 
Of the $74,166 transferred out of the General Fund, $5,460 was transferred to the non-major 
governmental funds and $68,706 was transferred to the Refuse Collection Fund to support 
operating costs and to cover traffic safety efforts. The Refuse Collection Fund transferred out 
$24,000 to the General Fund to cover administrative expenditures in the current fiscal year. 
The transfer of $9,735 to the General fund was to cover Measure W costs. 

 
Note 5: Capital Assets 
 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2021, was as follows: 
 

Balance Balance
June 30, 2020 Increases Decreases June 30, 2021

Governmental Activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land 564,040$       -$                 -$                 564,040$       
Construction-in-progress 19,449           75,145         -                   94,594           

Total Capital Assets,
  Not Being Depreciated 583,489         75,145         -                   658,634         

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Land Improvements 176,139         -                   -                   176,139         
Equipment 11,987           -                   -                   11,987           
Fixtures 26,591           -                   -                   26,591           

Total Capital Assets,
  Being Depreciated 214,717         -                   -                   214,717         

Less accumulated depreciation:
Land Improvements 176,139         -                   -                   176,139         
Equipment 3,596             2,397           -                   5,993             
Fixtures 4,681             2,111           -                   6,792             

Total Accumulated
Depreciation 184,416         4,508           -                   188,924         

Total capital assets
being depreciated, net 30,301           (4,508)          -                   25,793           

Governmental Activities
  Capital Assets, net 613,790$      70,637$      -$                 684,427$      

 

38 136



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 5: Capital Assets (Continued) 

 
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, depreciation expense was $4,508 and allocated 
to general government functional expense. 
 

Note 6: Compensated Absences 
 
The following is a summary of changes in compensated absences of the City for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2021: 
 

Balance Balance Due Within
June 30, 2020 Additions Deletions June 30, 2021 One Year

Compensated Absences 19,263$        37,960$    10,464$      46,759$     12,000       

Total 19,263$        37,960$    10,464$      46,759$     12,000$     
 

 
Liabilities for compensated absences are typically liquidated by the General Fund. 

 
Note 7: Liability, Insured Programs and Workers’ Compensation Protection 
 

a. Description of Self-Insured Pool Pursuant to Joint Powers Agreement 
 
The City of Rolling Hills is a member of the CALIFORNIA JOINT POWERS INSURANCE 
AUTHORITY (Authority). The Authority is composed of 123 California public entities and is 
organized under a joint powers agreement pursuant to California Government Code §6500 
et seq. The purpose of the Authority is to arrange and administer programs for the pooling 
of self-insured losses, to purchase excess insurance or reinsurance, and to arrange for 
group purchased insurance for property and other lines of coverage. The California JPIA 
began covering claims of its members in 1978. Each member government has an elected 
official as its representative on the Board of Directors. The Board operates through a  
nine-member Executive Committee. 
 

b. Primary Self-Insurance Programs of the Authority 
 

Each member pays an annual contribution at the beginning of the coverage period. A 
retrospective adjustment is then conducted annually thereafter, for coverage years  
2012-13 and prior.  Coverage years 2013-14 and forward are not subject to routine annual 
retrospective adjustment. The total funding requirement for primary self-insurance 
programs is based on an actuarial analysis. Costs are allocated to individual agencies 
based on payroll and claims history, relative to other members of the risk-sharing pool. 
 
Primary Liability Program 
 
Claims are pooled separately between police and general government exposures.  
(1) The payroll of each member is evaluated relative to the payroll of other members. A 
variable credibility factor is determined for each member, which establishes the weight 
applied to payroll and the weight applied to losses within the formula. (2) The first layer of 
losses includes incurred costs up to $100,000 for each occurrence and is evaluated as a 
percentage of the pool’s total incurred costs within the first layer. (3) The second layer of 
losses includes incurred costs from $100,000 to $500,000 for each occurrence and is 
evaluated as a percentage of the pool’s total incurred costs within the second layer.  
(4) Incurred costs from $500,000 to $50 million, are distributed based on the outcome of 
cost allocation within the first and second loss layers. 

39 137



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 7: Liability, Insured Programs and Workers’ Compensation Protection (Continued) 

 
The overall coverage limit for each member, including all layers of coverage, is $50 million 
per occurrence. Subsidence losses also have a $50 million per occurrence limit. The 
coverage structure is composed of a combination of pooled self-insurance, reinsurance, 
and excess insurance. Additional information concerning the coverage structure is 
available on the Authority’s website: https://cjpia.org/coverage/risk-sharing-pools/. 
 
Primary Workers’ Compensation Program 
 
Claims are pooled separately between public safety (police and fire) and general 
government exposures. (1) The payroll of each member is evaluated relative to the payroll 
of other members. A variable credibility factor is determined for each member, which 
establishes the weight applied to payroll and the weight applied to losses within the 
formula. (2) The first layer of losses includes incurred costs up to $75,000 for each 
occurrence and is evaluated as a percentage of the pool’s total incurred costs within the 
first layer. (3) The second layer of losses includes incurred costs from $75,000 to $200,000 
for each occurrence and is evaluated as a percentage of the pool’s total incurred costs 
within the second layer. (4) Incurred costs from $200,000 to statutory limits are distributed 
based on the outcome of cost allocation within the first and second loss layers. 
 
For 2020-21 the Authority’s pooled retention is $1 million per occurrence, with reinsurance 
to statutory limits under California Workers’ Compensation Law. Employer’s Liability losses 
are pooled among members to $1 million. Coverage from $1 million to $5 million is 
purchased through reinsurance policies, and Employer’s Liability losses from $5 million to 
$10 million are pooled among members. 
 

c. Purchased Insurance 
 
Pollution Legal Liability Insurance 
 
The City of Rolling Hills participates in the pollution legal liability insurance program which 
is available through the Authority. The policy covers sudden and gradual pollution of 
scheduled property, streets, and storm drains owned by the City of Rolling Hills. Coverage 
is on a claims-made basis. There is a $250,000 deductible. The Authority has an aggregate 
limit of $20 million. 
 
Property Insurance 
 
The City of Rolling Hills participates in the all-risk property protection program of the 
Authority. This insurance protection is underwritten by several insurance companies.  
City of Rolling Hills property is currently insured according to a schedule of covered 
property submitted by the City of Rolling Hills to the Authority. City of Rolling Hills property 
currently has all-risk property insurance protection in the amount of $1,048,388. There is a 
$10,000 deductible per occurrence except for non-emergency vehicle insurance which has 
a $2,500 deductible. 

 
Crime Insurance 
 
The City of Rolling Hills purchases crime insurance coverage in the amount of $1,000,000 
with a $2,500 deductible. The fidelity coverage is provided through the Authority. 

40 138



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 7: Liability, Insured Programs and Workers’ Compensation Protection (Continued) 
 

d. Adequacy of Protection 
 

During the past three fiscal years, none of the above programs of protection experienced 
settlements or judgments that exceeded pooled or insured coverage. There were also no 
significant reductions in pooled or insured liability coverage in 2020-21. 

 
Note 8: Pension Plan Obligations 

 
a. General Information about the Pension Plans 
 

Plan Description  
 

All qualified permanent and probationary employees are eligible to participate in the  
City of Rolling Hills’ cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plans 
administered by the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS), which 
acts as a common investment and administrative agent for its participating member 
employers. Benefit provisions under the Plans are established by State statute and  
City resolution. CalPERS issues publicly available reports that include a full description of 
the pension plans regarding benefit provisions, assumptions and membership information 
that can be found on the CalPERS website. The City of Rolling Hills has a Miscellaneous 
cost-sharing plan including the Classic Tier and PEPRA Tier. 

 
Benefits Provided  

 
CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-of-living 
adjustments and death benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and 
beneficiaries. Benefits are based on years of credited service, equal to one year of  
full time employment. Members with five years of total service are eligible to retire at age 
50 with statutorily reduced benefits. All members are eligible for non-duty disability benefits 
after 10 years of service. The death benefit is one of the following: The Basic Death Benefit, 
the 1957 Survivor Benefit, or the Optional Settlement 2W Death Benefit. The cost of living 
adjustments for each plan are applied as specified by the Public Employees’ Retirement 
Law.  

41 139



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 8: Pension Plan Obligations (Continued) 
 

Below is a summary of the plans’ provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2021, for 
which the City of Rolling Hills has contracted: 
 

Major Benefit Options Miscellaneous Misc. PEPRA

Hire date
Prior to            

January 1, 2013
January 1, 2013 
and thereafter

Benefit Provision 
Benefit formula 2% @60 2% @62

Social Security Yes No
Full/Modified Modified Modified

Benefit vesting schedule 5 years of service 5 years of service
Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life
Retirement age Minumum 50 yrs

Monthly benefits, as a % of 

eligible compensation 1.092% to 2.418% 1.0% to 2.5%
Required employer contribution rates 35.649% 8.483%
Required employee contribution rates 6.918% 7.250%

 
New entrants are not allowed in the Miscellaneous Classic Tier.  
 
Contribution Description  

 
Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law (PERL) requires that 
the employer contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis 
by the actuary and shall be effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate. 
The total plan contributions are determined through the CalPERS’ annual actuarial 
valuation process. For public agency cost-sharing plans covered by either the 
Miscellaneous or Safety risk pools, the Plan’s actuarially determined rate is based on the 
estimated amount necessary to pay the Plan’s allocated share of the risk pool’s costs of 
benefits earned by employees during the year, and any unfunded accrued liability. The City 
is required to contribute the difference between the actuarially determined rate and the 
contribution rate of employees.  

 
For the year ended June 30, 2021, the contributions recognized as a reduction to the  
net pension liability for all Plans was $84,285. 

 
b. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

Related to Pensions 
 

As of June 30, 2021, the City of Rolling Hills reported net pension liability for its 
proportionate shares of the net pension liability of the Plan was $759,963. 

42 140



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 8: Pension Plan Obligations (Continued) 

 
The City of Rolling Hills’ net pension liability for the Plan is measured as the proportionate 
share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability of the Plan is measured as of 
June 30, 2020, and the total pension liability for the Plan used to calculate the net pension 
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2019 rolled forward to  
June 30, 2020 using standard update procedures. The City’s proportion of the net pension 
liability was based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to the 
pension plans relative to the projected contributions of all participating employers, 
actuarially determined. The City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the 
Plan as of June 30, 2019 and 2020, was as follows:  

 

Miscellaneous Classic

Proportion - June 30, 2019 0.00672%
Proportion - June 30, 2020 0.00699%
Change - Increase (Decrease) 0.00026%

 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2021, the City of Rolling Hills recognized pension expense of 
$142,695. At June 30, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

 
Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Pension contributions subsequent to 92,977$            -$                     

measurement date
Change in assumptions 5,420                
Difference between expected and actual experiences 39,163              -                       
Net difference between projected and actual

earnings on plan investments 22,576              -                       
Adjustment due to differences in proportions 40,422              -                       
Difference in proportionate share of contributions -                       41,777              
  Total 195,138$          47,197$            

 
 

The $92,977 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension 
liability in the year ended June 30, 2022. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized as 
pension expense as follows: 
 

Year Ended Deferred Outflows
June 30  of Resources

2022 7,281$                 
2023 20,025                 
2024 16,830                 
2025 10,828                  

43 141



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 8: Pension Plan Obligations (Continued) 

 
Actuarial Assumptions  

 
For the measurement period ended June 30, 2020 (the measurement date), the total 
pension liability was determined by rolling forward the June 30, 2019, total pension liability. 
The June 30, 2019 and the June 30, 2020, total pension liabilities were based on the 
following actuarial methods and assumptions: 

 
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal in accordance with the 

requirements of GASB Statement No. 68 

Discount Rate 7.15%

Inflation 2.50%

Salary Increases Varies by Entry Age and Service

Mortality Rate Table (1) Derived using CalPERS’ Membership Data 
for all Funds 

Post Retirement Benefit 
Increase 

Contract COLA up to 2.5% until Purchasing 
Power Protection Allowance Floor on 
Purchasing Power applies

Actuarial Assumptions 

 (1) The mortality table used was developed based on CalPERS’ specific data. The table 
includes 15 years of mortality improvements using Society of Actuaries Scale 90% of 
scale MP 2016. For more details on this table, please refer to the December 2017 
experience study report (based on CalPERS demographic data from 1997 to 2015) that 
can be found on the CalPERS website.

 
Subsequent Event 
 
On November 15, 2021, the CalPERS Board of Administration selected a new asset 
allocation mix that will guide the fund’s investment portfolio for the next for years, while at 
the same time retaining the current target rate of return. The Board also approved adding 
5 percent leverage to increase investment diversification. The new asset allocation takes 
effect July 1, 2022 and is expected to decrease employer contribution rates from less than 
1 percent to a decrease of more than 2 percent depending on the plan type. Employees in 
the PEPRA plans will likely see increases in their contribution rates. Contribution changes 
will take effect in fiscal year 2023-24. 
 
Discount Rate  
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.15%. The projection of 
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan 
members will be made at the current member contribution rates and that contributions from 
employers will be made at statutorily required rates, actuarially determined. Based on those 
assumptions, the Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all 
projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term 
expected rate of return on plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments to determine the total pension liability. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using 
a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of 
return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are 
developed for each major asset class.  

44 142



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 8: Pension Plan Obligations (Continued) 

 
In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both 
short-term and long-term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund 
cash flows. Using historical returns of all of the funds’ asset classes, expected compound 
(geometric) returns were calculated over the short-term (first 10 years) and the long-term 
(11+ years) using a building-block approach. Using the expected nominal returns for both 
short-term and long-term, the present value of benefits was calculated for each fund. The 
expected rate of return was set by calculating the rounded single equivalent expected 
return that arrived at the same present value of benefits for cash flows as the one calculated 
using both short-term and long-term returns. The expected rate of return was then set equal 
to the single equivalent rate calculated above and adjusted to account for assumed 
administrative expenses.  
 
The table below reflects long-term expected real rate of return by asset class. The rate of 
return was calculated using the capital market assumptions applied to determine the 
discount rate and asset allocation. These geometric rates of return are net of administrative 
expenses. 

Asset Class (1)
Assumed Asset 

Allocation
Real Return 

Years 1 - 10 (2)
Real Return 
Years 11+ (3)

Global Equity 50.0% 4.80% 5.98%
Fixed Income 28.0 1.00 2.62
Inflation Assets 0.0 0.77 1.81
Private Equity 8.0 6.30 7.23
Real Assets 13.0 3.75 4.93
Liquidity 1.0 0.0 (0.92)

 
(1) In the System's ACFR, Fixed Income is included in Global Debt Securities; Liquidity is 

included in Short-Term Investments; Inflation Assets are included in both Global Equity 
Securities and Global Debt Securities.   

(2)  An expected inflation of 2.0% used for this period. 
(3) An expected inflation of 2.92% used for this period. 

 
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate  

 
The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability/ (asset) of 
the Plan, calculated using the discount rate for the Plan, as well as what the City’s 
proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is 1% point lower (6.15 percent) or 1% point higher (8.15 percent) than 
the current rate: 
 

Plan's Net Pension 
Liability/(Assets)

Discount Rate - 1% 
(6.15%)

Current Discount Rate 
(7.15%)

Discount Rate +1%
(8.15%)

Miscellaneous Plan 1,194,292$                        759,963$                           401,091$                           

 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position  

 
Detailed information about each pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the 
separately issued CalPERS financial reports. See CalPERS website for additional 
information. 

45 143



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 8: Pension Plan Obligations (Continued) 

 
c. Pension Rate Stabilization Program Section 115 Trust 

 
The City holds investments in a Section 115 Trust for pension stabilization.  The current 
market value of the trust is $474,820. This trust fund is not included in the calculation of 
the net pension liability, as the assets are not in the custody of the plan administrator, 
CalPERS.  Refer to Note 2 for additional information. 
 

Note 9: Other Post-Employment Health Care Benefits 
 
a. Plan Description 
 

The City provides retiree medical benefits through an agent multiple-employer defined 
benefit healthcare plan, administered by the California Public Employees’ Retirement 
System (CalPERS) which provides medical insurance benefits to eligible retirees. A 
separate financial report is not available for the plan.  Employees are eligible for retiree 
health benefits if they retire from the City on or after age 60 with at least 5 years of service 
with the City and are eligible for a PERS pension. 
 

b. Employees Covered 
 

Membership of the plan consisted of 4 eligible active employees and 5 enrolled eligible 
retirees at June 30, 2021. These amounts do not reflect current retirees not enrolled in the 
CalPERS health plan who are eligible to enroll in the plan at a later date. 
 

c. Contributions 
 

The contribution requirements of plan members and the City are established and may be 
amended by the City Council. The City must agree to make a defined monthly payment 
towards the cost of each retiree's coverage. The actual contribution is based on projected 
pay-as-you-go financing requirements.  For the measurement dated ended June 30, 2020, 
the City’s contributions were $18,424 in total payments, which were recognized as a 
reduction to the OPEB liability. 
 

d. Net OPEB Asset 
 
The City’s net OPEB asset was measured as of June 30, 2020 and the total OPEB liability 
used to calculate the net OPEB asset was determined by an actuarial valuation dated  
June 30, 2019 to determine the June 30, 2020 total OPEB liability, based on the following 
actuarial methods and assumptions: 

 
Inflation: 2.75% per year 
 
Investment Return / Discount Rate: 6.50% per year 
 
Healthcare Trend: 4.00% per year 
 
Payroll Increase: 2.75% per year 
 
Mortality: 2014 CalPERS Mortality for Active Miscellaneous 

Employees 
 
Retirement Rates: 2009 CalPERS 2.0% @ 60 Rates for 

Miscellaneous Employees (adjusted to reflect a 
minimum retirement age of 52 for those hired 
after 2012) 

46 144



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 9: Other Post-Employment Health Care Benefits (Continued) 
 

The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a 
building-block method in which expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net 
of OPEB plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  
These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting 
the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by 
adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates 
of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table: 
 

Asset Class
Target 

Allocation
Assumed 

Gross Return
All Equities 40.00% 7.795%
All Fixed Income 43.00% 4.500%
Real Estate Investment Trusts 8.00% 7.500%
All Commodities 4.00% 7.795%
Treasury Inflation Protected Securities (TIPS) 5.00% 3.250%
Total 100.00%

 
e. Discount Rate 
 

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 6.50 percent.  The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that City 
contributions will be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution rates. 
Based on those assumptions, the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be 
available to make all projected OPEB payments for current active and inactive employees 
and beneficiaries.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan 
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total 
OPEB liability. 
 

f. Changes in the OPEB Liability (Asset) 

Total OPEB Fiduciary Total OPEB
Liability Net Position Liability (Asset)

Roll back balance at June 30, 2019 399,235$          624,277$          (225,042)$        
Service Cost 15,232             -                      15,232             
Interest on TOL 25,506             -                      25,506             
Expected Investment Income -                      40,568             (40,568)            
Employer Contributions -                      18,424             (18,424)            
Administrative Expense -                      (308)                 308                  
Benefit Payments (18,424)            (18,424)            -                      
Expected Minus Actual Benefit Payments** (10,483)            -                      (10,483)            
Expected Balance at June 30, 2020 411,066           664,537           (253,471)          
Experience (Gains)/Losses -                      -                      
Changes in Assumptions -                      -                      
Investment Gains/(Losses) -                      (6,790)              6,790               
Net Change during 2018-19 11,831             33,470             (21,639)            

Balance at June 30, 2020* 411,066$          657,747$          (246,681)$        

*May include a slight rounding error.
**Deferrable as an Experience Gain or Loss  

47 145



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 9: Other Post-Employment Health Care Benefits (Continued) 

 
g. Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Asset to Changes in the Discount Rate 

 
The following presents the net OPEB asset of the City if it were calculated using a discount 
rate that is one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the current 
rate, for measurement period ended June 30, 2020: 
 

1% Decrease 
(5.5%)

Current 
Discount Rate 

(6.5%)
1% Increase 

(7.5%)
Net OPEB Asset (207,254)$      (246,681)$      (280,056)$      

 
 

h. Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Asset to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rate 
 

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the City if it were calculated using health 
care cost trend rates that are one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher 
than the current rate, for measurement period ended June 30, 2020: 
 

1% Decrease 
Current Healthcare Cost 

Trent Rates 1% Increase
Net OPEB Asset (286,072)$      (246,681)$                    (199,958)$    

 
 
i. OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
 

CalPERS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and 
required supplementary information.  That report may be obtained from CalPERS’ website 
at www.calpers.ca.gov. 
 

j. OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 
 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, the City recognized OPEB expense of $73. As of 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows of resources related 
to OPEB from the following sources:  
 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Contributions subsequent
to measurement date 18,424$             -$                      

Assumption changes 16,379               -                        
Difference in projected and

actual return on assets 6,127                 -                        
Experience gains/losses -                        (25,507)              
Investment gains/losses -                        (1,831)                

Deferred Balances 40,930$             (27,338)$            

 
 

 
 
 

48 146



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Note 9: Other Post-Employment Health Care Benefits (Continued) 

 
The $18,424 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions 
subsequent to the June 30, 2020 measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of 
the net OPEB liability during the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022.  All other deferred items 
will be amortized and recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Deferred 
Fiscal Year Ended (Inflows) of

June 30, Resources

2022 (405)                    
2023 (408)                    
2024 (752)                    
2025 (143)                    
2026 (1,501)                  

Thereafter (1,623)                   
 

Note 10: Deferred Compensation Plan 
 

The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal 
Revenue Code Section 457. Pursuant to the IRC 457 subsection (g); all amounts of 
compensation deferred under the deferred compensation plan, all property, or rights are solely 
the property and rights of the employee and beneficiaries of the plan. Deferred compensation 
funds are not subject to the claims of the City’s general creditors; consequently, the assets and 
related liabilities of the plan are not included within the City’s financial statements. The ending 
investment balance of the plan as of June 30, 2021, was $1,596,297. 

 
Note 11: Commitments and Contingencies 

 
a. Litigation 
 

In the opinion of the California Joint Powers Insurance Authority, there are no known claims 
which would exceed the City's applicable coverage. The City's management is not aware 
of any lawsuits or claims that would have a material adverse effects on the financial position 
of the City. 

 
b. Grants 
 

Amounts received or receivable from granting agencies are subject to audit and adjustment 
by grantor agencies. While no matters of non-compliance were disclosed by prior year's 
audits of the financial statements or by a prior year single audit of a Federal grant program; 
grantor agencies may subject grant programs to additional compliance tests, which may 
result in disallowed costs. In the opinion of management, future disallowances of current 
or prior grant expenditures, if any, would not have a material adverse effect on the financial 
position of the City. 

49 147



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

50 148



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA 
 
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability 
 

General Budget Policies 
 

The City Council is required to adopt an annual budget resolution by July 1 of each fiscal year. 
Annual budgets are adopted and presented for reporting purposes on a basis consistent with 
generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
The City Council reviews a tentative budget and adopts a final budget after a public hearing is 
conducted to receive comments prior to adoption. The City's governing board satisfied these 
requirements. 
 
Expenditures may not exceed the total annual budgeted amount in any category without the 
approval of the City Council. Throughout the fiscal year, monthly financial reports comparing actual 
figures with budgeted figures are prepared and distributed to the City Manager and members of 
the City Council. As these reports are reviewed, attention is drawn to variations between budgeted 
amounts and actual amounts and if necessary the City Council considers the need for increases in 
expenditure categories. The original adopted budgets are revised by the City Council during the 
year to give consideration to these modified expenditure categories and to unanticipated income. 
It is this final revised budget including all revisions and amendments approved by the City Council 
subsequent to the initial budget adoption that is presented in the financial statements.  
 
The level of appropriated budgetary control is the total adopted budget which is defined as the total 
budget for all funds and divisions. The City Manager may authorize transfers of appropriations 
within the sub-categories of the major expenditure categories of the adopted budget. Supplemental 
appropriations during the year must be approved by the City Council. 
 
Unexpended or unencumbered appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year. Encumbered 
appropriations are reappropriated in the subsequent year's budget by action of the City Council.  

 
Excess of expenditure over appropriation per activity is as follows:  

Final Budget Expenditures Excess
Major Funds

General Fund
Capital Outlay 2,000$            2,813$            813$            

Fund

51 149



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Variance with

 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 5,617,133$       5,617,133$       5,617,133$       -$                      

Resources (Inflows):

Taxes 1,247,600         1,247,600         1,350,412         102,812            

Licenses and permits 281,250            281,250            183,378            (97,872)             

Intergovernmental 289,550            339,550            369,130            29,580              

Charges for services 21,300              21,300              40,631              19,331              

Use of money and property 168,000            168,000            159,203            (8,797)               

Fines and forfeitures 14,900              14,900              4,793                (10,107)             

Miscellaneous 37,800              37,800              3,278                (34,522)             

Transfers in 24,000              24,000              33,735              9,735                

Amounts Available for Appropriations 7,701,533         7,751,533         7,761,693         10,160              

Charges to Appropriations (Outflows):

General government 1,269,533         1,269,533         1,061,393         208,140            

Public safety 291,785            291,785            223,199            68,586              

Planning and Development 822,400            845,400            749,794            95,606              

Capital outlay 2,000                2,000                2,813                (813)                  

Transfers out 177,527            177,527            74,166              103,361            

Total Charges to Appropriations 2,563,245         2,586,245         2,111,365         474,880            

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 5,138,288$       5,165,288$       5,650,328$       485,040$          

The notes to required supplementary information are an integral part of this schedule.

52 150



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

TRANSIT FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Variance with

 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 97,105$            97,105$            97,105$            -$                      

Resources (Inflows):

Intergovernmental 57,500              57,500              69,642              12,142              

Use of money and property 2,600                2,600                292                   (2,308)               

Amounts Available for Appropriations 157,205            157,205            167,039            9,834                

Charges to Appropriation (Outflow):

Public works 135,000            135,000            149,000            (14,000)             

Total Charges to Appropriations 135,000            135,000            149,000            (14,000)             

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 22,205$            22,205$            18,039$            (4,166)$             

The notes to required supplementary information are an integral part of this schedule.53 151



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

COST-SHARING MULTIPLE EMPLOYER MISCELLANEOUS PLAN

SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY

AS OF JUNE 30, FOR THE LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 
(1)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Measurement Date 6/30/2020 6/30/2019 6/30/2018 6/30/2017 6/30/2016 6/30/2015 6/30/2014

Proportion of the Net Pension Liability 0.00699% 0.00672% 0.00679% 0.00633% 0.00611% 0.00539% 0.00678%

Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 759,963$       688,971$       622,418$   627,859$   528,827$   369,954$   421,924$   

Covered Payroll 522,620$       458,829$       408,643$   492,817$   465,123$   453,661$   410,896$   

Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability as a

Percentage of Covered Payroll 145.41% 150.16% 152.31% 127.40% 113.70% 81.55% 102.68%

Proportionate Share of the Fiduciary Net Position as a

Percentage of the Plan's Total Pension Liability 75.10% 75.30% 75.30% 73.30% 74.10% 78.30% 81.00%

Notes to Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability:

(1)
Historical information is required only for measurement for which GASB 68 is applicable. Fiscal Year 2014-15 was the first year of implementation, therefore only

seven years are shown.

Changes of Assumptions: In 2018, demographic and inflation rate were changes in accordance to the CalPERS Experience Study and Review of Actuarial

Assumptions December 2017.  There were no changes in the discount rate.

Benefit Changes: There were no changes to benefit terms that applied to all members of the Public Agency Pool. However, individual employers in the Plan may

have provided a benefit improvement to their employees by granting Two Years Additional Service Credit to members retiring during a specified time period (a.k.a

Golden Handshakes).

54 152



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

COST-SHARING MULTIPLE EMPLOYER MISCELLANEOUS PLAN

SCHEDULE OF PLAN CONTRIBUTIONS

AS OF JUNE 30, FOR THE LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
 (1)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Actuarially Determined Contribution 92,977$     84,285$     68,379$     54,671$     53,328$     45,578$     34,611$     

Contribution in Relation to the Actuarially Determined Contribution (92,977)      (84,285)      (68,379)      (54,671)      (53,328)      (45,578)      (34,611)      

Contribution Deficiency (Excess) -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               

Covered Payroll 470,458$   522,620$   458,829$   408,643$   492,817$   465,123$   453,661$   

Contributions as a Percentage of Covered Payroll 19.76% 16.13% 14.90% 13.38% 10.82% 9.80% 7.63%

Notes to Schedule of Plan Contributions:

Valuation Date:

Methods and  assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial Cost Method

Amortization method Level percentage of pay, a summary of  the current policy is provided in the table below:

Non-investment 

   Amortization Period 30 Years 5 Years

     - Active Plans 2.750%

     - Inactive Plans 0% 0% 0%

   Ramp Up 5 0 0

   Ramp Down 5 0 0

Asset valuation method

Inflation

Payroll Growth

Projected Salary Increases

Investment Rate of Return

Retirement Age

Mortality

Varies by Entry Age and Service

Direct rate smoothing

Source 

2.750% 2.750%

5

5

(1)
Historical information is required only for measurement for which GASB 68 is applicable. Fiscal Year 2015 was the first year of implementation, therefore only seven years

are shown.

Driver 

20 Years20 Years 

7.00% (net of pension plan investment and administrative expenses, includes inflation)

All other actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2017 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial

experience study for the period from 1997 to 2015, including updates to salary increase, mortality and retirement

rates. The Experience Study report may be accessed on the CalPERS website at www.calpers.ca.gov under

Forms and Publications.

The mortality table used was developed based on CalPERS’ specific data. The table includes 15 years of

mortality improvements using 90 percent of Society of Actuaries' Scale 2016. For more details on this table,

please refer to the 2017 experience study report.

2.750%

5

Golden 

Handshake

Assumption/ 

Method 

(Gain)/Loss 

0%

2.750%

2.50%

2.75%

June 30, 2018

Entry Age Normal Cost Method

Investment 

Benefit 

Change 

5
0%

30 years 

55 153



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET OPEB ASSET AND RELATED RATIOS

AS OF JUNE 30, FOR THE LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 
(1)

2021 2020 2019 2018

Measurement Date 6/30/2021 6/30/2019 6/30/2018 6/30/2017

Total OPEB Liability:

Service cost 15,232$      19,302$      18,785$      18,282$      

Interest on the total OPEB liability 25,506        24,323        22,828        20,310        

Benefit payments (18,424)      (18,424)      (18,424)      (17,715)      

Expected Minus Actual Benefit Payments (10,483)      (879)           -                 -                 

Experience (Gains)/Losses -                 (22,094)      -                 -                 

Changes in assumptions -                 22,803        -                 -                 

Net change in total OPEB liability 11,831        25,031        23,189        20,877        

Total OPEB liability - beginning 399,235      374,204      351,015      330,138      

Total OPEB liability - ending (a) 411,066      399,235      374,204      351,015      

Plan Fiduciary Net Position:

Contribution - employer 18,424        18,424        18,424        17,715        

Net investment income 40,568        37,919        35,713        37,288        

Benefit payments (18,424)      (18,424)      (18,424)      (17,715)      

Administrative expense (308)           (125)           (1,017)        (449)           

Investment Gains/Losses (6,790)        3,053          (1,742)        -                 

Other -                 -                 542             -                 

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 33,470        40,847        33,496        36,839        

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 624,277      583,430      549,934      513,095      

Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 657,747      624,277      583,430      549,934      

Net OPEB Liability/(Asset) - ending (a) - (b) (246,681)$  (225,042)$  (209,226)$  (198,919)$  

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability 160.01% 156.37% 155.91% 156.67%

Covered-employee payroll 522,620$    458,829$    408,643$    492,817$    

Net OPEB asset as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 47.20% 49.05% 51.20% 40.36%

Notes to Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Asset and Related Ratios:

(1)
Historical information is required only for the measurement periods for which GASB 75 is applicable. Fiscal Year 2018 was the first year of implementation.

Future years' information will be displayed up to 10 years as information becomes available.

Changes in assumptions: The mortality assumption was updated from the prior valuation. The mortality assumptions are based on the 2014 CalPERS Active

Mortality for Miscellaneous Employees and 2014 CalPERS Retiree Mortality for Miscellaneaous Employees.

56 154



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

SCHEDULE OF PLAN CONTRIBUTIONS

AS OF JUNE 30, FOR THE LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 
(1)

2021 2020 2019 2018

18,424$      18,424$      18,424$     17,422$     

(18,424)       (18,424)       (18,424)      (17,422)      

-$                -$                -$               -$               

470,458$    522,620$    458,829$   408,643$   

3.92% 3.53% 4.02% 4.26%

Notes to Schedule:

Methods and assumptions used to determine contributions:

Valuation Date June 30, 2019

Actuarial Cost Method

Amortization Valuation Method/Period

Asset Valuation Method Market value

Inflation 2.75%

Payroll Growth 2.75%

Investment Rate of Return 6.50% per annum

Healthcare cost-trend rates

Retirement Age

Mortality

(1)
Historical information is required only for the measurement periods for which GASB 75 is applicable. Fiscal Year 2018 was the first year of implementation. Future

years' information will be displayed up to 10 years as information becomes available.

2014 CalPERS Mortality for Active Miscellaneous Employees

Entry Age Normal

Level percent of payroll over a closed rolling 15-year period

4.00%

2014 CalPERS 2.0%@60 Rates for Miscellaneous Employees

Actuarially Determined Contribution

Contribution in Relation to the Actuarially Determined Contributions

Contribution Deficiency (Excess)

Covered-employee payroll

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll

57 155



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS         

JUNE 30, 2021

Assets:

Cash and investments 9,209$                  -$                         106,575$              37,902$                

Total Assets 9,209$                  -$                         106,575$              37,902$                

Liabilities and Fund Balance:

Liabilities:

Accounts payable -$                         -$                         -$                         17,390$                

Total Liabilities -                           -                           -                           17,390                  

Restricted:

Public safety -police -                           -                           -                           20,512                  

Grants - public works -                           -                           106,575                -                           

Capital Projects -                           -                           -                           -                           

Quimby Act 9,209                    -                           -                           -                           

Total Fund Balances 9,209                    -                           106,575                20,512                  

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance 9,209$                  -$                         106,575$              37,902$                

 Community 

Facilities Fund 

 Traffic Safety 

Fund  Measure R  COPS 

Special Revenue Funds

58 156



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2021

Assets:

Cash and investments

Total Assets

Liabilities and Fund Balance:

Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Total Liabilities

Restricted:

Public safety -police

Grants - public works

Capital Projects

Quimby Act

Total Fund Balances

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance

        

Capital Projects 

Fund

Total Nonmajor

Governmental

Funds

12,737$             103,249$           48,589$           203,165$           521,426$           

12,737$             103,249$           48,589$           203,165$           521,426$           

-$                      -$                      -$                    -$                      17,390$             

-                        -                        -                      -                        17,390               

12,737               -                        -                      -                        33,249               

-                        103,249             48,589            -                        258,413             

-                        -                        -                      203,165             203,165             

-                        -                        -                      -                        9,209                 

12,737               103,249             48,589            203,165             504,036             

12,737$             103,249$           48,589$           203,165$           521,426$           

Special Revenue Funds

 Capital 

Projects Fund 

 Measure M 

Local Return 

 LA County 

Measure W  CLEEP 

59 157



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES,

EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

        

 

Revenues:

Intergovernmental -$                          -$                          23,714$                 156,727$               

Use of money and property 18                          -                            206                        147                        

Total Revenues 18                          -                            23,920                   156,874                 

Expenditures:

Current:

Public safety -                            -                            -                            176,180                 

Public works -                            5,460                     -                            -                            

Capital outlay -                            -                            -                            -                            

Total Expenditures -                            5,460                     -                            176,180                 

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues

Over (Under) Expenditures 18                          (5,460)                   23,920                   (19,306)                 

Other Financing Sources:

Transfers in -                            5,460                     -                            -                            

Transfers out -                            -                            -                            -                            

Total Other Financing Sources -                            5,460                     -                            -                            

Net Change in Fund Balance 18                          -                            23,920                   (19,306)                 

Fund Balance, Beginning of the Year 9,191                     -                            82,655                   39,818                   

Fund Balance, End of the Year 9,209$                   -$                          106,575$               20,512$                 

Special Revenue Funds

Community 

Facilities Fund

Traffic Safety 

Fund Measure R COPS

60 158



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES,

EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

 

Revenues:

Intergovernmental

Use of money and property

Total Revenues

Expenditures:

Current:

Public safety

Public works

Capital outlay

Total Expenditures

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues

Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources:

Transfers in

Transfers out

Total Other Financing Sources

Net Change in Fund Balance

Fund Balance, Beginning of the Year

Fund Balance, End of the Year

        

Capital Projects 

Fund

Total Nonmajor

Governmental

Funds

-$                          26,869$                 103,577$         -$                          310,887$               

28                          167                        -                       -                            566                        

28                          27,036                   103,577           -                            311,453                 

-                            -                            -                       -                            176,180                 

-                            -                            45,253             3,040                     53,753                   

-                            -                            -                       33,560                   33,560                   

-                            -                            45,253             36,600                   263,493                 

28                          27,036                   58,324             (36,600)                 47,960                   

-                            -                            -                       -                            5,460                     

-                            -                            (9,735)              -                            (9,735)                   

-                            -                            (9,735)              -                            (4,275)                   

28                          27,036                   48,589             (36,600)                 43,685                   

12,709                   76,213                   -                       239,765                 460,351                 

12,737$                 103,249$               48,589$           203,165$               504,036$               

Special Revenue Funds

CLEEP

Measure M Local 

Return

LA County 

Measure W

Capital Projects 

Fund

61 159



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

COMMUNITY FACILITIES FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Variance with

 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 9,191$              9,191$              9,191$              -$                      

Resources (Inflows):

Use of money and property 100                   100                   18                     (82)                    

Transfers in 11,000              11,000              -                       (11,000)             

Amounts Available for Appropriations 20,291              20,291              9,209                (11,082)             

Charges to Appropriations (Outflows):

Recreation 15,000              15,000              -                       15,000              

Total Charges to Appropriations 15,000              15,000              -                       15,000              

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 5,291$              5,291$              9,209$              3,918$              

62 160



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

TRAFFIC SAFETY FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Variance with

 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      

Resources (Inflows):

Transfers in 20,000              20,000              5,460                (14,540)             

Amounts Available for Appropriations 20,000              20,000              5,460                (14,540)             

Charges to Appropriations (Outflows):

Public works 20,000              20,000              5,460                14,540              

Total Charges to Appropriations 20,000              20,000              5,460                14,540              

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      

63 161



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

MEASURE R FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Variance with

 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 82,655$            82,655$            82,655$            -$                      

Resources (Inflows):

Intergovernmental 19,500              19,500              23,714              4,214                

Use of money and property 900                   900                   206                   (694)                  

Amounts Available for Appropriations 103,055            103,055            106,575            3,520                

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 103,055$          103,055$          106,575$          3,520$              

64 162



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

COPS FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Variance with

 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 39,818$            39,818$            39,818$            -$                      

Resources (Inflows):

Intergovernmental 155,000            300                   156,727            156,427            

Use of money and property 1,500                (2,700)               147                   2,847                

Amounts Available for Appropriations 196,318            37,418              196,692            159,274            

Charges to Appropriations (Outflows):

Public safety 164,898            -                       176,180            (176,180)           

Total Charges to Appropriations 164,898            -                       176,180            (176,180)           

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 31,420$            37,418$            20,512$            (16,906)$           

65 163



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

CLEEP FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Variance with

 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 12,709$            12,709$            12,709$            -$                      

Resources (Inflows):

Use of money and property 300                   300                   28                     (272)                  

Amounts Available for Appropriations 13,009              13,009              12,737              (272)                  

Charges to Appropriations (Outflows):

Public safety 2,700                2,700                -                       2,700                

Total Charges to Appropriations 2,700                2,700                -                       2,700                

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 10,309$            10,309$            12,737$            2,428$              

66 164



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

MEASURE M LOCAL RETURN FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Variance with

 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 76,213$            76,213$            76,213$            -$                      

Resources (Inflows):

Intergovernmental 22,100              22,100              26,869              4,769                

Use of money and property 600                   600                   167                   (433)                  

Amounts Available for Appropriations 98,913              98,913              103,249            4,336                

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 98,913$            98,913$            103,249$          4,336$              

67 165



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

LA COUNTY MEASURE W FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Variance with

 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      

Resources (Inflows):

Intergovernmental 110,000            110,000            103,577            (6,423)               

Use of money and property 900                   900                   -                        (900)                  

Amounts Available for Appropriations 110,900            110,900            103,577            (7,323)               

Charges to Appropriations (Outflows):

Public works 38,750              38,750              45,253              (6,503)               

Transfers out -                        -                        9,735                (9,735)               

Total Charges to Appropriations 38,750              38,750              54,988              (16,238)             

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 72,150$            72,150$            48,589$            (23,561)$           

68 166



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

UNDERGROUND UTILITY FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Variance with

 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 1,430,345$       1,430,345$       1,430,345$       -$                      

Amounts Available for Appropriations 1,430,345         1,430,345         1,430,345         -                        

Charges to Appropriations (Outflows):

Public works 150,000            150,000            7,120                142,880            

Capital outlay 85,000              85,000              39,345              45,655              

Total Charges to Appropriations 235,000            235,000            46,465              188,535            

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 1,195,345$       1,195,345$       1,383,880$       188,535$          

69 167



CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CALIFORNIA

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Variance with

 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 239,765$          239,765$          239,765$          -$                      

Resources (Inflows):

Transfers in 89,000              89,000              -                        (89,000)             

Amounts Available for Appropriations 328,765            328,765            239,765            (89,000)             

Charges to Appropriations (Outflows):

Public works -                        -                        3,040                (3,040)               

Capital outlay 89,000              89,000              33,560              55,440              

Total Charges to Appropriations 89,000              89,000              36,600              52,400              

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 239,765$          239,765$          203,165$          (36,600)$           

70 168



 
 
 

  
 

 

 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

203 N. Brea Blvd., Suite 203 Brea, CA 92821 Lance, Soll & Lunghard, LLP Phone: 714.672.0022 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Rolling Hills, California  
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
the City of Rolling Hills, California (the City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements, and 
have issued our report thereon dated June 30, 2021. 
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s 
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses 
may exist that have not been identified. 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed 
no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 

169



 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council  
City of Rolling Hills, California 
 

 

Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control 
or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with  
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
 
Brea, California 
April 7, 2022 
 
 

170



 
 
 

  
 

 

 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

203 N. Brea Blvd., Suite 203 Brea, CA 92821 Lance, Soll & Lunghard, LLP Phone: 714.672.0022 

April 7, 2022 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Rolling Hills, California 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Rolling Hills, California (the City) 
for the year ended June 30, 2021. Professional standards require that we provide you with information 
about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards 
and the Uniform Guidance, as well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our 
audit. We have communicated such information in our letter to you dated April 7,2022. Professional 
standards also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 
 
Significant Audit Findings and Other Issues 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Significant Accounting Practices 
 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the City are described in the notes to the financial statements.  No new 
accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during fiscal year 
2020-2021. We noted no transactions entered into by the City during the year for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial 
statements in the proper period. Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements 
prepared by management and are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and 
current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive 
because of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events 
affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the City’s 
financial statements were: 
 

Management’s estimates of its net pension liability and net other post-employment benefits 
asset are based on actuarial valuation specialist assumptions. We evaluated the key 
factors and assumptions used to develop the net pension liability and net other  
post-employment benefits asset in determining that they are reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements taken as a whole. 

 
The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
 
Significant Unusual Transactions 
 
Management is responsible for the policies and practices used to account for significant unusual 
transactions.  No significant unusual transactions have occurred during fiscal year 2020-2021. 
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit. 

171



 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Rolling Hills, California 
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. 
These differences are described below. In addition, none of the misstatements detected as a result of our 
audit procedures were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as 
a whole.  
 

Unadjusted Audit Differences Cause

Accured payroll
Accrued payroll 
was not recorded (19,069)$                       

Cumulative effect (before effect of prior year differences) (19,069)                         

Effect of unadjusted audit difference - prior year -                                   

Cumulative effect (after effect of prior year differences) (19,069)$                       

Current Year Over 
(Under) Revenues and 
Expenditures/Expenses 
and Changes in Fund 

Balance/Equity

 
 
Disagreements with Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial statements or 
the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our 
audit. 
 
Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report 
 
New auditing standards were implemented in fiscal year 2020-2021 related to Statement of Auditing 
Standards 134, Auditor Reporting and Amendments, Including Amendments Addressing Disclosures in the 
Audit of Financial Statements, through Statement of Auditing Standards 140, Supplementary Information 
in Relation to the Financial Statements as a Whole. These standards updated the form and content of the 
financial statement auditor’s report.  The purpose of the change was to present an easier format for users 
to understand the results of the audit and management’s responsibilities. 
 
Management Representations 
 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated April 7, 2022. 

172



 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Rolling Hills, California 
 
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves application 
of an accounting principle to the City’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion 
that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant 
to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were 
no such consultations with other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues Discussed with Management 
 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the significant events or transactions that occurred 
during the year, business conditions affecting the City and business plans and strategies that may affect 
the risks of material misstatements, the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, with 
management each year prior to retention as the City’s auditors. However, these discussions occurred in 
the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a condition to our retention.   
 
Other Matters 
 
We applied certain limited procedures to the management discussion and analysis, the budgetary 
comparison schedule for the General Fund, the schedule of proportionate share of the net pension liability, 
the schedule of plan contributions – miscellaneous, the schedule of changes in net OPEB asset and related 
ratio, and the schedule of plan contributions – OPEB, which are required supplementary information (RSI) 
that supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management 
regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the RSI.   
 
We were engaged to report on the combining and individual non major fund financial statements and 
schedules, which accompany the financial statements but are not RSI. With respect to this supplementary 
information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of 
preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, 
and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We 
compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to 
prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves.  
 
The following new Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements were effective for 
fiscal year 2020-2021 audit: 
 

GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities. 
 
GASB Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests - an Amendment of GASB Statement Nos. 14 
and 61. 
 
GASB Statement No. 98, the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report. 
 

173



 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Rolling Hills, California 
 
The following GASB pronouncements are effective in the following fiscal years’ audits and should be 
reviewed for proper implementation by management: 

 
Fiscal year 2022 

 
GASB Statement No. 87, Leases. 
 
GASB Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction 
Period. 
 
GASB Statement No. 97, Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Financial Reporting 
for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans. 
 

Fiscal year 2023 
 
GASB Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations. 
 
GASB Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment 
Arrangement. 
 
GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements. 

 
Restriction on Use 
 
This information is intended solely for the use of City Council and management of the City of Rolling Hills 
and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
Very truly yours, 
 

 
Brea, California 
 

174



From: McKinnie Consulting
To: City Clerk
Cc: Elaine Jeng
Subject: RH City Audit -- Comments on Retirement Plan Information
Date: Monday, April 25, 2022 12:06:31 PM

I have reviewed the 2021 Audit Report and have the following comments regarding the Retirement
Plan information.
 
McKinnie Background

David McKinnie has been a retirement plan consulting actuary for about 50 years
Clients have included municipalities, but primarily large corporate (i.e., Fortune 500) plans –
both pension and retiree medical
Has maintained work through McKinnie Consulting for last 20 years

 
City of Rolling Hills Retirement Plan Issue

Actuarial information is complex – two primary issues
Complex reporting format
Plan sponsors must understand how to use their information in financial management

Audit report
Accountants must follow accounting procedures
Accountants may rely on other professionals (i.e., actuaries)

Cal Pers Actuarial Information
Actuarial assumptions must comply with statutes
Actuarial assumptions should not conflict with legislative foundation

 
Impact on Rolling Hills

Problem:  actuarial assumptions may not be reasonable and could understate liabilities
which may effectively understate undesignated funds available for ongoing operations
        
McKinnie estimated possible understatement of liabilities (Pension Plan + Retiree Medical
Plan) of $500,000 to $800,000 as of June 30, 2021
Comments in the Audit Report (pages 5 and 7 in Management Discussion and Analysis) that
the unassigned or unrestricted funds are a certain percent of expenses (150% or more) may
be inaccurate if retirement plan liabilities are understated – while these comments are not
incorrect in the context of the Audit Report, they could be very misleading when information
is translated to day-to-day use -- these comments should be removed from the Audit report
as they are judgmental and could be misleading

 
Recommended Action

The only impact on the Audit Report is the recommended removal of the comment indicated
above – has no impact on audit numbers or other comments in Audit Report
If it has not been done in the past, the retirement plan information should be reviewed with a
qualified actuary who has public sector experience to gain full understanding
Any understatement of retirement plan liabilities should be reflected in future information for
management decisions of the use of undesignated funds

175

mailto:dmckconsulting@sbcglobal.net
mailto:cityclerk@cityofrh.net
mailto:ejeng@cityofrh.net


The City should review its funding strategy of the Pension and Retiree Medical Plans and
adjust if needed based on reasonable actuarial assumptions
This is a long term problem and requires a long-term solution – action should begin now to
maintain solid future City of Rolling Hills operations

 
I plan to be at the April 25, 2022 City Council meeting to present this information and address any
questions.
 
Thank you, DAVID McKinnie
 
David McKinnie

Rolling Hills, California  90276
 
Home Phone:  
Cell Phone:  
Email:  
 

176



Agenda Item No.: 7.J 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: JANE ABZUG, DEPUTY CITY ATTORNEY

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: APPROVE MINOR ADDITION TO THE EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK AND
PERSONNEL POLICY MANUAL.

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
In review of the City Manager's employment agreement, the City Attorney's office determined
that the Employee Handbook and Personnel Manual needs a clarification on page 2.  The
following footnote is added to the Employee Handbook and Personnel Manual: 
 
The provisions of this Employee Handbook and Personnel Policy Manual apply to the position
of the City Manager provided, however, that to the extent any provision in the contract for the
City Manager conflicts with this Employee Handbook, the provision in the contract for City
Manager shall prevail.
 
DISCUSSION:
None.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Approve as presented.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
HR_EHB_220425_Final.pdf

177

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1339611/HR_EHB_220425_Final.pdf


 
 
 

CITY OF ROLLING HILLS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 
AND 

PERSONNEL POLICY MANUAL 
 

 

Update:  April 25. 2022

178



   

2 

INTRODUCTION  

Welcome to the City of Rolling Hills! We trust you will find working for the City 
professionally challenging, an excellent career opportunity, a positive experience and an 
environment that strives to provide a work / life balance. The City prides itself on excellent 
customer service, the highest level of professionalism, being responsive and 
communicative, maintaining a small-town, rural atmosphere, and sustaining the privacy 
of the community. City staff are committed to public service, excellence and efficiency in 
the provision of services, the ICMA Code of Ethics, and the principles of democracy and 
professional management afforded by the Council-Manager form of government. As a 
member of the City team, we look forward to your positive contributions in these areas. 

This handbook has been developed to provide new staff persons with important 
introductory information regarding the City’s personnel benefits and policies on matters 
relevant to all employees. On subjects not included in this handbook, please ask the City 
Manager or the Human Resources Director. Updates to the policies herein will be 
provided in separate announcements throughout your career with the City. 

CITY ORGANIZATION 

The City of Rolling Hills is a “contract city” that operates under the Council-Manager form 
of government. As a contract city, Rolling Hills contracts with the Los Angeles County 
Sheriff Department (Lomita Station) and Building & Safety Department (Lomita Office) for 
police and building permit services, respectively. Fire protection, water, electricity, natural 
gas, and road maintenance are also the responsibility of other non-City agencies. Under 
the Council-Manager form of government, the City is governed by five Council members 
who are elected at-large in municipal elections held every two years. City Council terms 
are staggered so that in one election, three members will be elected and in the next 
election, two members will be elected. The City Council hires a City Manager who is 
responsible for day-to-day operations of the City, implementing City Council policy and 
all aspects of staff supervision.1 The City Council also hires a City Attorney for legal 
counsel. 

Rolling Hills is a “general law” city and, as such, its authority is established under the 
California State Constitution. The City has an adopted Municipal Code that contains the 
ordinances of the City. 

UNIQUE FEATURES OF THE CITY OF ROLLING HILLS 

Rolling Hills is a private, gated community under the rules and regulations of two separate 
and unrelated agencies, the City of Rolling Hills and the Rolling Hills Community 
Association (RHCA). The RHCA has authority and responsibility for road maintenance, 
access into the City, architectural review, and all easements and trails. Under the 
auspices of the RHCA, the roads in the City are not public. They are private property 
                                            
1 The provisions of this Employee Handbook and Personnel Policy Manual apply to the position of City 
Manager; provided, however, that to the extent any provision in the contract for the City Manager conflicts 
with this Employee Handbook, the provision in the contract for City Manager shall prevail. 

179



   

3 

maintained by the RHCA. The City of Rolling Hills, in contrast, is responsible for land use 
regulation, building permits, environmental issues, traffic safety (e.g., roadway striping 
and signage), law enforcement through a contract with the Sheriff’s Department, 
emergency preparedness, municipal elections, and other typical city functions. 
Approximately 75% of the City’s revenues derive from property taxes with the remaining 
25% basically from building permits. 

Rolling Hills is also a residential community with no business or industrial activities. The 
community consists of only one-story, ranch-style, single-family homes. Properties are 
typically one or two acres. Each lot is required to have a barn and corral or area 
designated for a barn and corral. There are a total of twenty-three miles of equestrian and 
hiking trails. Some trails are connected to trails in the Palos Verdes Peninsula Land 
Conservancy or other peninsula-wide trails. There is also no leash law; dogs are free to 
roam throughout the community. These characteristics are intended to maintain the 
integrity and identity of Rolling Hills as a rural community. 

As a City team member, it is important to understand the distinction between the City and 
RHCA in order to provide residents and the public with the best customer service. 

IN ROLLING HILLS, SERVICE IS THE BUSINESS! 

Local government is a service-oriented and public profession. City employees directly 
connect with the public in many different ways. In Rolling Hills, it is an expectation that 
members of the City team maintain a pleasant, friendly, and cooperative demeanor to 
each other and in all capacities when working and communicating with the public. Care 
should be taken to act in a professional and respectful, courteous manner at all times, for 
example, on the telephone, in written communications (emails and letters), and during 
encounters in public settings (at meetings, the public counter, and events). City staff must 
keep in mind that they are ambassadors of the City and represent the organization. 

With service as our business, it is the responsibility of City staff to be responsive and 
helpful to residents and assist the public. In that capacity, City staff also has the 
responsibility to exercise sound judgment and appropriate discretion to circumstances 
and situations. 

180



   

4 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Chapter Title Page 

I Purpose and Application ................................................................. 5 
II Definition of Terms .......................................................................... 6 
III General Provisions........................................................................ 10 
IV Classification ................................................................................. 12 
V Compensation ............................................................................... 14 
VI Benefits ......................................................................................... 18 
VII Hours of Work ............................................................................... 22 
VIII Applications and Applicants .......................................................... 23 
IX Examinations ................................................................................ 26 
X Employment Eligibility Lists .......................................................... 28 
XI Method of Filling Vacancies .......................................................... 29 
XII Probationary Period ...................................................................... 30 
XIII Attendance and Leaves ................................................................ 31 
XIV Holidays ........................................................................................ 39 
XV Changes in Employment Status.................................................... 41 
XVI Separation from Employment ....................................................... 42 
XVII Reports and Records .................................................................... 44 
XVIII Grievance Procedures .................................................................. 46 
XIX Discipline....................................................................................... 48 
XX Performance Evaluations and Annual Work Plans ....................... 51 
XXI Vehicle Use ................................................................................... 53 
XXII  Professional Development ............................................................ 54 
XXIII  Employee Standards of Conduct .................................................. 55 

 

 

181



   

5 

CHAPTER I 
PURPOSE AND APPLICATION 

Section 1. Purpose: The purpose of the City of Rolling Hills Employee Handbook and 
Personnel Policy Manual is to establish lawful procedures for dealing with 
personnel matters. 

The personnel provisions set forth herein constitute the personnel rules and 
regulations for the City of Rolling Hills. Employees are expected to read this 
Handbook carefully, and to know and understand its contents. The City 
reserves the right to make changes to this Handbook at any time without 
prior notice. Employees’ at-will employment can only be changed by the 
City Council and by written agreement signed by the employee and the City 
Manager. Except as otherwise provided in this Handbook, no one has the 
authority to make any promise or commitment contrary to what is in this 
Handbook. Employees are responsible for knowing about and 
understanding those changes once they have been disseminated. The City 
also reserves the right to interpret the provisions of this Handbook. 

This Handbook replaces all earlier Handbooks and supersedes all prior 
inconsistent policies, practices, and procedures.  

Section 2. Application: These rules apply to all employees of the City of Rolling Hills 
unless a specific rule or procedure indicates otherwise. 

Section 3. No Contract Created: These rules do not create any contract of 
employment, express or implied, or any right in the nature for a contract. 

Section 4. Handbook Acknowledgement: Employees should sign the 
acknowledgement form at the end of this Handbook and return it to the City 
Manager or Designee. This will provide the City with a record that each 
employee has received this Handbook. 

  

182



   

6 

CHAPTER II 
DEFINITION OF TERMS 

DEFINITION OF TERMS 

Unless the context indicates otherwise the following terms, whenever used in this 
document, shall be defined as follows: 

Advancement: A salary increase within the limits of the pay range 
established for the position. 

At-Will: All employment at the City is “at-will.” This means that both 
employees and the City have the right to terminate employment at any time, 
with or without advance notice, and with or without cause. Employees also 
may be demoted or disciplined and the terms of their employment may be 
altered at any time, with or without cause, at the discretion of the City. Only 
the City Council has the authority to alter this arrangement, to enter into an 
agreement for employment for a specified period of time, or to make any 
agreement contrary to this at-will status. Any such agreement must be in 
writing, must be signed by the employee and the City Manager, and must 
express a clear and unambiguous intent to alter the at-will nature of the 
employment relationship.  

Nothing contained in this Handbook or any other documents provided to 
employees is intended to be, nor should it be, construed as a guarantee 
that employment (or any benefit) will be continued for a specific time period. 
For example, any salary figures provided to an employee in annual or 
monthly terms are stated for the sake of convenience. They are not intended 
to create an employment contract for one or more months or years. 
Employees should ask the City Manager if they have any questions about 
their status as an employee at-will. 

City Manager’s Designee: The person assigned to the Human Resources 
function (Human Resources Director). 

Demotion: The movement of an employee from one class to another class 
having a lower maximum rate of pay. A demotion may be voluntary or 
involuntary. 

Domestic Partner: A domestic partnership is legally established in 
California when all of the following requirements are met: both persons file 
a Declaration of Domestic Partnership with the Secretary of State; both 
persons have a common residence; neither person is married to someone 
else or is a member of another domestic partnership with someone else that 
has not been terminated, dissolved, or adjudged a nullity; two persons are 
not related by blood in a way that would prevent them from being married 
to each other in another state; both persons are at least 18 years of age; 

183



   

7 

either of the following: (a) both persons are members of the same sex; or 
(b) one or both of the persons are over the age of 62, and meet certain 
eligibility criteria pursuant to the Social Security Act; and both persons are 
capable of consenting to the domestic partnership. 

Eligible: When used as a noun, means a person whose name is considered 
for appointment to a position. 

Employment Eligibility List: A list of one or more names of persons who are 
being considered for a position vacancy generated from candidate 
resumes, the results of an examination, or some other method of identifying 
eligible persons. 

Examinations: 

(a) Open-competitive examination: An examination for a particular 
position which is open to all persons meeting the qualifications for 
the class. 

(b) Promotional examination: An examination for a particular position, 
admission to the examination being limited to employees identified 
by the City Manager or Designee. 

(c) Continuous examination: An open competitive examination which is 
administered periodically and as a result of which names are placed 
on an employment list, in order of final scores, for a period of not 
more than one (1) year. 

Exempt: An employee not entitled to overtime compensation under the Fair 
Labor Standards Act. 

Job Classifications: For the purposes of the City’s personnel rules and 
regulations, each position title shall correspond to the City’s list of 
classifications and salary range. 

(a) Full-time Exempt: Various executive, administrative, and 
professional positions exempt from overtime requirements. 

(b) Full-time Non-Exempt: Positions subject to overtime requirements 
and working 37.5 hours per week. 

(c) Hourly Benefited: Positions known as regular part-time working 
twelve (12) months per year and an average of twenty (20) or more 
hours per week on a year-round basis. Benefits are provided to 
regular part-time employees on a pro-rated basis. 

184



   

8 

(d) Hourly Non-benefited: At-will positions also known as either 
seasonal part-time or part-time. These employees are sometimes 
referred to as “Temporary”. 

(e) Seasonal Part-time: A position utilized up to 37.5 hours per week on 
a seasonal or partial year basis, but not more than 1,000 hours per 
fiscal year. If an employee identified as seasonal part time works 
more than 1,000 hours in a fiscal year he or she does not acquire 
regular employee status. 

(f) Part-time: A position with an average of 19.5 hours or less per week 
and no more than 1,000 hours per fiscal year. If an employee 
identified as part time works more than 1,000 hours in a fiscal year 
he or she does not acquire regular employee status. 

Layoff: The involuntary separation of a regular status employee or 
reduction to a position in a lower classification because the position is no 
longer needed. 

Personnel Ordinance: City of Rolling Hills Municipal Code, Title 2, as 
amended from time to time. 

Probationary Period: A working test period during which an employee is 
required to demonstrate his or her fitness for the duties to which he or she 
is appointed by actual performance of the duties of the position. The 
probationary period or initial period of employment is considered a part of 
the examination process and shall be utilized for closely observing the 
employee’s work to determine the employee’s fitness for the position. 

Promotion: The movement of an employee from one position to another 
position having a higher maximum rate of pay and different job duties from 
the previous position. 

Provisional Appointment: A temporary appointment of a person who 
possesses the minimum qualifications established for a particular class, 
and who has been appointed to a position in the absence of available 
eligible personnel. This is sometimes referred to as an “Interim 
Appointment”. 

Reclassification: The change of a position from one position to another as 
a result of the gradual accretion or reduction of duties and/or 
responsibilities over time. 

Regular Employee: A full-time employee who has successfully completed 
his or her probationary period and has been retained as an employee. 

Regular Part-Time Employee: An employee who has successfully 
completed his or her probationary period. 

185



   

9 

Rejection: The separation of an employee from employment during the 
probationary period or examination process. 

Reinstatement: The re-employment, without examination, of a former 
regular employee. 

Temporary Employee: An employee who has been appointed to a full-time 
or part-time position of limited duration. 

Transfer: A change of an employee from one position to another position 
in having the same maximum salary limits, involving the performance of 
similar duties and responsibilities, and requiring the same qualifications. 

Y Rate: When an employee is moved to a different position with a lower 
salary range, the employee will retain his/her current salary until the salary 
of the new position has a maximum salary rate that is equal to or higher 
than the current salary. 

  

186



   

10 

CHAPTER III 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Section 1. Equal Employment Opportunity: It is the City’s policy to provide equal 
employment opportunity for all applicants and employees. The City does 
not unlawfully discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, religious 
creed (including religious dress and religious grooming practices), sex 
(including pregnancy, perceived pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding, or 
related medical conditions), gender, gender identity (including transgender 
identity), gender expression (including transgender expression), because 
an individual has transitioned (to live as the gender with which they identify), 
is transitioning, or is perceived to be transitioning), sex stereotyping, 
national origin, ancestry, citizenship, age (40 years and over), mental 
disability and physical disability (including HIV and AIDS), legally protected 
medical condition or information (including genetic information), protected 
medical leaves (requesting or approved for leave under the Family and 
Medical Leave Act or the California Family Rights Act), military and/or 
veteran status, service, or obligation, reserve status, national guard status, 
marital status, domestic partner status, sexual orientation, status as a victim 
of domestic violence, sexual assault or stalking, enrollment in a public 
assistance program, engaging in protected communications regarding 
employee wages or otherwise exercising rights protected under the 
California Fair Pay Act, requesting a reasonable accommodation on the 
basis of disability or bona fide religious belief or practice, or any other basis 
protected by local, state, or federal laws. Consistent with the law, the City 
also makes reasonable accommodations for disabled applicants and 
employees; for pregnant employees who request an accommodation [with 
the advice of their health care providers] for pregnancy, childbirth, or related 
medical conditions; for employees who are victims of domestic violence, 
sexual assault, or stalking; and for applicants and employees based on their 
religious beliefs and practices.  

The City prohibits sexual harassment and the harassment of any individual 
on any of the other protected bases listed above. The City also prohibits 
retaliation against a person who reports or assists in reporting suspected 
violations of this policy, cooperates in investigations or proceedings arising 
from a violation of this policy, or engages in other activities protected under 
this policy.  

This policy applies to all areas of employment including recruitment, hiring, 
training, promotion, compensation, benefits, transfer, disciplinary action, 
and social and recreational programs. It is the responsibility of every 
manager and employee to conscientiously follow this policy. Any employee 
having any questions regarding this policy should discuss them with the City 
Manager’s Designee. 

187



   

11 

Section 2. Political Activity Prohibited: City employees shall not engage in political 
activities in violation of Government Code Section 3201 et seq. No one 
employed by the City may engage in political activities on City premises, 
while engaged in official duties, using City equipment, or wearing an official 
City uniform. 

Section 3. Outside Employment: No employee may hold outside employment that is 
incompatible with his/her City employment. Each regular employee who 
holds any other position in addition to City employment shall submit a 
written request to the City Manager prior to accepting such employment. 

Section 4. Employee Duties: Employees are required to carry out the primary duties 
and responsibilities of their employment. 

Section 5. Violation of Rules: Violation of the provisions of these rules shall be grounds 
for disciplinary action. 

Section 6. Amendment and Revision of Rules: Amendments and revisions to these 
rules must be recommended by the City Manager and approved by the City 
Council. 

Section 7. Employee Standards of Conduct and ICMA Code of Ethics: Employees are 
requested to be mindful of the ICMA Code of Ethics and uphold the intent 
of the tenets and guidelines of the Code. Employees are required to adhere 
to the Employee Standards of Conduct (Chapter XXIII). 

Section 8. Federal Taxes: Completion of appropriate IRS forms will be required of all 
personnel at the time of employment. The number of exemptions claimed 
will determine the amount of federal tax deductions. 

Section 9. Social Security: All employees, full and part time, will be required to have a 
Social Security number and/or meet other legal requirements including 
proof of citizenship or permanent residency status at the time of 
employment. Social Security deductions will be made according to 
established schedule provided by government agencies. 

  

188



   

12 

CHAPTER IV 
CLASSIFICATION 

Section 1. Classification Plan: The City of Rolling Hills has an established list of 
classifications as follows: 

Full-time Exempt 
City Manager 
Planning and Community Services Director 
City Clerk/Executive Assistant to the City Manager 
Senior Management Analyst 
Senior Planner 
 
Full-time Non-Exempt 
Administrative Assistant, City Clerk Department 
Code Enforcement Officer/Assistant Planner  
  
Hourly Non-Benefited 
Finance Director 
Human Resources Director 
Account Manager 
Part-time Planning Technician, Planning Department  
 
Each position in the City service is defined by specifications, including title, 
definition of the position, supervision received and exercised, a description 
of the duties and responsibilities of positions in each class, and the training, 
experience, and other qualifications to be required of applicants for 
positions in each class. 

Section 2. Adoption, Amendment, and Revision of Plan: The list of classifications may 
be amended from time to time by resolution of the City Council. 

Section 3. New Positions: When a new position is created, an employment eligibility 
list will be established before an appointment is made, unless the position 
is filled by a promotional appointment. 

Section 4. Classification Studies: Classification studies shall be conducted from time 
to time to determine if the duties and responsibilities of a position have 
substantively changed, have become inequitably aligned in relation to other 
classifications within the City service, and/or are otherwise incorrectly 
designated. The City Manager or Designee shall conduct the classification 
study and as a result, a position may be reclassified to a more appropriate 
classification, whether new or already authorized, at a higher or lower 
maximum salary level. 

189



   

13 

After conducting a classification study of the position(s), the City Manager 
will recommend classification changes, if any, to the City Council for 
approval. 

Section 5. Qualifying Examination: A reclassification with a title change that results in 
a salary increase above the old classification may require of the incumbent 
a qualifying examination to determine whether or not the incumbent 
possesses the minimum qualifications for the new class. The method for the 
qualifying examination shall be determined by the City Manager or 
Designee. It may be an interview, demonstration of skills and abilities, or a 
written examination. An incumbent proposed for a reclassification who does 
not pass the qualifying examination shall retain his or her original title until 
such time as he or she does pass the qualifying examination. 

An employee whose position is being reclassified upward and who has 
demonstrated competency for the position, need not take a qualifying 
examination. 

Section 6. Y-Rate: When a reclassification results in a lower maximum rate of pay for 
the incumbent, the incumbent shall be “Y-Rated” at the salary level he/she 
has earned up to that time. 

  

190



   

14 

CHAPTER V 
COMPENSATION 

Section 1. Compensation Plan: The City has established salary ranges covering all 
positions in the City service, showing the minimum and maximum rates of 
pay. The salary ranges can be found on the City’s website under the 
Finance Department. 

Section 2. Amendment of Plan: The compensation plan may be amended from time to 
time by action of the City Council. 

Section 3. Comprehensive Compensation Survey: A Comprehensive Compensation 
Survey will be conducted as needed, to assure that the City’s jobs are paid 
equitably against the labor market. The Survey will include each position 
and include labor market comparisons to: 

Carson 
El Segundo 
Hermosa Beach 
Hidden Hills 
La Habra Heights 
Lawndale 
Lomita 
Palos Verdes Estates 
Rancho Palos Verdes  
Rolling Hills Estates 
Signal Hill 

Section 4. Salary upon Initial Hire: The City Manager shall have the discretion to place 
the employee at a salary level within the salary range of the position into 
which the employee is hired. 

Section 5. Merit Advancement: The City Manager has the authority and discretion to 
adjust all regular and part-time employee salaries within their range at any 
time. The City Manager shall justify a salary change within the range with 
documentation and based on the performance and skill-level of the 
employee. 

Section 6. Evaluation: Each employee will be formally evaluated annually on the 
anniversary of his or her employment in regards to the employee’s 
performance of his or her work responsibilities. In the evaluation, the City 
Manager will consider and evaluate the employee’s salary for a potential 
merit advancement. If the evaluation is untimely and in the evaluation, the 
employee is deemed meritorious of a salary adjustment within the salary 
range, the employee will receive the increase retroactively. Performance 
evaluations and Annual Work Plans will be tracked by the City Manager or 
his or her Designee. 

191



   

15 

Section 7. Probationary Period: At the end of the probation period and annually 
thereafter on the anniversary date of hire, each employee will be evaluated 
by the City Manager with regard to work performance. An adjustment to the 
base salary within the salary range will be considered. Adjustments to the 
base salary are subject to the determination and approval of the City 
Manager; adjustments to the base salary upon completion of the probation 
period are not automatic. 

Section 8. Effective Date of Increase: Salary increases shall be effective the first day 
of the pay period following the approved effective date. 

Section 9. Salary on Promotion: An employee promoted to a position having a greater 
maximum salary will be placed at a salary that results in not less than a 
three and one-half percent (3.5%) increase above the employee’s current 
regular salary. The City Manager may establish the salary at a higher level 
within the range. 

Section 10. Salary on Demotion: An employee who is demoted will be placed within the 
salary range for the position into which demoted. The salary will be set at a 
level that is lower and closest to the salary the employee was receiving 
before the demotion. 

Section 11. Salary on Reclassification: An employee whose position title is changed but 
will be performing similar duties will receive the salary set forth below. 

(a) If the new position title maintains the same salary range, the salary 
will not change. 

(b) If the new position title has a higher salary range, at the discretion of 
the City Manager, the salary adjustment will be determined in the 
same manner as a promotion. 

(c) If the new position title has a lower salary range, the employee will 
be Y-rated. 

Section 12. Pay Periods: Employees shall be compensated by paycheck or electronic 
transfers every two weeks. Checks or electronic transfers in payment for 
compensation will be made available by the City to employees. 

Section 13. Bilingual Pay: The City does not provide a bilingual premium pay differential 
in addition to regular pay for employees who are requested by the City to 
use bilingual skills during their scheduled work hours on a recurring basis. 

Section 14. Overtime: 

(a) As a matter of general policy, the City does not permit employees to 
work overtime and will provide adequate staff to handle normal 

192



   

16 

operations. However, non-exempt employees may be required to 
work overtime at the discretion of the City Manager. 

(b) Overtime for non-exempt employees is defined as hours assigned to 
be worked and actually worked in excess of thirty-seven and one-
half (37.5) hours in the designated work week. 

(c) Non-exempt employees working overtime when not expressly 
authorized to do so shall be subject to discipline. 

(d) Overtime assigned and worked by non-exempt employees shall be 
compensated at time and one-half their regular rate of pay. The 
employee may request, and the City Manager shall have the 
unrestricted discretion to approve or not approve, compensation in 
the form of accrued compensatory time at time and one-half pay, 
except an employee may not accrue more than thirty-seven and one-
half (37.5) hours compensatory time at any time. 

(e) If a non-exempt employee is required to work on an observed holiday 
beyond the regular thirty-seven and one-half (37.5) hour work week, 
he or she shall be entitled to pay at the rate of two (2) times the 
regular rate of pay. 

(f) Employees who are exempt from the Fair Labor Standards Act 
(FLSA) are compensated on a salary basis and are not eligible for 
overtime. 

Section 15. Acting Pay: An employee who is provisionally appointed to an acting or 
interim position that is in a higher salary range than that of the position title 
in which the employee is normally assigned shall receive acting 
compensation. 

(a) Acting pay shall be provided only for appointments with duration 
greater than twenty-one (21) consecutive calendar days and shall be 
retroactive to the effective date of the acting appointment and 
continue until completion of appointment. 

(b) Such acting appointments shall be made in writing by the City 
Manager. 

(c) Compensation shall be at the entrance of the salary range of the 
acting position or a minimum of three and one-half percent (3.5%) 
higher than the employee receives, whichever is greater. 

Section 16. Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA): Annually, employees will receive a 
COLA in their salary or hourly rate based on the month of March, Los 
Angeles/Orange County/Riverside Consumer Price Index (CPI) for all 
items. The COLA will be applied to employee salaries or hourly rates 

193



   

17 

automatically not to exceed 3.5% on July 1 of every year based on the 
March CPI. 

On July 1 of every year, position salary ranges will also adjust automatically. 
The salary range will adjust based on the month of March, Los 
Angeles/Orange County/Riverside CPI for all items not to exceed 3.5%. 

Section 17. Exceptional Performance Recognition: The City’s program for recognizing 
an employee’s exceptional performance is described in Chapter XX. 

  

194



   

18 

CHAPTER VI 
BENEFITS 

Section 1. Retirement Plan: 

(a) The City is a member of the Public Employees Retirement System 
(PERS). Eligible Regular employees of the City hired prior to 
December 31, 2012 are enrolled in the 2%@60 retirement program. 
Under PERS Regulations, employees hired on or after January 1, 
2013 and who are considered “Classic” employees will be enrolled 
in the 2%@60 retirement program. Eligible Regular employees of the 
City hired on or after January 1, 2013 are enrolled in the 2%@62 and 
2.5%@67 retirement program consistent with State Assembly Bills 
340 and 197 enacted September 12, 2012 and City Resolution No. 
1136. All conditions of PERS apply to all eligible Regular employees 
of the City of Rolling Hills. 

(b) The pensionable compensation used to calculate the defined 
benefits paid to employees hired after December 31, 2012 will not 
exceed the maximum amount specified in the federal retirement 
system (United States Code Title 42 § 430(b), as may be amended 
from time to time); as adjusted annually based on changes to the 
Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers. 

(c) Regular employees hired after December 31, 2012 pay 100% of the 
employee portion of the retirement program or 50% of the “normal 
cost,” defined as that portion of the present value of projected 
benefits under the defined benefit plan that are attributable to the 
current year of service (also known as the “Member Contribution 
Rate as a percentage of payroll”), whichever is higher. Exercising its 
authority to implement the provisions of section 414(h)(2) of the 
Internal Revenue Code (IRC), all employee’s payments for the 
retirement program are tax deferred. For employees hired after 
December 31, 2012, the City is prohibited from making contributions 
greater than the amount specified in the federal retirement system. 

(d) The final compensation is the average full time monthly pay rate for 
the highest 36 consecutive months. If the service is coordinated with 
Social Security, the final compensation will be reduced according to 
State law. “Compensation” is defined as the normal monthly rate of 
pay or base pay for the employee for services rendered on a full-time 
basis during normal working hours, pursuant to the City’s pay 
schedule. It does not include pay for unused sick leave or time off or 
overtime pay. 

195



   

19 

(e) Employees are permitted to replenish their PERS out of their own 
funds, if they have chosen to remove those funds from PERS 
following termination of previous employment. 

(f) All employees, full and part time, are required to participate in the 
Social Security System. 

(g) Newly retired former employees, or employees of another PERS 
member, are required to sit out for at least 180 days before returning 
to work for the City to avoid forfeiture of their retired status. Such 
employees also cannot serve more than 960 hours in a calendar 
year. This subsection shall not apply to employees hired to fill a 
critically needed position, where the appointment has been approved 
by City Council in a public meeting. 

(h) Any public official or employee who is convicted of a felony related 
to performance of his or her official duties, related to seeking an 
elected office or appointment, in connection with obtaining benefits, 
or committed against a child who the official or employee has contact 
with as part of his or her official duties, forfeits all pension benefits 
earned or accrued after the date of the conviction. 

Section 2. Health and Life Insurance: 

(a) The City maintains Workers’ Compensation Insurance for work-
related injuries. Group term life insurance, long-term disability 
insurance, health insurance, prescription drug, dental insurance, and 
vision insurance is also provided for all Regular Exempt and Non-
Exempt full-time employees who have successfully completed their 
twelve month probationary period. 

(b) The City of Rolling Hills provides 100% of the single-party premium 
for health, dental, and vision insurance, inclusive of prescription drug 
coverages within the health plans, of each Regular employee who 
has successfully completed their probationary period. The City will 
pay 80% of the premium for the eligible dependents of Regular 
employees up to a maximum monthly family premium of $1,642.21 
based on the 2015 rate for the Anthem Traditional HMO plan. The 
City will contribute up to a maximum monthly premium of $202 for 
dental insurance based on the 2015 rate for Met Life DPPO plan and 
up to a maximum monthly premium of $30 for vision insurance based 
on the 2015 rate for VSP plan2 following successful completion of 
the Regular employee’s probationary period. 

                                            
2 Resolution 1249 sets the City’s monthly contribution to insurance premiums for the eligible dependents of 
regular employees for calendar year 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 as follows:  (1) health insurance up to a 
maximum of $1,658.42; (2) dental insurance up to a maximum of $204.02; (3) vision insurance up to a 

196



   

20 

Information describing coverage is available from the Finance 
Department. 

(c) Through the implementation of an IRS compliant Section 125 plan, 
the City will provide Regular employees with the ability to withhold 
pre-tax income from his/her salary to pay his/her portion of insurance 
premiums. 

Section 3. Credit Union: 

(a) Applications are available to all employees for membership in the F 
& A Federal Credit Union. Automatic payroll deductions may be 
arranged. 

Section 4. Deferred Compensation and Employment Longevity Plan: 

(a) The City of Rolling Hills offers an employee funded deferred 
compensation program. Applications are available in the Finance 
Department. 

(b) According to the following schedule, effective July 1, 2009, the City 
of Rolling Hills will match employee contributions up to the IRS limit. 

Years of service City match to employee’s 
contribution (up to __% of 

salary) 
0 - 1.99 0% 
2 – 2.99 1% 

3 – 5.99 2% 
6 – 8.99 3% 
9 – 11.99 4% 

12 – 14.99 5% 
15+ 6% 

Section 5. Other benefits: 

(a) The City provides single-party health coverage for its Regular 
employee retirees through PERS. Heath plan options and terms of 
the program are governed through the City’s contract with PERS. 
Regular employees hired after December 31, 2012 will be qualified 
to receive single-party retiree health coverage from the City providing 
1) the Regular employee retires from the City of Rolling Hills and 2) 

                                            
maximum of $30.30. The maximum contribution for each policy will be increased by 2% for calendar year 
2024 and beyond.  

197



   

21 

the Regular employee has been in the employment of the City of 
Rolling Hills for a minimum of 5 consecutive, uninterrupted years. 

(b) A surviving beneficiary of a current or former employee hired before 
January 1, 2013 will receive benefits through PERS, as appropriate 
to individual circumstances. The terms of these benefits are specified 
in the City’s contract with PERS. 

  

198



   

22 

CHAPTER VII 
HOURS OF WORK 

Full-time employees are assigned to the 9/75 flex plan under which they will work seventy-
five (75) hours in a nine (9) day period.  
 
Section 1. The 9/75 Plan: Full-time employees work 37.5 hours over a 5-day workweek 

exclusive of meal periods as follows:  

Alternating Week 1  Alternating Week 2  
Mon - Wed:  7:30am to 5:00pm  Mon - Wed:  7:30am to 5:00pm 
Thursday:  7:30am to 5:00pm  Thursday:  7:30am to 3:30pm  
Friday:  7:30am to 5:00pm  Friday:  off 

 
Section 2. Alternate Work Schedule: Full-time employees may be assigned to work 

days or hours other than those set forth in Section 1. 

Section 3. Work Week Defined: The work period or work week will begin at 12:01 p.m. 
on Friday and end the following Friday at 12:00 noon for all full-time 
employees working under the 9/75 work schedule if the employee is 
scheduled to be off every other Friday. 

Section 4. Work Week Schedule Change: The City may change the work week when 
public necessity or convenience so requires. 

Section 5. Request to Change Schedule: Employees for whom personal necessity 
requires a different schedule than above, may make a request for the 
alternate schedule to the City Manager. Alternate schedules must begin no 
earlier than 7:00 a.m. and end no later than 6:00 p.m. and will not include a 
shorter meal period than below. 

Section 6. Meal Period: Because City employees are public employees the sections of 
the California Labor Code regarding mandatory meal and rest periods are 
not applicable. Meal periods are non-paid and nonworking time and shall 
be one hour for all full-time employees. Every effort will be made to schedule 
such meal period during the middle of the shift. 

  

199



   

23 

CHAPTER VIII 
APPLICATIONS AND APPLICANTS 

Section 1. Announcement: All recruitments for positions shall be publicized by means 
as the City deems advisable. The announcements shall specify the title and 
pay of the position, duties and responsibilities of the work to be performed, 
minimum requirements established, the manner of making application, and 
other pertinent information. 

Section 2. Application: Applications shall be made as prescribed on the 
announcement. Application forms shall require information covering 
training, experience, and other pertinent information. All applications must 
be signed by the person applying. 

Section 3. Disqualification: The City Manager or Designee may reject any application 
which indicates on its face that the applicant does not possess the minimum 
qualifications required for the position or for any material cause which, in 
the judgment of the City Manager or Designee would render the applicant 
unsuitable for the position. Falsification of any information presented on the 
employment application shall be grounds for rejection/disqualification from 
the recruitment and/or termination from employment, if applicant is 
appointed to the position. 

Section 4. Prohibition Against Nepotism: It is the policy of the City to seek the best 
possible candidates through appropriate search procedures. The City seeks 
to eliminate or limit even the appearance of impropriety where possible. As 
such, the City has adopted the following policy regarding application and/or 
hiring of employee relatives. 

For purpose of this policy, “relative” shall mean a spouse, domestic partner, 
parent, parent-in-law, step-parent, legal guardian, sibling, step-sibling, 
sibling-in-law, child, step-child, child-in-law, legal ward, grandchild, or 
grandparent. 

Each applicant is required to disclose the identity of any relative who is a 
current employee. An applicant’s failure to disclose a relative who is a 
current employee may result in the rejection of the applicant or future 
disciplinary action against the applicant after employment, up to and 
including termination. 

Relatives of current employees shall not be hired into positions in which one 
relative may supervise, directly or indirectly, any other relative. One or more 
of the following roles, undertaken on a regular, acting, overtime, or other 
basis shall constitute direct or indirect supervision: 

1. Occupying a position in an employee’s direct line of supervision; 

200



   

24 

2. Functional supervision, such as a lead worker, crew leader, or shift 
supervisor; or 

3. Participating in personnel actions including, but not limited to, 
appointment, transfer, promotion, demotion, layoff, suspension, 
termination, assignments, approval of merit increases, evaluations, and 
grievance adjustments. 

Relatives of current employees shall not be hired into positions in which one 
relative may work in a capacity which would allow a current employee to 
evaluate or control the terms, conditions, and/or performance 
circumstances of employment of a relative. Relatives of current employees 
shall not be hired into any position in which the employment of such relative 
has the potential for adversely impacting the supervision, safety, security, 
or morale of other employees. The City shall review each applicant who is 
a relative of a current employee to determine whether hiring the applicant 
would result in any of the prohibited situations. If the City Manager or 
Designee finds that any of those situations exists, then the applicant may 
be rejected, or may be considered for employment in a position that does 
not present the above situations. 

Current employees shall not participate, directly or indirectly, in the 
recruitment or selection process for a position for which a relative is an 
applicant. Current employees having hiring powers or authority to 
recommend hires shall not, either directly or indirectly, seek to influence or 
assist in the hiring of any relative to any position within the City. Current 
employees shall not participate or interfere in, or otherwise attempt to 
influence, any personnel actions affecting his or her relative including, but 
not limited to, transfer, promotion, demotion, layoff, suspension, 
termination, assignments, approval of merit increases, evaluations, and 
grievance adjustments. 

Change In Status. Current employees must report a change of status to the 
City Manager or Designee in advance of the effective date where feasible, 
but in no event later than a reasonable time after the effective date of the 
change of status. For purposes of this policy, “a change of status” is the 
change in the legal status or personnel status of one or more current 
employees. 

1. Changes in legal status include but are not limited to marriage, 
divorce, separation, or any such change through which a current employee 
becomes a relative or ceases to be a relative of another current employee. 

2. Changes in personnel status include but are not limited to promotion, 
demotion, transfer, re-assignment, resignation, retirement, or termination of 
a current employee who is a relative of another current employee. 

201



   

25 

Within thirty (30) days from receipt of notice, the City shall undertake a case-
by-case consideration and individualized assessment of the particular work 
situation to determine whether the change of status has the potential for 
creating an adverse impact on supervision, safety, security, or morale. The 
City Manager or Designee shall make a good faith effort to regulate, 
transfer, condition, or assign duties in such a way as to minimize problems 
of supervision, safety, security, or morale. Notwithstanding this, the City 
retains the right to exercise its discretion to refuse to implement a change 
in personnel status due to its potential for creating an adverse impact on 
supervision, safety, security, or morale. 

The City shall reasonably monitor and regulate both relatives’ conduct and 
performance for a period of one (1) year from the date of the determination. 
If the City determines that a change of status has caused potential for 
creating an adverse impact on supervision, safety, security, or morale, the 
City shall re-visit the prior determination. 

Depending on the nature and severity of the situation, the City may transfer 
one of the relatives to a similar position that would not be in violation of this 
policy. The transfer will be granted provided the relative qualifies and there 
is an opening to be filled. There can be no guarantee that the new position 
will be within the same classification or at the same salary level. If the 
situation cannot be resolved by transfer or by good faith efforts to regulate, 
transfer, condition, or assign duties in such a reasonable way that would not 
be in violation of this policy, one of the relatives must separate from City 
employment.  

Pre-Existing Relationships. Where situations exist prior to the effective date 
of this policy that may be in conflict with these rules, reasonable efforts shall 
be made to address the situation so as to minimize potential problems of 
supervision, safety, security, or morale and to avoid future conflict. 

  

202



   

26 

CHAPTER IX 
EXAMINATIONS 

Section 1. Types of Examinations: The selection techniques used in the examination 
process shall measure the knowledge and abilities of the applicants to 
execute the duties and responsibilities of the position to which they seek to 
be appointed. 

Examinations shall consist of selection techniques which will test fairly the 
qualifications of candidates. The City Manager or Designee may select the 
appropriate examination(s) to be utilized in the selection process. 

Section 2. Promotional Examinations: All candidates for promotion must meet the 
minimum qualifications identified by the City Manager or Designee. 

The City Manager or Designee will determine whether the examination is 
open competitive or a promotional appointment. 

Section 3. Continuous Examinations: Open-competitive examinations may be 
administered periodically for a single position as the needs of the service 
require. Names shall be placed on employment lists, in order of final scores, 
for a period of not more than one (1) year, unless extended by the City 
Manager or Designee. 

Section 4. Conduct of Examinations: The City Manager or Designee will determine the 
manner and methods and by whom examinations shall be prepared and 
administered. 

Section 5. Reasonable Accommodation in Testing: Should an otherwise qualified 
applicant who is disabled request a reasonable accommodation for any part 
of the testing process the City may modify the process to reduce or 
eliminate the testing barrier. 

Section 6. Background Investigations: Following a conditional offer of employment, 
each prospective employee shall submit to a criminal background check. 
The City does not consider, distribute, or disseminate information about any 
of the following while conducting a criminal background check in connection 
with a job application: an arrest not followed by a conviction, except when 
the applicant is out on bail or his/her own recognizance pending trial; a 
referral to or participation in a pre-trial or post-trial diversion program; and a 
conviction that has been sealed, dismissed, expunged, or statutorily 
eradicated pursuant to law. 

If the City’s criminal background check reveals an applicant’s prior 
conviction, the City shall conduct an individualized assessment to 
determine whether the conviction has a direct and adverse relationship with 
the specific job duties that may justify denying employment. The following 

203



   

27 

factors shall be considered as part of the individualized assessment: the 
nature and gravity of the offense or conduct; the time that has passed since 
the offense or conduct and completion of the of the sentence; and the nature 
of the job held or sought.  

If the results of the City’s individualized assessment justify denying 
employment the applicant shall be provided with notice and an opportunity 
to respond within five business days. Written notice of the preliminary 
decision to deny employment shall be provided to the applicant. The written 
notice shall contain the identity of the disqualifying conviction, a copy of the 
conviction history report, an explanation of the applicant’s right to respond 
to the notice before a final decision is made, notice of the deadline to 
respond within five business days, and an explanation informing the 
applicant that the response can include evidence challenging the accuracy 
of the conviction history report and/or evidence of rehabilitation or mitigating 
circumstances. 

If the City makes a final decision not to hire the applicant based on the 
conviction history after considering the applicant’s response the City shall 
provide a final determination notice that includes notice of the final denial, 
any existing procedure the City has for the applicant to challenge the final 
decision, and the applicant’s right to file a complaint with the Department of 
Fair Employment and Housing. 

Section 7. Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986: In compliance with the 
Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, all new employees must verify 
identity and entitlement to work in the United States by providing required 
documentation. 

Section 8. Notification of Selection Process Results: Each person competing in an 
employment selection process shall be given notice of the results from the 
examination. 

  

204



   

28 

CHAPTER X 
EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY LISTS 

Section 1. Employment Eligibility Lists: As soon as possible after the completion of a 
continuous examination, the City Manager or Designee will prepare and 
keep available an employment eligibility list consisting of the names of 
applicants who qualified in the examination, arranged alphabetically. 

Section 2. Removal of Applicants from Lists: The name of any person appearing on an 
employment eligibility list shall be removed by the City Manager or 
Designee if the person eligible requests in writing that his or her name be 
removed, fails to respond to a notice mailed to his or her last known 
address, or has been certified for appointment and has not been appointed. 

Section 3. Use of Employment Eligibility Lists: A vacant position may be filled by the 
appointment of a person whose name is on an employment eligibility list for 
the position. 

  

205



   

29 

CHAPTER XI 
METHOD OF FILLING VACANCIES 

Section 1. Types of Appointment: All vacancies shall be filled by re-employment, 
transfer, voluntary demotion, promotion, or from eligible applicants by a 
process deemed appropriate by the City Manager or Designee. 

Section 2. Appointment: After interview(s) and an examination if deemed necessary 
for the selection of a candidate, the City Manager or Designee shall 
thereupon notify the person of the conditional offer of appointment, subject 
to passing a required medical examination and all background 
investigations. 

Section 3. Temporary Assignments: Employees may be temporarily assigned higher 
or lower duties without a change in pay. Such action shall not be deemed 
as a transfer, demotion, promotion, or reclassification. In all cases where 
periodic or regular variations in assignments occur because of seasonal 
needs, the temporary change of duties or a change of the work schedule 
shall be considered as incidental to the position. 

Section 4. Extended Assignment to Vacant Higher Position: Employees assigned to 
perform duties in a vacant higher level regular position in excess of twenty-
one (21) consecutive calendar days as authorized by the City Council shall 
be entitled to a salary rate increase to the higher level for the time actually 
worked in the assignment. (See CHAPTER V, Section 15, Acting Pay.) The 
duration of such assignment to a vacant higher position shall not exceed 
one (1) year. It is the responsibility of the City Manager to adjust the salary 
rate increase. 

  

206



   

30 

CHAPTER XII 
PROBATIONARY PERIOD 

Section 1. Probationary Period: Upon initial and promotional appointment to a position, 
an employee must serve a probationary period of 1 year of actual and 
continuous service. Periods of time on paid or unpaid leave excluding five 
(5) days or less automatically extends the probationary period by the 
number of days the employee is on leave. The City Council may, by 
resolution, establish a longer probation period for a specified classification 
prior to the time of an appointment. Continuous service with the City in a 
temporary position may be calculated into the probationary period upon 
hiring the individual into a regular position at the discretion of the City 
Manager. Completion of the probationary period does not entitle an 
employee to continued employment for any length of time. Completion of 
the probationary period does not alter the at-will nature of the employment. 

Section 2. Purpose of Probationary Period: During the probationary period, the City 
Manager shall review, examine, and monitor the conduct, capacity, 
efficiency, skill, responsibility, integrity, and effectiveness of an employee to 
determine whether the employee is fully qualified for employment in the 
position to which the employee has been appointed. 

Section 3. Extension of Probationary Period: The probationary period may be 
extended by the City Manager for a period up to six (6) months by written 
notice to the employee prior to the expiration of the original probationary 
period. 

Section 4. Reduction of Probationary Period: The probationary period may be 
shortened by the City Manager. 

Section 5. Rejection During Probation: At any time during the probationary period an 
employee may be rejected from employment without cause and without 
right of appeal. 

Section 6. Rejection During Probation From a Promotional Position: A promoted 
employee who has attained regular status in another position of City 
employment who does not successfully complete the probationary period in 
the promoted position may be returned to the former position without right 
to review or appeal unless terminated for cause. 

Section 7. Use of Leave During Probation: Accrued sick leave may be used any time 
by the probationary employee during the probationary period. Vacation 
leave hours are accrued during the probationary period, but shall be 
available for use upon completion of 1 year of service unless otherwise 
approved by the City Manager.  

207



   

31 

CHAPTER XIII 
ATTENDANCE AND LEAVES 

Section 1. Attendance: Full-time employees shall be in attendance at their work in 
accordance with the rules regarding hours of work, holidays, and leave. 
Absence of any employee without leave may result in disciplinary action, 
including discharge. 

Section 2. Vacation Leave: Vacation is a right, earned as a condition of employment, 
to a leave of absence with pay for the recreation and well-being of the 
employee. If an employee has exhausted sick leave, vacation may be used 
for sick leave upon request of the employee and with approval of the City 
Manager. 

(a) Employees shall accrue, on a pro-rata basis, vacation leave for 
completed pay periods. Such vacation allowance shall be available 
for use on the first day following the pay period in which it is earned; 
however, vacation allowance shall be available for use after one year 
by a probationary employee. 

(b) All Full-time employees accrue vacation as follows: 

Years of Service 
Completed Vacation Days Accrual 

0 – 3   5/6 day per month 
3 1 day per month 
5 1 1/4 days per month 

10 1 2/3 days per month   

(c) Maximum Accrual: Employees shall be permitted to accumulate a 
maximum of 40 days of vacation leave or the maximum amount 
accumulated in a two-year period of employment, whichever is less. 
Employees who have accumulated the maximum amount of vacation 
leave shall accrue no further vacation leave until they use sufficient 
leave to fall below the maximum that may be accumulated. 

(d) Waiver of Maximum Accrual: A waiver must be requested by the 
employee and approved by the City Manager, for a period not to 
exceed thirteen (13) pay periods per fiscal year. If, at the end of the 
waiver period the maximum accrual amount is exceeded, vacation 
accrual for the affected employee will stop. No further vacation time 
will be accrued until the employee’s vacation leave balance is below 
the maximum accrual amount. In the event that the failure to utilize 
vacation past the thirteen pay period waiver is due to the City’s 
inability to allow an employee to take vacation (as opposed to an 
employee’s delay and/or failure to request vacation time off), the 

208



   

32 

employee may, with City Manager authorization, continue to accrue 
vacation. 

(e) Vacation Leave Cash Out Option: In December of each year, if an 
employee has over two weeks of accrued vacation after using 
accrued vacation leave for one week (37.5 hours) of vacation during 
the calendar year, he or she may “cash out” up to two weeks of the 
accrued vacation (75 hours) at his or her base rate of pay. 

(f) The minimum charge against accumulated vacation leave shall be 
fifteen (15) minutes or multiples thereof. Vacation leave shall be 
compensated at the employee’s base rate of pay. 

(g) The time during a calendar year at which an employee may take his 
or her vacation shall be determined by the City Manager with due 
regard for the wishes of the employee and particular regard for the 
needs of the City. 

(h) All vacation leave requests shall be made with as much advance 
notice as possible, and prior approval must be given by the City 
Manager. When circumstances warrant and advance notice is 
impractical, the City Manager may approve the use of vacation leave 
for emergency absences. If an employee does not request time off 
in advance and simply does not show up for work, the City Manager 
may deny the use of vacation time or any leave accruals, and said 
employee may be subject to disciplinary action. 

(i) When a fixed holiday falls within a vacation period, the holiday time 
shall not be charged against an employee’s earned vacation 
benefits. 

(j) Employees who terminate or retire shall be paid for all accrued 
vacation leave earned at their base rate of pay at the time of their 
separation of employment. 

(k) Employees on Unpaid Leave: Employees on Unpaid Leave do not 
accrue Vacation Leave. 

(l) Employees not Eligible for Vacation: All part-time employees 
including temporary, emergency, and seasonal part time, do not 
accrue Vacation Leave. 

Section 3. Paid Sick Leave:  Employees who are hired to work at least thirty days are 
eligible for California Paid Sick Leave.  

Paid Sick Leave may be taken for below prescribed purposes: 

209



   

33 

1. The diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition of, 
or preventive care for, an employee or an employee’s family member; or 

2. To attend legal proceedings, or to obtain medical treatment, 
counseling, or other victims’ services for domestic violence, sexual assault, 
or stalking. 

A “family member” for these purposes is defined as a child (a biological, 
adopted, or foster child, stepchild, legal ward, or a child to whom the 
employee stands in loco parentis), a parent (a biological, adoptive, or foster 
parent, stepparent, or legal guardian of an employee or the employee’s 
spouse or registered domestic partner, or a person who stood in loco 
parentis when the employee was a minor child), a spouse or registered 
domestic partner, a grandparent, grandchild, and sibling. Additionally, Paid 
Sick Leave may be used for an employee who is a victim of domestic 
violence, sexual assault, or stalking. 

Accrual: Employees shall accrue one day of sick leave (7.5 hours) with full 
pay for each month of service. Sick leave shall be available for use the first 
day following the payroll period in which it is earned. If the employee does 
not take the full amount of sick leave allowed in any year, the amount not 
taken shall be accumulated from year to year, to a maximum of 30 days. 
Separation of Employment: Upon separation of employment (voluntary 
termination, involuntary termination, retirement, etc.) employees are not 
entitled to be compensated for unused Paid Sick Leave. However, 
previously unused paid sick days must be reinstated if an employee 
separates from employment and then is rehired within one year. 

To the extent possible, employees must provide reasonable advance notice 
of their need for Paid Sick Leave under this policy. If the need is not 
foreseeable, the employee must provide notice as soon as practicable. Paid 
Sick Leave under this policy will not constitute a break in service for the 
purpose of City benefits or seniority. 

Minimum Use: The minimum charge against accumulated sick leave shall 
be fifteen (15) minutes or multiples thereof. Approved sick leave with pay 
shall be compensated at the employee’s base rate of pay.  

Notification: Employees should notify the City Manager prior to, or within 45 
minutes after the time set for the beginning of his/her regular duties if using 
paid sick leave. The City Manager may request a certificate issued by a 
licensed physician or other satisfactory proof of illness if the sick leave 
extends more than 3 consecutive days.  

Violations: Violation of sick leave privileges may result in disciplinary action 
when in the opinion of the City Manager, the employee has been 
excessively absent or has abused such privileges. Employees who do not 

210



   

34 

call in within 45 minutes of the start of their assignment may be denied use 
of sick leave.  

Employees on Unpaid Leave: Employees on unpaid leave do not accrue 
Paid Sick Leave.  

Employees may donate accrued paid sick time up to two (2) days per 
calendar year to other employees in need of additional paid time off to seek 
medical treatment for themselves. Donation of paid sick time to another 
employee will only be permitted after that recipient employee has exhausted 
all other available accrued leave. The donation of paid sick time is strictly 
voluntary.  

Section 4. Occupational Injury or Illness Leave: Whenever a person is compelled to be 
absent from employment with the City on account of injury or illness arising 
out of or in the course of that employee’s employment as determined by the 
Workers’ Compensation Act, the employee may elect to apply pro-rated 
accrued sick leave, if any, to such absence to receive compensation of an 
amount of the difference between the compensation received under the 
Workers’ Compensation Act and that of the employee’s regular pay, not to 
exceed the amount of the employee’s earned sick leave. An employee, in 
such instance, may also elect to use any earned vacation time in like 
manner after sick leave is exhausted. An employee, in such instance, may 
also elect to use any earned Floating Holiday hours in like manner after sick 
leave and earned vacation time is exhausted. Employees shall receive full 
salary in lieu of Workers’ Compensation benefits and paid sick leave for the 
first twenty-four (24) hours following an occupational injury or illness, if 
authorized absence is by order of an accepted physician under the Workers’ 
Compensation sections of the California Labor Code. 

Section 5. Bereavement Leave: When circumstances are such and the City Manager 
determines that conditions warrant, full-time employees may be granted up 
to three (3) days of paid bereavement leave per occurrence following 
completion of one year of employment in the event of the death of a spouse, 
domestic partner, child, brother, sister, parent, parents-in-laws, or 
grandparent. 

Section 6. Jury Duty and Witness Leave: If a regular full-time employee is required to 
serve as a juror, such employee shall receive regular pay less amounts 
received while actually performing jury service for a period of service not to 
exceed 10 days of jury service. The City will not pay mileage or other 
additional expenses incurred by jury duty. Employees will be required to 
provide a Jury Duty Certification form to their supervisor, to be attached to 
their time sheet for that time period. 

 

211



   

35 

 

Employees shall be granted leave with pay when subpoenaed to testify as 
a witness other than as a party or an expert. 

Employees absent from work due to jury duty or witness leave must notify 
the City Manager of the status of their leave daily. 

Section 7. California CFRA Leave: 

The California Family Rights Act (CFRA) provides eligible employees the 
opportunity to take unpaid, job-protected leave for certain specified 
reasons. The maximum amount of leave is twelve (12) weeks within a 12-
month period. All employees who have worked at least twelve (12) months 
in the preceding seven (7) years and have worked at least 1,250 hours 
within the twelve (12) months preceding the date the leave commences are 
eligible for CFRA leave. 

(a) Reasons for leave: CFRA leave may be used for the following 
reasons: 

(1) To care for or bond with a newborn child. 

(2) To care for or bond with a child placed with the employee 
and/or the employee’s registered domestic partner for 
adoption or foster care. 

(3) To care for an immediate family member (spouse, parent, 
registered domestic partner, child or registered domestic 
partner’s child, sibling, grandparent, or grandchild) with a 
serious health condition. 

(4) For the employee’s serious health condition that makes the 
employee unable to perform his or her job (except pregnancy, 
which is covered under PDL and does not run concurrently 
with CFRA). 

(5) For a qualifying military exigency related to the covered active 
duty or call to covered active duty of a spouse, domestic 
partner, child, or parent in the United States armed forces. 

Eligible employees may take CFRA leave in a single block of time, 
intermittently, or by reducing the normal work schedule when medically 
necessary for the serious health condition of the employee or immediate 
family member. Employees may choose to use accrued paid sick leave or 
vacation time with some or all of the CFRA leave. 

212



   

36 

When seeking leave under this policy, employees must provide the City 
Manager or Designee with the following: (1) Thirty (30) days’ notice of the 
need to take CFRA leave (if foreseeable), or notice as soon as practicable 
in the case of unforeseeable leave; (2) Medical certification supporting the 
need for leave within fifteen (15) calendar days of the company’s request 
for the certification. Failure to do so may result in the delay of the 
commencement of leave or denial of a leave request; (3) Periodic reports 
as deemed appropriate during the leave regarding the employee’s status 
and intent to return to work; and (4) A return-to-work release before 
returning to work if the leave was due to the employee’s serious health 
condition. 

The City will maintain health insurance coverage for employees and /or their 
families when CFRA leave is taken on the same terms as if the employee 
had continued to work. In some instances, the City may recover premiums 
paid to maintain health coverage or other benefits for employees and/or 
their families. 

Section 8. California Paid Family Leave: The City participates in a private voluntary 
disability insurance program that it offers to its employees as a legal 
alternative to the mandatory State Disability Insurance (SDI).  Employees 
may inquire into this program with the City Manager or Human Resources 
Director. 

Section 9. Pregnancy Disability Leave: A full-time employee is eligible for up to four (4) 
months of unpaid leave for an actual disability caused by the employee’s 
pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical condition. 

(a) During the pregnancy disability leave time, paid leave may be 
charged to accrued benefit time such as vacation and floating 
holiday, at the employee’s request. In addition, accrued sick leave 
may be used at the employee’s request, in accordance with Section 
3. 

(b) Health insurance benefits shall continue for the duration of the 
pregnancy disability leave under the same conditions as if the 
employee had continued employment. If the employee fails to return 
to work after the period of leave to which the employee is entitled has 
expired, the City is entitled to recover the premiums paid on behalf 
of the employee for maintaining coverage. 

(c) The City Manager may require the employee to file a physician’s 
certificate or personal affidavit and to provide reasonable notice of 
the date the leave will begin and the estimated duration of the leave. 

(d) Employees disabled by pregnancy may also take intermittent leave 
or be provided reasonable accommodation to continue work. 

213



   

37 

(e) Employees returning from Pregnancy Disability Leave generally are 
entitled to be reinstated in the same position, subject to certain 
conditions, and consistent with applicable law.  

Section 10. Lactation Accommodation Policy: The City provides accommodations to 
lactating employees who need to express breast milk during work hours in 
accordance with applicable law. The City will provide the employee with the 
use of a room or other location (not a bathroom) to express breast milk that 
is in close proximity to the employee’s work area, shielded from view, and 
free from intrusion. Such space will meet the requirements of the California 
Labor Code including a surface to place a breast pump and personal items, 
a place to sit, access to electricity, a sink with running water, and a 
refrigerator for storing breast milk. 

 Employees who are nursing have a right to request a lactation 
accommodation. Such requests may be made verbally or in writing, and 
should indicate the need for an accommodation in order to express breast 
milk at work, and should be directed to the City Manager or Designee. The 
City will promptly respond to such requests and indicate the approval or 
denial of the break request. The City reserves the right to deny an 
employee’s request for a lactation break if the additional break time will 
seriously disrupt City operations. 

 The requested break time should, if possible, be taken concurrently with 
other scheduled break periods. 

 The City prohibits any form of discrimination or retaliation against an 
employee for exercising or attempting to exercise any rights provided by 
this policy. Any such conduct or other violations of this policy should be 
reported to the City Manager or Designee. Employees have the right to file 
a complaint with the California Labor Commissioner for violation of a 
lactation accommodation right described in this policy. 

Section 11. Election Leave: If a full-time employee does not have sufficient time outside 
of working hours to vote at a statewide election, the voter may, without loss 
of pay, take off enough working time, which when added to the voting time 
available outside of working hours will enable the voter to vote. Regular 
part-time employees are eligible for election leave based upon hours 
scheduled to work. No more than two (2) hours of the time taken off for 
voting shall be without loss of pay. The time off for voting shall be only at 
the beginning or end of the regular work shift, whichever allows for the 
greatest free time for voting and the least time off from the regular working 
shift, unless otherwise mutually agreed upon. The employee shall give the 
City Manager at least two working days’ notice that time off for voting is 
desired. 

214



   

38 

Section 12. Leave of Absence Without Pay: The City Manager may grant a regular 
employee a leave of absence without pay for a period not to exceed one (1) 
month. No such leave shall be granted except upon written request of the 
employee, setting forth the reason for the request. Approval will be in 
writing. Upon expiration of a regularly approved leave or within a reasonable 
period of time after notice to return to duty, the employee shall be reinstated 
in the position held at the time leave was granted. Failure on the part of an 
employee on leave to report promptly at its expiration, or within a 
reasonable time after notice to return to duty, shall be cause for discharge. 
Such leave of absence shall not be counted as a break in service for 
purposes of satisfying the continuous employment requirement for vacation 
allowance. 

An employee on leave of absence without pay does not accrue sick leave, 
vacation time, or receive benefits while on leave. Such employee does not 
lose or forfeit any sick leave or unpaid vacation time that had been 
accumulated prior to the time being granted. 

Section 13. Military Leave: Military leave shall be granted to City employees in 
accordance with the provisions of current federal and state law. 

Section 14. Administrative Leave: At the discretion of the City Manager and in special 
circumstances, Regular employees may be provided administrative leave 
without loss in pay or the deduction of other leave accrued. 

Section 15. Disability Accommodation: It is the City’s policy to comply with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), as well as applicable state and local 
laws relating to disability issues. The City will not discriminate against any 
employee with respect to any terms, privileges, or conditions of employment 
because of his or her physical or mental disability. The City will also 
reasonably accommodate all employees and applicants with disabilities 
who are otherwise qualified to safely perform the essential duties of the job 
unless any such accommodations would impose an undue hardship in the 
City’s operations. 

 If an employee needs a reasonable accommodation to perform the essential 
job duties of his or her position, the employee should make the request to 
the City Manager or Designee. The City believes in an interactive process 
with the employee to identify and consider possible accommodations that 
would enable the employee to perform his or her position’s essential job 
duties. 

 Reasonable accommodation is available to all disabled employees, where 
his or her disability affects the performance of job functions and when such 
accommodations would not impose undue hardship. All employment 
decisions are based on the merits of the situation in accordance with 
defined criteria, not the disability of the individual. 

215



   

39 

CHAPTER XIV 
HOLIDAYS 

Section 1. Holidays Observed: The City observes the following paid holidays: 

1. New Year’s Day (January 1) 

2. Martin Luther King Jr. Day (observed the third Monday in January) 

3. President’s Day (observed the third Monday in February) 

4. Memorial Day (observed the last Monday in May) 

5. Independence Day (July 4) 

6. Labor Day (observed the first Monday in September) 

7. Veteran’s Day (November 11) 

8. Every day appointed by the President or Governor for a 
public fast, thanksgiving, or holiday including Thanksgiving 
Day 

9. Friday following Thanksgiving Day 

10. Christmas Eve (December 24) 

11. Christmas Day (December 25) 

Holidays which fall on Saturday shall be observed the preceding Friday and 
holidays which fall on Sunday shall be observed on the following Monday. 
Paid holidays are only for the observed days. 

If an observed holiday falls on an eight and one-half (8.5) hour work day 
under the 9/75 work schedule, those employees on the 9/75 schedule shall 
receive eight and one-half (8.5) hours of holiday pay.  

If an observed holiday falls on a seven (7) hour workday under the 9/75 
work schedule, those employees on the 9/75 schedule shall receive seven 
(7) hours of holiday pay.  

If the holiday falls on a regular day off for that employee, that employee will take the 
preceding day off. 

 

 

 

216



   

40 

Section 2.  Floating Holiday: 

(a)  Each full-time employee is allowed eight and one-half (8.5) hours 
per calendar year, January through December with the approval of the City 
Manager.  

(b)  Floating holiday hours are not cumulative and must be used during 
the above period or said employee will lose the allocated hours.  

(c)  Each employee must submit a request in advance.  

(d)  An employee is eligible to use floating holiday hours as they are 
allocated. 

(e)  Floating holiday hours may be used in lieu of sick leave only if all 
other benefit time has been exhausted. 

Section 3. Eligibility for Holidays: All employees are eligible for holiday pay except the 
following: 

(a) Seasonal and part-time employees. 

(b) Temporary employees. 

217



   

41 

CHAPTER XV 
CHANGES IN EMPLOYMENT STATUS 

Section 1. Transfer: An employee may be transferred by the City Manager at any time 
from one position to another position. Transfer shall not be used to 
effectuate a promotion, demotion, advancement, or reduction, each of 
which may be accomplished only as provided in these rules. No person shall 
be transferred to a position for which he/she does not possess the minimum 
qualifications. 

Section 2. Promotion: When practicable and consistent with the best interests of the 
City, vacancies may be filled by promotion. All candidates for promotion 
must meet the minimum qualifications identified by the City Manager or 
Designee. 

If, in the opinion of the City Manager or Designee, a vacancy in the position 
could be filled better by an open, competitive recruitment instead of a 
promotional appointment, he/she shall arrange for an open competitive 
examination. 

Section 3. Demotion: The City Manager may demote an employee whose ability to 
perform his/her required duties falls below standard. No employee shall be 
demoted to a position for which he/she does not possess the minimum 
qualifications.  

Section 4. Suspension: The City Manager may suspend an employee at any time for 
cause. 

Section 5. Reclassification: The City Manager may reclassify a position from one 
position to another if there has been a gradual accretion or reduction of 
duties and/or responsibilities over time. 

  

218



   

42 

CHAPTER XVI 
SEPARATION FROM EMPLOYMENT 

Section 1. Job Abandonment: An employee is deemed to have resigned if the 
employee is absent for three (3) consecutive workdays without prior 
authorization and without notification during the period of absence. On the 
second working day of unauthorized absence, the City Manager shall send 
an overnight letter to the employee’s last known address informing the 
employee that if the employee fails to report to work within one (1) workday, 
or receive authorization for such absence, the employee will be deemed to 
have resigned and extending to the employee an informal pre-disciplinary 
conference. Employees separated from employment for job abandonment 
will be reinstated with such charge removed from the employee’s record 
upon presentation of justification for absence such as severe accident, 
severe illness, false arrest, or mental or physical impairment which 
prevented notification. Employees have no right to appeal if deemed to have 
resigned as a result of job abandonment. 

Section 2. Discharge: An at-will employee may be discharged at any time with or 
without cause or notice. 

Section 3. Lay-off: The City Manager may lay off an employee because of change in 
duties or organization or shortage of work or funds. 

(a) Notification: Employees to be laid off shall be given, whenever 
possible, at least ten (10) calendar days prior notice. 

(b) Order of Layoff: Employees shall be laid off in the inverse order of 
their seniority and with regard to their responsibilities. Seniority 
shall be determined based upon date of hire in the position. A lay off 
out of the inverse order of seniority may be made if, in the City’s 
judgment, retention of special job skills is required. 

(c) Re-employment Rights for Laid-off Employees: Regular employees, 
who have received a satisfactory or better evaluation for the twelve 
(12) months prior to lay off, have completed their probationary period, 
and who have been laid off shall be automatically placed on a re-
employment list for one year for the classification from which they 
were laid off. 

Section 4. Resignation: An employee wishing to leave City service in good standing 
shall file with the supervising official at least ten (10) working days before 
leaving the service, a written resignation stating the effective date and 
reasons for leaving. Failure to give such notice shall mean the employee 
did not terminate in good standing, unless the City Manager has waived the 
two-week notice requirement. Failure to comply with this Chapter shall be 
entered on the service record of the employee and be cause for denying 

219



   

43 

future employment by the City. A resignation becomes final when accepted 
by the City Manager and only at the City Manager’s discretion can be 
withdrawn. 

Section 5. Reinstatement: A regular employee who has resigned, or has otherwise 
been separated while in good standing, may be considered for 
reinstatement by the City Manager, to a position in the former employee’s 
same or comparable position for a period of two (2) years after resignation 
or separation provided such a position is vacant and available. The 
employee shall be reinstated to the salary range and step held at the time 
of resignation or separation and shall receive a new anniversary date which 
shall be the first date of employment upon reinstatement. The employee will 
serve a new probationary period. 

  

220



   

44 

CHAPTER XVII 
REPORTS AND RECORDS 

Section 1. General: The City maintains a personnel file on each employee. An 
employee’s personnel file shall contain only material that is necessary and 
relevant to the administration of the City’s personnel program. Personnel 
files are the property of the City, and access to the information they contain 
is restricted. 

Section 2. Notifying City of Changes in Personal Information: Each employee is 
responsible to promptly notify the City Manager or Designee of any changes 
in relevant personal information, including: 

• Mailing address 
• Telephone number 
• Persons to contact in emergency 
• Number and names of dependents  

Section 3. Location of Personnel Files: The personnel files will be kept secure and 
confidential by the City Manager or Designee. 

Section 4. Medical Information: 

(a) Separate Confidential Files. All medical information about an 
employee or applicant is kept separately and is treated as 
confidential, in accordance with federal and state law. 

(b) Information in Medical Files. The City will not obtain medical 
information about an employee or applicant except in compliance 
with the California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act. To 
enable the City to obtain certain medical information, the employee 
or applicant may need to sign an authorization for release of 
employee medical information. 

(c) Access to Medical Information. Access to employee or applicant 
medical information shall be strictly limited to only those with a 
legitimate need to have such information for City business reasons. 
In the case of an employee with a disability, managers and 
supervisors may be informed regarding necessary restrictions on the 
work or duties of the employee and necessary accommodations. 

Section 5. References and Release of Information in Personnel Files: 

(a) Public Information: Upon request, the City will release to the public 
information about its employees as required by the Public Records 
Act. The City will not disclose personnel information that it considers 
would constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy. 

221



   

45 

(b) Reference Checks: All requests from outside the City for reference 
checks or verification of employment concerning any current or 
former employee must be referred to the City Manager or Designee. 
Information will be released only if the employee signs an 
authorization for release of employment information, except that 
without such authorization, the following limited information will be 
provided: dates of employment and job title. 

Section 6. Employee Access to Personnel File: An employee may inspect his or her 
own personnel file at reasonable times and at reasonable intervals. An 
employee who wishes to review his or her file should contact the City 
Manager or Designee to arrange an appointment. The review must be done 
in the presence of the City Manager or Designee. 

Section 7. Destruction of Records: Personnel files, payroll records, and records 
relating to personnel recruitment, including correspondence, applications, 
examinations, and reports will be destroyed according to the City’s Records 
Retention Schedule. 

  

222



   

46 

CHAPTER XVIII 
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES 

Section 1. Definition: 

(a) Grievance: A “grievance” is a written allegation by an employee, 
submitted as herein specified, claiming violation(s) of the specific 
express terms of the Employee Handbook and Personnel Policy 
Manual, or expressing concern relating to an aspect of employment, 
and for which there is no other specific method of review provided by 
City law. 

(b) Grievant: A grievant is an employee or group of employees adversely 
affected by an act or omission of the City. 

(c) Day: A day is any day the agency is open to the public, that is any 
day except Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays recognized by 
the City. 

Section 2. Procedure: 

Step A: Informal Discussion: The grievant shall discuss the 
controversy with the City Manager on an informal basis in an effort 
to resolve the situation. 

The issue will be considered resolved if not presented to the City 
Manager within ten (10) working days following the day the event 
occurred upon which the controversy is based. The City Manager 
shall respond within five (5) working days following the meeting with 
the grievant. Failure of the City Manager to respond within such time 
limit shall entitle the grievant to process the controversy to the next 
step. 

Step B: First Level of Review: If the controversy is not settled at Step 
A, the grievant may submit the grievance in writing to the City 
Manager within five (5) working days of the receipt of the grievance 
response at Step A. Failure of the grievant to deliver the written 
grievance shall constitute a waiver of the grievance. The City 
Manager shall meet with the grievant and a written decision and 
statement of facts and issues shall be rendered to the grievant within 
ten (10) working days from the date of the written grievance. Failure 
of the City Manager to respond within such time limit shall entitle the 
grievant to process his/her grievance at the next level of review. If 
the City Manager is the subject of the grievance the grievance shall 
be submitted to the Personnel Committee instead of the City 
Manager. 

223



   

47 

Step C: Second Level Review: If the grievance is not settled at Step 
B, the grievant may place the grievance in writing to and present it to 
the Rolling Hills City Council within five (5) working days of receipt of 
the Step B grievance response. Failure of the grievant to deliver such 
written notice shall constitute a waiver of the grievance. The City 
Council shall hear the grievance at a regular meeting, and a written 
decision and statement of facts and issues shall be rendered to the 
grievant. The decision of the City Council shall be final and binding. 

Section 3. Reprisals: Employees shall be insured freedom from reprisal for using the 
grievance procedure. 

  

224



   

48 

CHAPTER XIX 
DISCIPLINE 

Nothing in this Section is intended to alter the at-will status of employment with the City. 
Consistent with the City’s Employment At Will policy, you and the City each have the right 
to terminate the employment relationship at any time with or without cause and with or 
without prior notice. As well, the City reserves the right to terminate any employment 
relationship, to demote, and to otherwise discipline an employee without resort to the 
below disciplinary procedures. 

Section 1. Types of Disciplinary Action: 

(a) Oral Warning: A formal discussion with an employee, by the City 
Manager, about performance or conduct problems, the need for the 
employee to improve, and what specific improvement is expected. 
The City Manager shall make a written record of the warning. 

(b) Written Reprimand: A formal written notice to the employee 
regarding performance or conduct problems, the need for the 
employee to improve, and what specific improvement is expected. 
The written reprimand goes in the employee’s personnel file.  

(c) Suspension: Removal of an employee from duty without pay for a 
specified period. 

(d) Reduction in Pay: A reduction in pay from the employee’s current 
salary to a lower salary. 

(e) Demotion: A reduction in position title and salary. 

(f) Dismissal or Discharge: Separation from employment of an 
employee for cause. 

Section 2. Grounds for Disciplinary Action Involving Regular Employees: Grounds for 
discipline include, but are not limited to, the following: 

(a) Fraud in securing employment or making a false statement on an 
application for employment. 

(b) Incompetency; i.e., the inability to comply with the minimum standard 
of an employee’s position for a significant period of time. 

(c) Inefficiency or inexcusable neglect of duty, i.e., failure to perform 
duties required of an employee within his/her position. 

(d) Willful disobedience or insubordination, a willful failure to submit to 
duly appointed and acting supervision or to conform to duly 

225



   

49 

established orders or directions of persons in a supervisory position, 
or insulting or demeaning any fellow employee. 

(e) Dishonesty. 

(f) Possession, distribution, sale, use, or being under the influence of 
alcohol or illegal drugs or narcotics while on duty or while operating 
a vehicle in the course of City business or potentially dangerous 
equipment leased or owned by the City. 

(g) Excessive absenteeism. 

(h) Inexcusable absence without leave. 

(i) Abuse of sick leave, i.e., taking sick leave without a doctor’s 
certificate when one is required, or misuse of sick leave. 

(j) The conviction of either a misdemeanor or a felony related to the 
position held will constitute grounds for dismissal of any employee. 
The record of conviction will be conclusive evidence of the fact that 
the conviction occurred. The City Manager may inquire into the 
circumstances surrounding the commission of the crime in order to 
support the degree of discipline. A plea or verdict of guilty, or a 
conviction showing a plea of nolo contendere, is deemed to be a 
conviction within the meaning of this Section. 

(k) Discourteous treatment of the public or other employees. 

(l) Improper or unauthorized use of City property. 

(m) Refusal to subscribe to any oath or affirmation which is required by 
law in connection with agency employment. 

(n) Any willful act or conduct undertaken in bad faith, either during or 
outside of duty hours, which is of such a nature that it causes 
discredit to the City. 

(o) Inattention to duty or negligence in the care and handling of City 
property. 

(p) Violation of the rules and regulations of the City. 

(q) Outside employment not specifically authorized. 

(r) Acceptance from any source of a reward, gift, or other form of 
remuneration in addition to regular compensation to an employee for 
the performance of his or her official duties. 

226



   

50 

(s) The refusal of any officer or employee of the City to testify under oath 
before any Grand Jury having jurisdiction over any then pending 
cause of inquiry in which the investigation of government bribery or 
misconduct in agency office is involved shall constitute of itself 
sufficient ground for the immediate discharge of such officer or 
employee. 

(t) Willful violation of any of the provisions of an ordinance, resolution, 
rule, regulation, or policy prescribed by the City. 

(u) Improper political activity. Example: Campaigning for or espousing 
the election or non-election of any candidate in national, state, 
county, or municipal elections while on duty and/or during working 
hours or in City uniform on or off duty; or the dissemination of political 
material of any kind while on duty and/or during working hours or in 
uniform. 

(v) Working overtime without authorization. 

(w) Possession of weapons on agency property unless authorized. 

(x) Making false or malicious statements concerning any employee, the 
City, or the City’s policies or practices. 

  

227



   

51 

CHAPTER XX 
PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS AND ANNUAL WORK PLANS 

Section 1. General: Performance evaluation is the process of evaluating and recording 
the performance of each employee. The performance evaluation is best 
used: 

(a) To maintain a high level of efficiency or assist in raising efficiency by 
commending the employee. 

(b) To indicate to the employee those points in which he/she shows 
weak performance, and suggest the proper means of raising his/her 
working performance to the standard level. 

(c) To inform the employee of good performance. 

(d) To encourage better working relationships and mutual understanding 
by letting the employee know where he/she stands with relation to 
the City Manager’s evaluation of his/her work. 

(e) To establish an annual work plan consisting of goals and tasks to be 
accomplished. 

Section 2. Responsibility for Evaluation: The City Manager is responsible for proper 
preparation of the performance evaluation for each employee. The City 
Manager should carefully review the complete position description, and the 
goals and objectives for the employee, if any, before beginning each 
evaluation, to remind himself/herself of what should be expected from the 
employee. 

Section 3. Discussion with Employee: The performance evaluation must be discussed 
with the employee. During the interview, as well as in the performance 
evaluation documentation, special attention should be given to discussing 
specific ways in which the employee can improve his/her performance. An 
opportunity should also be afforded to the employee to comment and bring 
up any questions he or she may have. 

Section 4. Schedule: Performance evaluations for probationary employees are to be 
presented at the end of the first six (6) months, and after the first twelve (12) 
months, to correspond to the completion of the one year probationary 
period. After the probationary evaluation, an evaluation should be done on 
an annual basis on the employee’s anniversary date. 

Section 5. Appeal Procedure: It is the intent of the City to offer fair and equitable 
appeals procedures for employees’ performance evaluations. Below are the 
official guidelines. 

228



   

52 

(a) Employee and City Manager meet to review and discuss the 
employee’s performance evaluation. 

(b) The employee may respond in writing to the contents of the 
evaluation. The employee must submit this response to the City 
Manager within ten (10) working days immediately following receipt 
of the evaluation. The decision shall be rendered in writing within 
fifteen (15) working days by the City Manager, and the decision of 
the City Manager shall be final. 

Section 6. Exceptional Performance Recognition: Based on fiscal year finances and 
Council approval, the City Manager is provided a pool of funds to recognize 
an employee’s exceptional performance. Annually, the City will endeavor to 
budget a 5% increase in salaries. The amount of funds potentially available 
in the bonus pool is the difference between the CPI adjustment provided to 
staff in July (see Chapter V) and 5%. An employee can be given exceptional 
performance recognition of no more than the difference between the CPI 
and 5% as a one-time check, gift card, or item (the recognition, in other 
words, does not become part of the employees’ salary) for exceptional 
performance during the prior fiscal year. The recognition will require the City 
Manager to document and justify the action.  

  

229



   

53 

CHAPTER XXI 
VEHICLE USE 

Section 1. Use of Private Vehicles: Private automobiles are not to be used for the City 
business except as authorized. The City Manager may authorize such use 
at the reimbursement rate equal to that set forth by the Internal Revenue 
Service. Payments shall be based upon the most direct route to and from 
the destination and garage and parking expenses shall be paid in addition 
to the current rate, upon submission of paid receipts within the fiscal year 
of the trips. To receive mileage reimbursement, the employee must 
acknowledge and be in compliance with the City’s Vehicle Use Policy. 

Section 2. Auto Allowance: Select employees will receive a monthly car allowance. 
This stipend will be in lieu of any mileage reimbursement and is intended to 
cover all actual expenses incurred. If additional garage, parking, and other 
related auto expenses are incurred above the monthly allowance, they are 
reimbursable. 

  

230



   

54 

CHAPTER XXII 
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 

Section 1. Training: The City Manager and employees of the City are eligible to request 
specialized training in the form of symposiums, special courses, forums, 
professional association meetings, professional development courses, etc., 
at the City’s expense. The City retains the sole authority to approve or deny 
requests for specialized training. 

 

  

231



   

55 

CHAPTER XXIII 

EMPLOYEE STANDARDS OF CONDUCT  

Section 1. Code of Ethics: 

(a) Each officer, official, and employee has an obligation to the 
residents, to the people’s elected representatives, and to fellow 
employees to meet the highest ethical and professional standards 
and to enhance the public’s respect and trust for the City government 
and its operations. 

(b) Employees of the City have responsibilities unique from their 
counterparts in the private industry. Employment with the City carries 
an obligation of personal integrity and conduct that serves to 
establish public respect, confidence, and trust. 

(c) Employees represent the City of Rolling Hills and the quality of City 
service is judged through their performance and conduct. The 
residents of Rolling Hills have the right to expect that City employees 
will provide services in an efficient, thorough, and courteous manner. 

(d) The City, as a condition of employment, expects to receive from the 
employee: 

(1) Initiative and a conscientious effort to perform productive 
work. 

(2) Cooperative, positive, responsive, and courteous relations 
with fellow employees, supervisors, subordinates, and the 
public. 

(3) A continuous effort to strive for greater knowledge and skill on 
the job in order to maintain performance at a high level. 

(4) Compliance with all policies, regulations, rules of conduct, and 
ordinances established by the City. 

(5) Responsible work habits demonstrated by: 

a. Dependability, promptness, reliable attendance, and 
performing required duties competently, 

b. Keeping informed of developments and matters 
affecting job performance, 

c. Being flexible and adaptable to change, 

232



   

56 

d. Accepting constructive suggestions and criticism. 

(6) Neat and clean grooming and attire appropriate to the job 
assignment. 

a. Work days 

Appropriate dress shall be professional and business casual, 
representative of an office environment and appropriate for 
meetings and interaction with the public. 

b. Other  

As appropriate for the position, the employee is required to 
have shoes and clothing for meetings in the field, visits to 
construction sites, and walking on trails. 

(7) Support in principle of the ICMA (International City/County 
Management Association) Code of Ethics and related tenants. 

No employee will accept a fee, compensation, gift, payment 
of expenses, or any other thing of monetary value in any 
circumstances in which acceptance may result in or create the 
appearance of any one or more of the following: 

1. Use of public office and/or employment for 
personal or private gain. 

2. Preferential treatment of any person. 

3. Loss of complete independence or impartiality. 

4. Making a City decision outside of official 
channels. 

5. Reduction of public confidence in the integrity of 
City government and/or its employees. 

6. Impeding government efficiency or economy. 

Section 2. Policy Against Harassment, Discrimination, and Retaliation 

The City strictly prohibits and has “zero tolerance” for discrimination and 
harassment in any phase of the employment, including but not limited to 
recruitment, testing, hiring, upgrading, promotion/demotion, transfer, layoff, 
termination, rates of pay, benefits, and selection for training. This includes 
sexual harassment (which includes harassment based on sex, pregnancy, 
perceived pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding, or related medical 

233



   

57 

conditions), as well as harassment, discrimination, and retaliation based on 
such factors as race, color, religion, religious creed (including religious 
dress and religious grooming practices), sex, national origin, ancestry, 
citizenship, age (40 years and older), mental disability and physical 
disability (including HIV and AIDS), legally-protected medical condition or 
information (including genetic information), protected medical leaves 
(requesting or approved for leave under the California Family Rights Act), 
military and/or veteran status, service, or obligation, reserve status, national 
guard status, marital status, domestic partner status, gender, gender 
identity (including transgender identity), gender expression (including 
transgender expression), because an individual has transitioned (to live as 
the gender with which they identify), is transitioning, or is perceived to be 
transitioning), sex stereotyping, sexual orientation, status as a victim of 
domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, enrollment in a public 
assistance program, engaging in protected communications regarding 
employee wages or otherwise exercising rights protected under the 
California Fair Pay Act, requesting a reasonable accommodation on the 
basis of disability or bona fide religious belief or practice, or any other basis 
protected by federal, state, or local laws. 

Discrimination and Harassment Defined. Discrimination and harassment 
may consist of offensive verbal, physical, or visual conduct when such 
conduct is based on or related to an individual’s sex or membership in one 
of the above-described protected classifications, and: (1) Submission to the 
offensive conduct is an explicit or implicit term or condition of employment; 
(2) Submission to or rejection of the offensive conduct forms the basis for 
an employment decision affecting the employee; or (3) The offensive 
conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an 
individual’s work performance or creates an intimidating, hostile, or 
offensive working environment. 

Examples of Sexual Harassment. For the purpose of clarification, examples 
of what may constitute prohibited sexual harassment include, but are not 
limited to, the following: 

1. Making unsolicited sexual advances or written, verbal, physical, or 
visual contact with sexual overtones. (Written examples: suggestive or 
obscene letters, notes, invitations. Verbal examples: derogatory comments, 
slurs, jokes, epithets. Physical examples: touching, assault, blocking or 
impeding access, leering gestures, display of sexually suggestive objects 
or pictures, cartoons, or posters.) 

2. Continuing to express sexual interest after being informed that the 
interest is unwelcome. (Reciprocal attraction is not considered sexual 
harassment.) 

234



   

58 

3. Making reprisals, threats of reprisal, or implied threats of reprisal 
following a negative response. (For example, implying or actually 
withholding support for an appointment, promotion, or change of 
assignment; suggesting a poor performance report will be prepared; or 
suggesting probation will be failed.) 

4. Engaging in implicit or explicit coercive sexual behavior which is used 
to control, influence, or affect the career, salary, or work environment of 
another employee. 

5. Offering favors or employment benefits, such as promotions, 
favorable performance evaluations, favorable assigned duties or shifts, 
recommendations, reclassifications, etc., in exchange for sexual favors. 
(Similar conduct when applied to other protected classes such as race, 
color, creed, national origin, age, disability, medical condition, religion, 
sexual orientation, or marital status may constitute harassment and 
violation of this Policy. For example, racial jokes or degrading comments 
about age or ethnic background can constitute harassment under this 
policy). Accordingly, in order to avoid the risk of discipline, such acts should 
be avoided in all circumstances. 

Internal Complaint Procedure. Any applicant or employee who believes that 
he or she has been the victim of sexual or other prohibited discrimination or 
harassment by co-workers, supervisors, clients or customers, visitors, 
vendors, corporate officers, or others must immediately notify the City 
Manager or Designee of the alleged conduct. If the employee believes that, 
for any reason, the City Manager is the source of the conduct or is biased, 
the employee may submit the complaint to the Personnel Committee.  

Internal Investigation and Resolution. Following receipt of a discrimination 
or harassment grievance, the City shall begin an immediate and thorough 
investigation to determine if sexual or other discrimination/harassment has 
occurred. The investigation shall be conducted in an impartial manner and 
all information shall be maintained confidential to the extent possible. After 
full consideration of all relevant facts and circumstances involving the 
inquiry, a timely decision will be made by the City and appropriate 
disciplinary or other action will be taken, up to and including termination of 
employment. 

Prohibition Against Retaliation. Retaliation against anyone for opposing 
conduct prohibited by the City’s anti-discrimination/harassment policies or 
for filing a complaint with or otherwise participating in an investigation, 
proceeding, or hearing conducted by the City, or any authorized 
governmental agency, is strictly prohibited and may subject the offending 
person to, among other things, disciplinary action, up to and including 
termination of employment. 

235



   

59 

External Reporting. In addition to the City’s internal complaint procedure, 
an employee may file a complaint with the California Department of Fair 
Employment and Housing (DFEH) or the U.S. Equal Employment 
Opportunity Commission (EEOC). 

Section 3. Injury and Illness Policy 

The City of Rolling Hills has an adopted Injury and Illness Policy for the 
purpose of preventing injury and illness at work. The policy applies to all 
employees. 

Section 4. Information Technology Policy 

The City of Rolling Hills has an adopted Information Technology Policy for 
the purpose of defining inappropriate use of the electronic information, 
technological equipment (e.g., computers), and technological systems (e.g., 
email). The policy applies to all employees. 

Section 5. Smoking Policy 

The City of Rolling Hills is a smoke-free City. Employees are not permitted 
to smoke within the City limits. 

Section 6. Drug and Alcohol Use Policy 

The City strictly prohibits its employees from using alcohol or drugs in 
connection with their employment, as it constitutes a threat to the safe and 
efficient performance of an employee’s duties. At no time shall any 
employee be under the influence of any controlled drug or alcohol while on 
the job, including but not limited to marijuana (with, or without, prescription). 
Please note that, while Proposition 64 (2016) legalized use of recreational 
marijuana in California, the City still will find a positive test for marijuana as 
a valid basis for discipline, up to and including termination of employment. 
(Employees who are taking lawful medications pursuant to a physician’s 
prescription, except in the case of medical marijuana, who has also certified 
that they may efficiently perform their duties without jeopardizing the health 
or safety of others will not be considered to have violated this policy for 
taking such prescription medicine). 

Prohibitions. The following conduct is prohibited and may result in discipline, 
up to and including termination: 

1. Using or possessing alcohol or other controlled substances while on 
duty. 

2. Reporting for duty or remaining on duty when the employee used any 
controlled substances, except if the use is pursuant to the instructions of a 
physician who has advised the employee that the substance does not 

236



   

60 

adversely affect the employee’s ability to safely operate a vehicle or 
otherwise perform the employee’s job. 

3. Reporting for duty or remaining on duty if the employee tests as 
having a blood alcohol concentration of 0.02 or greater. 

4. Reporting for duty or remaining on duty if the employee tests positive 
for controlled substances (including, but not limited to, marijuana, whether 
prescribed or not). 

5. Refusing to submit to any alcohol or controlled substances test 
required by this Policy. An employee who refuses to submit to a required 
drug/alcohol test will be treated in the same manner as an employee who 
tested 0.02 or greater on a blood alcohol test or tested positively on a 
controlled substances test. A “refusal to submit” to an alcohol or controlled 
substances test required by this policy includes, but is not limited to: 

• A refusal to provide a urine sample for a drug test; 

• An inability to provide a urine sample without a valid medical 
explanation; 

• A refusal to complete and sign the breath alcohol testing form, or 
otherwise to cooperate with the testing process in a way that prevents the 
completion of the test; 

• An inability to provide breath or to provide an adequate amount of 
breath without a valid medical explanation; 

• Tampering with or attempting to adulterate the urine specimen or 
collection procedure; 

• Not reporting to the collection site in the time allotted by the 
supervisor or manager who directs the employee to be tested; 

• Leaving the scene of an accident without a valid authorization. 

Reasonable Suspicion Testing. All employees may be required to submit to 
an alcohol or drug test if a supervisor has reasonable suspicion to believe 
the employee is under the influence of alcohol or controlled substances. 
Reasonable suspicion alcohol and drug testing will generally be 
administered within two hours of the observation. If not, the supervisor 
should provide written documentation as to why the test was not promptly 
conducted. 

Consequences of Failing an Alcohol or Drug Test. A positive result from a 
drug or alcohol test may result in disciplinary action, up to and including 
termination, even for a first offense. The City also reserves the right to 

237



   

61 

discipline or terminate an employee convicted of an offense which involves 
the use, distribution, or possession of illegal drugs. If an employee is not 
terminated, the employee: 

1. Must be removed from performing any job function and immediately 
placed in an unpaid status. 

2. Must submit to an examination by a substance abuse professional. 
Upon a determination by the substance abuse professional, the employee 
may be required to undergo treatment for his or her alcohol or drug abuse. 
The City is not required to pay for this treatment. 

3. Shall not be returned to his or her former position until the employee 
submits to a return to duty controlled substance and/or blood alcohol test 
(depending on which test the employee failed) which indicates and alcohol 
concentration level of less than 0.02 or a negative result on a controlled 
substance test. 

4. Will be required to submit to unannounced follow up testing and, 
possibly other conditions if he or she has been returned to his or her 
position. 

Compliance With State and Federal Law. At all times, the City will comply 
with current applicable state and federal law concerning drug and alcohol 
testing. Issues or inconsistencies that are not addressed in this policy will 
be determined by referring to state or federal law and regulations governing 
drug and alcohol testing. The City reserves the right to make changes to 
this policy at any time, for the purpose of complying with state and/or federal 
law or regulation as it exists now or as it may be amended. 

238



   

62 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

I acknowledge receipt of the City of Rolling Hills Employee Handbook and warrant and 
represent that I have read and understand the document. I had an opportunity to ask 
questions and receive clarification from the City regarding conditions of employment, 
policies, and rules contained in this Handbook. I agree to observe and abide by the 
conditions of employment, policies, and rules contained in this Handbook. 

I understand and agree that my relationship with the City is ‘‘at-will,’’ which means that 
my employment is for no definite period and may be terminated by me or by the City at 
any time and for any reason with or without cause or advance notice. I understand that 
the City retains the right to make decisions involving employment as needed in order to 
conduct its work in a manner that is beneficial to the employees and the City. 

I understand and agree that nothing in the Handbook creates or is intended to create a 
promise or representation of continued employment and that employment at the City is 
employment “at-will”; employment may be terminated at the will of either the City or myself 
with or without cause. I understand and agree that the terms of my at-will employment 
may not be modified or superseded except by the City Council and by written agreement 
signed by me and the City Manager, that no other employee or representative of the City 
has the authority to enter into any such agreement, and that any agreement to employ 
me for any specified period of time or that is otherwise inconsistent with the terms of this 
Acknowledgment will be unenforceable unless in writing, approved by the City Council 
and signed by me and the City Manager. 

My signature below certifies that I understand that the foregoing agreement on “at-will” 
status is the sole and entire agreement between the City and me concerning my 
employment and the circumstances under which my employment may be terminated. I 
also understand that if I violate the rules, policies, and procedures set forth herein that I 
may be subject to discipline, up to and including termination of my employment. This 
Handbook supersedes all prior agreements, understandings, and representations 
concerning my employment. I understand that if I have questions regarding the Handbook 
that I can discuss them with the City Manager’s Designee. 

 

              
Name       Date 

239



Agenda Item No.: 7.K 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: JANE ABZUG, DEPUTY CITY ATTORNEY

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: CONSIDER AND APPROVE AMENDED CITY MANAGER
EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT.

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
The City Council conducted the City Manager's annual performance evaluation in October
2021 for the period between September 28, 2020 and September 28, 2021. 
 
DISCUSSION:
As a result of the performance evaluation, certain terms of the employment contract for the
City Manager are proposed to be amended.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
If the amended employment contract is approved, there would be an expenditure increase of
approximately $5,600 to the City Administration Department for Fiscal Year 2021-2022.  
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Approve as presented.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
SecondAmendment_CM_Agreement_ElaineJeng_2022_F.pdf

240

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1341237/SecondAmendment_CM_Agreement_ElaineJeng_2022_F.pdf


65277.00001\31326953.1  

SECOND AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

 

  THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT is 

made and entered into as of this 25th day of April, 2022, by and between the CITY OF 

ROLLING HILLS, a general law city and municipal corporation (hereinafter “City”), and 

ELAINE H. JENG (hereinafter “Employee”), both of whom understand as follows: 

 

R E C I T A L S 

  A. City and Employee entered into an Employment Agreement on 

August 13, 2018 to appoint Employee as City Manager of the City of Rolling Hills (the 

“Agreement”). 

  B. City and Employee entered into a First Amendment to the 

Agreement on April 12, 2021 to increase the annual salary, car allowance, and 

management leave and to reflect a higher contribution for Employee’s health insurance 

and 457 plan (the “First Amendment”). 

C. City evaluated Employee’s annual performance for the period of 

September 28, 2020 to September 28, 2021 under the terms of the Agreement. 

  D. City and Employee now desire to amend the Agreement for a 

second time to increase the annual salary, provide a one-time bonus payment, and allow 

cash out of vacation accrual without requiring use of one week of vacation as a condition 

precedent (the “Second Amendment”). 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter 

contained the parties agree as follows: 

 

1. Paragraph 5 (Salary) of the Agreement is amended to read as follows: 

 

5. Salary.  City agrees to pay Employee for the services required by 

this Agreement a monthly base annual salary of Two Hundred Twenty Thousand and 

Two Hundred and Twenty-Three Dollars ($220,223.00) payable in installments at the 

241



65277.00001\31326953.1  2 

same time as other employees of the City are paid.  The salary shall be adjusted annually 

by the cost of living (COLA) on the same basis as other employees of the City.   

  City agrees to pay Employee a monthly car allowance of Four Hundred 

Dollars ($400) per month.  The car allowance is intended to reimburse Employee for the 

use of her private vehicle for City business.  Employee must provide her own automobile 

for her use in performing her duties and is responsible for all maintenance, repair, fuel 

and insurance expenses for said vehicle.  Employee shall use her personal cellular 

telephone for transaction of City business and City agrees to reimburse Employee $110 

per month for use of her phone for business.   

  At the time of her annual evaluation as provided for in paragraph 12 

herein, City agrees to evaluate Employee’s salary and/or any other benefits Employee 

receives under this Agreement and to make modifications in such amounts and to such an 

extent (whether in the nature of a cost of living adjustment, merit increase, bonus or other 

compensation enhancement or otherwise) as City Council in its discretion may determine 

that it is desirable to do so.  Employee may be given exceptional performance recognition 

in the form of a one-time check for exceptional performance during the prior fiscal year.  

 

2. Paragraph 12 (Sick Leave, Vacation and Holidays) of the Agreement is amended 

to read as follows: 

 

11. Sick Leave, Vacation and Holidays.  

A. Sick Leave. Employee shall earn 3.46 hours of sick leave 

per pay period up to a maximum accrual of 225 hours.  Employee may carry over accrued 

sick leave as provided in the Employee Handbook and Personnel Policy Manual. 

B. Vacation.  Employee shall earn 159 hours of vacation per 

year.  In December of each year, if Employee has over two weeks of accrued vacation, 

Employee may “cash out” up to two weeks of the accrued vacation (75 hours) at 

Employee’s base rate of pay.  

C. Management Leave.  Employee shall be provided eighty 

(80) hours of management leave each calendar year in lieu of the floating holiday 

provided for in the Employee Handbook and Personnel Policy Manual.  Management 

242



65277.00001\31326953.1  3 

leave will not accrue or carry over from year to year nor does it have any cash value.  

Management leave will be prorated for partial years’ service. 

D. Other Leave.  Employee shall be entitled to bereavement 

leave in the same manner as employees of the City. 

E. Holidays.  Employee shall be entitled to the same number 

of paid holidays per year as provided to other City employees. 

   

3. Upon full execution of this Second Amendment, City agrees to pay Employee a 

one-time bonus in the amount of $5,604.00. 

 

4. All terms and conditions of the Agreement not amended by this Second 

Amendment and the First Amendment shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

5. This Second Amendment shall be effective as of January 24, 2022. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Second Amendment as 

of the day and year first above written. 

 

EMPLOYEE 

________________________ 
ELAINE H. JENG, CITY MANAGER 

 

CITY OF ROLLING HILLS 

By: 
 
________________________ 
JIM BLACK, MAYOR 

 

 
ATTEST:   

 
 
________________________ 
CHRISTIAN HORVATH, CITY CLERK 
   

243



Agenda Item No.: 11.A 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH, CITY CLERK / EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT TO
CITY MANAGER

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION OF REQUEST BY THE NEEDS OF
SENIORS COMMITTEE TO HOLD AN EVENT AT THE CITY HALL
CAMPUS IN JUNE.

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
On April 15, 2022, the City received a request from the Rolling Hills Community Association
(RHCA) on behalf of the Needs of Seniors Committee to hold an event at the City Hall Campus
during the first week of June on either a Wednesday or Thursday. They would like permission
to bring in a food truck and set up tables on the grassy area between the City Hall and RHCA
buildings.
 
Staff has currently requested follow-up information and will be contacting our insurance carrier.
 
DISCUSSION:
None.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Provide direction to staff.
 
ATTACHMENTS:

244



Agenda Item No.: 11.B 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: ELAINE JENG, CITY MANAGER

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: DISCUSS POTENTIAL USES FOR THE CORONAVIRUS STATE AND
LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUNDS.

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
In March 2021, the $1.9 trillion bill called the American Rescue Plan Act 2021 was enacted. In
May 2021, the U.S. Department of Treasury (USDOT) released guidance on distribution of the
funds to non-entitlement cities. These guidelines were issued to assist the California
Department of Finance (DOF) in issuing final city-by-city allocations to help the process of
distributing non-entity city funds. Based on guidance from the USDOT, the money will be
disbursed in two tranches, half in June 2021 and half in June 2022.  As of June 3, 2021, DOF
estimated that the City of Rolling Hills allocation was $441,363.  
 
The state developed a secure web form for eligible cities and towns to request funding and
upload certification documents required by Treasury. To request funds, cities were required to
complete the web form, provide total annual operating budget, accept the award terms and
conditions, and comply with Title VI. Request for funds had to be submitted no later than June
23, 2021. The City Attorney reviewed the award terms, conditions and assurances of
compliance with Title VI, Civil Rights Act of 1964 and noted that conditions are typical of
requirements for receipt of federal funds. At the June 14, 2021 meeting, the City Council
accepted the estimated allocation of $441,363.  
 
The USDOT designated the city allocation as the Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal
Recovery Funds, established by the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021.  
 
DISCUSSION:
On January 6, 2022, the USDOT released the Final Rule on the Coronavirus State and Local
Fiscal Recovery Funds (SLFRF). On January 17, 2022, the City Attorney's office issued a
memo on the Final Rule to assist municipalities in understanding the eligible uses of the funds.
The referenced memo is attached to this staff report. The Final Rules went into effect on April
1, 2022. 
 

245



In the Final Rule, the six categories of eligible use categories are: 
 

1. Support Public Health Expenditures
2. Address the Negative Economic Impacts of the Public Health Emergency
3. Serving the Hardest-Hit Communities and Families
4. Replace Lost Public Sector Revenue
5. Provide Premium Pay to Essential Workers
6. Invest in Water, Sewer, and Broadband Infrastructure

 
Eligible expenses for the City of Rolling Hills
In discussing the Final Rule with the City Attorney's office, with respect to two capital
improvement projects that the City Council expressed as priority projects during the 2022
Strategic Planning Workshop, the City Attorney's office opined that the City Hall ADA
Improvement project would not quality for the funds. Based on staff's reading of the Final Rule,
the tennis courts improvements would not qualify for the funds.  
 
The Final Rule provides clarification on the use of funds for service, programs, and capital
expenditures when responding to public health emergency and negative economic impact of
the public health emergency.  The capital expenditure projects "must be related and
reasonably proportional to the pandemic impact identified and reasonably designed to benefit
the impacted population or class." As such, the City Hall ADA Improvements project would not
qualify since the improvements are not related or proportional to the pandemic impact unless
the project was redesigned with elements that would address the public health emergency.  
 
The funds can be used to address deferred maintenance to water and sewer systems, as well
as additional resiliency measures to address climate change. The Final Rule also permits the
use of funds for stormwater infrastructure, if it is found "necessary," which is defined as (1)
responsive to an identified need to achieve or maintain an adequate minimum level of service,
which may include a reasonable project of increased need, whether due to population growth
or otherwise; (2) a cost-effective means for meeting that need, taking into account available
alternatives; and (3) for investments in infrastructure that supply drinking water in order to
meet project population growth, projected to be sustainable over its estimated useful life. The
city's proposed 8" sewer main along Portuguese Bend Road/Rolling Hills Road appears to be
an eligible expense under this category.  
 
With respect to the "replace lost public sector revenue," the Final Rule provides for a standard
allowance of $10 million for the lost revenue category. This standard allowance does not
increase or decrease the total award amount given to the recipient. Once selected in the report
to regulators, the City will use such selection for the perpetuity of the SLFRF program. The lost
revenue category can be used to pay the Los Angeles County Sheriff's contract.  
 
Timeline for the Use of SLFRF
The funds may only cover costs incurred from March 3, 2021 through December 31, 2024.
Unlike Coronavirus Relief Funds, ARPA program funds are only required to be obligated by
December 24, 2024 and must be expended by December 31, 2026.  
 
Records, Reporting, and Recoupment
Recipients must maintain records for a period of five years after all funds have been expended
or December 31, 2021, whichever is later. The City of Rolling Hills is required to submit an
annual project and expenditure report by April 30. The initial report is due on April 30, 2022.

246



 
The USDOT notes that funds used in ways that violate the Final Rule are subject to
remediation and recoupment. These violations may be identified through reports and other
sources. If and when a violation is found, the USDOT will provide notice to the recipient in
writing with an opportunity to request reconsideration. If the USDOT does not receive a
request for reconsideration, the initial notice will be deemed as the final notice.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
The first disbursement of the $441,363 allocation or $220,682 was received by the city in July
2021. The second disbursement is anticipated in June 2022. The full allocation will offset the
use of General Fund on eligible expenses resulting in a savings to the General Fund.  
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Discuss and provide direction to staff.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
2022-01-17 US Treasury - ARPA Final Rule - Guidance v2-c1.PDF

247

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1342916/2022-01-17_US_Treasury_-_ARPA_Final_Rule_-_Guidance_v2-c1.PDF


09900.00200\34726008.1 1

On January 6, 2022, the U.S. Treasury released the Final Rule on the Coronavirus State 
and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (SLFRF). Treasury also published an overview of the Final Rule
and BB&K published an alert on the Final Rule. The Final Rule goes into effect on April 1, 2022. 
Until then, the Interim Final Rule remains in effect and funds that are used consistently with the 
Interim Final Rule are in compliance with the SLFRF program.1

Overview of Key Changes in the Final Rule 
The Final Rule does not create any additional categories of eligible uses of funds aside from 

the initial six; however, it does expand some definitions and eligibility within certain categories, 
as described below. For reference, the six categories of eligible use categories are:  

1. Support Public Health Expenditures 
2. Address the Negative Economic Impacts of the Public Health Emergency 
3. Serving the Hardest-Hit Communities and Families2

4. Replace Lost Public Sector Revenue 
5. Provide Premium Pay to Essential Workers 
6. Invest in Water, Sewer, and Broadband Infrastructure  

Below is a brief overview of the key changes in the Final Rule:  

 Public Health and Economic Impacts: 

 The Final Rule clarifies the use of funds for programs and services to address public 
health and economic impacts, including the use of funds for capital expenditures 
to support an eligible COVID-19 public health or economic response. 

 Disproportionately Impacted Communities and Families: 

1 U.S. Treasury, Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 5 (January 2022); 
See also Statement Regarding Compliance with Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds Interim Final 
Rule and Final Rule, U.S. Department of Treasury, https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/SLFRF-Compliance-
Statement.pdf.  
2  This category is discussed below under the Negative Economic Impacts Category.

To: All Interested Parties  
From: Ana Schwab 

Andre Monette 
Lowry Crook  
Gerard Lederer  

Date: January 17, 2022  
RE: U.S. Treasury Final Rule on Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds  

248

https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/SLFRF-Final-Rule.pdf
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/SLFRF-Final-Rule-Overview.pdf
https://bbklaw.com/news-events/insights/2022/legal-alerts/01/us-treasury-releases-final-rule-arpa-coronavirus


09900.00200\34726008.1 2

 The Final Rule expands the set of households and communities that are presumed 
to be “impacted” and “disproportionately impacted” by the pandemic. This 
expansion allows recipients to utilize funds in a broad manner without additional 
analysis for these households, communities and entities. 

 Replacing Lost Public Sector Revenue: 

 The Final Rule provides public sector recipients with the option to either select a 
standard amount of $10 million in lost revenue or complete a full revenue loss 
calculation. Once a recipient makes the selection, it cannot be changed during the 
program. If the recipient chooses the standard amount, that does not increase or 
decrease the recipient’s allocation amount. 

 Premium Pay: 

 The Final Rule broadens the “eligible workers” category and therefore affords 
premium pay without written justification, while also maintaining a focus on lower-
income and frontline workers. 

 Water, Sewer and Broadband Infrastructure: 

 The Final Rule adds new categories of eligible uses for water and sewer 
investments, including lead remediation, stormwater infrastructure, and aid for 
private wells and septic units. Further, it significantly expands the eligibility of uses 
for broadband infrastructure, including investment to address access, affordability 
and reliability. 

Additionally, in the Final Rule and supporting guidance, Treasury notes the distinction 
between subrecipient and beneficiary. This distinction is important for recipients when 
determining who needs to receive a contract to receive ARPA funds and who may be awarded 
funding without additional requirements on the secondary-recipient. Whether a subaward is 
made to a subrecipient or beneficiary, the recipient City will need to report on expenditures to 
both. The key distinctions are:3

 Subrecipient: 
o A subrecipient is an entity that receives a subaward to carry out a project 

funded by Fiscal Recovery Funds on behalf of a recipient.  
o Terms and conditions of Federal awards flow down to subawards to 

subrecipients, requiring subrecipients to comply with all requirements of 
recipients such as the treatment of eligible use of funds, federal procurement, 
and reporting requirements.  

3 U.S. Treasury, Project and Expenditure Report User Guide – State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds, pg. 87. (January 
7, 2022). 

249



09900.00200\34726008.1 3

 Beneficiary: 
o Individuals or entities that are direct beneficiaries of a project funded by Fiscal 

Recovery Funds are not considered subrecipients. 
o Households, communities, small businesses, nonprofits, and impacted 

industries are all potential beneficiaries of projects carried out with ARPA 
funds.  

o Beneficiaries are not subject to the requirements place on subrecipients in the 
Uniform Guidance, including audit pursuant to the Single Audit Act and 2 CFR 
Part 200, Subpart F or subrecipient reporting requirements.  

When determining if a subawardee is a subrecipient or beneficiary, the recipient should 
follow this chart as a guide: 

Analysis of the Use of the Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds  

1) Support public health expenditures 

The Interim Final Rule and the Final Rule provide that the funds can be used to address a 
broad range of public health needs related to the COVID-19 pandemic. When seeking to utilize 
funds under this category, recipients should (1) identify a COVID-19 public health impact on an 
individual or class (i.e. group) and (2) design a program that responds to that impact.4 To assist 

4 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 12.  

250



09900.00200\34726008.1 4

recipients, Treasury has provided a non-exhaustive list of enumerated uses. Further, Treasury 
provides recipients with flexibility to (1) identify and respond other pandemic impacts and (2) 
serve other populations that experienced pandemic impacts, beyond the enumerated uses and 
presumed eligible populations.5

When expending funds to respond to the public health emergency, there are four 
subcategories of eligible uses: (1) COVID-19 mitigation and prevention; (2) Medical Expenses; 
(3) Behavior HealthCare (such as mental health treatment, substance use treatment, and other 
behavioral health services); and (4) Preventing and Responding to Violence.6

2 + 3) Address negative economic impacts caused by the public health emergency and Serving 
  the Hardest-Hit Communities and Families 

The Interim Final Rule and Final Rule permit the use of funds to address the negative 
economic impacts caused by the public health emergency. As with the public health expenditures 
category, when seeking to utilize funds under this category, recipients should (1) identify a 
negative economic impact on an individual or class (i.e. group) and (2) design a program that 
responds to that impact.7 To assist recipients, Treasury has provided a non-exhaustive list of 
enumerated uses. Further, Treasury provides recipients with flexibility to (1) identify and respond 

5 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 12. For uses beyond those enumerated, for both this section and the negative 
economic impacts section, please see the below section highlighting some specifics. 
6 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 14-15. 
7 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 12. 

251



09900.00200\34726008.1 5

other pandemic impacts and (2) serve other populations that experienced pandemic impacts, 
beyond the enumerated uses and presumed eligible populations.8

In order to address the impacts of the public health emergency more broadly and to 
simplify the administration of the program on recipients, in the Final Rule Treasury has provided 
guidance for impacted and disproportionately impacted groups, and presumptions of eligible use 
that accompany each category.9 The distinctions are described under each subsection.  

1. Assistance to Households and Communities 
a. Treasury presumes the following households and communities are impacted

by the pandemic:10

 Low-or-moderate income households or communities 
o Low-or-moderate income households and communities are 

defined as those with (i) income at or below 300% of the 
Federal Poverty Guidelines for the size of the household based 
on the most recently published poverty guidelines or (ii) income 
at or below 65 percent of the area median income for the 
county and size of household based on the most recently 
published data. 

o Treasury has created a tool for determining Low and Moderate 
Income (LMI) Households. 

 Households that experienced unemployment 

8 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 12. For uses beyond those enumerated, for both this section and the negative 
economic impacts section, please see the below section highlighting some specifics. 
9 U.S. Treasury, Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds – Final Rule, pg. 16; See also Overview of the 
Final Rule, pg. 16. 
10 Final Rule, pg. 41; See also Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 17. 

252

https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/SLFRF-LMI-tool.xlsx
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/SLFRF-LMI-tool.xlsx


09900.00200\34726008.1 6

 Households that experienced increased food or housing insecurity  

 Households that qualify for the Children’s Health Insurance Program 
(CHIP), Childcare subsidies through the Child Care Development Fund 
(CCDF) Program, or Medicaid 

 When providing affordable housing programs: households that qualify 
for the National Housing Trust Fund and Home Investment 
Partnerships Program  

 When Providing services to address lost instructional time in K-12 
Schools: any student that lost access to in-person instruction for a 
significant period of time  

b. Treasury has promulgated a list of enumerated eligible uses for responding to 
the impacted households and communities.11

c. Treasury presumes the following households and communities are 
disproportionately impacted by the pandemic:12

11 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 18. 
12 Final Rule, pg. 41-2; Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 19. 

253



09900.00200\34726008.1 7

 Low-income households and communities 
o Low-income households and communities are those with (i) 

income at or below 185 percent of the Federal Poverty 
Guidelines for the size of its household based on the most 
recently published poverty guidelines or (ii) income at or below 
40 percent of area median income for its county and size of 
household based on the most recently published data.  

 Households residing in Qualified Census Tracts 

 Households that qualify for Temporary Assistance for Needy Families 
(TANF); Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP); Free and 
Reduced-Price Lunch (NSLP) and/or School Breakfast (SBP) programs, 
Medicare Part D Low-Income Subsidies, Supplemental Security Income 
(SSI), Head Start and/or Early Head Start, Special Supplemental 
Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC), Section 8 
Vouchers, Low-Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP), and 
Pell Grants. For services to address educational disparities, Treasury 
will recognize Title I eligible schools as disproportionately impacted 
and responsive services that support the school generally or support 
the whole school as eligible. 

 Households receiving services provided by Tribal governments 

 Households residing in the U.S. territories or receiving services from 
these governments 

d. Treasury has promulgated a list of enumerated eligible uses for responding to 
the disproportionately impacted households and communities.13

13 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 20. 

254



09900.00200\34726008.1 8

2. Assistance to Small Businesses14

a. Treasury defines a small business as one that no more than 500 employees, or 
if applicable, the size standard in number of employees established by the 
Small Business Administration for the industry in which the business concern 
or organization operates and is a small business concern as defined in section 
3 of the Small Business Act (which includes, among other requirements, that 
the business is independently owned and operated and is not dominant in its 
field of operation.15

b. Similar to its position on assistance to households and communities, Treasury 
has provided a distinction between impacted small businesses and 
disproportionately impacted small businesses. These distinctions too come 
with enumerated lists of eligible uses.  

c. Impacted Small Businesses impacted by the pandemic can be identified using 
the following factors (as well as others the recipient deems appropriate and in 
line with the statute, rule, regulations, and accompanying guidance):  

i. Decreased revenue or gross receipts;  
ii. Financial insecurity;  

iii. Increased costs;  
iv. Capacity to weather financial hardship;  
v. Challenges covering payroll, rent or mortgage, and other operating 

costs  

d. Enumerated eligible uses to assist impacted Small Businesses are:  

14 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 21-22. 
15 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 21. 

255



09900.00200\34726008.1 9

i. Loans or grants to mitigate financial hardship, such as by supporting 
payroll and benefits, costs to retain employees, and mortgage, rent, 
utility, and other operating costs  

ii. Technical assistance, counseling, or other services to support business 
planning  

e. Small Businesses are considered disproportionately impacted if they are:  
i. Operating in a Qualified Census Tract 

ii. Operated by Tribal government or on Tribal lands 
iii. Operating in a U.S. Territory  

f. Enumerated eligible uses to assist disproportionately impacted Small 
Businesses are:  

i. Rehabilitation of commercial properties, storefront improvements, 
and façade improvements 

ii. Technical assistance, business incubators and grants for start-up or 
expansion costs for small businesses 

iii. Support for microbusinesses including financial, childcare, and 
transportation costs 

3. Assistance to Nonprofits16

a. Nonprofits are considered eligible if they are 501(c)(3) or 501(c)(19) tax-
exempt organizations.  

b. Impacted nonprofits may be identified by the recipient using the following 
factors (as well as others the recipient deems appropriate and in line with the 
statute, rule, regulations, and accompanying guidance): 

i. Decreased revenue (i.e. from donations and fees) 
ii. Financial insecurity 

iii. Increased costs (i.e. uncompensated increases in service need) 
iv. Capacity to weather financial hardship 
v. Challenges covering payroll, rent or mortgage, and other operating 

costs 
c. Enumerated eligible uses to assist impacted nonprofits are: 

i. Loans or grants to mitigate financial hardship 
ii. Technical or in-kind assistance or other services that mitigate negative 

economic impacts of the pandemic 

16 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 23. 

256



09900.00200\34726008.1 10

d. Nonprofits are considered disproportionately impacted if they are: 
i. Operates in a Qualified Census Tract 

ii. Operated by Tribal governments or on Tribal lands 
iii. Operates in U.S. Territories 

e. Eligible uses to address disproportionately impacted nonprofits are at the 
discretion of the recipient so long as they are related and reasonably 
proportional to addressing the disproportionate impacts.  

4. Assistance to Impacted Industries17

a. There is no distinction of impacted or disproportionately impacted under this 
category.  

b. To provide assistance under this category the recipient needs to designate an 
impacted industry. When designating an industry, recipients have flexibility to 
define narrowly or broadly but are encouraged to define narrow and discrete 
industries eligible for aid.  

i. If the industry is in travel, tourism, or hospitality (including Tribal 
development districts), then the industry is deemed impacted 

ii. If the industry is outside of the above categories, the industry may be 
impacted if: 

1. The industry experience at least 8 percent employment loss 
from pre-pandemic levels, or  

2. The industry is experiencing comparable or worse economic 
impacts as the national tourism, travel, and hospitality 
industries as of the date of the final rule, based on the totality 
of economic indicators or qualitative data, and if the impacts 
were generally due to the COVID-19 public health emergency.  

c. Assistance to eligible impacted industries is limited to businesses, attractions, 
and Tribal development districts operating prior to the pandemic and affected 
by required closures and other efforts to contain the pandemic. Recipients are 
encouraged to provide aid broadly to all businesses within the impacted 
industry.  

d. Enumerated assistance to impacted industries are: 

17 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 24-25. 

257



09900.00200\34726008.1 11

i. Aid to mitigate financial hardship, such as supporting payroll costs, lost 
pay and benefits for returning employees, support of operations and 
maintenance of existing equipment of facilities 

ii. Technical assistance, counseling, or other services to support business 
planning  

iii. COVID-19 mitigation and infection prevention measures 

In addition to the four subcategories noted above, Treasury also has a subcategory for 
Public Sector Capacity and within this Treasury has identified three main categories of eligible 
uses to increase capacity and workforce: (1) Public Safety, Public Health, and Human Services 
Staff; (2) Government Employment and Rehiring Public Sector Staff; and (3) Effective Service 
Delivery.  

 Public Safety, Public Health, and Human Services Staff 
o ARPA funds may be used for payroll and covered benefits for this category of 

workers, for the portion of the employee’s time spent responding to COVID-
19. The Rule lays out three steps for this eligible use:  
 The rule lays out guides for employees considered under each category 

 Government Employment and Rehiring Public Sector Staff 
o ARPA funds may be used to hire up to pre-pandemic levels (to a baseline 

adjusted for historic underinvestment in the public sector); provide additional 
funds for employees who experienced pay cuts or were furloughed; avoiding 
layoffs, providing worker retention incentives; and paying for ancillary 
administrative costs related to hiring, support, and retention.  

 Effective Service Delivery 
o ARPA funds may be used to improve efficiency of public health and economic 

programs through tools such as program evaluation, data, outreach, and 
administrative needs caused or exacerbated by the pandemic.  

4) Replace lost public sector revenue 

In response to many comments submitted to Treasury, the Final Rule directs recipients to 
choose one of two ways to determine the amount of revenue loss experienced. Once 
determined, the recipient has up to that amount to spend on general government services. 
Treasury defines general government “generally [as] any service traditionally provided by a 
government, including construction of roads and other infrastructure, provision of public safety 

258



09900.00200\34726008.1 12

and other services, and health and educational services.”18 General government services may 
include but are not limited to:  

To determine the amount of Revenue Loss, recipients must choose from one of the 
following, once the manner of calculation is chosen, the recipient may not switch methods. The 
two methods are:19

1. Standard Allowance of $10 million 
Under the Standard Allowance, provides a simple, convenient way to determine 
revenue loss. All recipients may choose this option if they would like, however, 
they cannot spend more than their award amount (i.e. if the award amount was 
$8 million, a recipient can choose the Standard Allowance, but cannot spend 
above $8 million on general government services under this category).  

2. Calculation of actual revenue loss at four distinct points in time according to the 
formula in the Final Rule 

The calculation of actual revenue would be done according to the following 
formula at four points in time, either: (a) end of each calendar year for 2020, 2021, 
2022, and 2023 or (b) at the end of each fiscal year of the recipient. Recipients can 
choose which time-point to calculate and must remain consistent throughout the 
program.  
Formula to calculate actual revenue loss:20

Step 1: Calculate revenues collected in the most recent full fiscal year prior to the public 
health emergency (i.e., last full fiscal year before January 27, 2020), called the base year 
revenue. 

Step 2: Estimate counterfactual revenue, which is equal to the following formula, where 
n is the number of months elapsed since the end of the base year to the calculation date:  

The growth adjustment is the greater of either a standard growth rate—5.2 percent—or 
the recipient’s average annual revenue growth in the last full three fiscal years prior to 

18 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 9.  
19 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 9 
20 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 10 

259



09900.00200\34726008.1 13

the COVID-19 public health emergency. Note the 5.2 percent is an increase from the 
Interim Final Rule which had the standard growth rate at 4.1 percent. 

Step 3: Identify actual revenue, which equals revenues collected over the twelve months 
immediately preceding the calculation date. 
Under the final rule, recipients must adjust actual revenue totals for the effect of tax cuts 
and tax increases that are adopted after the date of adoption of the final rule (January 6, 
2022). Specifically, the estimated fiscal impact of tax cuts and tax increases adopted after 
January 6, 2022, must be added or subtracted to the calculation of actual revenue for 
purposes of calculation dates that occur on or after April 1, 2022.  

Recipients may subtract from their calculation of actual revenue the effect of tax 
increases enacted prior to the adoption of the final rule. Note that recipients that elect to 
remove the effect of tax increases enacted before the adoption of the final rule must also 
remove the effect of tax decreases enacted before the adoption of the final rule, such 
that they are accurately removing the effect of tax policy changes on revenue.

Step 4: Revenue loss for the calculation date is equal to counterfactual revenue minus 
actual revenue (adjusted for tax changes) for the twelve-month period. If actual revenue 
exceeds counterfactual revenue, the loss is set to zero for that twelve-month period. 
Revenue loss for the period of performance is the sum of the revenue loss on for each 
calculation date. 

Treasury has also updated the definition of general revenue in the Final Rule in two 
ways:21

1. Recipients that operate utilities that are part of the recipient’s own 
government can choose whether to include revenue from these utilities in the 
calculation of lost revenue.  

2. Recipient may include liquor store revenue as general revenue for purposes of 
calculating lost revenue.  

In determining which mechanism to utilize for calculating lost revenue, Treasury will 
release an amended reporting form in which recipients will be able to select a one-time 
irrevocable election.22

21 U.S. Treasury, Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds – Final Rule, pg. 245.  
22 Final Rule, pg. 240  

260



09900.00200\34726008.1 14

When entering the reporting information for the lost revenue category, the below table 
identifies the information that will be required depending on which method the recipient choses:  

5) Provide premium pay for essential workers23

The Interim Final Rule laid out a list of eligible workers, as well as a definition of eligible 
workers for recipients to use when determining their premium pay program. The Final Rule 
affirms this list and definition, while also broadening the list of eligible workers who can receive 
premium pay without a written justification. Premium pay is able to be given to those who are 
deemed essential workers and performed essential work during the pandemic. Premium pay 
must be in addition to wages or compensation. Further, for awards recipients may give workers 
up to $13/hour and may not exceed $25,000 for any single worker during the program. Pay may 
be given in installments or lump sums.  

23 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 35-36.  

261



09900.00200\34726008.1 15

There are three steps recipients need to undertake when utilizing this eligible use 
category:  

Step 1: Identify an eligible worker. Eligible worker defined as a worker “needed to 
maintain continuity of operations of essential critical infrastructure sectors.” In addition 
to the below eligible workers, the chief executive (or equivalent) of each recipient may 
designate additional non-public sectors as critical “so long as doing so is necessary to 
protecting the health and wellbeing of the residents of such jurisdictions.”  Including:  

Step 2: Verify the worker performs/performed essential work. To be essential work, the 
work must be in person (cannot be for telework) and involves either (1) regular, in-person 
interactions with patients, the public or coworkers of the individual that is performing the 
work; or (2) regular physical handing of items that were handled by, or are to be handled 
by, patients, the public, or coworkers of the individual that is performing the work.  
Step 3: Confirm the premium pay responds to the eligible employee’s eligible work during 
the COVID-19 public health emergency. Under the Final Rule, the following may receive 
premium pay without written justification:24

 Eligible worker receiving premium pay is earning (with the premium pay 
included) at or below 150 percent of their residing state or county’s average 
annual wage for all occupations, as defined by the Bureau of Labor Statistics’ 
Occupational Employment and Wage Statistics, whichever is higher, on an 
annual basis; or  

24 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 36.  

262



09900.00200\34726008.1 16

 Eligible working receiving premium pay is not exempt from the Fair Labor 
Standards Act overtime provisions; or  

 If a worker does not meet either of the above requirements, the recipient must 
subject written justification to Treasury describing how the premium pay is 
responsive.  

Restrictions on Premium Pay 

 This eligible use category may not be used to reimburse a recipient for premium 
pay or hazard pay that has already been received by a worker.  

o Note, premium pay may be given retroactively, it just cannot be used to 
reimburse the recipient.  

 May not designate a volunteer an eligible worker to receive premium pay.  

 Elected Officials may not receive premium pay. The Final Rule clearly articulates 
the Award Terms and Conditions signed by each recipient binds each recipient to 2 
CFR 200.112 on conflicts of interest. As such, “elected officials are prohibited from 
using their official position and control over [ARPA] funds for their own private 
gain. This policy also prohibits, among other things, elected officials from steering 
funds to projects in which they have a financial interest or using funds to pay 
themselves premium pay.”25

When reporting Premium Pay, recipients will need to identify the sectors designated as 
essential critical infrastructure, the number of workers to be served, and also provide a narrative 
on how the premium pay is responsive to the eligible workers performing essential work during 
the public health emergency 

6) Invest in water, sewer, and broadband infrastructure 

The Final Rule affirms and expands the use of ARPA funds for eligible water, sewer, and 
broadband investments. 

Water and Sewer26

Recipients are able to utilize ARPA funds to address deferred maintenance to 
water and sewer systems, as well as additional resiliency measures to address climate 
change. Projects are eligible if they would be eligible for the Clean Water and Drinking 
Water State Revolving Loan Funds (SRF). To check a project’s eligibility, recipients should 

25 Final Rule, pg. 233.  
26 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 37-38. 

263



09900.00200\34726008.1 17

refer to the Clean Water SRF Handbook and the Drinking Water SRF Handbook. In addition 
to the SRF eligible projects, the Final Rule permits the use of funds for stormwater 
infrastructure, residential wells, lead remediation, and certain rehabilitations of dams and 
reservoirs if it is found to be necessary, as defined by the final rule. 

The Final Rule defines necessary as (1) responsive to an identified need to achieve 
or maintain an adequate minimum level of service, which may include a reasonable 
projection of increased need, whether due to population growth or otherwise, (2) a cost-
effective means for meeting that need, taking into account available alternatives, and (3) 
for investments in infrastructure that supply drinking water in order to meet projected 
population growth, projected to be sustainable over its estimated useful life. 

Further considerations for additional eligible projects may include:  

 Culvert repair, resizing, and removal, replacement of storm sewers, and 
additional types of stormwater infrastructure 

 Infrastructure to improve access to safe drinking water for individual 
served by residential wells, including testing initiatives and 
treatment/remediation strategies that address contamination 

 Dam and reservoir rehabilitation if primary purpose of dam or reservoir is 
for drinking water supply and project is necessary for provision of drinking 
water 

 Broad set of lead remediation projects eligible under EPA grant programs 
authorized by the Water Infrastructure Improvements for the Nation Act 
(WIIN), such as lead testing, installation of corrosion control treatment, 
lead service line replacement, as well as water quality testing, compliance 
monitoring, and remediation activities, including replacement of internal 
plumbing and faucets and fixtures in schools and childcare facilities 

Broadband27

The Final Rule significantly expands the use of ARPA funds for broadband 
infrastructure. When undertaking a use of funds under this category, recipients should:  

1. Identify an eligible area for investment 
It is encouraged that projects serve locations that do not have access to 
reliable wireline 100 Mbps download and 20 Mbps upload services. 
Additionally, recipients may identify additional project investments 
including projects to address a lack of access to reliable high-speed 

27 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 39-40. 

264

https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2016-07/documents/overview_of_cwsrf_eligibilities_may_2016.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2017-06/documents/dwsrf_eligibility_handbook_june_13_2017_updated_508_version.pdf


09900.00200\34726008.1 18

broadband service, lack of affordable broadband, and/or lack of reliable 
service.  

When pursuing a project that is outside of the 100/20 parameters, the 
recipient must ensure that the funds are used to address an identified 
need for additional broadband investment that is not met by existing 
federal or state funding commitments and also ensure the funds will not 
be used for costs that will be reimbursed by other federal or state funding 
streams.  

2. Design a project to meet high-speed technical standards  
Pursued projects must reliably meet or exceed symmetrical 100 Mbps 
download and uploads speeds. Where not possible due to the excessive 
cost, geography, or topography, the project must be designed to reliably 
meet or exceed 100/20 Mbps and scalable to a minimum of symmetrical 
100 Mbps download and upload speeds.  

3. Require enrollment in a low-income subsidy program 
Recipients must require the service provider of any ARPA broadband 
project that provides service to households to either: participate in the 
FCC’s Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP) or provide access to a broad-
based affordability program to low-income consumers that provides 
benefits commensurate to ACP. It is also encouraged that projects offer at 
least one low-cost option without data usage caps at sufficient speeds for 
multiple users to simultaneously telework.  

The Final Rule also expressly allows recipients to invest in modernization of cybersecurity 
for existing and new broadband infrastructure, with no speed considerations.  

265



09900.00200\34726008.1 19

Capital Expenditures 
The Final Rule provides clarification on the use of funds for services, program, and capital 

expenditures when responding to the public health emergency and negative economic impact of 
the public health emergency. In the clarification on capital expenditures, Treasury states that 
capital expenditure projects “must be related and reasonably proportional to the pandemic 
impact identified and reasonably designed to benefit the impacted population or class.”28 The 
below is a chart from Treasury to identify when a written justification is or is not required:  

Treasury has also stated that the following capital expenditures are not eligible uses: 
construction of new correctional facilities as a response to an increase in rate of crime; 
construction of new congregate facilities to decrease spread of COVID-19 in the facility; and 
construction of convention centers, stadiums, or other large capital projects intended for general 
economic development or to aid impacted industries.  

Uses Beyond Those Enumerated29

While Treasury provided lists of enumerated uses, recipients have the ability to identify 
additional eligible uses, outside of those enumerated. When doing so, recipients should use the 
below criteria provided by Treasury:  

28 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 30.  
29 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 32. 

266



09900.00200\34726008.1 20

Identify COVID-19 Public Health or Economic Impact  
When identify a COVID-19 public health or negative economic impact on an 

individual or class, recipients should determine if the individual or class is impacted or
disproportionately impacted. Treasury defines impacted, for this section, as those who 
were “impacted by the disease itself or the harmful consequences of the economic 
disruptions resulting from or exacerbated by the COVID-19 public health emergency.” 
Treasury defines disproportionately impacted, for this section, as those who 
“experienced disproportionate public health or economic outcomes from the pandemic. 
Treasury recognizes that pre-existing disparities, in many cases, amplified the impacts of 
the pandemic, causing more severe impacts in underserved communities.” Further, when 
identifying impacts, the recipient may classify the impact as a class or individual level. 
Recipients should retain documentation supporting the impact (may be streamlined).  

Recipients have flexibility to identify a class – or group of households, small 
businesses, or nonprofits – who experienced the impact identified. After identifying the 
class and impact, recipients need to document only that the individuals serve fall within 
the class. Recipients do not have to document specific impacts to each individual served. 
When designating a class, recipients should consider: 

 There should be a relationship between the definition of the class the 
proposed response 

 Classes may be determined on a population basis or on a geographic 
basis and the response should be appropriately matched 

 Recipients may designate classes that experienced disproportionate 
impact by assessing the impact of the pandemic and finding that some 
populations experienced meaningfully more severe impacts than the 
general public 

267



09900.00200\34726008.1 21

o Recipients can use academic research or government research 
publications or with recipient’s own data or other existing 
sources 

o Qualitative research and sources such as resident interviews or 
feedback from relevant state or local agencies 

o Consider quality of the research, data, and applicability  

Design a Response that Addresses or Respond to the Impact  
When designing a response to address or respond to the impact, recipient should 

ensure the program, service, or other intervention must be designed to benefit the 
identified impact and must be reasonably proportional and related to the identified 
impact. Treasury defined reasonably proportional as “the scale of the response 
compared to the scale of the harm, as well as the targeting of the response to 
beneficiaries compared to the amount of the harm experienced.” When addressing a 
matter for a disproportionately impacted community, the program may address a pre-
existing disparity that contributed to more severe health and economic outcomes during 
the pandemic.  

Restriction on the Use of Funds 
The Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds may not be able to be used by 

states or territories to directly or indirectly offset a reduction in net tax revenue resulting from a 
change in law, regulation, or administrative interpretation during the covered period to reduce 
any tax or delay the imposition of taxes. Additionally, no recipient may use any of these funds: to 
deposit into any pension fund; to service debt or replenish financial reserves; to satisfy a 
settlement or judgment (unless the settlement requires recipient to provide a service or incur 
other costs that are an eligible use of ARPA funds, then the funds may be used for that); and may 
not use the funds for projects that conflict with the purpose of ARPA and its accompanying 
guidance – for example programs or conditions that may worsen the public health crisis.  

Non-Federal Match or Cost-Share Requirements30

ARPA funds under the lost revenue category may be used generally to meet the non-
federal cost-share or matching requirements of other federal programs. However, the funds may 
not be used as the non-federal share for the state’s Medicaid and CHIP programs. Further, except 
for funds under the lost revenue category, funds may not be used to meet non-federal match or 
cost-share except where otherwise provided by statute.  

30 Final Rule, pg. 368-70. 

268



09900.00200\34726008.1 22

Timeline for the Use of Fiscal Recovery Funds 
The Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds may only cover costs incurred from 

March 3, 2021 through December 31, 2024. Unlike Coronavirus Relief Funds, funds under this 
program from ARPA are only required to be obligated by December 31, 2024.  The funds must be 
expended by December 31, 2026.31

Records, Reporting, and Recoupment 
Recipients must maintain records for a period of five years have all funds have been 

expended or returned to Treasury, whichever is later. Treasury directs that “[t]his includes those 
which demonstrate the award funds were used for eligible purposes in accordance with the 
ARPA, Treasury’s regulations implementing those sections, and Treasury’s guidance on eligible 
use of funds.”32 Recipients should direct subrecipients, who by definition of their role are acting 
on behalf of the recipient, to also keep records for a period of five years after the funds are 
expended or December 31, 2031, whichever is later.  

Below is a table highlighting when reporting is due to Treasury. Treasury also created a 
list for recipients to identify their Reporting Tiers, which can be referenced for assistance.  

31 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 8. 
32 U.S. Treasury, Project and Expenditure Report User Guide – State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds, pg. 80 (January 
7, 2022).  

269

https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/SLFRF-Recipient-Tiers-January-Reporting.xlsx


09900.00200\34726008.1 23

Treasury notes that Funds used in ways that violate the Final Rule are subject to 
remediation and recoupment.33 These violations may be identified through reports and other 
sources. If and when a violation is found, Treasury will provide notice to the Recipient in writing 
with an opportunity to request reconsideration. If Treasury does not receive a request for 
reconsideration, the initial notice will be deemed the final notice.  

Additional Information 
Treasury published a webinar on the Final Rule and an accompanying slide presentation. 

These are both helpful resources.  

For any additional questions please reach out to any of the authors of this memorandum.  

33 Overview of the Final Rule, pg. 44.  

270

https://youtu.be/rwcwxguVR0I
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/SLFRF-Final-Rule-Webinar.pdf


Agenda Item No.: 11.C 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: ALAN PALERMO, PROJECT MANAGER

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: REVIEW DESIGN PROGRESS FOR THE 8" SEWER MAIN ALONG
ROLLING HILLS ROAD; AND APPROVE AN AMENDED
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH NV5 FOR
ADDITIONAL SERVICES TO COMPLETE CONSTRUCTION
DOCUMENTS.

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
The City Council engaged the services of NV5 to provide engineering design for the 8" sewer
main along Portuguese Bend Road/Rolling Hills Road.  Since the commencement of the
design work, NV5 has met the 65% design, 90% design, and the 100% design milestones. 
This proposed sewer main crosses several jurisdictions and approval from each jurisdiction is
necessary before the project is deemed complete. The additional jurisdictions reviewing the
plans are Rolling Hills Estates and City of Torrance.
 
The City of Torrance has made several requests requiring additional design services in order
to approve the plans. First request is the requirement to have Traffic Control Plans for
construction activity be prepared, submitted, reviewed, and approved with the Sewer
Improvement Plans. The second request is for additional field utility research involving
potholing to field verify existing water pipelines and storm drain pipelines to verify the required
clearance from the proposed sewer line. The proposed sewer line is not meeting clearance
requirements using current as-built information for existing water pipelines and storm drain
pipelines and after several discussions with City of Torrance design options have been
exhausted.
 
NV5's request for additional services includes additional design services for the proposed
sewer as required once the field location of existing utilities is verified. Their proposal also
includes an option to design relocation of existing water pipelines to support the sewer design
if necessary/no other sewer design options are available.
   
The current estimate for construction cost is $1,833,852 and is attached for reference. The
cost estimate includes the upsizing of the existing 8" sewer main along Rolling Hills Road to

271



10" and 12" sewer required by the Los Angeles County Sanitation and the City of Torrance, at
three different locations and the construction of 1,653 linear feet of a new 8" sewer main along
Rolling Hills Road into the City of Rolling Hills.  This cost estimate includes all the other
components required for a sewer main construction project (manholes, traffic control, sewer
bypass for construction, etc.) and a 20% contingency cost. This cost estimate will be updated
with design changes resulting from the field verification of existing utilities and any other
agency comments.  
 
DISCUSSION:
The additional design services are necessary to obtain approval from the City of Torrance and
proceed to the construction phase of this project.
 
Upon approval of the plans and specifications from all necessary jurisdictions, the project will
be presented to City Council for funding allocation, and approval to release for bid for
construction. The project could be constructed in phases and the plans are currently structured
to be released as one or two projects. Phase 1 would be the construction of the new 8" sewer
from Rolling Hills City Hall/Gate House to the existing 8" sewer in Rolling Hills Road in the City
of Rolling Hills Estates. The down stream 8" sewer should be able to accommodate sewer
flows from City Hall and the Gate House. The cost for Phase 1 would be approximately
$1,100,000 and can be partially funded with the City's ARPA allocation of $441,000.
 
Phase 2 would encompass upgrading the 8" sewer within City of Torrance to 10" and 12"
sewer and this upgrade is needed to support future connections of residential lots in Rolling
Hills to the proposed sewer system. The timing for when this improvement is needed 
would be contingent on future sewer projects in Rolling Hills that would require this
downstream upgrade be in place.
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
NV5's fee proposal to complete engineering design for the Sewer Improvement Project is
$92,411 .  The fee includes bid support,  construction administration during the bidding and
construction phases of the project, and an optional fee for waterline design.  There is no
funding available in the adopted FY 2021-2022 budget for the design fee.  If the City Council
should move forward with an amended agreement with NV5 to complete construction
documents to obtain all agency approvals, General Fund Reserves will be used to pay for the
engineering design fees.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Approve additional service to complete construction documents requested by the City of
Torrance and direct staff to prepare Amendment No. 1 to the service agreement with NV5 in
the amount of $92,411.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
CL_AGN_220314_CC_SewerMain_PortugueseBend_CostEstimate_2021.pdf
NV5_Rolling Hills Sewer Main Torrance Additions 3282022-2.pdf

272

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1276746/CL_AGN_220314_CC_SewerMain_PortugueseBend_CostEstimate_2021.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1337190/NV5_Rolling_Hills_Sewer_Main_Torrance_Additions_3282022-2.pdf


Description Unit Cost Quantity Amount
Item 
No. 

Sewer Main - Portuguese Bend Road/ Rolling Hills Road

1 Mobilization and Demobilization (approx. 7%) 80,000 1 LS $80,000

2 Temporary Traffic Control Plan and Implementation 50,000 1 LS $50,000

3 Traffic Striping, Legends, and Pavement Markers Restoration 15,000 1 LS $15,000

4 Best Management Practices BMP 25,000 1 LS $25,000

5
Furnish, Install and Remove Temporary Bypass Pumping System with Pipes 
and all Appurtenances

50,000 1 LS $50,000

6 Remove Existing 8" VCP Sewer 20 578 LF $11,560

7 Construct 8” VCP Sewer 350 1,653 LF $578,550

8 Construct 10” VCP Sewer 500 351 LF $175,500

9 Construct 12” VCP Sewer 600 281 LF $168,600

10 Connect 12" VCP Sewer Main to existing Manhole and Modify Base 15,000 2 EA $30,000

11 Connect 10" VCP Sewer Main to existing Manhole and Modify Base 15,000 2 EA $30,000

12 Connect 8” VCP Sewer Main to existing Manhole and Modify Base 15,000 1 EA $15,000

13 Construct New 48” Precast Concrete Sewer Manhole 25,000 4 EA $100,000

14 Remove Existing Manhole at Station 12+93.11 10,000 0 EA $0

15 Reconnect Existing Sewer Laterals to New Sewer Main 5,000 4 EA $20,000

16
Construct a New 4" Sewer Lateral to City Hall, Tennis Courts & Gate House 
Restroom and Cap End for Future Use

2,500 3 EA $7,500

17 CCTV New Sewer Main 10,000 1 LS $10,000

18 Remove interfering portion of Abandoned Utility and plug ends 1,500 1 EA $1,500

19
Pressure Wash/Clean existing Manhole and apply Epoxy/Polyurethane Lining 
System (including the base)

10,000 6 EA $60,000

20
Remove and Replace, in kind, Existing Improvements including but not limited 
to Curb and Gutter, PCC Sidewalk landscaping and Irrigation, protect existing 
wood fencing

500 200 SF $100,000

Subtotal $1,528,210

Contingency $305,642

ESTIMATED CONSTRUCTION COST TOTAL 1,833,852$            

Engineer's Opinion of Probable Construction Cost

20%

CITY OF ROLLING HILLS
22-Nov-21

Portuguese Bend Sewer Main_Cost Estimate_11222021.xlsx

273



163 Technology Drive, Suite 100 | Irvine, CA 92618 | www.NV5.com | Office 949.585.0477  

 
 
 
 

March 28, 2022 

Alan Palermo 
City of Rolling Hills 
2 Portuguese Bend Road 
Rolling Hill, CA 90274 

Subject: Rolling Hills Portuguese Bend Sewer Main Improvement Project –Traffic Control Plans, Potholing, 
Updated Design, Waterline Relocation 

Dear Mr. Palermo, 

NV5 is currently completing the design for the Rolling Hills Portuguese Bend Sewer Main Improvement 
Project. The project impacts the intersection of Crenshaw Boulevard and Rolling Hills Road along with 
Rolling Hills Road itself on both sides of the street. The City of Torrance has recently requested an 
engineered traffic control plan in order for the Contractor to install the new sewer. We will follow the 
appropriate applicable standards such as City, County, and State Standard Plans and Specifications, 
APWA Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction “Greenbook,” and Manual of Traffic Uniform 
Control Devices. 

It appears due to the alignment of the sewer, the traffic control will have to be phased. For the first phase, 
the majority of Rolling Hills Road is a 60-foot travelway with the sewer running near the centerline of the 
street. It appears that NV5 will be able to design traffic control to allow the Contractor to work in the 
center of the roadway with a single lane of traffic on each side of the roadway with “no street parking” 
posted. For the second phase, the sewer moves to one side of Rolling Hills Road, so traffic will be 
switched to the opposite side of the road, again with a single lane of traffic each way with “no street 
parking” posted. The final phase will impact the intersection at Crenshaw Boulevard and Rolling Hills 
Road. 

NV5 will prepare traffic control plans for the intersection of Crenshaw Boulevard with Rolling Hills Road 
along with Rolling Hills Road within the above three phases. NV5 will prepare a base map for the project 
area based on Google Earth images, since these required traffic control plans are outside of our original 
survey limits. NV5 will assume that the City of Torrance will review the plans and has planned for a 
submission to the City of Torrance and a resubmission upon incorporation of the City’s initial comments 
to the City for their approval. Akram Hindiyeh, PE, TE, a State of California Registered Traffic Engineer, will 
supervise the preparation of the traffic control plans by our CAD Designer, Rafael Gutierrez, who is 
already familiar with the project, having previously completed the sewer design drawings for the City of 
Torrance. 

NV5 will work with our subconsultant, TE Roberts, to perform the Potholing. NV5 understands that TE 
Robert’s crew is subject to prevailing wages and NV5 will mark-up TE Robert’s subconsultant costs by 
15%. The potholing will include the City of Torrance Permits currently listed on the City’s website for 
$1,561, as well as traffic control plans required for permitting which we are assuming $2,500 for, and 
hot patch back of the pothole locations at an additional $2,500 for the two water lines (8-inch and 6-inch 
to Fire Hydrant) and 72-inch Storm Drain pothole. 

NV5 will update the design to reflect the pothole information for the potholes on Station 12+43.44 to 
Station 10+34.94. We will include updates to the specifications for pipe sleeves as required at crossings. 
NV5 assumes two (2) resubmittals to the City of Torrance for review.  

We have included an optional scope and fee to design/revise the existing 8-inch and 6-inch waterlines

274



163 Technology Drive, Suite 100 | Irvine, CA 92618 | www.NV5.com | Office 949.585.0477 

 

Page 2 

City of Rolling Hills 
 

 

pthat would allow for the Sewer Design. NV5 assumes one sheet each for the 8-inch waterline and the 6- 
inch waterline with the plan and profile, plus one standard sheet. 

No additional utility investigation will be added, as it is assumed that the prior utility investigation for the 
sewer line in the same vicinity will be sufficient for the water lines. NV5 will update the specifications for 
the waterlines, including the bid schedule, pipeline material, disinfection and testing process, as well as 
AVAR valves each end. NV5 assumes two (2) submittals to the City of Torrance for review. 

The fee to provide these services is as follows: 

 

TASK 
NO. WORK DESCRIPTION 

PROJECT 
MANAGER 

PROJECT 
ENGINEER 

TRAFFIC 
CONTROL 
ENGINEER 

CAD DESIGNER 
TE 

Roberts * ODC's * FEE * 

$185  $135  $160  $120  
Hours $ Hours $ Hours $ Hours $ 

1 Prior Torrance Submittals 2 $370  8 $1,080    $0  24 $2,880      $4,330  
2 Traffic Control Plans for Final Design                       

2.1 Preparation of Three Phased Traffic Control Plans 8 $1,480  16 $2,160  24 $3,840  90 $10,800      $18,280  
2.2 1st Submittal Corrections to City of Torrance & 2nd Submittal 4 $740  8 $1,080  12 $1,920  24 $2,880      $6,620  
3                         

3.1 Permits (If Applicable, $1561 Per 2021 Fee Schedule) 4 $740  8 $1,080    $0    $0     $ 1,561  $3,381  
3.2 Up To Three Days Potholing (3 days @ $8500)   $0    $0    $0    $0   $  25,500    $25,500  
3.3 Up to Six Hot Patch of 2x2 Potholes ($2500)   $0    $0    $0    $0   $    2,500    $2,500  
3.4 Traffic Control Plans (If Needed Up to $2500 If Not WATCH)   $0    $0    $0    $0   $    2,500    $2,500  
4 Design Updates from Pothole Informaiton on Torrance Set                       

4.1 Update the Torrance Set 4 $740  16 $2,160    $0  24 $2,880      $5,780  
4.2 Two Resubmittals to the City of Torrance 2 $370  6 $810    $0  16 $1,920      $3,100  

  Subtotal Task 1-4 24 $4,440  62 $8,370  36 $5,760  178 $21,360  30500 $1,561  $71,991  
                          
5 Optional Scope for Waterline Redesign                       

5.1 Two Additional Sheets Plus One Standard Sheet 4 $740  24 $3,240    $0  60 $7,200      $11,180  
5.2 Two Resubmittals to the City of Torrance 2 $370  6 $810    $0  16 $1,920      $3,100  
5.3 Update Specifications for Waterlines 2 $370  24 $3,240    $0    $0      $3,610  
5.4 Update Cost Estimate for Waterlines 2 $370  16 $2,160    $0    $0      $2,530  

  Subtotal Task 5 10 $1,850  70 $9,450  0 $0  76 $9,120  $0  $0  $20,420  
                          

  Subtotal Task 1-5 34 $6,290  132 $17,820  36 $5,760  254 $30,480  $30,500  $1,561  $92,411  
Total Fee                       $92,411  

* Subconsultant and ODC's are Marked Up 15% 

The method of compensation will be based on time and materials in accordance with the rates provided in 
this fee proposal. The estimated hours are listed for each task and the actual hours may vary. The total 
compensation for the services and work rendered will not exceed the total fee. 

 
We greatly appreciate your consideration of this matter and we thank you for the opportunity to work with 
the City on this project. Should you have any questions or require additional information, please contact 
me at 951.377.1566 or via email at Luanne.Bean@NV5.com. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
NV5, Inc. 

 
 

Luanne Bean, MS, PE Jeffrey M. Cooper, PE 
Director of Water & Waste Water Operations Vice President 

PN: P27022‐0001747.00 

275



Agenda Item No.: 11.D 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: ALAN PALERMO, PROJECT MANAGER

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: APPROVE LAYOUT OPTION 3 FOR THE CITY HALL ADA
IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT, AND APPROVE AN AMENDED
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH PACIFIC
ARCHITECTURE AND ENGINEERING, INC. TO PROVIDE
CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS.

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
In December 2019, the City released a Request For Proposal for Architectural and
Engineering Design Services to prepare ADA Improvement Plans for the Rolling Hills City
Hall, excluding building exterior path of travel. At the January 27, 2020 City Council Meeting,
City Council considered and approved a Professional Services Agreement with Pacific
Architecture and Engineering, Inc. (PAE) to prepare Improvement Plans (ADA and Space
Planning). A kick off meeting with PAE was held February 27, 2020. At the May 26, 2020 City
Council Meeting, City Council received a presentation from staff on the options developed to
bring the restrooms up to date and comply with ADA and related codes. At the July 13, 2020
City Council Meeting, City Council received a presentation from staff with additional
information to the two preferred options including opinions of probable costs of construction. At
the July 13, 2021 City Council Meeting, City Council voted to move forward with the more
economic Option 2 which kept the restrooms in the same location. Option 1 and Option 2
layouts presented at the July 13, 2020 City Council meeting are attached to this report. 
 
PAE submitted the 65% plans for City review on March 9, 2021. This submittal incorporated
the restroom option selected at the July 13, 2020 City Council Meeting. The City has reviewed
the 65% plans with comments. Before City review comments are returned to PAE to further
develop the plans to 90% design, Councilmember Jeff Pieper noted that the City considered
the options using cost estimate restroom upgrades but not the overall project cost. 
Councilmember Pieper recommended that the City Council revisit the layout options.  In
response to Councilmember Pieper's suggestion, at the April 12, 2021 meeting, the City
Council directed staff to provide a comprehensive project cost estimate for restroom layout
Options 1 and 2. 
 

276



At 65% design completion, the estimated overall project cost for option 1 was $952,810 and
$784,390 for option 2 for a difference of approximately $168,420. At the June 28, 2021
meeting, the City Council directed staff to add measurements to option 1 layout for additional
discussion at the July 12, 2021 meeting.  Using the measurement shown for option 1 in the
City Hall lobby area, staff also taped the floor of the lobby to locate the proposed public
counter.  At the July 12, 2021 meeting, the City Council delayed to item to the July 26, 2021
meeting.  At the September 13, 2021 meeting, staff recommended the inclusion of accordion
doors along with the possibility of expanding the lobby area by moving the glass partition wall
out. Additional suggestions were made to use French doors and remove an existing interior
wall behind the display case to expand the lobby area of City Hall to accommodate the number
of residents that attend the annual holiday house event.  The City Council directed staff to
bring back City Hall ADA Improvements project at the next City Council meeting so that the
City Council can provide direction to staff on the next steps.  
 
The iterations of designs, the preparation of cost estimates, investigation into alternative
features (partition walls), and the preparation of construction drawings up to 65% complete for
Option 2 combined exhausted the budget in the contract with PAE.
 
At the October 25, 2021 meeting, staff presented a third option prepared by staff for
consideration.  Option 3 took into consideration the City Council's feedback from the
September 13, 2021 meeting.  Option 3 proposed by staff includes pushing the existing line of
wall at the front door to the City Hall, moving one of the three All Gender restrooms to the
newly expanded space and enclosing the hallway to the Council Chambers to allow for a
meeting room.  The City Council favored Option 3 but decided to hold off on giving staff
direction on the next steps until the City Council has an opportunity to consider all the capital
improvement projects at the 2022 Strategic Planning Workshop.  
 
DISCUSSION:
At the 2022 Strategic Planning Workshop, the City Council discussed moving forward with two
capital improvement projects for Fiscal Year 2022-2023:  City Hall ADA improvements project
and the Tennis Courts improvements project.  Staff recommends that the City Council direct
staff to prepare construction plans based on layout Option 3 and approve an amended
agreement with PAE. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
Pacific Architecture and Engineering's fee proposal to complete engineering design for Option
3 is $96,485 .  The fee includes bid support and construction administration during the bidding
and construction phases of the project.  There is no funding available in the adopted FY 2021-
2022 budget for the design fee.  If the City Council should move forward with an amended
agreement with Pacific Architecture and Engineering to complete construction documents
based on layout Option 3, appropriation of general fund reserves to the Capital Improvement
Program Fund 40 is necessary to pay for this expense.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Approve layout Option 3 and direct staff to prepare Amendment No. 3 to the service
agreement with Pacific Architecture and Engineering, Inc. in the amount of $96,485.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Improvements.pdf
CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option01.pdf

277

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1296585/CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Improvements.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1296586/CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option01.pdf


CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option01B.pdf
CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option02.pdf
CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option03.pdf

278

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1296587/CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option01B.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1296588/CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option02.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1296589/CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option03.pdf


Pacific Architecture and Engineering, Inc.

730 Arizona Ave, Santa Monica CA 90401 

(424)330-1721

January 12, 2022 

Subject: Proposal for City of Rolling Hills ADA Improvement Design_Additional Services 

Pacific Architecture and Engineering, Inc., is pleased to submit this proposal for engineering services for 

ADA Improvements at City Hall.  

Scope of Work: 

The current scope of work includes three new restrooms, one being outside of current building 

perimeter, new required water fountain, new exterior entry door location, new meeting room and 

relocated coffee area, and relocated Electrical Data room. This requires new structural supports at 

exterior for new walls, re-routed utilities for water, sewer, power and hvac to new restrooms, and re-

routed electrical and data at new Electrical room.  

1. Prepare Schematic Design plan for city approval

2. After City approval, prepare Design Development Plans

3. Construction Documents and Cost Estimate

Exclusions: City to provide survey, Geotech report, hazardous materials testing and specifications, 

Hydrology not included. 

Fee 

Design Bid CA 

$73,000.00 $7,310.00 $16,175.00 

Time and Material Not to exceed $96,485.00 

We appreciate the opportunity to present this proposal. If you have any questions please contact me for 

any further information you may need at (310)405-3878 or jun@pacific-ae.com 

Sincerely, 

Jun Fujita Hall, AIA, LEED AP BD & C, Lic# C 30954 

Principal Project Manager, Pacific Architecture and Engineering, Inc. 

310-405-3878

jun@pacific-ae.com

279

mailto:jun@pacific-ae.com
mailto:jun@pacific-ae.com


28
0



 

281



28
2



 

283



Agenda Item No.: 11.E 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: ELAINE JENG, CITY MANAGER

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: REVIEW OF CITY OF MALIBU SIREN FEASIBILITY REPORT BY
MISSION CRITICAL PARTNERS, SUGGESTION BY RESIDENT, AND
SUGGESTION BY COUNCILMEMBER DIERINGER REGARDING
NATIONAL OCEANIC AND ATMOSPHERIC ADMINISTRATION (NOAA)
WEATHER RADIO.  

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
At the March 28, 2022 City Council meeting, in review of the proposed outdoor siren system
report by HQE Systems Inc. (HQE Systems,) the City Council allocated $3,500 for HQE
Systems to analyze the placement of siren poles at specific locations within the community
and provide analysis. As directed, at the April 11, 2022 City Council meeting, staff presented
the City Council with an amended professional services contract for HQE Systems, not to
exceed $3,500. The amended professional services contract was pulled from consent
calendar by Councilmember Dieringer who referred to an email (see attached) received from a
Rolling Hills resident on April 11, 2022. The resident recently relocated from the City of Malibu
and provided a copy the Malibu's July 2020 Siren Feasibility Report as prepared by Mission
Critical Partners (see attached.)
 
Councilmember Dieringer noted that she spoke with a City of Malibu staff member and was
informed that their outdoor siren system testing results showed the sirens were not audible
indoors in certain areas of the city. Councilmember Dieringer also noted that the City of Malibu
staff suggested the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) weather radio
where the National Weather Service would broadcast weather conditions, hazardous events,
and public safety events. Based on the City of Malibu's input, Councilmember Dieringer
suggested that the City Council, in lieu of spending funds on studying an outdoor siren system,
purchase NOAA weather radios for all residents so that the alerts can be heard from indoors.  
 
At the April 11, 2022 City Council meeting, staff was directed to bring back the amended
contract for HQE Systems for action at the April 25, 2022 City Council meeting. Staff was also
directed to investigate the NOAA weather radio suggested by Councilmember Dieringer.  
 

284



DISCUSSION:
In Fiscal Years 2019-2020 and 2020-2021, the City Council provided funding for the Block
Captain Program to investigate communication platforms in the event of complete power
failure in the community. The Block Captains and city staff initially used funds to purchase two-
way radios. When the handheld radio option proved to be ineffective, a Request for Proposal
(RFP) was issued to solicit expert opinions on alternate communication systems to meet
community needs in the event of complete power failure. HQE Systems was hired as the
subject matter expert through the competitive solicitation process.  HQE Systems
recommended an outdoor siren system. To date, HQE Systems has exhausted the service
agreement budget for preparing the Mass Notification Report, dated December 2021. Without
budget, staff could not work with HQE Systems to have their experts review the features of the
NOAA weather radio and if the radio would meet the needs of the city. Instead, staff
conducted research with available information online. 
 
NOAA Weather Radio 
According to weather.gov, the NOAA Weather Radio All Hazards (NWR) is a nationwide
network of radio stations broadcasting continuous weather information directly from the
nearest National Weather Service office. NWR broadcasts official Weather Service warnings,
watches, forecasts and other hazard information 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. NWR is
provided as a public service by the NOAA, part of the Department of Commerce. NWR
includes more than 1000 transmitters, covering all 50 states, adjacent to coastal waters,
Puerto Rico, the U.S. Virgin Islands, and the U.S. Pacific Territories. NWR requires a special
radio receiver or scanner capable of picking up the signal. Broadcasts are found in the VHF
public service band at seven frequencies (MHz).  
 
According to wikipedia.org, NWR works in cooperation with the FCC's Emergency Alert
System, providing comprehensive severe weather alerts and civil emergency information. In
conjunction with federal, state and local emergency managers and other public officials, NWR
has the ability to broadcast alerts and post-event information for all types of hazards, including
natural (such as earthquakes or avalanches), human made (such as chemical releases or oil
spills), technological (such as nuclear power plant emergencies) and other public safety (such
as "AMBER alerts" or 9-1-1 telephone outages). Listening to NOAA Weather Radio station
requires a specialized VHF radio receiver or scanner capable of receiving at least one of
seven specific VHF-FM channels within the frequency range of 162.400 through 162.550 MHz,
collectively known as the "Weather Band." For example, a receiver that only tunes in standard
AM or FM broadcast stations will not suffice.  
 
According to amazon.com, manufacturer Midland makes NOAA Emergency Weather Alert
Radio for $29.99. The product has the following descriptions: 
 

Public-alert certified monitor receives 7 NOAA channels with flood, tornado,
thunderstorm, and other warnings
SAME alert programming sounds an alert only when specific counties are threatened
25-county memory system; 90 dB siren, voice alert, and flashing LED warning systems
Uses three AA alkaline batteries for emergency power back-up in the event of power
outage
Built-in clock with alarm and snooze; measures 6.0w x 1.5h x 5.0d inches; 1 year
warranty

 
A strobe light for the Midland NOAA Emergency Weather Alert Radio can be purchased for an

285



additional $19.99.  
 
City of Malibu Siren Feasibility Report by Mission Critical Partners, dated July 2020
The purpose of the report was to identify and design multiple siren sites to ensure that sirens
are audible in all areas of the City of Malibu. The report noted NOAA Weather Radio as a
method of alerting the community. The report also noted that the City of Malibu is not using
NOAA Weather Radio. The report listed seven vendors that manufacture sirens and provided
technical information on sound, sound propagation, tone versus voice, and siren coverage
predictions. Similar to HQE Systems for Rolling Hills, Mission Critical Partners proposed three
options for the City of Malibu:
 

1. The first option included 6 siren locations for $426,000.
2. The second option included 20 siren locations for $1,168,000.
3. The third option included 33 siren locations for $1,857,000.

 
The City of Malibu's shape is a strip of land, 21 miles long, fronting the Pacific Ocean coast
line.  
 
For two fiscal years, the Block Captain Program investigated and attempted to make radios the
solution for the communication gap in the event of complete power failure in Rolling Hills. As
discussed with the Rolling Hills City Council, the two-way radios require ongoing maintenance
and must be sufficiently powered for functionality in times of need.  Similarly, the NOAA
Weather Radio would also need to be maintained, and sufficiently powered to be functional in
the time of need. Unlike sirens that broadcast relevant information to the City of Rolling Hills,
one would have to sift through the information from the continuous broadcast to hone in on
any relevant information to Rolling Hills. The City of Malibu is currently exploring
communication methods to be prepared for another emergency event. There were many
lessons learned from the recent Woolsey wildfire. From the Mission Critical Partners report
commissioned by the City of Malibu, it appears the city was also attempting to address the
issue of communicating with residents in the event of complete power failure.  With
topography differences, the conclusions drawn by one jurisdiction may not be entirely
applicable to another jurisdiction.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Receive presentation and provide direction to staff.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
April11-2022EmailKamranJahangard.pdf
Malibu_Siren Feasibility Report_14JULY2020_FINAL.pdf
NOAA Weather Radio.pdf
NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia.pdf
Amazon.comMidlandNOAAWeatherRadio.pdf
Sign up for Alert LA County.pdf

286

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1339848/April11-2022EmailKamranJahangard.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1339818/Malibu_Siren_Feasibility_Report_14JULY2020_FINAL.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1339857/NOAA_Weather_Radio.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1339858/NOAA_Weather_Radio_-_Wikipedia.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1339845/Amazon.comMidlandNOAAWeatherRadio.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1339859/Sign_up_for_Alert_LA_County.pdf


4/19/22, 3:31 PM Mail - Elaine Jeng - Outlook

https://outlook.office.com/mail/id/AAQkAGY2NmQyYmFiLWI1YWMtNDlhOC05ZmVlLWRkN2U0YzQ1MGQ5MwAQAH8%2BwgslE3xOuXjrMLLsquY%3D 1/4

Fwd: No on Sirens! And Malibu Siren Study

Bea Dieringer <bdieringer@cityofrh.net>
Mon 4/11/2022 3:21 PM
To: Elaine Jeng <ejeng@cityofrh.net>

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message: 

From: Bea Dieringer <bdieringer@cityofrh.net> 
Date: April 11, 2022 at 11:38:29 AM PDT 
To: bdieringer@da.lacounty.gov 
Subject: Fwd: No on Sirens! And Malibu Siren Study 

   

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message: 

From: Kamran Jahangard <kamran@nationwide-investment.com> 
Date: April 11, 2022 at 11:32:08 AM PDT 
To: Bea Dieringer <bdieringer@cityofrh.net>, Jim Black
<jblack@cityofrh.net>, Jeff Pieper <jpieper@cityofrh.net>, Leah Mirsch
<lmirsch@cityofrh.net>, Patrick Wilson <pwilson@cityofrh.net> 
Subject: No on Sirens! And Malibu Siren Study 

Hi City Council,

Ms Bea Dieringer, Mr James Black, MD, Mr Jeff Pieper, Ms Leah Mirsch and Mr
Patrick Wilson,

I am a new resident of Rolling Hills and was concerned about the Fire Siren
topic that City Hall Council Members were discussing.  I did try to make a
public comment but was missed via the zoom call but later acknowledged.

My wife's family has been longtime Malibu residents since the early 70's and
My family for the past 20 years. There is no way Rolling Hills could ever
compare to Malibu. Access, Size, demographics, location and probability of
natural disasters should all be considered when comparing other locations'
fire mitigation practices vs that of Rolling Hills.  This is the main reason we are
returning to Rolling Hills from Malibu.

287



4/19/22, 3:31 PM Mail - Elaine Jeng - Outlook

https://outlook.office.com/mail/id/AAQkAGY2NmQyYmFiLWI1YWMtNDlhOC05ZmVlLWRkN2U0YzQ1MGQ5MwAQAH8%2BwgslE3xOuXjrMLLsquY%3D 2/4

Sirens should not be installed in Rolling Hills. Period.

I have taken it upon myself to reach out to Malibu City about fire sirens as it
was mentioned in error that Malibu was going to be getting them.  This is
simply not the case.

I have spoken with Ms Susan Duenas (who is actually from PV!) And she kindly
informed me that Malibu City did do a fire siren quality and plausibility
report.  They did test runs  and wanted to see if it was effective, since a lot of
residents in Malibu have double and triple paned windows to keep out the
noise.

She informed me the results were not very promising at all and were not the
best. 

She has kindly sent me their copy of the report, which I am attaching to this
email for your reference and analysis. Please read it. There is some good info
in there showing the inefficiencies and ineffectiveness of an outdated siren
system.

It is also very detailed and inclusive of the different types of sirens,
manufacturers that make them, etc.

She mentioned this was brought up as an option solely due to the vastly rural
areas of Malibu.

Rolling Hills does not have rural and secluded areas such as Malibu, CA or
Paradise, CA (these were the 2 cities that were mentioned in the City Council
Meeting in comparison)

Rolling Hills is 3 square miles on the top of the hill.  If we install sirens, Laguna
Beach and Malibu will hear it!  The surrounding cities will hear it and not know
what it means. It will disrupt nature and is a huge eyesore for a community
that has the best views on the whole Peninsula.

I hope this report helps solidify that installing sirens is not the best solution
for fire notifications.

I would suggest the City Council Rolling Hills reach out to the City of Malibu
and speak directly with their Fire Liaison at their City Council, who is a retired
fire captain and is very involved with fire safety and brainstorming instead of
reacting.

The city of Malibu also received federal or state grant money for these
reports, so we do not have to waste our budget on these items and focus
more on other items.

288



4/19/22, 3:31 PM Mail - Elaine Jeng - Outlook

https://outlook.office.com/mail/id/AAQkAGY2NmQyYmFiLWI1YWMtNDlhOC05ZmVlLWRkN2U0YzQ1MGQ5MwAQAH8%2BwgslE3xOuXjrMLLsquY%3D 3/4

When deciding on whether to install sirens or not, I think it is best to take a
step back and define the problem.  Define the root cause of the problem and
then you can start defining solutions.  I do not believe all residents in Rolling
Hills are at a high fire risk.  Some are, but not all.
Once you define who is most at risk you can start to decide the best course of
action to solve the notification problem with time, cost, investment and future
solutions in mind.  Let's not waste budget dollars and invest in outdated
technology.

I also believe if brush clearance along the south side of Rolling Hills is difficult
that we can also look into utilizing goats that are herded by 3rd party
companies to clear the brush (which is what some counties and cities are
doing currently in Northern California as they are a great natural remedy to
help stomp (and compost down) weeds and eat the vegetation that are fire
hazards.

I hope I can be a resource if any questions arise.

Thank you for your time.

Thank you,

Kamran Jahangard
CEO

Nationwide Investment Group Inc

310.337.0606 Office
818.652.8297 Cell

---------- Forwarded message --------- 
From: Susan Duenas <sduenas@malibucity.org>
Date: Fri, Apr 1, 2022 at 12:31 PM 
Subject: Sound study 
To: kamran@nationwide-investment.com <kamran@nationwide-
investment.com> 
Cc: Gabriel Etcheverry <getcheverry@malibucity.org> 

289

https://nationwide-investment.com/
https://www.facebook.com/Nationwide-Investment-Inc-664114144045077/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/nationwide-investment-group-inc/
mailto:sduenas@malibucity.org
mailto:kamran@nationwide-investment.com
mailto:kamran@nationwide-investment.com
mailto:getcheverry@malibucity.org


4/19/22, 3:31 PM Mail - Elaine Jeng - Outlook

https://outlook.office.com/mail/id/AAQkAGY2NmQyYmFiLWI1YWMtNDlhOC05ZmVlLWRkN2U0YzQ1MGQ5MwAQAH8%2BwgslE3xOuXjrMLLsquY%3D 4/4

Hi Kamran,

 

Nice chatting with you today. As requested, attached is the sound study that
the City had done. Also, cc’d on this email is Gabe Etcheverry our Fire Safety
Liaison. He can be reached at 424-422-8802. As I said on the phone, he is out
this week, but should be available next week. Let me know if I can help in any
other way.

 

Happy Friday!

 

Susan Duenas

Public Safety Manager

City of Malibu

(310) 456-2489 x313

 

290



 

MissionCriticalPartners.com 

Dallas Office   |   502 N. Carroll Ave. Suite 120   |   Southlake, TX 76092   |   888.8.MCP.911 or 888.862.7911 

 

 

 

Siren Feasibility Report 

Final Report 

PREPARED JULY 2020 

FOR THE CITY OF MALIBU, CALIFORNIA 

291



 

  i 

Table of Contents 

Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................... 1 

1 Background ............................................................................................................................. 2 

2 Methodology............................................................................................................................ 3 

2.1 Project Kickoff Meeting .......................................................................................................... 3 

2.2 On-Site Information Gathering ............................................................................................... 3 

2.3 Sound Propagation Analysis .................................................................................................. 3 

2.4 OWS Planning Study ............................................................................................................. 4 

3 Findings .................................................................................................................................. 4 

3.1 Sites ...................................................................................................................................... 4 

3.2 Current State of Alert and Notification .................................................................................... 5 

4 Assessment............................................................................................................................. 8 

4.1 Technology Overview ............................................................................................................ 8 

4.1.1 Principle of Sound ............................................................................................................................... 8 

4.1.2 Outdoor Sound Propagation ............................................................................................................... 9 

4.1.3 Siren Sound Generation .................................................................................................................... 10 

4.1.4 Siren Sound Propagation/Coverage ................................................................................................. 11 

4.1.5 Siren Performance Measurements ................................................................................................... 11 

4.1.6 Siren System Features ...................................................................................................................... 12 

4.1.7 Market Research ............................................................................................................................... 14 

4.2 Alert and Notification Operational Overview ......................................................................... 14 

4.2.1 Operationalizing Alerting ................................................................................................................... 15 

4.3 Siren Coverage Predictions ................................................................................................. 16 

4.4 Inter-connecting Network ..................................................................................................... 19 

5 Options .................................................................................................................................. 21 

5.1 Option #1 – 6 Sites, High Power Sirens ............................................................................... 21 

5.2 Option #2 – 20 Sites, Mix of High and Low Power Sirens ..................................................... 22 

5.3 Option #3 – 33 Sites, Low Power Sirens .............................................................................. 23 

6 Conclusions and Recommendations ..................................................................................... 25 

Appendix A – Siren Coverage Maps ............................................................................................ 26 

Appendix B – Alerting Technologies ............................................................................................ 40 

Appendix C – Product Information ............................................................................................... 45 

Appendix D – Additional Resources for Emergency Alerting and Communication ....................... 48 

 

292



 

  ii 

Table of Figures 

Figure 1: DSA Directional Speaker Array (Federal Signal) ........................................................................... 11 

Figure 2: WPS4000 Series Rotating Siren (Whelen) .................................................................................... 11 

Figure 3: WPS2900 Series Omni-directional Siren (Whelen) ....................................................................... 11 

Figure 4: Digital VHF Coverage Study........................................................................................................... 20 

 

 

Table of Tables 

Table 1: Sound Loss Indoors ........................................................................................................................... 9 

Table 2: Siren Manufacturers ........................................................................................................................ 14 

Table 3: Coverage Modeling Scenarios ........................................................................................................ 18 

Table 4: Sound Levels (dB) and Relative Loudness of Typical Noise Sources ............................................ 19 

Table 5: Network Solutions Advantages and Disadvantages ....................................................................... 20 

Table 6: Option #1 Cost Estimate .................................................................................................................. 21 

Table 7: Option #2 Cost Estimate .................................................................................................................. 23 

Table 8: Option #3 Cost Estimate .................................................................................................................. 24 

 

 

 

293



 

  1 

Executive Summary  

Mission Critical Partners, LLC (MCP) was retained by the City of Malibu, California, to investigate the 

feasibility of providing a siren alerting and warning system. The intent of the system is to provide mass 

alerting and warning in the event of natural and manmade disasters including wildfires, terrorist events, 

and severe weather.  

 

MCP would like to thank Malibu public safety employees for providing outstanding support throughout the 

feasibility study.  

 

A siren alerting system is an outdoor warning system (OWS) designed to alert/warn the public of an event 

or possible event, depending on how it is utilized. While there may be instances where someone will hear a 

siren indoors, depending on the construction of the building, location, and distance from the siren, siren 

systems are for outdoor alerting. Indoor notification is not guaranteed. Sirens are just one tool used in a 

public safety alerting strategy and complement the use of other alerting tools. 

 

Sirens can be tone-only or both tone and voice. Voice systems, while helpful to relay messages, also are 

difficult to implement in a large area with multiple sirens. The location and distance from systems and other 

natural and manmade obstructions, as well as atmospheric conditions, will affect the intelligibility of the 

outdoor message. Voice and tone components of a siren system can be integrated into indoor public 

address (PA) systems with additional equipment and configuration to enhance the system. 

 

Siren systems are used to alert the public of an imminent threat. With tone systems, the activation of the 

sirens alerts the public to the threat; the public then should seek other information on the threat. A 

voice/tone system will provide the alert with a message regarding the threat and what to do. Modeled voice 

coverage intelligibility and coverage area will differ depending on atmospheric conditions.  

 

MCP worked with the Malibu public safety group to identify the City-owned properties that could support a 

siren. Once the properties were identified, sound propagation studies were performed to provide maximum 

coverage within Malibu’s city limits. The models then were adjusted to provide maximum coverage within 

the city limits but reducing the possible sound coverage into neighboring jurisdictions. It is not possible to 

provide maximum coverage without some sound entering neighboring jurisdictions. 

 

MCP estimates between 20 to 33 sirens are necessary to provide appropriate coverage in key identified 

areas. Final siren placements will be critical to ensure coverage during Santa Ana winds. Coverage can be 

obtained using a minimum of 20 sirens, but due to terrain, accessibility, and landowner permissions 

additional sirens may be needed. A detailed engineering design, to include final siren locations, will be 

necessary to determine the actual siren count and provide the predicted coverage. 

 

The estimated installation cost of the siren system is $1.2 million to $1.9 million. These estimates were 

established on a base siren installation. Local code and enhanced installation costs due to final locations 

have not been considered. A detailed engineering design also will be required for final costing. 

294



 

  2 

1 Background 

The City of Malibu (City) sought a planning study for an outdoor warning system (OWS), specifically sirens, 

and the identification and design of multiple siren sites to ensure that the sirens are audible in all areas of 

Malibu (the city) when the system is activated.   

 

Of particular concern to the City is the effects of Santa Ana winds. The National Weather Service defines 

Santa Ana winds as "… a weather condition in which strong, hot, dust-bearing winds descend to the 

Pacific Coast around Los Angeles from inland desert regions.”1 Known for the dry, hot weather that they 

bring in autumn, the winds often bring the lowest relative humidity of the year to coastal Southern 

California. The low humidity, combined with the warm, compressional-heated air mass, plus high wind 

speeds, create critical fire weather conditions.  

 

Malibu relies primarily on communications tools that require electricity during a disaster. These methods 

include web-based alerts, reverse 911-style alerts, and Wireless Emergency Alerts (WEA). Areas of the 

city regularly experience power outages during adverse, especially windy, weather conditions. The local 

utility provider utilizes a Public Safety Power Shut-off (PSPS) program during Red Flag2 weather 

conditions. Because of the PSPS program, residents of Malibu could possibly be without power during 

periods of heightened fire danger, resulting in an increased risk of not receiving important communications, 

including evacuation orders, via phone, internet, or radio.  

 

Environmental events like these must be fully understood when planning and designing an OWS, so the 

system can clearly and effectively communicate alerts to residents and visitors. The OWS must be 

designed to rely on solar power and have enough battery-backup capacity to send critical alerts, when 

required, at night or days when the sun may be blocked by smoke or clouds. 

 

The City contracted with Mission Critical Partners, LLC (MCP) to develop a comprehensive and actionable 

OWS plan to enhance its ability to disseminate emergency alerts, especially in wildfire situations that pose 

a threat to life and property.  

  

 

 
1 “Santa Ana Wind.” Glossary. National Weather Service. https://w1.weather.gov/glossary/index.php?word=santa+ana+wind  
2 Red Flag is “a fire weather program which highlights the onset of critical weather conditions conducive to extensive wildfire 
occurrences.” Reference: “Red Flag.” Glossary. National Weather Service. 
https://w1.weather.gov/glossary/index.php?word=red+flag  

295

https://w1.weather.gov/glossary/index.php?word=santa+ana+wind
https://w1.weather.gov/glossary/index.php?word=red+flag


 

  3 

2 Methodology 

2.1 Project Kickoff Meeting 

 

MCP conducted a project kickoff meeting in January 2020 with the City that established mutual 

acquaintance, clarified roles, and confirmed the desired outcomes and deliverables. MCP took this as an 

opportunity to gain a mutual understanding of the City’s future vision of its proposed OWS. 

 

2.2 On-Site Information Gathering 

 

MCP spent time on-site gathering information to fully understand what is required of the system both 

operationally and technically. During the on-site interview, MCP reviewed each element of an OWS and 

documented expectations and requirements of the system. A key focus of the meetings was site 

discussion. The City provided site information in geographic information system (GIS) format.  

 

MCP’s analysis began with City-provided sites as a priority, but also kept in mind all site options available. 

While the City supports the placement of sirens in public right-of-ways, arbitrary ‘pins’ where dropped as a 

last resort to demonstrate the number of sites needed for this initial feasibility and budgetary exercise. 

 

2.3 Sound Propagation Analysis 

 

MCP conducted a sound propagation analysis. The sound study ensures that sirens are distributed 

optimally throughout the city by identifying coverage. Using collected data, MCP produced sound 

propagation maps using siren planning software to determine the levels of coverage achieved from 

proposed sites. The coverage models take into consideration varying geographical topology and 

environmental factors such as foliage and building density.  

 

The study considered various environmental factors including: 

 

• Ambient temperature 

• Ambient humidity 

• Wind speed 

• Wind direction 

• Building height 

• Terrain 

 

Environmental factors that will be present during Red Flag weather were important when modeling 

coverage, including understanding the effects of the Santa Ana winds. In addition, much of Malibu has 

deep canyons and steep hills, which pose a challenge for proper coverage.  

 

The analysis resulted in recommendations for the most efficient siren distribution across the city, including: 

 

296



 

  4 

• A sound coverage area for each proposed siren site, considering environmental data 

• Identification of any areas of the city in which sirens will be ineffective due to geography or other 

characteristics 

 

2.4 OWS Planning Study  

 

MCP compiled the data collected into this report, which provides a baseline assessment and includes the 

following: 

 

• Design options available 

• Estimated cost for each option 

• Estimated ongoing maintenance costs following project completion 

• Maps showing range of each proposed siren 

• Descriptions of recommended siren models, including visuals and detailed lists of technical features 

• Limitations on the effectiveness of an OWS in Malibu 

 

 

3 Findings 

3.1 Sites 

 

The City provided six properties, identified on the map below, that could be used as potential sites for 

sirens.  

  

 
 

 

• Trancas Park 

− Latitude and Longitude (Lat-Long) Coordinates: 34.038916, -118.845391 

− This 35-acre park has been identified as a possible siren site based on its status as a City-owned 

property, proximity to residential areas, and relatively flat geography. While the northern end of the 

park houses playground equipment, the southern end is primarily an open field. In particular, the 

297



 

  5 

southwest corner may be viable due to its lack of impacts on residents’ ocean views and 

Environmentally Sensitive Habitat Areas (ESHA).  

 

• Heathercliff Road and Pacific Coast Highway (PCH) 

− Lat-Long Coordinates: 34.022118, -118.806681 

− This 18-acre undeveloped lot has been identified as a possible siren site based on its status as a 

City-owned property, proximity to residential and commercial areas, relatively flat geography, and 

lack of impact on current land uses.  

 

• Bluffs Park 

− Lat-Long Coordinates: 34.033339, -118.702064  

− This 10-acre park has been identified as a possible siren site based on its status as a City-owned 

property, proximity to residential areas, and its current use as an alternate location for the City’s 

Emergency Operations Center (EOC). The relevant residential neighborhoods are at a lower 

elevation than the park itself. 

 

• 23575 Civic Center Way 

− Lat-Long Coordinates: 34.036233, -118.691314  

− This 9-acre undeveloped lot has been identified as a possible siren site based on its status as a 

City-owned property, proximity to residential and commercial areas, relatively flat geography, and 

lack of impact on current land uses. 

 

• Malibu City Hall 

− Lat-Long Coordinates: 34.039369, -118.692974  

− City Hall has been identified as a possible siren site based on its status as a City-owned property, 

proximity to residential areas, and status as a government building.  

 

• Las Flores Park 

− Lat-Long Coordinates: 34.040054, -118.637656  

− This 6.7-acre park has been identified as a possible siren site based on its status as a City-owned 

property, proximity to residential areas, and relatively flat geography. Additionally, it is in a fire-

prone region of the city that was devastated by wildfire in 1993. 
 

This site information was useful in the southern/coastal areas. For the north, arbitrary sites were dropped 

in to assess the number of sites that would be needed to gauge the scope of this budgetary effort. 

 

3.2 Current State of Alert and Notification  

 

Malibu does not currently have an OWS, although the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department has public 

address (PA) systems on all vehicles. 

 

298



 

  6 

If the decision is made to evacuate, shelter-in-place, or take other protective action, the City disseminates 

this information through multiple channels. The City may use one or all the following means of 

communication to issue an emergency notice to take protective action:  

 

 Wireless Emergency Alerts (WEA)  

 Emergency Telephone Notification System (ETNS) 

 PA system and vehicle sirens  

 City website for alerts3 

 Malibu City Television (TV) 

 Call in telephone number 

 

The various alert and warning systems employed by the City are designed to provide timely and up to date 

information during an emergency. Many of the systems used to communicate emergency information are 

already being used to inform the public of day-to-day City business. 

 

Wireless Emergency Alerts 
 
WEA is part of Integrated Public Alert and Warning System (IPAWS). IPAWS is the nation’s alert and 

warning infrastructure, overseen by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). “IPAWS 

provides public safety officials with an effective way to alert and warn the public about serious emergencies 

using the Emergency Alert System (EAS), Wireless Emergency Alerts (WEA), the National Oceanic and 

Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Weather Radio, and other public alerting systems from a single 

interface.”4   

 

The City only has direct access to WEA alerts, which it can issue through their ETNS.  

 
WEA are emergency messages sent by authorized government alerting authorities through the major 

mobile carriers. WEA are targeted to a defined geographical area. This capability allows for both the 

residents of a given jurisdiction and persons visiting the jurisdiction to be notified. WEA are presented 

differently than a typical text alert in order to differentiate it from regular notifications. They offer a unique 

alert tone and vibration accompanied by a brief push notification displayed uniquely on the end user’s 

mobile device. The public does not need to register for this service. WEA is an opt-out system. Mobile 

device users will receive the WEA notification unless they choose to deactivate the service on their mobile 

device.  

 

 

 
3 https://www.malibucity.org/alerts    
4 FEMA. Integrated Public Alert & Warning System. https://www.fema.gov/integrated-public-alert-warning-system 

 

299

https://www.malibucity.org/alerts
https://www.fema.gov/integrated-public-alert-warning-system


 

  7 

NOAA Weather Radio  

 
While the City does not utilize this technology, it does work closely with the National Weather Service 

(NWS) and NOAA to receive ongoing updates during weather-related incidents, such as rainstorms or fire 

watches. 

 
Emergency Telephone Notification System  
 
Malibu currently uses Everbridge as its official emergency notification system, which is only used for 

communication of urgent information. Everbridge can be used to contact City residents, businesses, and 

employees. Everbridge sends emergency alert notifications via voice messages, short message service 

(SMS)/text messages, and email messages during times of emergencies and disasters. 
 
PA System and Vehicle Sirens  
 
The Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department and the Los Angeles County Fire Department can issue 

warnings using sirens and loudspeakers on their vehicles. Examples where this may be appropriate 

include: 

  

 Widespread evacuation  

 Hazardous materials incident  

 Civil disturbance  

 Crowd control  

 
This method is effective in reaching most people, except those with hearing impairments. This method 

should be used in addition to other mass notification systems including WEA and Everbridge, as 

appropriate.  

 
Alert Center  
 

The Alert Center, a component of the City’s website Notify Me system, can provide alerts to residents and 

others (e.g., visitors, businesses) that wish to self-register into the system. This system is used for more 

day-to-day information such as beach, public health, traffic, utility, and weather information.  

 
City Sirens  
 

The City intends to install sirens (similar to tornado sirens) throughout the area. The sirens may be used to 

issue evacuation orders or shelter-in-place warnings, and more. These sirens will have the capability to 

project far and wide with the intent of notifying the whole community if necessary. 

 
This assessment focuses on this form of alert and notification.  

 
Other Emergency Information Systems 
 

Malibu uses several other systems including a hot line that residents can call for the latest information. 

300



 

  8 

.  

 

Following the initial emergency notification, the City would utilize the means below to relay important 

messages to the public.  

 
 Social media  

− Twitter  

− Facebook  

− Instagram  

 Media releases and E-blasts  

 City website Alert Center 

 Malibu TV 3  

 Electronic changeable message signs (CMS) 

 

 

4 Assessment 

4.1 Technology Overview 

 

During times of emergency, communications is key to saving lives. There are several ways to 

communicate with the public during these situations—one very effective method is outdoor warning sirens. 

OWSs can advise people that a hazard exists and, depending on the jurisdiction, what action needs to be 

taken. Although outdoor warning sirens serve the same primary purpose of alerting people about natural 

and manmade hazards, they can vary widely in terms of design, functionality, features, and performance. 

 

4.1.1 Principle of Sound 

 

Sound is a form of mechanical energy oscillations of pressure through the air above and below the 

surrounding air pressure. Three components of sound that can be distinguished by humans are loudness5, 

pitch6, and tone7. Sound travels at a speed of about 1,000 feet per second through the air, but wind, 

turbulence, humidity, and temperature can cause variations in the speed of sound.  

 

Loudness is determined by the magnitude of sound in decibels (dB) relative to the carrier (dBc). The 

frequency, or pitch, components of a sound are expressed in terms of hertz (Hz). The average human 

hearing range is usually defined between 20 and 20,000 Hz. Lower frequencies travel farther in the air than 

higher frequencies, because higher frequencies attenuate more rapidly with distance. 

 

 

 
5 The attribute of a sound that determines the magnitude of the auditory sensation produced and that primarily depends 
on the amplitude of the sound wave involved. https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/loudness  
6 The property of a sound and especially a musical tone that is determined by the frequency of the waves producing it; 
highness or lowness of sound. https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/pitch  
7 Vocal or musical sound of a specific quality. https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/tone  

301

https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/loudness
https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/pitch
https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/tone


 

  9 

Sound decreases in magnitude (loudness) and in dBc at greater distances from its source. This decrease 

is called attenuation. Factors that affect the rate of attenuation include sound frequency, terrain, prevailing 

winds, temperature, atmospheric stability, and humidity. 

 

4.1.2 Outdoor Sound Propagation 

 

As sound moves outdoors from an OWS to a potential listener, there are factors that influence the 

propagation of sound.  

 

 Divergence: As sound radiates away from a source, its intensity decreases with distance because the 

energy of its original sound pressure is spread over a larger and larger area. 

 

 Sound Absorption: Terrain and atmosphere have the most effect on outdoor sound absorption.  

− Refraction: Refraction of outdoor sound by temperature and wind velocity gradients is very 

complex. The atmospheric nonuniformity of the temperature and wind in the atmosphere produces 

a bending or refraction of sound waves. 

− Ground Absorption: Sound propagation paths near the ground can experience additional 

attenuation. Acoustically “soft” surfaces such as topsoil covered with grass can cause significant 

attenuation. Inversely, acoustically “hard” or reflective surfaces such as asphalt, ice water, or 

concrete provides significantly less attenuation.  

 

 Obstructions: Sound can be blocked by barriers, vegetation, and buildings. Factors such as outdoor 

conditions, building construction materials, and open or closed windows can determine the level to 

which persons inside a building will be able to hear outside sound. The table below depicts sound loss 

for various types of construction.  

 

Table 1: Sound Loss Indoors8 

Building or Construction Type Sound Loss (dB) 

 Open Window Closed Window 

Residences – light frame, single-pane windows 12 20 

Residences – light frame, dual-pane or storm windows 12 25 

Schools 12 25 

Churches 20 30 

Hospitals/Convalescent Homes 17 25 

 

 
8 Reproduced from FEMA, Outdoor Warning Systems, Technical Bulletin (Version 2.0), January 12, 2006. Pg 8. 

302



 

  10 

Building or Construction Type Sound Loss (dB) 

 Open Window Closed Window 

Offices 20 30 

Theaters 17 25 

Hotels/Motels 17 25 

Masonry wall construction – single-pane windows 12 25 

Masonry wall construction – dual-pane windows 12 35 

Sealed glass wall – ¼-inch glass thickness more than 50 

percent of exterior wall area  
- 28 

20 lb/ft2 solid wall – no windows, no cracks, no openings - 30 

50 lb/ft2 solid wall – no windows, no cracks, no openings - 38 

 

 

The effects of all the above-mentioned factors on sound attenuation outdoors is both intricate and 

unpredictable. 

 

4.1.3 Siren Sound Generation 

 

Outdoor warning sirens can be classified either as pneumatic or electronic. 

 

 Pneumatic  

− Pneumatic sirens generate tones through the interaction of 

two principal components: a rotor and a stator. Machined 

into both the rotor and stator are alternating equidistant 

vanes, which generate tones as the rotor spins and draws 

air into the siren. The incoming airflow is pushed out in 

bursts through the stator each time its holes align with the 

holes of the rotor. Sound waves are produced by the 

process of blocking and unblocking airflow at regular 

intervals. The frequency of the air bursts determines the 

pitch of the siren.  

 

 Electronic 

− Circuitry components such as oscillators, transistors, modulators, and speaker drivers (e.g., 

woofers and tweeters) generate, amplify, and produce sound waves and vary their frequency and 

303



 

  11 

duration. The electronic-based system projects sound through speakers that are mounted as a 

horn assembly. These synthesized sounds can include customized tones or emulate the standard 

warning signals of pneumatic sirens, such as wail and high-low, and broadcast both live and pre-

recorded voice announcements.  

 

4.1.4 Siren Sound Propagation/Coverage 

 

Typically, there are three types of coverage patterns: directional, rotating, and omni-directional.  

 

 Directional: A highly focused cone of sound is sent out in the direction the device is pointing. 

 Rotating: To expand the breadth of their sound coverage areas, some directional sirens have built-in 

mechanisms that enable them to rotate 360 degrees around a vertical mounting unit such as a pole  

 Omni-directional: These devices produce sound in all directions horizontally from the source  

 

   

Figure 1: DSA Directional Speaker 
Array (Federal Signal) 

 

Figure 2: WPS4000 Series 
Rotating Siren (Whelen) 

 

Figure 3: WPS2900 Series Omni-
directional Siren (Whelen) 

 

 

4.1.5 Siren Performance Measurements 

 

The performance of outdoor warning sirens can be assessed in various ways. Common measurements are 

noted below: 

 

 Sound output: the sound pressure level in decibels at a specified distance, usually 100 feet 

 Effective range: the distance at which a siren can maintain a specified sound pressure level; typically, 

60 to 70 dB 

 Sound radius or sound circle: the estimated range of omni-directional and rotating sirens 

304



 

  12 

 Beam width or sound emission arc: the breadth of a directional siren’s horizontal output measured in 

degrees 

 Intelligibility: the extent that voice announcements can be understood by the listener (applies only to 

sirens capable of voice announcements) 

 

4.1.6 Siren System Features 

 

4.1.6.1 Tone versus Voice 

 

There is the capability of producing various tones for an outdoor siren warning system—each tone 

conveying a distinct message to the listener. This of course requires significant investment in public 

education to ensure procedures for each tone (situation) is fully understood. An effective educational 

campaign ensures the message of these tones is understood regardless of language, dialect, and cultural 

origins. 

 

In areas with a large transient population (e.g., high volumes of seasonal workers, tourists, campers, etc.), 

who may not understand the meanings of the various tones, it is important to have a system in place that 

instructs the listener via voice as to the required procedure during the emergency situation. Depending on 

the demographic of the area, this may require the use of different languages. This voice option also is 

useful when complex instructions are required.  

 

The best know siren sound is the alert tone used by NOAA for severe weather, which is heard on television 

and radio. Most of the older generation know what it means, having been accustomed to the weekly tests. 

How the younger generations watch television and listen to music is different and many younger people 

are not exposed to the weekly or monthly tests. Foreign nationals also may not be familiar with the sounds.  

 

It is quite likely that people will hear the sirens and then inquire as to the meaning. Again, an initial 

outreach program and continuing education will be necessary if multiple tones are selected to represent 

different situations. 

 

The number of tones used should be kept to a minimum. 

 

4.1.6.2 Strobes 

 

For persons who are hearing impaired or reside in areas located beyond the outdoor siren’s audibility or 

intelligibility range, a visual alert is a viable option to provide additional alerting. Strobes are mechanisms to 

provide complementary warning capabilities to outdoor siren systems to meet Americans with Disabilities 

Act (ADA) requirements. The strobes are only effective, however, with line of sight to the siren. If one 

cannot see the siren, the strobe will be ineffective. Sound coverage area is much larger than the distance a 

strobe can be detected. 

 

305



 

  13 

4.1.6.3 Control System 

 

In the event of an emergency, the central control center must communicate with the siren for activation. In 

addition to activation, operations, monitoring, and testing rely on siren communications. This 

communication can be one-way or two-way.  

 

 One-way: While the central control tower can activate the warning sirens, the sirens cannot 

reciprocate. An advantage of this option is the low startup cost; however, the disadvantage of this type 

of system is the manpower needed to inspect and test the sirens. 

 

 Two-way: This option allows the siren to report back to the central control center. Advantages of this 

option include status reporting, real-time monitoring for tamper detection, and battery status updates. 

While these capabilities come at a higher cost, they may be justified in lower maintenance and 

operational costs over the system’s lifetime. 

 

4.1.6.4 Inter-connecting network 

 

Most outdoor warning sirens require some sort of activation and control system to regulate its operation. 

Sophisticated activation products have digital control units, ensuring the siren also can be operated from a 

computer using a wired Ethernet connection or with various wireless technologies including cellular, 

satellite, and radio. Features of these digital systems include the following: 

 

 Cloud-based access from any computer or mobile device, which allows the user to access their system 

from any computer connected to the internet 

 User-friendly applications for iOS and Android, including a web-based console with a mobile 

responsive graphical user interface (GUI) 

 Weather activation 

 Map-based activation 

 

4.1.6.5 Power Sources 

 

Outdoor warning sirens can be powered in a variety of ways; however, larger models designed to provide 

mass notification capabilities typically operate on alternating current (AC) power, with rechargeable 

batteries or generator for backup power. The advancements in renewable energy technologies, including 

wind and solar, have been leveraged by some siren manufacturers. 

 
4.1.6.6 Installations 

 

There are three types of installations for the poles: direct buried, pier, and ballasted. 

 

 Direct Buried: This installation is used with wood or fiberglass poles. Typically, a pole is 50 feet long. 

Eight to ten feet is buried in the ground, leaving 40 to 42 feet exposed. The diameter of the hole is 

approximately 15 inches.   

306



 

  14 

 Pier: This installation is used for a steel or concrete pole. While the pole is buried to the same depth as 

a direct bury, more soil is disturbed as the pole diameter is larger.   

 Ballasted: This installation is for a galvanized steel mount and is non-penetrating. As there is no 

digging required, the soil is not disturbed. The base is approximately 11 feet square and requires stone 

as a ballast.   

 

Once the poles are installed, the equipment can be installed. Generally, the amplifiers and strobe light, if 

applicable, are mounted near the top of the pole. If solar panels are used, they will be mounted on top of 

the amplifiers. The equipment cabinets and batteries are mounted towards the lower half of the pole. Some 

owners prefer to mount the equipment at a height reachable by personnel standing on the ground and 

others prefer to mount it higher to avoid potential tampering or theft.  

 

4.1.7 Market Research 

 

There are several outdoor warning siren manufacturers, listed in the table below. Appendix C, Product 

Information, contains specification sheets from some popular outdoor siren manufacturers. Additional 

information on the sirens included in this report can be obtained from the vendors listed alphabetically in 

this table. 

 

Table 2: Siren Manufacturers 

Vendor  Phone Website/Email 

Acoustic Technology Inc (ATI)  (617) 567-4969  
https://www.atisystems.com/about/  

info@atisystem.com  

American Signal Corporation (414) 358-8000 
www.americansignal.com 

sales@americansignal.com  

Eaton (800) 631-2148 www.cooperindustries.com  

Edwards Signaling (800) 655-4497 www.edwards-signals.com  

Federal Signal Corporation (800) 548-7229 

www.fedsig.com/warning-mass-

notification-systems  

customersupport@fedsig.com  

Sentry Siren, Inc. (866) 427-4736 
www.sentrysiren.com 

mail@sentrysiren.com  

Whelen Engineering Company, Inc. (860) 526-9504 
www.whelen.com 

iowsales@whelen.com  

 

 

4.2 Alert and Notification Operational Overview 

 

Alerting the public is one of the major functions of government in an emergency. To effectively perform 

these functions there are several things to consider. The first is understanding the components of effective 

307

https://www.atisystems.com/about/
mailto:info@atisystem.com
http://www.americansignal.com/
mailto:sales@americansignal.com
http://www.cooperindustries.com/
http://www.edwards-signals.com/
http://www.fedsig.com/warning-mass-notification-systems
http://www.fedsig.com/warning-mass-notification-systems
mailto:customersupport@fedsig.com
http://www.sentrysiren.com/
mailto:mail@sentrysiren.com
http://www.whelen.com/
mailto:iowsales@whelen.com


 

  15 

public alerting. Alert, warning, and notification are different actions, but all are important to protect the 

public.  

 

 
 

An alert is giving notice to the public to get their attention that an event has occurred. This is often difficult 

in the constant noise of today’s environment. The alert is often a short sound, action, or message. For a 

radio listener, the alert would be the EAS tones and headline that precedes an EAS message. 

 

A warning is used to prepare the public for a potential risk. Warnings often include actions the public can 

take to mitigate the impact of the risk. 

 

A notification has more information and usually has instructions for the public to try to protect them from 

the event. For a radio listener, this would be the description and instructions in the EAS message. 

 

4.2.1 Operationalizing Alerting 

 

MCP reviewed the Malibu website and it was clear that the use of these systems has been planned in the 

past and used. The use of a dedicated alert webpage for information that is easy to reach works well and 

the hot line information is readily available to the public. 

 

Effectively alerting the public relies on several factors and is built on actions by the alerting authority. Some 

of the things that can provide this are the following: 

 

 Plans: Pre-established plans outline what systems will be used by whom. These should include 

primary and alternate systems as well as systems used by other agencies. 

 

 Policies and Procedures: Clear policy and procedure delineate who, when, how, and why various 

communications will take place. 

 

 Pre-defined and Pre-approved Messaging Templates: Pre-defined messages should be developed in 

conjunction with a public information professional. 

 

308



 

  16 

 Training: Recurring training on the use of the systems will improve users’ skills. It is important to have 

multiple people trained on all systems. 

 

 Exercise: Use of these systems on a regular basis will increase effectiveness. This is a constant 

process with plans trained, exercised, and refined regularly. This process also helps to keep 

information fresh in the minds of the users.  

 

4.2.1.1 Plans 

 

The City of Malibu Emergency Operations Plan states that one of the emergency management goals is to 

“provide effective life safety measures, reduce property loss, and protect the environment.” All other plans 

must support these goals. To supplement this plan, the City also is in the process of developing an Alert 

and Warning Plan that will be consistent with the State’s Alert and Warning Guidelines, issued in 2019. 

The Alert and Warning Plan will include guidelines for training, exercises, testing, and policies on 

emergency and non-emergency use of all systems, including the OWS once it is implemented. 

  

4.3 Siren Coverage Predictions 

 

MCP conducted a feasability sound propagation/coverage analysis. This study identified the number of 

possible sirens needed to cover the city, as Phase II would provide a more detailed design with siren 

locations. The siren count may change based on final site selections during the detailed design phase.  

 

Coverage maps were created based on a model simulation developed in SoundPLAN® software. The 

model used to generate the sound pressure maps for Malibu divided the geographic regions by assigning a 

higher absorption factor to the hills and a higher reflective value to the flat land area to the south. 

Additionally, the sound pressure models took multiple environmental factors into consideration including: 

 

 Temperature 

 Humidity 

 Barometric pressure 

 Wind speed 

 Wind direction 

 Building height 

 Terrain fluctuations 

 

Meteorological assumptions used in the model are listed in the table below. 

  

309



 

  17 

 

Temperature 77⁰ F 

Humidity 
50% Calm 

11% Santa Ana 
Winds 

Winds 
Calm and 

40 mph Santa Ana 
winds 

Barometric 
Pressure 

29.92 inHg9 

Siren Height 45 ft 

 

 

The coverage maps developed utilized potential sites provided by the City, as noted in Section 3.1, Sites.  

 

MCP modeled three scenarios, with four primary variations between the scenarios. 

 

 Number of sites (or site density) – Different site counts were modeled to not only depict coverage for 

the north and city-wide regions, but different site count scenarios were created to show a minimal and 

optimal site count design for the overall city-wide solution. 

 

 Siren power (or loudness) – Scenarios were modeled using either high-power sirens or a mix of high-

power and low-power sirens to prevent excessive sound outside the city limits.  

 

 Effects of high winds – Environmental factors that will be present during Red Flag weather events were 

of importance when modeling coverage, especially understanding the effects of the Santa Ana winds. 

Both phases were modeled under a no wind condition (calm day) and a Santa Ana winds condition to 

assist in visualizing the effects on siren coverage during a wildfire.  

 

 Indoor coverage – At the request of the City, potential indoor coverage was modeled for each scenario. 

This is essentially a subtraction of 25 dB to allow for building signal loss. The value for ‘Residences – 
light frame, dual-pane or storm windows’ from Table 1 was used. 

 

The table below summarizes the three scenarios (nine total maps). 

 
  

 

 
9 Inch of mercury 

310



 

  18 

Table 3: Coverage Modeling Scenarios 

 # of Sites 
High or 

Low Power 
or Mix  

Santa Ana 
Winds  

Indoor 

Scenario #1 6 High x x 

Scenario #2 20 Mix x x 

Scenario #3 33 Low x x 

 

 
 

Appendix A, Siren Coverage Maps, contains the maps for the above 

scenarios. Each map illustrates three thresholds: yellow, green, and 

reddish-brown; each threshold represents sound pressure in a dB value or 

loudness. Yellow represents the strongest at 80 dB or greater, while 

reddish-brown is the weakest at 60 to 70 dB. The green threshold is 70 to 

80 dB.  

 

Most vendors design systems to have a minimal threshold of 60 to 70 dB. 

Per FEMA guidelines, effective siren systems should be designed to be at least 10 dB louder than ambient 

levels. MCP took various measurements throughout the city and found ambient levels range from 40 to 60 

dB. Being conservative, MCP used a minimal threshold of 70 dB in the coverage modeling, which is 

illustrated by the green shading. 

 
To help provide a frame of reference for typical dB levels, the table below contains some common sounds 

and their dB ratings. 

 
  

Noise level in dB (decibels) 

311



 

  19 

Table 4: Sound Levels (dB) and Relative Loudness of Typical Noise Sources10 

dB Outdoor Noise Levels 

120 Military jet aircraft take-off from aircraft carrier with afterburner at 

50 ft. – 130 dB 

110 Turbo-fan aircraft at takeoff power at 200 ft. – 118 dB 

100 Boeing 707 or DC-8 aircraft at one nautical mile (6,080 ft) before 

landing – 106 dB 

Jet Flyover at 1,000 ft. – 103 dB 

Bell J-2A helicopter at 100 ft. – 100 dB 

90 Boeing 737 or DC-9 aircraft at one nautical mile (6,080 ft) before 

landing – 97 dB 

Motorcycle at 25 feet – 90 dB 

80 Car wash at 20 ft. – 89 dB 

Propeller plane flyover at 1,000 ft. – 88 dB 

Diesel train 45 m.p.h. at 100 ft. – 83 dB 

70 Passenger car 65 m.p.h. at 25 ft. – 77 dB 

Freeway at 50 ft. from pavement edge 10 a.m. – 76 dB 

60 Air conditioning unit at 100 ft. – 60 dB 

40 Bird calls – 44 dB 

 

 

4.4 Inter-connecting Network 

 

For control and monitoring of the siren system, a network will be needed to connect the sirens and provide 

connectivity back to the control point(s). There are various options available to the City, from wireless to 

wireline and City-owned or leased; options include the following: 

 

 Radio 

 Cellular 

 Fiber/wireline 

 Satellite 

 

Most vendors offer products/solutions to facilitate each type of network, and it is the City’s decision as to 

which best meets its needs. There are advantages and disadvantages of each to consider.  

 

  

 

 
10 Reproduced from FEMA, Outdoor Warning Systems, Technical Bulletin (Version 2.0), January 12, 2006. Pg 8. 

312



 

  20 

Table 5: Network Solutions Advantages and Disadvantages 

 Advantages Disadvantages 

Radio • City would own/control 

• Return on investment (ROI) short 
term 

• Reliable; redundancies built-in 

• Higher capital expense up front 

Cellular • Quick deployment 

• Minimal capital up-front 

• Least reliable; first to drop during a 
power outage  

• City does not own/control 

Fiber / wireline • Can be advantageous if already in 
place  

• City would own/control 

• Usually not available at all locations 

• Expensive to deploy 

• Bandwidth offered is not required for 
this application 

Satellite • Quick deployment 

• Minimal capital up front 

• Most expensive on-going expense 

• City does not own/control 

 

 

Typically, most siren systems utilize a dedicated radio system for its connectivity and communications. 

These systems are simple and straight-forward. The main advantage of a radio system is that the City 

would own it and control it, even the frequency used; the City would need to secure a channel from the 

Federal Communications Commission (FCC). Radio technology using radio frequencies in the very high 

frequency (VHF) and ultra high frequency (UHF) ranges are common communication channel choices.  

 

MCP created a coverage study, shown below, in the VHF band to assure it would cover all the siren 

locations.  
 

 

Figure 4: Digital VHF Coverage Study 

 

 

313



 

  21 

5 Options  

Based on the information gathered and the assessment of that data, MCP assembled the following options 

available to the City. 

 

5.1 Option #1 – 6 Sites, High Power Sirens 

 

In this option, the initial six sites that the City provided were analyzed. High-powered sirens were modeled 

to show the maximum coverage possible. Please refer to Scenario #1 coverage maps in Appendix A. Note 

the coverage overlap between Malibu City Hall, Civic Center Way, and Bluffs Park. 

 

This system design is recommended for effective tone alert coverage in the areas shown but is not 

recommended for live PA or pre-recorded voice announcements. 

 

The budgetary cost breakdown for this option is below. Prices reflect a fully installed, turnkey system. 

 

Table 6: Option #1 Cost Estimate 

 

  Quantity Unit Cost Extended Cost 

S
ir
e

n
 S

it
e
s
 

Siren 6 $16,000 $96,000 

Local controller 6 $11,000 $66,000 

Solar power kit 6 $3,000 $18,000 

Batteries (4 each siren) 24 $375 $9,000 

Radio / Satellite (local) 6 $3,500 $21,000 

40 ft wood pole and installation 6 $14,000 $84,000 

 Central controller 1 $8,000 $8,000 

 PC, software (included) 1 $0 $0 

 Radio system 1 $100,000 $100,000 

 

Optimization, configuration, and 
training 

1 $12,000 $12,000 

 Freight 1 $12,000 $12,000 

 TOTAL BUDGETARY $426,000  

 

 

The budgetary cost above assumes a wooden pole. If the City desires a steel pole, an additional $10,000 

per siren would need to be added, plus the cost of the pier foundation. These foundations typically are 

installed by a City-preferred local contractor. It is estimated that these foundations cost $3,000 to $5,000 

each. 

 

Additional assumptions: 

314



 

  22 

 

 Electric will be available at each site as the primary power source 

 For power redundancy, all sirens have solar power and battery backup designed for a minimum of 30 

minutes altering time. 

 Does NOT include costs for site acquisition; assumption is that sites are City-owned and available 

 Does NOT include costs for California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) adherence, legal, and FCC 

licensing 

 Radio system includes repeaters, antenna system, mounting, and wiring to siren central controller for 

two locations (one on roof of City Hall and the other to be determined) 

 Annual maintenance is approximately 7 percent of the capital cost of the system 

 Internet connectivity will be available at controller for vendor support and cloud application 

 

5.2 Option #2 – 20 Sites, Mix of High and Low Power Sirens 

 

In this option, five of the six sites that the City provided are used. Due to the proximity of Malibu City Hall 

and Civic Center Way, coverage overlap is excessive; as they are essentially the same location, one site 

was dropped. To expand this option, additional arbitrary sites were added to provide coverage across the 

rest of the city.  

 

To meet the City’s desire to have voice capability in the Zuma Beach, Point Dume, and Civic Center areas, 

low-powered sirens were considered, while higher powered sirens were used in the remaining areas to 

maximize coverage and minimize site count. Please refer to Scenario #2 coverage maps in Appendix A. 

 

This hybrid system design provides for voice capability in the areas required and effective tone-only 

coverage in the remaining areas of the city. 

 

The budgetary cost breakdown for this option is below. Prices reflect a fully installed, turnkey system. 

 

  

315



 

  23 

Table 7: Option #2 Cost Estimate 

 

  Quantity Unit Cost Extended Cost 

S
ir
e

n
 S

it
e
s
 

Siren 20 $16,000 $320,000 

Local controller 20 $11,000 $220,000 

Solar power kit 20 $3,000 $60,000 

Batteries (4 each siren) 80 $375 $30,000 

Radio / Satellite (local) 20 $3,500 $70,000 

40 ft wood pole and installation 20 $14,000 $280,000 

 Central controller 1 $8,000 $8,000 

 PC, software (included) 1 $0 $0 

 Radio system 1 $100,000 $100,000 

 

Optimization, configuration, and 
training 

1 $40,000 $40,000 

 Freight 1 $40,000 $40,000 

 TOTAL BUDGETARY $1,168,000  

 

 

The budgetary cost above assumes a wooden pole. If the City desires a steel pole, an additional $10,000 

per siren would need to be added, plus the cost of the pier foundation. These foundations typically are 

installed by a City-preferred local contractor. It is estimated that these foundations cost $3,000 to $5,000 

each. 

 

Additional assumptions: 

 

 Electric will be available at each site as the primary power source 

 For power redundancy, all sirens have solar power and battery backup designed for a minimum of 30 

minutes altering time. 

 Does NOT include costs for site acquisition 

 Does NOT include costs for CEQA adherence, legal, and FCC licensing 

 Radio system includes repeaters, antenna system, mounting, and wiring to siren central controller for 

two locations (one on roof of City Hall and the other to be determined) 

 Annual maintenance is approximately 7 percent of the capital cost of the system 

 Internet connectivity will be available at controller for vendor support and cloud application 

 

5.3 Option #3 – 33 Sites, Low Power Sirens 

 

This option provides a contrast to the other options. This option indicates what would be required if there 

was a city-wide requirement of both tone and voice OWS capability. Please refer to Scenario #3 coverage 

maps in Appendix A. This is the highest site count option. 

 

316



 

  24 

The budgetary cost breakdown for this option is below. Prices reflect a fully installed, turnkey system. 

 

Table 8: Option #3 Cost Estimate 

 

  Quantity Unit Cost Extended Cost 

S
ir
e

n
 S

it
e
s
 

Siren 33 $16,000 $528,000 

Local controller 33 $11,000 $363,000 

Solar power kit 33 $3,000 $99,000 

Batteries (4 each siren) 132 $375 $49,500 

Radio / Satellite (local) 33 $3,500 $115,500 

40 ft wood pole and installation 33 $14,000 $462,000 

 Central controller 1 $8,000 $8,000 

 PC, software (included) 1 $0 $0 

 Radio system 1 $100,000 $100,000 

 

Optimization, configuration, and 
training 

1 $66,000 $66,000 

 Freight 1 $66,000 $66,000 

 TOTAL BUDGETARY $1,857,000  

 

 

The budgetary cost above assumes a wooden pole. If the City desires a steel pole, an additional $10,000 

per siren would need to be added, plus the cost of the pier foundation. These foundations typically are 

installed by a City preferred local contractor. It is estimated that these foundations cost $3,000 to $5,000 

each. 

 

Additional assumptions: 

 

 Electric will be available at each site as the primary power source 

 For power redundancy, all sirens have solar power and battery backup designed for a minimum of 30 

minutes altering time. 

 Does NOT include costs for site acquisition 

 Does NOT include costs for CEQA adherence, legal, and FCC licensing 

 Radio system includes repeaters, antenna system, mounting, and wiring to siren central controller for 

two locations (one on roof of City Hall and the other to be determined) 

 Annual maintenance is approximately 7 percent of the capital cost of the system 

 Internet connectivity will be available at controller for vendor support and cloud application 

 

 

317



 

  25 

6 Conclusions and Recommendations  

MCP believes that the proposed hybrid high/low power 20-site system is a better design and recommends 

that solution to the City of Malibu. This solution not only satisfies the voice requirement in the Zuma Beach, 

Point Dume, and Civic Center areas, but also provides tone alerting coverage across the city.  

 

As discussed, achieving good intelligible voice across the city is difficult, but a design with more low 

powered sirens lends to a more intelligible message. If the City chooses to use voice messages, MCP 

recommends sending those messages out one siren at a time, instead of simulcasting it over all sirens at 

the same time; this minimizes the effects of echoes and distortion. For tone alerting, MCP recommends 

keeping the number of tones used to a minimum. This makes community outreach and training easier and 

minimizes confusion in the community by having numerous tones indicating different uses/alerts.  

  

318



 

  26 

Appendix A – Siren Coverage Maps 

Coverage maps for the three scenarios can be found on the pages that follow. 

 

319



 

  27 

Scenario #1A – 6-site, high-power sirens 

 

 
 

  

320



 

  28 

Scenario #1B – 6-site, high-power sirens, affects of Santa Ana winds 

 

 

  

321



 

  29 

Scenario #1C – 6-site, high-power sirens, indoor coverage (25 dB) 

 

 
 

  

322



 

  30 

Scenario #1D – 6-site, high-power sirens, indoor coverage (25 dB), affect Santa Ana Winds 

 

  

323



 

  31 

Scenario #2A – 20-site, high- and low-power siren mix 

 

 

  

324



 

  32 

Scenario #2B – 20-site, high- and low-power siren mix, affects of Santa Ana winds 

 

 

  

325



 

  33 

Scenario #2C – 20-site, high- and low-power siren mix, indoor coverage (25 dB) 

 

 

  

326



 

  34 

Scenario #2D – 20-site, high- and low-power siren mix, indoor coverage (25 dB), affects Santa Ana Winds

 
  

327



 

  35 

Scenario #3A – 33-site, low-power sirens 

 

 

  

328



 

  36 

Scenario #3B – 33-site, low-power sirens, affects of Santa Ana winds 

 

 
 

329



 

  37 

Scenario #3C – 33-site, low-power sirens, indoor coverage (25 dB) 

 
  

330



 

  38 

Scenario #3D – 33-site, low-power sirens, indoor coverage (25 dB), affects Santa Ana winds 

 
 

 

331



 

  39 

 

 

 

332



 

  40 

Appendix B – Alerting Technologies 

Technology 
Alert (A), 

Notification (N), 
or Both (A/N) 

Intended 
User/Audience 

Time 
Frame 

Description 

Sirens A 
Outdoor and 
open space 

public 
Immediate 

 One-way system for alerting the 
public of emergencies  

 Limited information available 

 Must be followed up with where to 
get detailed information 

 Visitors may not know what 
messages may mean 

Public 
Address (PA) 

A/N 
Indoor and 

outdoor open 
space public 

Immediate 

 One-way system for alerting the 
public of emergencies 

 Limited information available 

 Must be followed up with where to 
get detailed information 

 Visitors may not know what 
messages may mean 

Tone Alert 
Radios 
(TARs) 

A/N Indoor public Immediate 

 One-way system that can be 
used to alert the public 

 Provides some additional 
information of actions required 

 Limited to fixed sites that have 
these devices 

Emergency 
Telephone 
Notification 
Systems 
(ETNS) 

N 
Landline or pre-

registered 
wireless phones 

Near-term 

 One-way system that can be 
used to notify users of actions 
needed 

 Systems are often best effort and 
have some latency based on the 
system and usage at the time of 
use 

 Transmission of Teletypewriter 
(TTY) signals required for equal 
access 

333



 

  41 

Technology 
Alert (A), 

Notification (N), 
or Both (A/N) 

Intended 
User/Audience 

Time 
Frame 

Description 

Legacy EAS A/N 
Commercial 

media watching 
public 

Near-term 

 One-way system for alerting the 
public 

 Provides a limited amount of 
information 

 Constrained by available types of 
messages the system allows 

 Local messages are not required 
to be broadcast by the media 
outlets 

IPAWS  
Various—see 

below 
Immediate 

 Acts as a gateway to several 
other alerting methods 

 Allows users to create a single 
message that is disseminated via 
multiple methods 

IPAWS–EAS  A/N 
Commercial 

media watching 
public 

Near-term 

 One-way system for inputting 
messages to other systems 

 Used for alerting the public and 
providing a limited amount of 
information 

 Constrained by available types of 
messages the system allows. 

IPAWS–WEA  A 
Wireless phone 

public 
Immediate 

 One-way system for alerting the 
public 

 Provides a limited amount of 
information 

 Constrained by the available 
types of messages the system 
allows 

 Uses cellular radio broadcast of a 
short text to wireless phones and, 
as such, may reach visitors more 
easily 

 Not all phones receive these 
messages 

 The public can disable this from 
their phones 

334



 

  42 

Technology 
Alert (A), 

Notification (N), 
or Both (A/N) 

Intended 
User/Audience 

Time 
Frame 

Description 

IPAWS–
NWEM11 

A/N 
Weather radio 

users 
Immediate 

 One-way system for alerting the 
public 

 Allows more detailed information 

 Constrained by available 
transmitters in the area 

 Public must tune to these stations 

 Added benefit of using weather 
radio county codes for 
notifications 

IPAWS–All-
Hazards 

Information 
Feed 

N 
Private service 

users 
Near-term 

 Used by several commercial 
systems 

 Include popular mapping and 
search engines and commercial 
alerting services 

Highway 
traffic radios 

A Traveling public Near-term 

 One-way system for alerting the 
public 

 Allows more detailed information 

 Constrained by available 
transmitters in the area 

 Public must tune to these stations 

Alert 
translation 
services 

A/N 

Non-English 
Speaking/Deaf 

and Hard of 
Hearing Public 

Near-term 

 One-way system usually accepts 
the IPAWS feed 

 Translates to ASL or other 
languages and then posted to a 
public website or sent via ETNS 

Roadside 
message 
boards 

A Traveling Public Near-term 

 One-way system for alerting the 
public 

 Provides a limited amount of 
information 

 Constrained by size of the sign 
and ability of a driver to read the 
sign 

 

 
11 As of February 2020, the link to NWEM from IPAWS was not available to local authorities, but work continues. It is in the 
best interest of the local authorities to monitor this process to gain this capability when it becomes available in the future. 

335



 

  43 

Technology 
Alert (A), 

Notification (N), 
or Both (A/N) 

Intended 
User/Audience 

Time 
Frame 

Description 

Route alerting A/N 
Public in fixed 
locations along 

the route 
Near-term 

 Generally, a one-way system for 
alerting the public along a route 

 Takes time and resources to 
cover relatively small areas 

 Sound (e.g., sirens) may not 
penetrate modern buildings 

Drone route 
alerting 

A/N 
Outdoor and 
open space 

public 
Delayed 

 One-way system for alerting the 
outdoor public 

 Similar difficulties as sirens with 
penetrating into buildings  

 Time needed to get into service 

 Limited alerting time due to 
battery life 

 FAA rules limit use 

 Not useable in the event of 
wildfire as it prevents fire-fighting 
activities 

Cable system 
interrupt 

A/N Cable viewers Immediate 

 One-way system for alerting the 
public 

 Allows more detailed information 

 Constrained by the available 
access 

 Being replaced by other more-
focused systems as cable system 
areas expand 

Social Media N 
Internet 

Connected 
Public 

Delayed 

 Used to provide information to the 
public and sample public 
reactions 

 Can help reduce rumors 

 Can be used in some cases as a 
method to get reports from the 
public 

Press 
Release 

N Media Delayed 

 One-way system that allows for 
more information to be sent to the 
media 

 Information is sent, but that does 
not mean it will be relayed to the 
public 

336



 

  44 

Technology 
Alert (A), 

Notification (N), 
or Both (A/N) 

Intended 
User/Audience 

Time 
Frame 

Description 

Press 
Conference 

N Media Delayed 

 Two-way system that allows the 
media to give feedback and 
expand their understanding of the 
situation 

 Not all information may get to the 
public 

 

 

 

 

337



 

  45 

Appendix C – Product Information 

Product information can be found on the pages that follow. 

338



HPSS
High Powered Speaker Station

Our most powerful siren, the High Powered Speaker Station (HPSS) provides exceptional voice clarity 
for outdoor mass notification applications where intelligibility of pre-recorded voice messages and live 
Public Address (PA) is critically important. The HPSS provides up to 3200 watts of continuous audio 
output. It is also capable of driving strobe lights and LED message signs for visual alerting in areas with 
high ambient noise levels. 

The unit is monitored, controlled, and activated by an ATI central control unit, such as the REACT5000 
or REACT4000, or can operate standalone using the Local Operating Console (LOC) option.* Our HPSSs 
can support multiple simultaneous communication paths to ATI control units to provide the most 
robust, reliable notification system available*. All HPSSs have battery backup systems since AC power 
is often lost during an emergency. In addition, ATI offers a high wind solar panel option to charge the 
batteries where AC is not available or practical. *

Key Features
• Excellent acoustic performance and voice 

intelligibility

• Up to eight 400W speaker horns and steel 
speaker mounting bracket included, for 
roof or pole-mount installation

• Configurable audio coverage patterns 
ranging from 360° omnidirectional to 
unidirectional

• NEMA 4X Stainless steel enclosure with 
ventilated battery compartment, door 
intrusion switch and enclosure mounting 
bracket

• Unique, compact and highly efficient Class 
D amplifiers with 1600/3200 watts of con-
tinuous audio output power integrated on 
a high-performance controller board

• Conformal-coated printed circuit boards 
for operating in harsh environments

• UL464 listed option available upon re-
quest*

• Message encryption and security coding
to prevent unauthorized system activa-
tions

• Local and remote testing and reporting
including “silent” testing

• Temperature-compensated battery char-
ger and power On/Off circuit breakers

• Very low standby power requirements
and 60 minutes of continuous activation

• Flexible and redundant communication
methods including IP, Ethernet, twisted
pair/telephone cable, fiber optic, cellular
and satellite*

• Built-in tone generator providing 10 stan-
dard, pre-configured tones; up to 255 pre-
recorded voice messages and 100 hours
of recording time

• Automatic gain control for consistent
output volume

ATI’s HPSS32 339



Acoustic Technology, Inc.
30 Jeffries Street, Boston, MA 02128
Tel: 617-567-4969 ext. 1041  Fax: 617-569-2964

www.atisystem.com
info@atisystem.com

61116R2

All information and specifications are subject to change without notice, and may contain typographical or other errors. 
§ Assuming 2 - 105AH batteries, with radio communication 
*Additional hardware/firmware may be required. 

HPSS SPECIFICATIONS

Physical Attributes
HPSS16 HPSS32 400W Speaker

Length 40” 19”

Width 23” 21”

Depth 15” 24.34”

Weight (without radio/batteries) 118 lbs 126 lbs 45 lbs

Electrical/Power Characteristics
HPSS16 HPSS32

Supply voltage 120VAC 60Hz 240VAC 50Hz 120VAC 60 Hz 240VAC 50Hz

Supply current, max 5A 3A 5A 3A

Standby current 550mA, typical §

Standby time without AC > 3 days §

Max activation time 60 minutes (steady tone, full power) §

Radio power supply 12V DC, 12A maximum*

Amplifier Characteristics
HPSS16 HPSS32

Number of 400W speakers up to 4 up to 8

Output voltage 25V

Max power (audio/strobe) 1600 W RMS 3200 W RMS

Audio Bandwidth 250 Hz - 5 kHz

Output regulation < 1dB, no load to full load

Amplifier efficiency 90%

Environmental Characteristics
Operating Temperature -40 to +80°C

Humidity 0 to 95%, non-condensing

Communication I/O
Communication to ATI units IP (Ethernet), (UHF/VHF) radio, fiber, satellite, DSL, and cellular modem*  

RS485/RS232 port 1, maximum (either RS485 or RS232)* 

Signaling inputs 8, maximum* (configurable)

Signaling outputs 8, maximum* (configurable)

Audio out (for PA or FACP) configurable 300/600 ohm balanced or unbalanced

Pre-recorded Messages/Tone Characteristics
Number of alert tones 10 pre-configured alert tones

Number of recorded messages 255, maximum

Recording time, maximum 100 hours (depends on recording content)

340



F E A T U R E S

• Light-weight, compact design

• Utilizes Federal Signal Ultravoice™ for control and 
amplification

• Excellent frequency response for clear voice 
reproduction

• 360º coverage without sound variation in horizontal 
planes

• Easy servicing through convenient access panels

• Anechoic chamber-certified

Federal Signal’s Modulator High Powered Speaker Array offers the same proven technology as the original Modulator with 
the exception of a smaller compact chassis. Modulator provides a flat frequency response up to 2000Hz producing intense 
warning signals and digital voice messaging over a large area. The Modulator design enables the siren to produce a high 
sound level and intelligible voice communications.

The innovative omni-directional electronic Modulator speaker array consists of modules that utilize four 100 watt drivers. 
It also provides clear voice communication and offers warning signals which are produced by Federal Signal’s UltraVoice™ 
electronic controller and amplifier system. Custom tones and professionally recorded voice messages for the UltraVoice 
controller are available and can be purchased upon request.

The Modulator High Powered Speaker Array combined with the UltraVoice controller is ideal for community/municipal, 
industrial and military applications where immediate instruction is necessary. 

The Modulator and UltraVoice controller can be networked via radio, IP, landline, cellular and/or satellite communications. 
Powering is available in AC, DC, or solar. The system typically operates from batteries which are charged from either AC or 
Solar. Federal Signal can also provide customized solutions to fit your special applications.

Model MOD Series

Modulator 
High Powered Omni Speaker

M O D E L

A C T I V E T O T A L D E C I B E L S
E F F E C T I V E  
R A N G E H E I G H T N E T  W E I G H T S H I P P I N G  W T

M O D U L E S W A T T @  1 0 0 ' 1 @  7 0  d B c I N M M L B S K G L B S K G

MOD1004B 1 400 106 dBc 1,200' 28" 71 125 56.8 264 120

MOD2008B 2 800 112 dBc 1,800' 43" 109.2 190 86.4 294 133.6

MOD3012B 3 1200 115 dBc 2,200' 57" 144.7 255 115.9 444 201.8

MOD4016B 4 1600 118 dBc 2,800' 72" 182.8 320 145.5 544 247.3

MOD5020B 5 2000 120 dBc 3,100' 86" 218.4 385 175 744 338.2

MOD6024B 6 2400 121 dBc 3,400' 101" 256.5 450 204.5 960 436.4

MOD8032B 8 3200 124 dBc 4,200' 130" 330.2 580 263.6 1392 632.7

Shown with  
optional  
QuadraFlare
lights

341



US - 2645 Federal Signal Dr., University Park, IL 60484 | Tel: +1 708.534.3400 | 1.800.548.7229 | Email: customersupport@fedsig.com | www.fedsig.com
UK - Silk House, 3rd Floor, Park Green, Macclesfield, Cheshire. SK11 7NA   Tel: +44 (0)1625 66 66 00  

E
L

E
C

T
R

O
N

IC
 A

N
D 

 
G

IA
N

T
 V

O
IC

E
 S

Y
S

T
E

M
S

SYS5000  |  1219

Modulator® High Powered Omni Speaker (MOD)

S P E C I F I C A T I O N S

Frequency Response: 200-2000Hz
Color Off-White
Paint Type TGIC-polyester powder coat
Modulator Horn Type Hyperbolic flare
Horizontal Coverage 360º +/- 1 dB(C)
Diameter 35”/88.9cm
Wind Loading @ 110mph wind velocity1:
MOD1004B 251 lbs 
MOD2008B 377 lbs
MOD3012B 503 lbs
MOD4016B 629 lbs
MOD5020B 755 lbs
MOD6024B 881 lbs
MOD8032B 1133 lbs

1 Wind loading is the calculated force of wind at 110mph 
(shoreline), exposure D (flat, unobstructed coastal areas) on 
frontal area 4.64 ft. per American National Standards Institute 
A58.1”Minimum design loads for buildings and other  
structures.”

Pole 
Mounted

(Shown: 
MOD6024B) 

Easy 
servicing 
through 
driver 
access 
panels

Radio Antenna  
(if required)
sold separately

Optional 
Solar 
Charging 

Optional 
side-light kit 
x4

Top light 
mounting 
bracket

UltraVoice is a registered trademark of Federal Signal Corporation. 

H O W  T O  O R D E R

Contact our Federal Signal Sales Engineers 
to design a system that meets your specific 
requirements. 

Specify speaker array model number – each 
speaker array model must be ordered with a 
specific corresponding UV and Amplifier.

Speaker Controller1 
MOD1004B UV + 1 UV400 
MOD2008B UV + 2 UV400 
MOD3012B UV + 3 UV400 
MOD4016B UV + 4 UV400 
MOD5020B UV + 5 UV400 
MOD6024B UV + 6 UV400 
MOD8032B UV + 8 UV400
1 Controllers available in Radio, IP, and Landline. 

Note: 40 feet of cable is supplied with siren. Extension cable in 
10 foot increments is also available. Mounting the UV controller 
further than 100 feet is not recommended (further mounting 
may decrease power output).

Description                                   Part Number

Flashing light for top of MOD   191XL-024*  

Red Quadraflare 4 light kit MOD-QF-KIT

Blue Quadraflare 4 light kit MOD-QF-KIT-B
* Indicates color: (A) Amber, (B) Blue, (C) Clear, (G) Green or     
   (R) Red

 

Description Part Number
Driver, 100 watt K8570063A 

R E P L A C E M E N T  P A R T

A C C E S S O R I E S

342



Type II  
Electronic  
Cabinet

WPS2901 One Cell

Whelen's Mass Notification 
WPS2900 Series omni- 
directional voice product 
delivers clear, powerful  
voice communication.

SYSTEM FEATURES
■ WPS2901 – One omni-directional speaker  
 cell assembled in a vertical column
■ Two compartment (Type II) natural finish  
 aluminum or stainless steel cabinet
■ Speaker cell includes one high efficiency  
 400 watt speaker driver
■ 50’ (15.24m) cable included
■ Pole top mounting bracket included
■ Public address and pre-recorded  
 voice message capability
■ Local or remote controls available
■ Battery powered
■ One power amplifier
■ AC temperature compensated  
 “tri-mode” 10 amp battery charger
■ Electronic controller
■ Tone Generator Timer
■ Local control push-buttons
■ Battery switch
■ RDVM1G – digital voice 1-28 message capable
■ SI TEST®

■ SLIDEOUT™ battery tray 
■ Lightning arrestor
■ Six standard warning tones –  
 Wail, Whoop, Alert, Attack, Hi-Lo, Airhorn

SYSTEM OPTIONS
■ Solar option – 2 each 80 watt panels,  
 with brackets and solar regulator
■ Batteries – 2 each Delco S2000 or 
 Interstate Workaholic 31-MHD Batteries.   
 Check Whelen’s web site, www.whelen.com,  
 for other recommended batteries
■ Microphone – for use at the cabinet (locally) 
 or at the control point (remotely)
■ VisuAlert™ – Omni-Directional visual warning 
 Model VALERT* for 2900 Series
■ L31H*F4 – Top mount high dome beacon  
 for 2900 Series, 24 VDC

ACTIVATION CONTROLS
Our VHF and UHF radio narrow-band  
control packages feature Whelen protocol  
COMM/STAT™ and include the following:
■ Radio
■ Radio interface
■ Tone or digital squelch
■ 3-5 dB gain omni-directional antenna 
 with bracket
■ 35’ (10.67m) of RG58 antenna cable
■ Polyphaser
■ SI TEST
■ Low battery alarm (two-way only)

Mass Notification Warning Product

Other features are dependent upon one or  
two-way controls.  Whelen equipment can be  
interfaced with many different types of two-way  
radio communications products and systems,  
from ACE, MOSCAD and FSK.
The following is available as standard options. 
BOLD BLUE in callout indicates the Whelen Model:

ONE-WAY CONTROLS
■ AUXIN – Auxilliary board for contact closure  
 activation
■ D2030LL – 10 digit DTMF Landline
■ D2030NV – 10 digit DTMF VHF High-Band 
  Narrow-Band/138-174 MHz
■ D2030NU – 10 digit DTMF UHF Narrow-Band 
 /450-470 MHz
■ WPSTT – Two-tone sequential option  
 (one-way radio package must be ordered  
 from above options)

TWO-WAY CONTROLS
■ AUXCS – Two-way contact closure  
 activation and status board
■ C2030LL – Two-way landline activation
■ C2030NV – 10 digit DTMF VHF High-Band  
 Narrow-Band/138-174 MHz
■ C2030NU – 10 digit DTMF UHF Narrow-Band 
 /450-470 MHz

OPTIONS
■ STATUS – Cabinet window LED status indicator
■ PGINT – Paging interface
■ INTRUWPS – Intrusion Alarm

Optional  
VALERTR 

Solar SBC280 
option

343



Drip Loop

Aluminum to Copper
Ground Lug.

Flex Conduit *
(Metal Bonded Type-only)

A B C

* Customer Supplied

Ground Rods* Perspec, or
Grounding per Local Codes.

50'
(15.24m)

(typ)

A) .75” (19.05mm) Dia.
Conduit A.C. Power Input

B) .75” (19.05mm) Dia.
Conduit- Antenna Cable

C) 1.00” (25.4mm) Dia.
Conduit- Speaker Drivers
and Solar

1 Point Rack, Spool
Insulator and
Service Clamp for
AC Supply. *

10' (3.04m) - 12' (3.65m) (typ)

(4) 10' (3.04m) Sections of
1” (25.4mm) (1.25", 31.75mm)
If equipped with optional
beacon) Rigid Steel Conduit

Aluminum to
Copper Ground Lug.

Note: Antenna
installation must be
incompliance with
all FCC regulations.

Pole Setting Depth
Per Local Codes

Weather Head For
Service Entrance.*

Note: Avoid Sharp Bends
in the Ground Wires

2 Pole, 15A (min.), NEMA #3R
A/C Disconnect.*

.625" (15.87mm) -9 thru Hex Head
or Square Head Bolts.
(6 Places)
Mounting Bracket (4)
Aluminum Cabinet (2)

4 AWG (21.5mm)
(minimum)
Solid Copper Wire
Antenna Ground.*

4 Awg (21.5mm) (minimum)
Solid Copper Wire
Cabinet Ground.*

Ground Wires tied
to Ground Rod Per
Spec. or Local Code.

4 Awg (21.5mm) (minimum)
Solid Copper Wire
Speaker/Antenna
Ground.*

HEIGHT
(see chart)

33.4"
(84.84cm)

Optional
L31 LED

Pole Top Bracket

Customer
Supplied Pole

9.5" (24 cm) Dia.
(+/- 0.5)

12" (30cm) 13.5” (34cm)

30.5"
(77.5cm)

18”
(46cm)

7.5"
(19cm) 4.5”(11cm)

10" (25cm) 11" (27cm)

1” (25mm)
Clearence
between top
of pole and
inside bottom
of bracket

30"
(76cm)

18”
(46cm)

■	 Battery Charger Input: 120VAC, 60Hz, 7A fuse (240VAC 50/60 Hz available)
■	 Battery Charger Output: 28VDC, 10A (nominal)
■	 Batteries: (2) 12V, 115AH lead calcium
■	 Standby Current: 82mA, 24VDC
■	 Operating Current: 23A, 24VDC
■	 Power Amplifier Output Power: Tone: 400 watts, Voice: 500 watts

■	 Operating Temperature: -35°C to +60°C
■	 Storage Temperature: -65°C to +125°C
■	 Humidity, Non Condensing: 0 to 95%

BASIC SYSTEM INCLUDES THE FOLLOWING
■ WPS2901 – Speaker assembly with 50’ (15.24m) cable & electronics  

cabinet with all the standard components including voice board for  
1-28 pre-recorded messages and Pole Top Bracket

OPTIONS
■ AUXIN (one-way) / AUXCS (two-way) – Auxiliary boards for contact  

closure activation
■ D2030LL / D2030NV / D2030NU – One-way controls
■ C2030LL / C2030NV / C2030NU – Two-way controls
■ WPSTT – Two-tone sequential 
■ STATUS – Cabinet window LED status indicator
■ PGINT – Paging interface
■ INTRUWPS – Intrusion alarm (two-way only)
■ MSGPROG – Custom pre-recorded messages
■ MSGPROGL – Whelen library messages
■ WPSNCMIC – Microphone for public address use at the cabinet
■ WPSBATT – One pair of Whelen approved batteries
■ RTM – Roof top mount
■ SBC280 – Solar option
OPTIONAL LIGHTING ACCESSORIES 
■ VALERT* – VisuAlert™ lighting accessory
■ L31H*F4 – L31 LED, 24VDC
■ LCWPS – LED controller with mounting plate, hardware and harnessing  

for L31 & L32
■ LEDCTRL – LED controller only

* Specify color A=Amber, B=Blue, R=Red, C=White/Clear

 Wattage: 400 watts
 Estimated 70dB Range: 1,500 ft / 458 m

Weather, terrain and other structures may impact the range.  Each siren within the system  
may have a decreased or increased range depending on conditions beyond our control.

Component Height 
Inches (CM)

Width 
Inches (CM)

Depth 
Inches (CM)

Weight 
Lbs. (kg)

WPS2901 Speaker 18.8 (47.75) 33.40 (84.84) - 119 (53.98)

Electronics Cabinet 
Type II (Aluminum)* 60.50 (153.67) 33.20 (84.33) 12 (30.50) 132 (59.90)

Pole Top Bracket 30.5 (77.47) 
(with top plate)

12.0 (30.50) x 
13.5 (34.30) See Drawing 71 (32.20)

Batteries add 115 lbs. (52.16 kg)  *Stainless cabinet option adds 58 lbs. (26.31 kg).
Pallets, boxes and skids add weight.  Check with Whelen if a freight quote is needed.

WPS2901 One Cell

Specifications

  ISO 9001 Registered QMS

“Our Mass Notification Products 
Speak for Themselves”™

MASS NOTIFICATION PRODUCTS

Whelen Engineering Company, Inc.
51 Winthrop Road

Chester, Connecticut 06412-0684
860-526-9504
800-637-4736

www.whelen.com
iowsales@whelen.com

Whelen Engineering Company, Inc. 
reserves the right to upgrade its products with  

design improvements without notification.
© 2019 Whelen Engineering Company, Inc.

Printed in the U.S.A.
11684K - 09/26/19

         WARNING: This product may contain chemicals known to the State of California to cause cancer  
and birth defects or other reproductive harm. For more information, visit whelen.com/regulatory.

 Acoustic Performance

 Environmental

 Ordering Information

 Electrical

344



 

  48 

Appendix D – Additional Resources for Emergency Alerting and 

Communication 

Additional resources are provided below. 

 

Public Safety Communications, Ten Keys to Improving Emergency Alerts, Warnings, & Notifications. April 

2019 

https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/ten_keys_to_improving_emergency_alerts_warnings_n

otifications.pdf  

 

Public Safety Communications, Essentials of Alerts, Warnings, & Notifications. May 2019 

https://www.natoa.org/documents/CISA%20Essentials%20of%20AWNs.pdf  

 

Guide to Implementing the Integrated Public Alert and Warning System (IPAWS). Version 2, February 

2019 

https://www.cseppportal.net/Training%20Documents/IPAWS_Implementation%20Guide_Final_FEB2019_

Version%202.pdf 

 

345

https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/ten_keys_to_improving_emergency_alerts_warnings_notifications.pdf
https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/ten_keys_to_improving_emergency_alerts_warnings_notifications.pdf
https://www.natoa.org/documents/CISA%20Essentials%20of%20AWNs.pdf
https://www.cseppportal.net/Training%20Documents/IPAWS_Implementation%20Guide_Final_FEB2019_Version%202.pdf
https://www.cseppportal.net/Training%20Documents/IPAWS_Implementation%20Guide_Final_FEB2019_Version%202.pdf


4/19/22, 3:33 PM NOAA Weather Radio

https://www.weather.gov/nwr&ln_desc=NOAA+Weather+Radio/ 1/2

NOAA Weather Radio
National Program

NOAA Weather Radio
Weather.gov > NOAA Weather Radio

Report an Outage
 View Outages

NWR Stations that have either degraded
 performance or are currently offline.

 This information was current on:
Tue, 19 Apr 2022 22:05:19 GMT

Legend

 DEGRADED - Indicates that a transmitter is operational but
experiencing a temporary reduction in the quality of service such as
coverage area, audio quality, etc. 

 OUT OF SERVICE - Indicates transmitter is temporarily non
operational due to problems such as a power outage, antenna damage,
etc. 

NOAA WEATHER RADIO ALL HAZARDS

NOAA Weather Radio All Hazards
(NWR) is a nationwide network of
radio stations broadcasting continuous
weather information directly from the
nearest National Weather Service
office. NWR broadcasts official
Weather Service warnings, watches,
forecasts and other hazard information
24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

 
Working with the Federal
Communication Commission's (FCC)
Emergency Alert System , NWR is an
"All Hazards" radio network, making it
your single source for comprehensive
weather and emergency information.
In conjunction with Federal, State, and
Local Emergency Managers and other
public officials, NWR also broadcasts
warning and post-event information for
all types of hazards – including natural
(such as earthquakes or avalanches),

environmental (such as chemical releases or oil spills), and public safety (such
as AMBER alerts or 911 Telephone outages).

 
Known as the "Voice of NOAA's National Weather Service," NWR is provided as
a public service by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
(NOAA), part of the Department of Commerce. NWR includes more than 1000 
transmitters, covering all 50 states, adjacent coastal waters, Puerto Rico, the
U.S. Virgin Islands, and the U.S. Pacific Territories. NWR requires a special radio
receiver or scanner capable of picking up the signal. Broadcasts are found in the
VHF public service band at these seven frequencies (MHz):

  
162.400 162.425 162.450 162.475 162.500 162.525 162.550

Special Notices
Click on [+] to see more [-] to see less

  
[+] "Beeping" on certain Midland receivers and the weekly test
 
[+]  WXJ35 Portales, NM is out of service (4/12/2022)
   
[+]  WXL90 Des Moines, NM is out of service (3/29/2022)
   
[+]  WWG76 Kulani Cone, HI is degraded (3/24/2022)
   
[+]  WZ2540 North Kohala, HI is degraded (3/24/2022)
   
[+]  WWF39 Hawaii Kai, HI is degraded (3/24/2022)
   
[+]  WXK58 Reno, NV transmitter is degraded (3/23/22)
   
[+] WXM35 Hays, KS transmitter is degraded (3/3/22)
   
[+] WXN61 Sidney, NE transmitter is out of service (2/11/22)
   
[+] WWF37 Carlsbad, NM transmitter is out of service (2/11/22)
   
[+] WXN92 Harrison, AR transmitter is degraded (2/28/22)

NWS is proposing a national expansion of Partial County Alerting and welcomes public comments through March 1, 2022.
 

See Public Information Statement and PCA Proposed National Expansion page.
 

Deletion of Valdez-Cordova Census Area and Federal Information Processing Standards (FIPS) Code and
 Addition of Chugach Census Area and Copper River Census Area with New FIPS Codes,

 This change has taken place for NWS Products, Services, and Systems.  
 See PNS22-15

  

NOAA Weather Radio All Hazards Coverage
 

Home Outages FAQ Coverage About Alert Information

 

Leaflet

346

http://www.weather.gov/
https://www.weather.gov/
https://www.weather.gov/nwr&ln_desc=NOAA+Weather+Radio/allhazard_logo_info
https://www.weather.gov/nwr&ln_desc=NOAA+Weather+Radio/nwr_outage_report
https://www.weather.gov/nwr/outages
javascript:toggle2('Advisory1', 'myHeader1');
javascript:toggle2('Advisory2', 'myHeader2');
javascript:toggle2('Advisory4', 'myHeader4');
javascript:toggle2('Advisory5', 'myHeader5');
javascript:toggle2('Advisory6', 'myHeader6');
javascript:toggle2('Advisory7', 'myHeader7');
javascript:toggle2('Advisory8', 'myHeader8');
javascript:toggle2('Advisory9', 'myHeader9');
javascript:toggle2('Advisory10', 'myHeader10');
javascript:toggle2('Advisory11', 'myHeader11');
javascript:toggle2('Advisory12', 'myHeader12');
https://www.weather.gov/media/notification/pdf2/pns21-69_national_partial_county.pdf
https://www.weather.gov/pca/expansion
https://www.weather.gov/media/notification/pdf2/pns22-15_spring_2022_forecast_zone_implementation_cwd_delay.pdf
https://www.weather.gov/media/nwr/NWR_Propagation.pdf
https://www.weather.gov/nwr/
https://www.weather.gov/nwr/outages
https://www.weather.gov/nwr/faq
https://www.weather.gov/nwr/Maps
https://www.weather.gov/nwr/aboutnwr
https://www.weather.gov/nwr/nwr_alerts
http://leafletjs.com/


4/19/22, 3:33 PM NOAA Weather Radio

https://www.weather.gov/nwr&ln_desc=NOAA+Weather+Radio/ 2/2

   
[+] KHB49 San Francisco, CA transmitter is degraded (1/21/22)
   
[+]  WXN24 Artesia, NM transmitter is Out of Service (1/19/22)
   
[+]  Multiple Alaska transmitters are Out of Service (1/12/22)
 
[+]  KWN60 Lamar, CO transmitter is Out of Service (12/31/21)
   
[+]  WNG728 Bellflower, MO transmitter is Out of Service (07/16/21)
   

347

javascript:toggle2('Advisory13', 'myHeader13');
javascript:toggle2('Advisory14', 'myHeader14');
javascript:toggle2('Advisory15', 'myHeader15');
javascript:toggle2('Advisory16', 'myHeader16');
javascript:toggle2('Advisory17', 'myHeader17');


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 1/22

NOAA Weather Radio

Type Weather radio/civil
emergency services

Branding NOAA Weather
Radio All Hazards

Country  United States

Availability National (through
radio transmitters,
some commercial
radio and television
outlets, and Internet
availability via
streaming audio from
other organizations)

Founded 1954 (aviation
weather)

1958 (general/marine
weather)

by National Oceanic
and Atmospheric
Administration

Radio
stations

5-1,000W VHF-FM
transmitters

Owner NOAA/National
Weather Service

Parent National Oceanic and

NOAA Weather Radio

NOAA Weather Radio NWR; also known as NOAA Weather
Radio All Hazards is an automated 24-hour network of VHF
FM weather radio stations in the United States (U.S.) that
broadcast weather information directly from a nearby National
Weather Service office. The routine programming cycle includes
local or regional weather forecasts, synopsis, climate summaries
or zone/lake/coastal waters forecasts (when applicable). During
severe conditions the cycle is shortened into: hazardous weather
outlooks, short-term forecasts, special weather statements or
tropical weather summaries (the first two aren't normally
broadcast in most offices). It occasionally broadcasts other non-
weather related events such as national security statements,
natural disaster information, environmental and public safety
statements (such as an AMBER Alert), civil emergencies, fires,
evacuation orders, and other hazards sourced from the Federal
Communications Commission's (FCC) Emergency Alert System.
NOAA Weather Radio uses automated broadcast technology
(since 2016: Broadcast Message Handler) that allows (and frees
NWS staff as well) for the recycling of segments featured in one
broadcast cycle seamlessly into another and more regular
updating of segments to each of the transmitters. It also speeds
up the warning transmitting process.

Weather radios are widely sold online and in retail stores that
specialize in consumer electronics in Canada and the U.S.
Additionally, they are readily available in many supermarkets and
drugstores in the southern and midwestern US, which are
particularly susceptible to severe weather—large portions of these
regions are commonly referred to as "Tornado Alley".

History
Expansion

Operations
Radio
Television

Broadcast schedule
Broadcast routine
Weather radio receivers
Radio frequencies used

Contents

348

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Noaa_all_hazards.svg
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Weather_radio
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_States
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Internet
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Streaming_media
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Aviation
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Marine_(ocean)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Oceanic_and_Atmospheric_Administration
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Very_high_frequency
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Frequency_modulation
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Weather_Service
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Very_high_frequency
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Frequency_modulation
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Weather_radio
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_States
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Weather_Service
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_security
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Public_safety
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/AMBER_Alert
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Federal_Communications_Commission
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Emergency_Alert_System
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Consumer_electronics
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Supermarket
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pharmacy
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tornado_Alley


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 2/22

Atmospheric
Administration

Launch
date

1950s (in selected
cities)

1967 (nationwide)

Official
website

www.weather.gov
/nwr/ (https://www.we
ather.gov/nwr/)

A picture of the NOAA WR-120 EZ
Weather Radio.

NOAA Radio Station in Robinson,
TX (November 23, 2021)

Channel designations
Present day
Coverage

Alerting
Emergency alert test procedure
Voices

System upgrades
1990s Console Replacement System
2002 Voice Improvement Program
Broadcast Message Handler
Wireless NOAA Weather Radio Stations

Human voices
Broadcasting-in-Spanish

Live streaming
See also
References
External links

NOAA Weather Radio brochure evolution

The U.S. Weather Bureau first began broadcasting marine weather
information in Chicago and New York City on two VHF radio
stations in 1960 as an experiment.[1][2] Proving to be successful, the broadcasts expanded to serve the
general public in coastal regions in the 1960s and early 1970s.[3] By early 1970, ESSA listed 20 U.S.
cities using 162.55 MHz and one using 163.275 "ESSA VHF Radio Weather."[4] Later, the U.S.
Weather Bureau adopted its current name, National Weather Service (NWS), and was operating 29
VHF-FM weather-radio transmitters under the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
(NOAA) which replaced ESSA in 1970.[1] The service was designed with boaters, fishermen, travelers
and more in mind, allowing listeners to quickly receive a "life-saving" weather bulletin from their local
weather forecast office (WFO), along with routinely updated forecasts and other climatological data in
a condensed format at any time of the day or night. The general public could have the latest weather
updates when they needed them, and the benefit of more lead-time to prepare during severe
conditions. In 1974, NOAA Weather Radio (NWR), as it was now called, reached about 44 percent of
the U.S. population over 66 nationwide transmitters.[3] NWR grew to over 300 stations by the late
1970s.[2]

Local NWS staff were the voices heard on NWR stations from its inception until the late 1990s when
"Paul" was introduced.[5][6] The messages were recorded on tape, and later by digital means, then
placed in the broadcast cycle. This technology limited the programming variability and locked it into a
repetitive sequential order. It also slowed down the speed of warning messages when severe weather
happened, because each NWS office could have up to eight transmitters.[5] "Paul" was a computerized
voice using the DECtalk text-to-speech system.[5] "Paul's" voice was dissatisfactory and difficult to
understand; thus "Craig", "Tom," "Donna" and later "Javier" were introduced in 2002 using the
Speechify text-to-speech system from SpeechWorks (not to be confused with the iOS app of the same

History 0:00 MENU

349

https://www.weather.gov/nwr/
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:NOAA-WR120EZ_Weather_Radio.jpg
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Robinson,_Texas
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Marine_weather_forecasting
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Environmental_Science_Services_Administration
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Weather_Service
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Oceanic_and_Atmospheric_Administration
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/DECtalk
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/SpeechWorks
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Speechify


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 3/22

name).[5][6] A completely new voice from the VoiceText text-to-speech system, also named “Paul”,
was introduced in 2016 and implemented nationwide by late in the year. Live human voices are still
used occasionally for weekly tests of the Specific Area Message Encoding (SAME) and 1,050 Hz tone
alerting systems, station IDs, and in the event of system failure or computer upgrades. They will also
be used on some stations for updates on the time and radio frequency.

In the 1990s, the National Weather Service adopted plans to implement SAME technology
nationwide; the roll-out moved slowly until 1995, when the U.S. government provided the budget
needed to develop the SAME technology across the entire radio network. Nationwide implementation
occurred in 1997 when the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) adopted the SAME standard
as part of its new Emergency Alert System (EAS).[1] NOAA Weather Radio's public alerting
responsibilities expanded from hazardous weather-only events to "all hazards" being broadcast.[7]

In the wake of the 1965 Palm Sunday tornado outbreak, one of the key recommendations from the
U.S. Weather Bureau's storm survey team, was the establishment of a nationwide radio network that
could be used to broadcast weather warnings to the general public, hospitals, key institutions, news
media, schools, and the public safety community. Starting in 1966, the Environmental Science
Services Administration (ESSA) started a nationwide program known as "ESSA VHF Weather Radio
Network." In the early 1970s, this was changed to NOAA Weather Radio.[8][4] The service was
expanded to coastal locations during the 1970s in the wake of Hurricane Camille based upon
recommendations made by the Department of Commerce after the storm in September 1969.[9]

Since then, a proliferation of stations have been installed and activated to ensure near-complete
geographical coverage and "weather-readiness", many of which have been funded by state emergency
management agencies in cooperation with the NOAA to expand the network, or state public
broadcasting networks. To avoid interference and allow for more specific area coverage, the number
of frequencies in use by multiple stations grew to two with the addition of 162.400 MHz in 1970
followed by the third (162.475) in 1975 with the remaining four (162.425, 162.450, 162.500 & 162.525)
coming into use by 1981.[10][11][12][13]

In the 1950s, the Weather Bureau started with KWO35 in New York City and later added KWO39 in
Chicago.[8] By 1965 it had added KID77 in Kansas City, home to the Severe Local Storms Center, as
the third continuous VHF radio transmitter with the fourth, KBA99 in Honolulu, operating by
January 1967.[14][15][16]

Denver became the 60th NWR station in September 1972 and by December 1976 there were roughly
100 stations transmitting on three channels in December 1976.[17][18] Growth accelerated in the mid-
1970s with NWR reaching 200 radio stations in May 1978 with WXK49 in Memphis, Tennessee; 300
in September 1979 with WXL45 in Columbia, Missouri; and by 1988, the NWS operated about 380
stations covering approximately 90 percent of the nation's population.[19][20][21] This grew to over
500 radio stations by May 1999, and over 800 by the end of 2001.[22][1] As of January 2020, there
were about 1,032 stations in operation in fifty states, Puerto Rico, the U.S. Virgin Islands, American
Samoa, Guam, and Saipan, with over 95% effective coverage.[23]

Expansion

Operations

350

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Speechify
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Specific_Area_Message_Encoding
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Station_identification
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Federal_Communications_Commission
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Emergency_Alert_System
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/1965_Palm_Sunday_tornado_outbreak
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Weather_Service
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Environmental_Science_Services_Administration
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Very_high_frequency
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Hurricane_Camille
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Emergency_management
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Storm_Prediction_Center


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 4/22

The NOAA Weather Radio network is provided as a public service by the National Oceanic and
Atmospheric Administration. NOAA also provides secondary weather information, usually limited to
marine storm warnings for sea vessels navigating the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans, to HF band "time
stations" WWV and WWVH. These shortwave radio stations continuously broadcast time signals and
disseminate the "official" U.S. Government time, and are operated by the Department of Commerce's
National Institute of Standards and Technology.

The radio service transmits weather and marine forecasts (where applicable) and other related
information, without any interruptions. In addition, NWR works in cooperation with the FCC's
Emergency Alert System (EAS), providing comprehensive severe weather alerts and civil emergency
information. In conjunction with federal, state and local emergency managers and other public
officials, NWR has the ability to broadcast alerts and post-event information for all types of hazards,
including natural (such as earthquakes or avalanches), human-made (such as chemical releases or oil
spills), technological (such as nuclear power plant emergencies) and other public safety (such as
"AMBER alerts" or 9-1-1 telephone outages). Listening to a NOAA Weather Radio station requires a
specialized VHF radio receiver or scanner capable of receiving at least one of seven specific VHF-FM
channels within the frequency range of 162.400 through 162.550 MHz, collectively known as the
"Weather Band". For example, a receiver that only tunes in standard AM or FM broadcast stations
will not suffice.

Many cable television systems and some commercial television stations will, during EAS activation,
rebroadcast the audio of a warning message first heard on their local NWR station, to alert viewers of
a severe weather event or civil emergency, usually with the issuance of a tornado warning or tornado
emergency, especially in tornado-prone areas of the country.

Local NOAA offices update the broadcast content on a regular basis, according to the following
schedule:

Updates are typically recorded once per hour, and are broadcast at 5 or 10, and at 15 minutes past the
hour. A complete detail of current weather conditions (current sky condition, temperature, dew point,
humidity, wind speed/direction and barometric pressure) for the main reporting station in the
station's city of license.

Radio

Television

Broadcast schedule

351

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Storm_warning
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Atlantic_Ocean
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pacific_Ocean
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/High_frequency
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/WWV_(radio_station)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/WWVH
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Shortwave_radio
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Time_signal
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Department_of_Commerce
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Institute_of_Standards_and_Technology
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Emergency_Alert_System
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Emergency_management
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Earthquake
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Avalanche
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Oil_spill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Nuclear_power_plant
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/AMBER_alert
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/9-1-1
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Scanner_(radio)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Frequency
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Amplitude_modulation
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Frequency_modulation
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cable_television
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Television_station
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Emergency_Alert_System
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tornado_warning
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tornado_emergency
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Temperature
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dew_point
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Humidity
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wind
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Barometric_pressure
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/City_of_license


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 5/22

Local
time Update

01:00–
12:00 Area climate summary played in 15-minute intervals during this period

04:30 Regional forecast updated

05:00–
07:00 Regional Weather Synopsis updated at least once during this period.

07:00 Hazardous weather outlook and call for action for NWS-trained SKYWARN volunteer weather spotters (if
warranted).

07:00 Regional climate summary is recorded sometime between 18:00 the previous night and 07:00 each day.

10:30 Regional forecast updated

12:00 Hazardous weather outlook and call for action for NWS-trained SKYWARN volunteer weather spotters (if
warranted).

13:00–
15:00 3- to 5-day extended forecast, updated twice a day during this period.

15:30 Regional forecast updated

16:00–
22:00 Regional Weather Synopsis updated at least once during this period.

17:00–
21:00 Area climate summary is played in 15-minute intervals during specific days of the week.

20:30 Regional forecast updated

NOAA Weather Radio All Hazards has a multi-tier concept for forecasting or alerting the public to all
types of weather. Actual forecasts vary by the area that the transmitter serves. During severe weather
situations, Watch Information Statements for government-designated jurisdictions served by the local
NWR station are typically inserted within the station's normal playlist of routine products; a special
severe weather playlist temporarily suspends most regularly scheduled routine products in the event
National Weather Service-issued warnings (mainly severe thunderstorm, tornado or flash flood
warnings) are in effect for the station's broadcast area, which solely incorporate watch, warning and
Special Weather Statements, and any active Short-Term Forecasts and Hazardous Weather Outlooks.

NOAA Weather Radio is a continuous spoken weather service meaning people can quickly switch on
for the latest weather information before switching back to whichever station they are listening to.

Broadcast routine

352

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/SKYWARN
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Weather_spotting
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/SKYWARN
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Weather_spotting
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Playlist
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Severe_thunderstorm_warning
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Flash_flood_warning


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 6/22

Segment On-air
updates Description

Hourly Weather
Roundup

:05/:10/:15
past the
hour

A one-minute segment detailing the current weather conditions for the station's
region (consisting of current sky condition, temperature, dew point, humidity,
wind speed/direction and barometric pressure), current observations within 50–
75 miles, then current observations within 250 miles of WFO area of
responsibility, and finally the main reporting station's current conditions being
repeated once again. 
If no report is available from the main reporting station, the report of the closest
observation site will be substituted. In some locales, if a regularly-reported
station has no available report, the message "the report from TSA was not
available" will be broadcast. The regional portion may be condensed to a
roundup format if the temperatures are within a 5 °F range or if sky conditions
are the same or differ limitedly at each given reporting site. 
Occasionally, due to technical or other problems, the previous hour's
observations segment may be included in the product playlist as long as 15
minutes into the next hour, after which it is removed until updated information is
available.

Hazardous
Weather Outlook

7:00 a.m.
and
12:00 p.m.
(if needed)

This segment overviews the information about potential thunderstorm activity
(including any areas forecast to be under threat of severe thunderstorms),
heavy rain or flooding, winter weather, wildfire, extremes of heat or cold, or
other conditions that may pose a hazard or threat to travel, life or property over
the next seven days. Occasionally, a NWS WFO may update the Hazardous
Weather Outlook while an event is ongoing or if forecast models denote
changes from previous forecasts. Depending on the NWS office, it may either
state all weather hazards from Day 1–7 or Day 1 separately from Day 2–7.

Regional Weather
Synopsis/Summary

Every 5–6
hours
(starting
from 3:00 or
5:00 a.m.
depending
on the
station)

A report that provides a brief overview of weather events from the previous or
current day within the region, followed by an outlook of expected weather from
the current time to the next few days.

Regional Climate
Summary

Every 15
minutes
(overnights,
mornings
and
evenings)

A summary includes information on the minimum and maximum temperatures
recorded the previous day; 30-year temperature averages and historical
temperature extremes. It also includes wind speed data, sky cover data,
historical humidity extremes, humidity averages, the day's recorded weather
conditions and heating with(out) cooling degree day data. Depending on the
areas, the sunrise and sunset times for the next two days are stated within the
summary or as a separate report. 
Some stations broadcast this first report as early as 1:00 a.m. and the last
report as late as 12:00 p.m.

Regional Forecast

4:00 a.m.
and
3:30 p.m.
(more if
needed)

A report that provides the forecasts for the next seven days for all the counties
across the station's coverage area. In case the time for the updates on another
segment has not come yet, this forecast will typically be broadcast on a looped
format.

Short Term
Forecast

Randomized
times

A localized, event-driven report used to provide the public with detailed weather
information during significant or rapidly changing weather conditions during the
next 3–6 hours. This forecast will often mention the position of precipitation as
detected by radar. In most areas, this forecast product is not included during
routine programming, but will be included when severe weather threatens the
listening area.

Special Weather
Statement

A regional event-driven report using to provide the public with details of the
upcoming significant weather event, such as a major winter storm, a heat wave,
or potential flooding. A significant weather advisory may be issued within a
Special Weather Statement, often if thunderstorm activity whether severe or not
is occurring in, or approaching an area.

353

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Temperature
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dew_point
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Humidity
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wind
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Barometric_pressure
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Thunderstorm
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Flood
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Winter_weather
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wildfire
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Degree_day
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Significant_weather_advisory


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 7/22

Record Information
Announcement

A segment providing newly set records for coldest/warmest maximum or
minimum temperature and maximum precipitation.

Zone Forecast Depending
on the office

A text forecast for local beaches issued by coastal stations, including coastal
hazard information such as that pertaining to rip currents. In more coastal
offices, this forecast is scheduled to play every cycle, compared to every half
hour in more inland offices.

River Forecast If needed

This forecast is only broadcast if there is a potential for flooding or it is
occurring, which would then be included with the hazardous weather outlook.
Daily river forecasts are issued by the 13 river forecast centers using hydrologic
models based on variables such as rainfall, soil characteristics and precipitation
forecasts. Some forecasts, especially those in mountainous regions, also
provide seasonal snow pack and peak flow forecasts. A separate forecast,
River and Small Stream Observations, is broadcast in areas in and outside the
13 river forecast centers and is only broadcast following a significant
hydrological event featuring information on crests, and present and forecasted
flood stages.

Lake Forecast
A forecast that is issued by most stations in the Great Lakes region to explicitly
state expected weather conditions within the marine forecast area through the
next five days. The report addresses expected wave heights and small-craft
advisories currently in effect.

Coastal Waters
Forecast

A forecast stating expected weather conditions and wave heights within the
marine forecast area through the next five days.

Tropical Weather
Summary

Every three
hours (only
if needed)

An event-driven report provides an information summary on any active tropical
cyclones. Activity summaries for the Atlantic Basin are typically included with
stations located in states near the Gulf of Mexico, Caribbean Sea and Atlantic
Ocean, while stations along the West Coast receive summaries concerning the
Pacific Ocean. Depending on the station and associated Weather Forecast
Office, listeners can hear this report every half hour.

Ultraviolet Index

A daily exposure index played on some NOAA stations. The ultraviolet (UV)
index is categorized by the maximum exposure of the sun's rays during the
peak hours of sunlight. It ranges in the following numbers/categories: 

1-2 (Low), 3-5 (Moderate), 6-7(High), 8-10 (Very High), and 11+
(Extreme)

These are additional products that are included in the broadcast cycle occasionally (but are broadcast
at randomized times, depending on the individual transmitter[s]):

Air Quality Index Statement
Agricultural Forecast
Area Forecast Discussion
Area Weather Update
Daily/Monthly Hydrometeorological Products
Heat Index Forecast
High Seas Forecast
Hydro-Met Data Report
Miscellaneous Hydrologic Data
Miscellaneous Local Product
Miscellaneous River Product
Public Information Statement
Offshore Forecast

354

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Flood_stage
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Great_Lakes
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Small_craft_advisory
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Atlantic_Basin
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gulf_of_Mexico
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Caribbean_Sea
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Atlantic_Ocean
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/West_Coast_of_the_United_States
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pacific_Ocean


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 8/22

Clockwise from top: rack-mountable Gorman-Redlich CRW-S, yellow handheld Sangean DT-400W*, hand-crank
BayGen Freeplay, portable Sony ICF-36, and white Midland WR100* base station weather radios. *Public Alert-

certified

Quantitative Precipitation Forecast
State Forecast
Suppression Forecast
Tabular State Forecast
Terminal Aerodrome Forecast
Travellers Forecast

There are a variety of different types of weather radio receivers available in the U.S., including:

Professional-grade receivers, typically rack-mounted, for use by broadcast radio and television
stations and public agencies who are responsible for acting on or retransmitting weather and
emergency alert broadcasts.
Base-station consumer radios powered by commercial AC power (often with a battery backup).
Hand-held battery powered radios, suitable for use by hikers, boaters, and in emergency
preparedness kits.
Hand-crank portable radios that do not require AC or battery power, especially designed for use in
emergency preparedness kits.
Weather radio receivers integrated as an auxiliary function into other devices, such as GMRS
radios, portable televisions, FM radios, etc.
Radio receiver modules, such as the Si4707 from Silicon Labs, designed for electronics
experimenters and project builders have in the past been available.

Historically, it was not uncommon to sell portable radios that featured AM, FM, and TV audio (VHF
channels 2–13), with the weather band included some distance down the dial from TV channel 7 (after
the U.S. digital TV conversion, the television sound function of these radios became obsolete).

Weather radio receivers

355

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Weatheradio.gif
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:SAMEWXRadio.jpg
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Sangean_DT-400W_(10711375244).jpg
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Sony_ICF-36_portable_radio_-_overview.JPG
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Clockwork_Radio.JPG
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/General_Mobile_Radio_Service
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Si4707_weather_band_receiver_breakout.jpg
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Silicon_Labs
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/DTV_transition_in_the_United_States


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 9/22

National Weather Radio Frequencies 
for U.S., Canada, and Mexico (et al.)

# WX8-WX12 frequency order and inclusion varies

Frequency WX [29] 
Channel

Marine 
Channel

Radio
Preset

162.400 MHz WX2 36B 1

162.425 MHz WX4 96B 2

162.450 MHz WX5 37B 3

162.475 MHz WX3 97B 4

162.500 MHz WX6 38B 5

162.525 MHz WX7 98B 6

162.550 MHz WX1 39B 7

161.650 MHz WX# 21B blank

161.750 MHz WX# 23B blank

161.775 MHz WX# 83B blank

162.000 MHz WX# 28B ASM 2

163.275 MHz WX# 113B blank

One of the early consumer weather alert radios (model KH6TY) was designed and manufactured by
Howard (Skip) Teller, who was issued a patent on the alerting mechanism[24][25] and was
instrumental in the design of the PSK31 Digipan software and hardware,[26] and the Amateur radio
NBEMS emergency communications system.

Since April 2004, radio models marketed as "Public Alert-certified" must include these features and
meet certain performance criteria, as specified in electronics industry standard CEA-2009.[27]

The price of a consumer-grade weather radio varies depending on the model and its extra features.[28]

The United States' NWS, Canada's Weatheradio,
Mexico's SARMEX and Bermuda operate their
government weather radio stations on the same
marine VHF radio band, using FM transmitters, and
the same seven frequencies (162.400 –
162.550 MHz) as NOAA Weather Radio
(NWR).[30][31] Bermuda only uses 162.550 (land)
and 162.400 (marine).[32][33]

NWR transmitters operate VHF-FM between 5–
1,000 watts. NWR channels operating in the range of
162.3625–162.5875 MHz (162.4–.55 ± 37.5 kHz)
have a band spacing of 25 kHz may have bandwidths
up to 16 kHz.[34] The original "weather" frequency
used by multiple stations was 162.550 MHz, followed
by 162.400 in 1970, 162.475 in 1975, and the last four
(162.425, 162.450, 162.500 & 162.525 MHz) in
1981.[10][11][12][13]

163.275 MHz was used by KHB47 in New London,
Connecticut initially in 1969 until switching to
162.400 in 1970 to avoid overlapping with KWO35 in
New York, and internally by NWS in case of power outage, but is no longer in active use.[35][4][10][36]

169.075 MHz was initially used by WWG75 transmitting from Mt. Haleakala on Maui in 1970 before
also switching to 162.400 by 1972.[10][37][38]

NOAA Weather Radio, Weatheradio Canada and SARMEX all refer to the seven stations by their
frequencies (MHz):[39][23][30][31]

162.400 162.425 162.450 162.475 162.500 162.525 162.550

Other channel designations such as WX1 through WX7 "have no special significance but are often
designated this way in consumer equipment" and "other channel numbering schemes are also
prevalent/possible" according to NOAA and USCG.[29][40] Ordering channels by when they were

Radio frequencies used

Channel designations

356

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/PSK31
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Amateur_radio
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Weather_Service
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Weatheradio_Canada
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Weather_radio#Mexico
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Radio_station
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Marine_VHF_radio
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Band_(radio)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Frequency_modulation
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Weatheradio_Canada
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Weather_radio#Mexico
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_States_Coast_Guard


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 10/22

Public service announcement
featuring comic strip character
Mark Trail promoting NOAA
Weather Radio

Example NOAA weather radio
coverage for Eastern Michigan.

established (WX1, WX2, ...) is "becoming less 'popular' over time than a numerical ordering of
channels."[29] Weather radios may list stations in the order of their WX#, or by a "Preset Channel"
number 1 thru 7 in ascending frequency order.[41][42][43]

The "WX#" format is continued from WX8 up to WX12 on some lists and radios to include
163.275 MHz and or one or more of the Canadian continuous marine broadcast (CMB) frequencies
161.650, 161.775, 161.750, 162.000. Unlike WX1-WX7 typically ordered by frequency adoption by
NWS, there is no consistent frequency inclusion nor assignment for WX8-WX12.[44][45][46] Effective
January 1, 2019, channels 2027 (161.950 MHz, 27B) and 2028 (162.000 MHz, 28B) are designated as
ASM 1 and ASM 2 respectively for application specific messages (ASM) as described in
Recommendation ITU-R M.2092.[47]

The "WX" arose from the Morse code prosign shorthand for weather reports (WX) combined with the
order number that the seven frequencies were adopted for use nationally. More frequencies helped
prevent interference from other nearby transmitters, growing in use in the 1990s in less-populated
rural, areas and as fill-in broadcast translators relaying an existing station or sending a separate, more
localized broadcast into remote or mountainous areas, or those areas with reception trouble.

As with conventional broadcast television and radio signals, it may be possible to receive more than
one of the seven weather channels at a given location, dependent on factors such as the location,
transmitter power, range and designated coverage area of each station. The NWS suggests that users
determine which frequency (as opposed to channel) is intended for their specific location so that they
are assured of receiving correct and timely information.

All seven NWR channels are
available on stand-alone weather
radio receivers that are currently
sold online and in retail stores
(available for prices ranging from
US$20 and up), as well as on most
marine VHF radio transceivers,
amateur radios and digital
scanners. In addition, more
mainstream consumer electronics,
such as clock radios, portable
multi-band receivers and two-way
radios (such as FRS, GMRS and CB
radio), now feature the ability to
also receive NWR channels. Many
of the aforementioned devices also
incorporate automatic alerting
capabilities. Many American
television stations offer discounted pricing for radios to viewers as a

public courtesy (especially in highly tornado-prone areas), where they are often marketed as an
essential safety device on par with a smoke alarm for home fires.

Present day

Coverage
357

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Mark_Trail_NOAA_Weather_Radio.JPG
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mark_Trail
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:NOAA_weather_radio_map.jpg
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Eastern_Michigan
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Continuous_marine_broadcast
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Prosigns_for_Morse_code
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/RF_interference
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Rural
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Broadcast_translator
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mountain
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Broadcast_range
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Marine_VHF_radio
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Transceiver
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Amateur_radio
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Clock_radio
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Family_Radio_Service
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/GMRS
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Citizens_band_radio
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Smoke_detector


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 11/22

Audio from a NOAA Weather Radio
broadcast of a tornado warning
issued for Greensburg, Kansas on
May 4, 2007. Weather Radio
stations will carry alerts when
dangerous weather threatens a
location within their listening area.

According to NOAA,[48] reliable signal reception typically extends in about a 40-mile radius from a
full-power (1,000 W) transmitter, assuming level terrain. However, signal blockages can occur,
especially in mountainous areas. As of 2016, there are over a thousand NWR transmitters across the
U.S., covering 95% of the population.[49] Because each transmitter can cover several counties,
typically a person will program their weather radio to receive only the alerts for their county or nearby
surrounding counties where weather systems are most likely to move in from.[50]

Whenever a weather or civil emergency alert is issued for any part
of a NWR station's coverage area, many radios with an alert
feature will sound an alarm or turn on upon detection of a 1,050
Hz attention tone  that sounds just before the voice portion of an
alert message. The specification calls for the NWS transmitter to
sound the alert tone for ten seconds and for the receiver to react to
it within five seconds. This system simply triggers the alarm or
turns on the radio of every muted receiver within reception range
of that NWR station (in other words, any receiver located
anywhere within the transmitter's broadcast area). Generally,
receivers with this functionality are either older or basic models.

Many newer or more sophisticated alerting receivers can detect, decode and react to a digital signal
called Specific Area Message Encoding (SAME), which allows users to program their radios to receive
alerts only for specific geographical areas of interest and concern, rather than for an entire broadcast
area. These advanced models may also have colored LED status lights which indicate the level of the
alert as an "advisory"/"statement", "watch" or "warning" (either amber or green for advisories and
statements, orange or yellow for watches, red for warnings).

When an alert is transmitted, the SAME header/data signal  is broadcast first (heard as three
repeated audio "bursts"), followed by the 1,050 Hz attention tone, then the voice message, then the
end-of-message (EOM) data signal (repeated quickly three times). This encoding/decoding
technology has the advantage of avoiding "false alarms" triggered by the 1,050 Hz tone itself in
locations outside the intended warning area. Broadcast areas are generally divided into SAME
locations by county or marine zone using the standard U.S. Government FIPS county codes.

NOAA's SAME alert protocol was later adopted and put into use by the Emergency Alert System
(EAS) in 1997 – the replacement for the earlier Emergency Broadcast System (EBS) and even earlier
CONELRAD – now required by the FCC for standard broadcast TV and radio stations. Environment
Canada eventually integrated SAME alerting capability into its Weatheradio Canada network in
2004.[51] Organizations are able to disseminate and coordinate emergency alerts and warning
messages through NOAA Weather Radio and other public systems by means of the Integrated Public
Alert and Warning System.[52]

In September 2008, Walgreens announced that it would utilize SAME technology to deliver local
weather alerts via a system of LED billboards located outside its drugstore locations to provide an
additional avenue of weather information.[53] Many national billboard companies (such as Outfront
Media, Clear Channel Outdoor and Lamar, among others) also use their color LED billboard networks
to display weather warnings to drivers, while state-owned freeway notification boards, which utilize
the EAS/NOAA infrastructure for AMBER Alerts, also display weather warnings.

Alerting

0:00 MENU

358

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Greensburg,_Kansas
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/May_2007_tornado_outbreak
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:1050Hz_Tone.ogg
https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/7/7d/1050Hz_Tone.ogg
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pitch_(music)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Second
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Specific_Area_Message_Encoding
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Light_emitting_diode
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Same.wav
https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/2/25/Same.wav
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/FIPS_county_code
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Emergency_Alert_System
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Emergency_Broadcast_System
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/CONELRAD
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Environment_Canada
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Weatheradio_Canada
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Integrated_Public_Alert_and_Warning_System
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Walgreens
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Billboard
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Outfront_Media
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Clear_Channel_Outdoor
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lamar_Advertising_Company
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Variable-message_sign


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 12/22

Every local National Weather Service weather forecast office is required to conduct a scheduled
weekly test of the NOAA Weather Radio public alert system, generally occurring every Wednesday
between 10:00 a.m. and 12:00 p.m. (noon). Certain Weather Forecast Offices conduct this twice a
week, usually testing two time on Wednesday, usually between 10:00 a.m. and 12:00 p.m. (noon) and
then again between 6:00 p.m. and 8:00 p.m. Other offices test once on Wednesday, and then again on
Saturday. Some NOAA Weather Radio stations also broadcast tests of the Emergency Alert System on
predetermined days and times.

If there is a threat of severe weather that day in a NWR station's listening area, the weekly test is
postponed until the next available fair-weather day (sometimes, a short message stating the reason for
the test's cancellation is broadcast). The required weekly test (SAME event code "RWT") interrupts
regular NWR programming — during the test, a SAME data header is sent, followed by a 1050 Hz
attention tone, the voice test message, then a SAME end-of-message (EOM) signal. The text of the test
message used by most NWS offices, with variations depending on the office, is typically as follows:

"This is the National Weather Service office in [city]. The preceding signal was a test of the
NOAA Weather Radio warning alarm system on station [call sign of radio station] in
[location]. During potential or actual dangerous weather situations, specially built
receivers are automatically activated by this signal to warn of the impending hazard. Tests
of this signal and receivers' performance are usually conducted by this National Weather
Service office on Wednesdays at [time of day]. When there is a threat of severe weather, or
existing severe weather is in the area on Wednesday, the test will be postponed until the
next available good-weather day. Reception of this broadcast, and especially the warning
alarm signal, will vary at any given location. The variability, normally more noticeable at
greater distances from the transmitter, will occur even though you are using a good quality
receiver in perfect working order. To provide the most consistent warning service possible,
the warning alarm will be activated only for selected watches and warnings affecting the
following counties: [list of counties]. This concludes the test of the warning alarm system
on NOAA Weather Radio station [call sign]. We now return to normal programming."[54]

From the introduction of NOAA Weather Radio until the late 1990s, nearly all the voices heard in the
broadcasts were those of the staff at local National Weather Service (NWS) offices. The messages were
manually recorded, first on tape cartridges and later digitally, and then placed in the broadcast cycle.
As the NWS added more transmitters to provide broader radio coverage, the staff had difficulty
keeping broadcast cycles updated in a timely fashion, especially during major severe weather
outbreaks.[55]

Emergency alert test procedure

Voices

System upgrades

1990s Console Replacement System

359

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Emergency_Alert_System
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Weather_Service


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 13/22

To manage the increasing number of transmitters for each office and to speed the overall delivery of
warning messages to the public, the Console Replacement System (CRS) was deployed at NWS
weather forecast offices in 1997.[55] CRS introduced a computerized voice nicknamed "Paul", using a
text-to-speech system which was based on the DECtalk technology. This system was chosen over more
readily available concatenative synthesis because each forecast, watch and warning requires unique
wording to relay the most accurate and relevant information. Concatenation is typically used by
telephone companies, banks and other service businesses where a limited vocabulary of recorded
words can easily take the place of specific, repetitive phrases and sentences. NOAA Weather Radio
broadcasts contain a wide variety of information which changes with the weather. Forecasters need to
have many words to choose from when writing their forecasts and warnings for the public.[5]

Although CRS greatly enhanced the delivery speed and scheduling of Weather Radio messages, some
listeners disliked Paul's voice, as it was very monotone and did not resemble a normal speaking voice
due to CRS not having the technological advances at the time to resemble human speech patterns.[55]

Voice Type of Weather Message File
Size

CRS
Paul

Weather Synopsis (https://web.archive.org/web/20170126025101/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/a
udio/Paul_SYN.wav)

191
KB

In 2002, the National Weather Service contracted with Siemens Information and Communication and
SpeechWorks to introduce improved, more natural voices. The Voice Improvement Plan (VIP) was
implemented, involving a separate computer processor linked into CRS that fed digitized sound files
to the broadcast suite. The improvements involved one male voice ("Craig"), and one female voice
("Donna"). Additional upgrades in 2003 improved "Donna" and introduced an improved male voice
nicknamed "Tom", which had variable intonation based on the urgency of the report. As part of this
upgrade a Spanish voice, "Javier", was added at a few sites.[55] Due to the superior quality of the
"Tom" voice, most NWS offices used it for the majority of broadcasts and announcements.

2002 Voice Improvement Program

360

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Speech_synthesis
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/DECtalk
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Concatenative_synthesis
https://web.archive.org/web/20170126025101/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/audio/Paul_SYN.wav
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Siemens
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/SpeechWorks


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 14/22

Voice Type of Weather Message File
Size

VIP
Tom

Coastal Waters Forecast (https://web.archive.org/web/20120925001634/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/
nwr/audio/Tom_CWF.mp3)

481
KB

VIP
Tom

Local Forecast (https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/audio/
Tom_LFP.mp3)

498
KB

VIP
Tom

Weather Synopsis (https://web.archive.org/web/20120925001629/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/au
dio/Tom_SYN.mp3)

125
KB

VIP
Donna

Great Lakes Marine Forecast (https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.
gov/nwr/audio/Donna_GLF.mp3)

220
KB

VIP
Donna

Hazardous Weather Outlook (https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.g
ov/nwr/audio/Donna_HWO.mp3)

127
KB

VIP
Donna

Hourly Weather Observation (https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.g
ov/nwr/audio/Donna_HWR.mp3)

268
KB

VIP
Javier

Climate Summary (https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/au
dio/Javier_CLI.mp3)

112
KB

VIP
Javier

Hourly Weather Observation (https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.g
ov/nwr/audio/Javier_HWR.mp3)

292
KB

VIP
Javier

Local Forecast (https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/audio/
Javier_LFP.mp3)

285
KB

In 2016, the NWS replaced almost all of the CRS systems in operation at its Weather Forecast Offices
—which had been in use for over 20 years and were approaching the end of the system's expected
service life—with the Broadcast Message Handler (BMH). The new system is more closely integrated
with the AWIPS software and intended to be more reliable.[56] The BMH units replaced "Donna" and
"Tom" with an improved "Paul" voice (its classification from new voice partner NeoSpeech[57][58]).
Many stations have dubbed him "Paul II" or "Paul Jr" to avoid confusion with CRS "Perfect Paul". For
the NWS offices that incorporate Spanish programming into the NWR broadcast cycle, VIP "Javier"
was replaced with a much improved female voice named "Violetta" (another voice from NeoSpeech).
The upgrade initially began at six offices: Greenville-Spartanburg, South Carolina; Brownsville, Texas;
Omaha, Nebraska; Portland, Oregon; Anchorage, Alaska; and Tiyan, Guam.[59] Many of the stations
saw an initial negative reaction primarily due to many mispronunciations. Most local NWS Offices
provide a method of reporting these problems, and have the ability to reprogram the voices
accordingly.

Voice Type of Weather Message File
Size

BMH
Paul

Local Forecast (https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/au
dio/BMH_Paul.mp3)

280
KB

BMH
Violetta

Marine Forecast (https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/a
udio/BMH_Violetta.mp3)

1,196
KB

Broadcast Message Handler

Wireless NOAA Weather Radio Stations

361

https://web.archive.org/web/20120925001634/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/audio/Tom_CWF.mp3
https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/audio/Tom_LFP.mp3
https://web.archive.org/web/20120925001629/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/audio/Tom_SYN.mp3
https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/audio/Donna_GLF.mp3
https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/audio/Donna_HWO.mp3
https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/audio/Donna_HWR.mp3
https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/audio/Javier_CLI.mp3
https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/audio/Javier_HWR.mp3
https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/audio/Javier_LFP.mp3
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/AWIPS
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NeoSpeech
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Greenville,_South_Carolina
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Spartanburg,_South_Carolina
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Brownsville,_Texas
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Omaha,_Nebraska
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Portland,_Oregon
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Anchorage
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tiyan,_Guam
https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/audio/BMH_Paul.mp3
https://web.archive.org/web/20120510120704/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/audio/BMH_Violetta.mp3


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 15/22

Beginning in at least 2017, several NWS offices began to switch some of their NWR transmitter input
audio from a traditional cable phoneline to a digital wireless connection that is supplied to the
transmitter location. A few methods of transmitting the audio from the NWS Office to the transmitter
currently exist, including using a cellular network linking, as well as UHF transmission. As a result,
the outputting sound that comes from the station's transmitter generally has a much higher quality
than it would with a phoneline. In May 2017, KEC80 in Atlanta, Georgia became the first known NWR
station to switch to wireless audio communication, utilizing NWS Peachtree City's cellular network.
Some challenges have presented themselves with wireless stations, mainly more common station
outages, as well as sporadic skipping of the audio feed.

As of 2021, phoneline stations still dominate a majority of the 1,000+ NWR transmitters across the
United States. However their quality and audibility depends on the cables and transmitters
themselves. Compared to wireless stations, phoneline stations tend to have a more quiet tone to them,
with telephone like audio quality. On the other hand, wireless stations sound tend to have a higher
sample rate and audio quality, with more treble and a much crisper sound. The nature of this type of
sound makes it distinguishable when the Paul voice contains an "s" sound.

Human voices are still heard on occasion, but sparingly, mainly during station identifications, public
forecasts, National Marine Fisheries Service messages, public information statements, public service
announcements, required weekly tests, and severe weather events. The capability exists for a
meteorologist to broadcast live on any transmitter if computer problems occur or added emphasis is
desired, or to notify listeners who are concerned about a silent station on another frequency whether
that station is dark due to technical errors, prolonged power outage, or a weather event has forced it
off the air.

Some weather forecast offices will issue a secondary report in Spanish during severe weather events
or warnings. Few NWR stations broadcast weather information in Spanish."NOAA Weather Spanish
Voice" (https://www.weather.gov/nwr/spanish).

Four WFOs disseminate all content using dedicated stations to be only Broadcast in the Spanish-
Language, separate from their English-language Counter Channels: San Diego (WNG712 in
Coachella/Riverside), El Paso (WNG652), Miami (WZ2531 in Hialeah, since 2012), and Brownsville
(WZ2541 in Pharr and WZ2542 in Harlingen, since 2014). These stations originally used a synthesized
Spanish male voice named "Javier" for all broadcasts, but have since been upgraded with the BMH
female voice "Violetta".

The Albuquerque WFO often repeats weather alerts in Spanish after their initial dissemination in
English. Station WXJ69 in San Juan, Puerto Rico broadcasts all information, including forecasts, in
the same manner.

The National Weather Service in Tampa Bay Area/Ruskin (https://www.weather.gov/tbw/) plays a
severe weather programming Station I.D. in the broadcast cycle if an alert is issued for the station
warning area using the Spanish Voice, but it plays the English text version of the product, resulting in
the Text-To-Speech software reading English text being pronounced in Spanish.

Human voices

Broadcasting-in-Spanish

362

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Telephone_line
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wireless
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cellular_network
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ultra_high_frequency
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Peachtree_City,_Georgia
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Marine_Fisheries_Service
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Public_service_announcement
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Silent_(broadcasting)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Power_outage
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Spanish_language
https://www.weather.gov/nwr/spanish
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/San_Diego
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Coachella,_California
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Riverside,_California
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/El_Paso,_Texas
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Miami
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Hialeah,_Florida
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Brownsville,_Texas
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pharr,_Texas
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Harlingen,_Texas
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Albuquerque
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/WXJ69
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/San_Juan,_Puerto_Rico
https://www.weather.gov/tbw/


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 16/22

Several websites provide internet audio streaming of a subset of the NOAA Weather radio stations,
but the most prominent of these, the Wunderadio section of weather information website Weather
Underground, discontinued live streams of NWR broadcasts in April 2017.[60] In February 2017, as
Weather Underground prepared to discontinue its Wunderadio subpage, a group of individuals
formed the site noaaweatherradio.org (http://www.noaaweatherradio.org) to allow former
Wunderadio users and others to listen to NWR audio feeds. A large majority of the feeds featured on
the Weather Underground's Wunderadio page were incorporated onto the new site. Various NOAA
Weather Radio station streams are also available at broadcastify.com (http://www.broadcastify.com),
weatherusa.net/radio (http://www.weatherusa.net/radio) and PlanoWeather (https://www.planowea
ther.com/).

Navtex
Severe weather terminology (United States)
Weather radio
Weatheradio Canada

1. "The History of NOAA Weather Radio" (https://web.archive.org/web/20150402093323/http://weath
erradios.com/blog/the-history-of-noaa-weather-radio). Weather Radios Direct. Archived from the
original (http://weatherradios.com/blog/the-history-of-noaa-weather-radio) on April 2, 2015.
Retrieved May 13, 2014.

2. "History of NOAA Weather Radio" (http://www.crh.noaa.gov/dvn/?n=nwrhistory). National Oceanic
and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA).

3. Nelson, W.C. (2002). "American Warning Dissemination and NOAA Weather Radio" (http://cliffedit
s.com/thesis/thesis.html).

4. "Marine Weather Services, ESSA/PI 68003" (https://books.google.com/books?id=O8gHZbsIc04C)
(Brochure). U.S. Department of Commerce, Environmental Science Services Administration.
1970.

5. "Voices Used on NOAA Weather Radio" (https://web.archive.org/web/20080206061120/http://nws.
noaa.gov/nwr/newvoice.htm). National Weather Service. Archived from the original (http://nws.noa
a.gov/nwr/newvoice.htm) on February 6, 2008.

6. "Voice Improvement Processor" (http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/VIPstatus.htm). National Oceanic
and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA).

7. Kupec, R. J. (July–August 2008). "Tuning in: Weather radios for those most at risk". Journal of
Emergency Management. 6 (4): 51. doi:10.5055/jem.2008.0029 (https://doi.org/10.5055%2Fjem.2
008.0029).

8. "Birth of NOAA Weather Radio" (https://vlab.ncep.noaa.gov/web/nws-heritage/explore-nws-history
#event-birth-of-noaa-weather-radio). National Weather Service Heritage. Retrieved January 23,
2020.

Live streaming

See also

References

363

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Weather_Underground_(weather_service)
http://www.noaaweatherradio.org/
http://www.broadcastify.com/
http://www.weatherusa.net/radio
https://www.planoweather.com/
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Navtex
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Severe_weather_terminology_(United_States)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Weather_radio
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Weatheradio_Canada
https://web.archive.org/web/20150402093323/http://weatherradios.com/blog/the-history-of-noaa-weather-radio
http://weatherradios.com/blog/the-history-of-noaa-weather-radio
http://www.crh.noaa.gov/dvn/?n=nwrhistory
http://cliffedits.com/thesis/thesis.html
https://books.google.com/books?id=O8gHZbsIc04C
https://web.archive.org/web/20080206061120/http://nws.noaa.gov/nwr/newvoice.htm
http://nws.noaa.gov/nwr/newvoice.htm
http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/VIPstatus.htm
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Doi_(identifier)
https://doi.org/10.5055%2Fjem.2008.0029
https://vlab.ncep.noaa.gov/web/nws-heritage/explore-nws-history#event-birth-of-noaa-weather-radio


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 17/22

9. Hurricane Camille: A Report to the Administrator (ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/N
WS/Assessments/Hurricane-Camille.pdf) (PDF). U.S. Department of Commerce, Environmental
Science Services Administration. September 1969. Retrieved January 18, 2020. "it is further
recommended that the VHF-FM Weather Broadcasts, an extremely effective means of
communication with the general public and responsible authority, be installed as planned on the
Gulf and Atlantic coasts"

10. "NOAA VHF Radio Weather, NOAA/PI 70035 1970" (ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/
NOAA_historic_documents/NOAA_historical_brochures/Weather/NWS-WeatherRadio1970.pdf)
(PDF) (Brochure). U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration, National Weather Service. 1970. Retrieved January 17, 2019.

11. Jenson, Clayton E.; et al. (April 1975). The Federal Plan for Meteorological Services and
Supporting Research, Fiscal Year 1976 (https://archive.org/details/federalplanf00unit/page/21).
Pennsylvania State University Document Collection May 14, 1975: U.S. Department of
Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. pp. 21 & 62. Retrieved
January 18, 2020. "The NOAA Weather Radio, operating at 162.4, 162.475, or 162.55 MHz
provides continuous radio broadcasts" & "These broadcasts, transmitted on frequencies of 162.40
MHZ, 162.475 MHz, and 162.55 MHz, provide continuous weather forecasts and warnings"

12. Carnegie, Samuel (April 1981). Conference record of papers presented at the thirty-first annual
conference, Washington, DC, April 6, 7, 8, 1981, "Status of NOAA Weather Radio Program" (http
s://zenodo.org/record/1282717). National Weather Service. Washington, DC: Institute of Electrical
and Electronics Engineers, 1981. p. 109. doi:10.1109/VTC.1981.1622917 (https://doi.org/10.110
9%2FVTC.1981.1622917). S2CID 39769334 (https://api.semanticscholar.org/CorpusID:3976933
4). "FREQUENCY ADDITIONS: In addition to 162.40, 162.475 and 162.55 MHz, NWS has
received 4 additional frequencies for use in NWR. These additional frequencies are 162.425,
162.45, 162.5 and 162.525MHz. With these additional frequencies, we are hopeful that Co-
channel interference can be eliminated and expansion of NWR can result, but the net effect will be
tighter specifications for NWR receiver selectivity."

13. "West Virginia Blue Book", Volume 67 (https://books.google.com/books?id=jf3vAAAAMAAJ).
Original from Pennsylvania State University: Tribune Company. 1981. p. 535. Retrieved
January 20, 2020. "“Hinton 162.425 MHz” “Sutton 162.45 MHz” “Flat Top 162.50 MHz” “Gilbert
162.525 MHz”"

14. "A Proposed Nationwide Natural Disaster Warning System (NADWARN): Report with Background
Information" (https://books.google.com/books?id=TLN8bCSGnrwC). 1965.

15. https://www.weather.gov/media/publications/assessments/palmsunday65.pdf
16. ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/docs.lib/htdocs/rescue/journals/essa_world/QC851U461967jan.pdf
17. "VHF Weather Radio Broadcasts Dedicated at Denver, Sacramento" (ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/doc

s.lib/htdocs/rescue/journals/noaa_week/GC1N581972v3no43.pdf) (PDF). NOAA Week. Vol. 3,
no. 43. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. October 20, 1972. Retrieved
January 17, 2020. "The sixtieth National Weather Service continuous transmission weather radio
station was dedicated at Denver, Colo., Sept 28"

18. Mogil, H. Michael; Groper, Herbert S. (April 1977). " "NWS's Servere Local Storm Warning and
Disaster Preparedness Programs" National Weather Service Headquarters, NOAA" (https://doi.or
g/10.1175%2F1520-0477%281977%29058%3C0318%3ANSLSWA%3E2.0.CO%3B2). Bulletin of
the American Meteorological Society. 58 (4): 318–329. doi:10.1175/1520-
0477(1977)058<0318:NSLSWA>2.0.CO;2 (https://doi.org/10.1175%2F1520-0477%281977%2905
8%3C0318%3ANSLSWA%3E2.0.CO%3B2).

364

ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NWS/Assessments/Hurricane-Camille.pdf
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NOAA_historic_documents/NOAA_historical_brochures/Weather/NWS-WeatherRadio1970.pdf
https://archive.org/details/federalplanf00unit/page/21
https://zenodo.org/record/1282717
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Doi_(identifier)
https://doi.org/10.1109%2FVTC.1981.1622917
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/S2CID_(identifier)
https://api.semanticscholar.org/CorpusID:39769334
https://books.google.com/books?id=jf3vAAAAMAAJ
https://books.google.com/books?id=TLN8bCSGnrwC
https://www.weather.gov/media/publications/assessments/palmsunday65.pdf
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/docs.lib/htdocs/rescue/journals/essa_world/QC851U461967jan.pdf
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/docs.lib/htdocs/rescue/journals/noaa_week/GC1N581972v3no43.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1175%2F1520-0477%281977%29058%3C0318%3ANSLSWA%3E2.0.CO%3B2
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Doi_(identifier)
https://doi.org/10.1175%2F1520-0477%281977%29058%3C0318%3ANSLSWA%3E2.0.CO%3B2


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 18/22

19. "Weather Radio Network Passes 200 Goal Is 340" (ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/docs.lib/htdocs/rescu
e/journals/noaa/QC851U461978jul.pdf) (PDF). NOAA Magazine. Vol. 8, no. 3. National Oceanic
and Atmospheric Administration. July 1978. p. 59. Retrieved January 18, 2020. "On 2 May 1978,
the WXK84 in Memphis, TN became the 200th NOAA Weather Radio station to go into service
followed by WXK47 in Bristol, TN three days later as part of a goal of 340 stations reaching 90
percent of the nation’s population by 1979."

20. "300th Station on the Air" (ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/docs.lib/htdocs/rescue/journals/noaa/QC851U4
61979oct.pdf) (PDF). NOAA Magazine. Vol. 9, no. 4. National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration. October 1979. p. 63. Retrieved January 19, 2020. "The Nation's 300th NOAA
Weather Radio station (WXL-S7[invalid station#, is WXL45]) went on the air in September in
Columbia, Mo., ... the latest in a 350-station network of NOAA Weather Radios slated to be in
operation by the end of the year"

21. "NOAA Weather Radio, NOAA/PA 76015" (https://books.google.com/books?id=pwU_Ce7B8KwC)
(Brochure). U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration,
National Weather Service. 1988.

22. "NOAA Weather Radio – The Voice of NOAA's National Weather Service, NOAA/PA 96070, Rev
May 1999" (https://web.archive.org/web/20120928035828/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/resource
s/nwr.pdf) (PDF) (Brochure). U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration, National Weather Service. May 1999. Archived from the original (http://www.nws.n
oaa.gov/nwr/resources/nwr.pdf) (PDF) on September 28, 2012. Retrieved January 18, 2020.

23. "NOAA Weather Radio – The Voice of NOAA's National Weather Service, NOAA/PA 94062, Rev
January 2020" (https://www.weather.gov/media/nwr/NWR_Brochure_NOAA_PA_94062.pdf)
(PDF) (Brochure). U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration, National Weather Service. January 2020. Retrieved January 15, 2020.

24. Teller, Howard. "Latching detector circuit US 4158148 A" (https://www.google.com/patents/US415
8148). Retrieved July 5, 2015.

25. "Howard (Skip) Teller" (http://www.qsl.net/kh6ty/). Qsl.net. Retrieved July 5, 2015.
26. Howard "Skip" Teller & Dave Benson (June 2000). "A Panoramic Transceiving System for PSK31"

(http://www.qsl.net/kh6ty/digipan.pdf) (PDF). Retrieved July 5, 2015 – via Qsl.net.
27. PUBLIC ALERT: Delivers Emergency All-Hazard Warnings, Everywhere, All the Time (https://web.

archive.org/web/20130830084020/http://ce.org/CorporateSite/media/Standards-Media/PA_Whitep
aper_9-3-08.pdf) (PDF) (Report). Consumer Electronics Association® (CEA). Archived from the
original (https://www.ce.org/CorporateSite/media/Standards-Media/PA_Whitepaper_9-3-08.pdf)
(PDF) on August 30, 2013. Retrieved June 3, 2015.

28. "NOAA Weather Radio All Hazards: On Alert For All Emergencies" (https://web.archive.org/web/2
0151020124416/http://www.erh.noaa.gov/okx/pdf/NWRfactsheet0307.pdf) (PDF) (Fact Sheet).
NOAA. Archived from the original (http://www.erh.noaa.gov/okx/pdf/NWRfactsheet0307.pdf)
(PDF) on October 20, 2015.

29. "U.S. VHF CHANNEL INFORMATION" (https://www.navcen.uscg.gov/?pageName=mtvhf). U.S.
Coast Guard, Navigation Center. Retrieved January 17, 2020.

30. "Weatheradio: find your network" (https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/service
s/weatheradio/find-your-network.html). Government of Canada. Retrieved January 19, 2020.

31. "Sistema de Alerta de Riesgos Mexicano" (http://www.cires.org.mx/sarmex_es.php) [Mexican Risk
Alert System] (in Spanish). Centro de Instrumentación y Registro Sísmico, A.C. Retrieved
January 19, 2020.

32. "Bermuda Radio/ZBR Broadcast Schedule" (http://www.rccbermuda.bm/Documents/BMOC/broad
cast.schedule.pdf) (PDF). Bermuda Marine and Ports Department. Retrieved January 19, 2020.

33. "Radio stations in Hamilton" (http://worldradiomap.com/bm/hamilton). World Radio Map. Retrieved
January 19, 2020.

365

ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/docs.lib/htdocs/rescue/journals/noaa/QC851U461978jul.pdf
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/docs.lib/htdocs/rescue/journals/noaa/QC851U461979oct.pdf
https://books.google.com/books?id=pwU_Ce7B8KwC
https://web.archive.org/web/20120928035828/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/resources/nwr.pdf
http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/resources/nwr.pdf
https://www.weather.gov/media/nwr/NWR_Brochure_NOAA_PA_94062.pdf
https://www.google.com/patents/US4158148
http://www.qsl.net/kh6ty/
http://www.qsl.net/kh6ty/digipan.pdf
https://web.archive.org/web/20130830084020/http://ce.org/CorporateSite/media/Standards-Media/PA_Whitepaper_9-3-08.pdf
https://www.ce.org/CorporateSite/media/Standards-Media/PA_Whitepaper_9-3-08.pdf
https://web.archive.org/web/20151020124416/http://www.erh.noaa.gov/okx/pdf/NWRfactsheet0307.pdf
http://www.erh.noaa.gov/okx/pdf/NWRfactsheet0307.pdf
https://www.navcen.uscg.gov/?pageName=mtvhf
https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/weatheradio/find-your-network.html
http://www.cires.org.mx/sarmex_es.php
http://www.rccbermuda.bm/Documents/BMOC/broadcast.schedule.pdf
http://worldradiomap.com/bm/hamilton


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 19/22

34. "4.3.7 Channeling Plan for Assignments in the Band 162–174 MHz – CONDITIONS AND
LIMITATIONS – 2. Wideband Operations" (https://www.ntia.doc.gov/legacy/osmhome/redbook/4d
_5_10.pdf) (PDF). Manual Of Regulations And Procedures For Federal Radio Frequency
Management – January 2008 Edition, September 2009 Revision (https://www.ntia.doc.gov/files/nti
a/publications/manual_sept_2009.pdf) (PDF) (Report). U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE –
National Telecommunications and Information Administration. pp. 4–180. Retrieved January 19,
2020.

35. "21st VHF-FM System Dedicated in Conn" (ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/docs.lib/htdocs/rescue/journal
s/essa_news/QC801E71969v5no48.pdf) (PDF). ESSA News. Vol. 5, no. 48. U.S. Department of
Commerce, Environmental Science Services Administration. November 28, 1969.

36. "National Weather Service Marine Products Via NOAA Weather Radio" (https://web.archive.org/w
eb/20190111004852/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/om/marine/wxradio.htm). NOAA's National
Weather Service Marine Forecasts. Archived from the original (http://www.nws.noaa.gov/om/marin
e/wxradio.htm) on January 11, 2019. Retrieved January 11, 2019. "Many NOAA Weather Radio
receivers are also programmed for three additional frequencies; 161.650 MHz (marine VHF Ch
21B), 161.775 MHz (marine VHF Ch 83B) and 163.275 MHz. The first two frequencies are used
by Canada for marine weather broadcasts. 163.275 MHz was used by the National Weather
Service for earlier weather broadcasts and later for internal coordination in the event of a power
outage but is no longer in active use."

37. "Marine Weather Services, NOAA/PA 70029 (Rev. 1972)" (ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_docume
nts.lib/NOAA_historic_documents/NOAA_historical_brochures/Weather/NWS-MarineWeather-197
2.pdf) (PDF) (Brochure). U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration, National Weather Service. 1972. Retrieved January 17, 2019.

38. "NOAA VHF Radio Weather, NOAA/PA 70035 (Rev.) 1972" (https://books.google.com/books?id=x
vljJyX4J-sC) (Brochure). U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration, National Weather Service. 1972. Retrieved January 17, 2019.

39. "NOAA Weather Radio" (https://www.weather.gov/nwr/). National Weather Service. U.S.
Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Weather
Service. January 16, 2020. Retrieved January 16, 2020.

40. "Dissemination of Marine Weather by the NWS" (https://www.weather.gov/marine/nws_disseminat
ion).

41. "All Hazards NOAA Weather Radio, Page 11" (https://www.weather.gov/media/ind/nwr/NOAA_We
ather_Radio.pdf) (PDF).

42. "NOAA All-Hazards Weather Radio Help" (https://www.weather.gov/ohx/nwrhelp).
43. "Midland X-Tra Talk GXT1000//1050 Series GMRS/FRS Radio Owner's Manual, Page 21" (https://

midlandusa.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/GXT1000-Owners-Manual1.pdf) (PDF).
44. "Two-Way Radio User's Guide, Model SX700 series, "WX8-WX12" " (https://www.motorolasolution

s.com/content/dam/msi/docs/products/two-way-radios/consumer/user-guides/sx-series/sx700_use
rguide.pdf) (PDF). Motorola Solutions. 2005. Retrieved January 15, 2020.

45. Leimer, Andy (May 2005). "Part 80 VHF Transceivers and Marine Radars, Andy Leimer,
Equipment Authorization Branch Equipment, Federal Communications Commission Office of
Engineering and Technology Laboratory Division, page 10 "WX 10 163.725" " (https://transition.fc
c.gov/oet/ea/presentations/files/may05/PT_80_VHF_Transmitters.pdf) (PDF). Federal
Communications Commission. Retrieved January 16, 2020.

46. "Talkabout Emergency Preparedness Two-Way Radio T480 MN001399A01-AA "WX10 161.750" "
(https://www.motorolasolutions.com/content/dam/msi/docs/products/two-way-radios/consumer/T4
80/T480-User-Guide.pdf) (PDF). Motorola Solutions. May 26, 2015. Retrieved January 16, 2020.

366

https://www.ntia.doc.gov/legacy/osmhome/redbook/4d_5_10.pdf
https://www.ntia.doc.gov/files/ntia/publications/manual_sept_2009.pdf
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/docs.lib/htdocs/rescue/journals/essa_news/QC801E71969v5no48.pdf
https://web.archive.org/web/20190111004852/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/om/marine/wxradio.htm
http://www.nws.noaa.gov/om/marine/wxradio.htm
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NOAA_historic_documents/NOAA_historical_brochures/Weather/NWS-MarineWeather-1972.pdf
https://books.google.com/books?id=xvljJyX4J-sC
https://www.weather.gov/nwr/
https://www.weather.gov/marine/nws_dissemination
https://www.weather.gov/media/ind/nwr/NOAA_Weather_Radio.pdf
https://www.weather.gov/ohx/nwrhelp
https://midlandusa.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/GXT1000-Owners-Manual1.pdf
https://www.motorolasolutions.com/content/dam/msi/docs/products/two-way-radios/consumer/user-guides/sx-series/sx700_userguide.pdf
https://transition.fcc.gov/oet/ea/presentations/files/may05/PT_80_VHF_Transmitters.pdf
https://www.motorolasolutions.com/content/dam/msi/docs/products/two-way-radios/consumer/T480/T480-User-Guide.pdf


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 20/22

47. "INTERNATIONAL VHF MARINE RADIO CHANNELS AND FREQUENCIES" (https://www.navce
n.uscg.gov/?pageName=apps18). United States Coast Guard, Navigation Center. Retrieved
January 15, 2020.

48. "County Coverage by State" (https://web.archive.org/web/20150502165831/http://www.nws.noaa.
gov/nwr/coverage/county_coverage.html). NOAA Weather Radio All Hazards. U.S. Department of
Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Weather Service.
Archived from the original (http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/coverage/county_coverage.html) on May
2, 2015. Retrieved January 12, 2015.

49. "Emergency Warnings For People With Hearing Loss" (https://web.archive.org/web/20150704021
423/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/info/shhh.html). NOAA Weather Radio All Hazards. U.S.
Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Weather
Service. Archived from the original (http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/info/shhh.html) on July 4, 2015.
Retrieved September 6, 2017.

50. "Using NWR SAME" (https://web.archive.org/web/20150512173810/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/
info/usingsame.html). NOAA Weather Radio All Hazards. U.S. Department of Commerce,
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Weather Service. Archived from the
original (http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/info/usingsame.html) on May 12, 2015. Retrieved
January 12, 2016.

51. "Weatheradio Network" (https://web.archive.org/web/20150427142851/http://www.ec.gc.ca/media
_archive/press/2004/040107_b_e.htm) (Press release). January 7, 2004. Archived from the
original (http://www.ec.gc.ca/media_archive/press/2004/040107_b_e.htm) on April 27, 2015.

52. "Integrated Public Alert & Warning System" (https://www.fema.gov/integrated-public-alert-warning-
system). fema.gov. Federal Emergency Management Agency. September 18, 2018. Retrieved
September 22, 2018. "IPAWS provides public safety officials with an effective way to alert and
warn the public about serious emergencies using the Emergency Alert System (EAS), Wireless
Emergency Alerts (WEA), the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Weather
Radio, and other public alerting systems from a single interface."

53. "Walgreens Electronic Outdoor Signs Now Deliver Vital Weather Messages at More Than 3,000
Corner Locations Across America" (https://web.archive.org/web/20080927033326/http://news.wal
greens.com/article_display.cfm?article_id=5055). Walgreens. Archived from the original (http://ne
ws.walgreens.com/article_display.cfm?article_id=5055) on September 27, 2008.

54. "NOAA Weather Radio Alarm Test Procedures" (http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/info/nwrtest.html).
National Weather Service. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.

55. "Voices Used on NOAA Weather Radio" (https://web.archive.org/web/20150703220101/https://ww
w.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/info/newvoice.html). NOAA Weather Radio All Hazards. U.S. Department of
Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Weather Service.
Archived from the original (http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/info/newvoice.html) on July 3, 2015.
Retrieved September 4, 2017.

56. "New NOAA Weather Radio Management Platform is Coming Soon" (https://www.weather.gov/dd
c/BMHDDC). National Weather Service. Dodge City, KS: U.S. Department of Commerce, National
Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Weather Service. Retrieved September 4,
2017.

57. "New All Hazards NOAA Weather Radio Now Operational" (https://www.weather.gov/mkx/bmh).
National Weather Service. Milwaukee/Sullivan, WI: U.S. Department of Commerce, National
Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Weather Service. May 24, 2016. Retrieved
June 1, 2016.

58. Huttner, Paul (June 15, 2016). "NOAA Weather Radio has a new voice, and his name is Paul" (htt
p://blogs.mprnews.org/updraft/2016/06/noaa-weather-radio-has-a-new-voice-and-his-name-is-pau
l/). Minnesota Public Radio. Retrieved June 18, 2016.

367

https://www.navcen.uscg.gov/?pageName=apps18
https://web.archive.org/web/20150502165831/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/coverage/county_coverage.html
http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/coverage/county_coverage.html
https://web.archive.org/web/20150704021423/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/info/shhh.html
http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/info/shhh.html
https://web.archive.org/web/20150512173810/http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/info/usingsame.html
http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/info/usingsame.html
https://web.archive.org/web/20150427142851/http://www.ec.gc.ca/media_archive/press/2004/040107_b_e.htm
http://www.ec.gc.ca/media_archive/press/2004/040107_b_e.htm
https://www.fema.gov/integrated-public-alert-warning-system
https://web.archive.org/web/20080927033326/http://news.walgreens.com/article_display.cfm?article_id=5055
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Walgreens
http://news.walgreens.com/article_display.cfm?article_id=5055
http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/info/nwrtest.html
https://web.archive.org/web/20150703220101/https://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/info/newvoice.html
http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/info/newvoice.html
https://www.weather.gov/ddc/BMHDDC
https://www.weather.gov/mkx/bmh
http://blogs.mprnews.org/updraft/2016/06/noaa-weather-radio-has-a-new-voice-and-his-name-is-paul/
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Minnesota_Public_Radio


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 21/22

NWS Organization (https://www.weather.gov/organization) (shows all NOAA offices)
U.S. NOAA/NWS Weatheradio page (http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/)
NWR Receiver Consumer Information (http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/info/nwrrcvr.html)
NOAA county-by-county coverage (http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/coverage/county_coverage.htm
l)
ESSA News September 11, 1970 (ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/docs.lib/htdocs/rescue/journals/essa_n
ews/QC801E71970v6no38.pdf)

59. "A New Voice for NOAA Weather Radio" (https://www.weather.gov/gsp/new-nwr-voice). National
Weather Service. Greenville-Spartanburg, SC: U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic
and Atmospheric Administration, National Weather Service. Retrieved September 4, 2017.

60. "WU feature and product updates – Customer Feedback for Weather Underground" (http://help.w
underground.com/knowledgebase/articles/1143553-wu-feature-and-product-updates).
help.wunderground.com. Retrieved September 21, 2017.

"ESSA VHF Weather Radio Stations" Weatherwise magazine, August 1969 (https://dx.doi.org/10.
1080/00431672.1969.9932865)
Marine Weather Services: ESSA VHF Radio Weather, ESSA/PI 680033 1969 (ftp://ftp.library.noa
a.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NOAA_historic_documents/ESSA/ESSA_PI/PI_680033.pdf)
Marine Weather Services: ESSA VHF Radio Weather, ESSA/PI 680033 1970 (https://books.googl
e.com/books?id=O8gHZbsIc04C&printsec=frontcover&source=gbs_ge_summary_r&cad=0#v=on
epage&q&f=false)
NOAA VHF Radio Weather, NOAA/PI 70035, 1970 (ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/
NOAA_historic_documents/NOAA_historical_brochures/Weather/NWS-WeatherRadio1970.pdf)
NOAA VHF Radio Weather, NOAA/PA 70035, Rev. 1972 (https://books.google.com/books?id=xvlj
JyX4J-sC&printsec=frontcover&source=gbs_ge_summary_r&cad=0#v=onepage&q&f=false)
Marine Weather Services: NOAA VHF Radio Weather, NOAA/PA 70029, Rev. 1972 (ftp://ftp.librar
y.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NOAA_historic_documents/NOAA_historical_brochures/Weather/
NWS-MarineWeather-1972.pdf)
Marine Weather Services: NOAA VHF Radio Weather, NOAA/PA 70029, Rev. 1974 (ftp://ftp.librar
y.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NOAA_historic_documents/NOAA_historical_brochures/Weather/
NWS-MarineWeatherServices-1974.pdf)
NOAA Weather Radio NOAA/PA 74035, 1975 (ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NOA
A_historic_documents/NOAA_historical_brochures/Weather/NWS-WeatherRadio-1975.pdf)
Marine Weather Services: NOAA Weather Radio, NOAA/PA 74034, Rev. 1976 (ftp://ftp.library.noa
a.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NOAA_historic_documents/NOAA_historical_brochures/Weather/NWS
-MarineWeatherServices-1976.pdf)
NOAA Weather Radio, NOAA/PA 76015, 1976 (ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NOA
A_historic_documents/NOAA_historical_brochures/Weather/NWS-WeatherRadio-1976.pdf)
NOAA Weather Radio, NOAA/PA 76015, Rev. July 1988 (https://books.google.com/books?id=pw
U_Ce7B8KwC&printsec=frontcover&source=gbs_ge_summary_r&cad=0#v=onepage&q&f=false)
NOAA Weather Radio, NOAA/PA 96070 (station list), May 1999 (ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_do
cuments.lib/NWS/Brochures/NOAA_weather_radio_May_1999.pdf)

External links

NOAA Weather Radio brochure evolution

368

https://www.weather.gov/organization
http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/
http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/info/nwrrcvr.html
http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/coverage/county_coverage.html
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/docs.lib/htdocs/rescue/journals/essa_news/QC801E71970v6no38.pdf
https://www.weather.gov/gsp/new-nwr-voice
http://help.wunderground.com/knowledgebase/articles/1143553-wu-feature-and-product-updates
https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00431672.1969.9932865
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NOAA_historic_documents/ESSA/ESSA_PI/PI_680033.pdf
https://books.google.com/books?id=O8gHZbsIc04C&printsec=frontcover&source=gbs_ge_summary_r&cad=0#v=onepage&q&f=false
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NOAA_historic_documents/NOAA_historical_brochures/Weather/NWS-WeatherRadio1970.pdf
https://books.google.com/books?id=xvljJyX4J-sC&printsec=frontcover&source=gbs_ge_summary_r&cad=0#v=onepage&q&f=false
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NOAA_historic_documents/NOAA_historical_brochures/Weather/NWS-MarineWeather-1972.pdf
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NOAA_historic_documents/NOAA_historical_brochures/Weather/NWS-MarineWeatherServices-1974.pdf
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NOAA_historic_documents/NOAA_historical_brochures/Weather/NWS-WeatherRadio-1975.pdf
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NOAA_historic_documents/NOAA_historical_brochures/Weather/NWS-MarineWeatherServices-1976.pdf
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NOAA_historic_documents/NOAA_historical_brochures/Weather/NWS-WeatherRadio-1976.pdf
https://books.google.com/books?id=pwU_Ce7B8KwC&printsec=frontcover&source=gbs_ge_summary_r&cad=0#v=onepage&q&f=false
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NWS/Brochures/NOAA_weather_radio_May_1999.pdf


4/19/22, 3:34 PM NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/NOAA_Weather_Radio 22/22

Retrieved from "https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=NOAA_Weather_Radio&oldid=1080371488"

This page was last edited on 31 March 2022, at 21:39 (UTC).

Text is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike License 3.0; additional terms may apply. By using
this site, you agree to the Terms of Use and Privacy Policy. Wikipedia® is a registered trademark of the Wikimedia
Foundation, Inc., a non-profit organization.

NOAA Weather Radio, NOAA/PA 200356 (maps), October 2002 (https://permanent.access.gpo.g
ov/gpo1660/NwrBrochure.pdf)
All Hazards NOAA Weather Radio (NWR), NOAA/PA 96070 (no list), October 2007 (ftp://ftp.librar
y.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NWS/Brochures/NWR_all_hazards_Oct_2007.pdf)
NOAA Weather Radio All Hazards (NWR), NOAA/PA 200352 Poster, April 2014 (ftp://ftp.library.no
aa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NWS/Brochures/NOAA_weather_radio_April_2014.pdf,)
All Hazards NOAA Weather Radio, NOAA/PA 94062, Rev. January 2020 (https://www.weather.go
v/media/nwr/NWR_Brochure_NOAA_PA_94062.pdf)

369

https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=NOAA_Weather_Radio&oldid=1080371488
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wikipedia:Text_of_Creative_Commons_Attribution-ShareAlike_3.0_Unported_License
https://foundation.wikimedia.org/wiki/Terms_of_Use
https://foundation.wikimedia.org/wiki/Privacy_policy
https://www.wikimediafoundation.org/
https://permanent.access.gpo.gov/gpo1660/NwrBrochure.pdf
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NWS/Brochures/NWR_all_hazards_Oct_2007.pdf
ftp://ftp.library.noaa.gov/noaa_documents.lib/NWS/Brochures/NOAA_weather_radio_April_2014.pdf,
https://www.weather.gov/media/nwr/NWR_Brochure_NOAA_PA_94062.pdf


4/19/22, 2:51 PM Amazon.com: Midland - WR120B/WR120EZ - NOAA Emergency Weather Alert Radio - S.A.M.E. Localized Programming, Trilingu…

https://www.amazon.com/Midland-WR120B-WR120EZ-Certified-Trilingual/dp/B00176T9OY/ref=asc_df_B00176T9OY/?tag=&linkCode=df0&hvadid=… 1/12

Skip to main content

Qty:1

Electronics Portable Audio & Video Radios Weather Radios

Midland 40…
328

274.99$

Midland -
WR120B/WR120EZ -
NOAA Emergency
Weather Alert Radio -
S.A.M.E. Localized
Programming,
Trilingual Display, 60+
Emergency Alerts, &
Alarm Clock (WR120B
- Box Packaging)
Visit the Midland Store

    15,435 ratings
| 572 answered questions

Amazon's Choice in Weather Radio…

-25% 

List Price:  

& FREE Returns 

Power
Source

AC

Brand Midland

Color White

Item
Weight

1 Pounds

Item
Dimensions
LxWxH

6.1 x 2 x 5.3 inches

Display
Type

LCD

Sponsored › › ›

Select delivery location

& FREE Returns 

FREE delivery Monday, April 25

Or fastest delivery Thursday,
April 21. Order within 9 hrs 9
mins

In Stock. 

  Secure transaction

Ships from Amazon

Sold by Midland Radio

Return policy: Eligible for
Return, Refund or Replacement
within 30 days of receipt 

Support: Free Amazon product
support included 

Add a Protection Plan:

29$ 99

Add to Cart

Buy Now

Enjoy fast, FREE delivery,
exclusive deals and award-
winning movies & TV
shows with Prime 
Try Prime and start saving
today with Fast, FREE
Delivery

3-Year Protection for $2.99

2-Year Protection for $1.99

Add a gift receipt for easy
returns

Add to List

New & Used (4) from 
$29.99  & FREE Shipping.

2 VIDEOS

Roll over image to zoom in

29$ 99

$39.99

Get $50 off instantly: Pay $0.00
$29.99 upon approval for the
Amazon Rewards Visa Card. No
annual fee.

Edition: Box Packaging 

Box
Packaging

$29.99

Clam
Packaging

$49.85

Qty: 1

Home Audio & Theater Premium Audio Headphones Home Theater Systems Speakers Wireless Audio Stereo System Components

All Outer Range - Watch NowBest Sellers Amazon Basics Customer Service Personal Shopper New Releases Today's Deals Prime

Hello
Select your address

Returns
& OrdersElectronics Account & Lists

Hello, Sign in 0

370

https://www.amazon.com/electronics-store/b/ref=dp_bc_aui_C_1?ie=UTF8&node=172282
https://www.amazon.com/Portable-Audio-Video/b/ref=dp_bc_aui_C_2?ie=UTF8&node=172623
https://www.amazon.com/Radios-Portable-Audio-Video/b/ref=dp_bc_aui_C_3?ie=UTF8&node=172681
https://www.amazon.com/Weather-Radios/b/ref=dp_bc_aui_C_4?ie=UTF8&node=6893245011
https://aax-us-iad.amazon.com/x/c/QnjpuILNV7qdaI2_SMGvuloAAAGAQ85yjAEAAAH0AX3Vjq0/http://www.amazon.com/gp/slredirect/picassoRedirect.html?ie=UTF8&adId=A07682792GC81BNANIP0T&qualifier=1650405044&id=5925710783537501&widgetName=sd_onsite_desktop&url=%2Fdp%2FB01N0X0LHF%2Fref%3Dsyn_sd_onsite_desktop_60%3Fpsc%3D1%26pd_rd_w=Ua4WO&pf_rd_p=ec7e49ff-ccce-49e1-b560-6096a83a001b&pf_rd_r=HVWGXMQMC73KVXCK2EBT&pd_rd_r=1e3ba532-1e38-4312-b62a-2f2c57bba477&pd_rd_wg=okdp3
https://www.amazon.com/stores/Midland+Radio/page/0CE7948E-47BE-4EDD-B660-D61F26A1FB3A?ref_=ast_bln
javascript:void(0)
https://www.amazon.com/gp/help/customer/display.html?nodeId=GQ6B6RH72AX8D2TD&ref_=dp_hp
javascript:void(0)
javascript:void(0)
https://www.amazon.com/gp/help/customer/display.html?nodeId=GZXW7X6AKTHNUP6H
https://www.amazon.com/gp/help/seller/at-a-glance.html/ref=dp_merchant_link?ie=UTF8&seller=A33O82Y9CWW4GL&isAmazonFulfilled=1
javascript:void(0)
javascript:void(0)
https://www.amazon.com/ap/signin?openid.return_to=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.amazon.com%2Fgp%2Faw%2Fd%2FB00176T9OY&openid.identity=http%3A%2F%2Fspecs.openid.net%2Fauth%2F2.0%2Fidentifier_select&openid.assoc_handle=usflex&openid.mode=checkid_setup&openid.claimed_id=http%3A%2F%2Fspecs.openid.net%2Fauth%2F2.0%2Fidentifier_select&openid.ns=http%3A%2F%2Fspecs.openid.net%2Fauth%2F2.0&
https://www.amazon.com/gp/offer-listing/B00176T9OY/ref=dp_olp_ALL_mbc?ie=UTF8&condition=ALL
https://www.amazon.com/gp/cobrandcard/marketing.html/ref=unrec_a_cbcc_pb_50gc_t1_mr?pr=con321&inc=50gcUnrec&ts=4fmvjqgfgh4swu7rjarcn1fn0i1whjm&dasin=B00176T9OY&plattr=CB50PB&place=priceblock&imp=2f1dd32e-81bb-4ec2-93b2-16f6b466186f
javascript:void(0);
https://www.amazon.com/Home-Audio-Electronics/b/?ie=UTF8&node=667846011&ref_=topnav_storetab_e_aht
https://www.amazon.com/Premium-Home-Audio/b/?ie=UTF8&node=12097486011&ref_=sv_e_aht_1
https://www.amazon.com/Headphones-Accessories-Supplies/b/?ie=UTF8&node=172541&ref_=sv_e_aht_2
https://www.amazon.com/Home-Theater-Systems/b/?ie=UTF8&node=9977442011&ref_=sv_e_aht_3
https://www.amazon.com/Speakers-Audio-Video/b/?ie=UTF8&node=172563&ref_=sv_e_aht_4
https://www.amazon.com/wireless-streaming-audio/b/?ie=UTF8&node=322215011&ref_=sv_e_aht_5
https://www.amazon.com/Home-Stereo-System-Components/b/?ie=UTF8&node=12097483011&ref_=sv_e_aht_6
javascript: void(0)
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B09PWGRLKQ/ref=dvm_us_or_cs_SWM_all_22OTR/?_encoding=UTF8&ref_=nav_swm_dvm_us_or_cs_SWM_all_22OTR&pf_rd_p=5ab2dcc5-5bb7-4430-8cfe-6c137b58215f&pf_rd_s=nav-sitewide-msg-text&pf_rd_t=4201&pf_rd_i=navbar-4201&pf_rd_m=ATVPDKIKX0DER&pf_rd_r=HVWGXMQMC73KVXCK2EBT
https://www.amazon.com/gp/bestsellers/?ref_=nav_cs_bestsellers
https://www.amazon.com/stores/node/20648519011?channel=discovbar?field-lbr_brands_browse-bin=AmazonBasics&ref_=nav_cs_amazonbasics
https://www.amazon.com/gp/help/customer/display.html?nodeId=508510&ref_=nav_cs_customerservice
https://www.amazon.com/tbyb/ps/program/main?ref_=nav_cs_personal_shopper
https://www.amazon.com/gp/new-releases/?ref_=nav_cs_newreleases
https://www.amazon.com/deals?ref_=nav_cs_gb
https://www.amazon.com/prime?ref_=nav_cs_primelink_nonmember
https://www.amazon.com/customer-preferences/edit?ie=UTF8&preferencesReturnUrl=%2FMidland-WR120B-WR120EZ-Certified-Trilingual%2Fdp%2FB00176T9OY%2Fref%3Dasc_df_B00176T9OY%2F%3Ftag%3D%26linkCode%3Ddf0%26hvadid%3D312068841985%26hvpos%3D%26hvnetw%3Dg%26hvrand%3D4882711091698763178%26hvpone%3D%26hvptwo%3D%26hvqmt%3D%26hvdev%3Dc%26hvdvcmdl%3D%26hvlocint%3D%26hvlocphy%3D9031023%26hvtargid%3Dpla-583323312384%26ref%3D%26adgrpid%3D67623312412%26th%3D1&ref_=topnav_lang
https://www.amazon.com/gp/css/order-history?ref_=nav_orders_first
https://www.amazon.com/gp/cart/view.html?ref_=nav_cart
https://www.amazon.com/ref=nav_logo
https://www.amazon.com/ap/signin?openid.pape.max_auth_age=0&openid.return_to=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.amazon.com%2FMidland-WR120B-WR120EZ-Certified-Trilingual%2Fdp%2FB00176T9OY%2Fref%3Dnav_ya_signin%3Ftag%3D%26linkCode%3Ddf0%26hvadid%3D312068841985%26hvpos%3D%26hvnetw%3Dg%26hvrand%3D4882711091698763178%26hvpone%3D%26hvptwo%3D%26hvqmt%3D%26hvdev%3Dc%26hvdvcmdl%3D%26hvlocint%3D%26hvlocphy%3D9031023%26hvtargid%3Dpla-583323312384%26ref%3D%26adgrpid%3D67623312412%26th%3D1&openid.identity=http%3A%2F%2Fspecs.openid.net%2Fauth%2F2.0%2Fidentifier_select&openid.assoc_handle=usflex&openid.mode=checkid_setup&openid.claimed_id=http%3A%2F%2Fspecs.openid.net%2Fauth%2F2.0%2Fidentifier_select&openid.ns=http%3A%2F%2Fspecs.openid.net%2Fauth%2F2.0&


4/19/22, 2:51 PM Amazon.com: Midland - WR120B/WR120EZ - NOAA Emergency Weather Alert Radio - S.A.M.E. Localized Programming, Trilingu…

https://www.amazon.com/Midland-WR120B-WR120EZ-Certified-Trilingual/dp/B00176T9OY/ref=asc_df_B00176T9OY/?tag=&linkCode=df0&hvadid=… 2/12

Have one to sell?

Top-rated
Emergency

Weather Radio

FosPower 2000mAh NOAA…
24,567

31.99$

Make it a bundle
We found 1 bundle with this item:

+ +

About this item

Public-alert certified monitor
receives 7 NOAA channels with
flood, tornado, thunderstorm, and
other warnings
SAME alert programming sounds
an alert only when specific counties
are threatened
25-county memory system; 90 dB
siren, voice alert, and flashing LED
warning systems
Uses three AA alkaline batteries for
emergency power back-up in the
event of power outage
Built-in clock with alarm and
snooze; measures 6.0 x 1.5 x 5.0
inches (W x H x D); 1-year warranty

Compare with similar items

New & Used (4) from $29.99 & FREE
Shipping.

Midland - WR400, Deluxe NOAA Emergency Weather
Alert Radio - S.A.M.E. Localized Programming, 80+
Emergency Alerts, & Alarm Clock w/ AM/FM Radio

69.99$

Buy it with

Total price: $74.97

Other Sellers on Amazon

$29.99 
& FREE Shipping

Sold by: Midland Radio

Add to Cart

Sell on Amazon

Sponsored 

Sponsored 

Midland - WR120B/WR120EZ -
NOAA Emergency Weather Alert

Radio - S.A.M.E. Localized Progra…

 

 1

This bundle contains 2

items

Midland NOAA
Weather Alert
Emergency Radio Bu…

54$ 98 $61.98

Add all three to Cart

This item: Midland - WR120B/WR120EZ - NOAA Emergency Weather Alert Radio - S.A.M.E. Localized Programming,… $29.99

371

https://aax-us-iad.amazon.com/x/c/QrIkUsFZbmcelNu2mlGxZakAAAGAQ85yjAEAAAH0ARnzxQ4/http://www.amazon.com/gp/slredirect/picassoRedirect.html?ie=UTF8&adId=A0312861CLPWUARIDXBL&qualifier=1650405044&id=5450285101670151&widgetName=sd_onsite_desktop&url=%2Fdp%2FB07FKYHTWP%2Fref%3Dsyn_sd_onsite_desktop_35%3Fpsc%3D1%26pd_rd_plhdr%3Dt
https://www.amazon.com/Midland-18-STR-Strobe-Weather-Hazards/dp/B0002UB2K0/ref=pd_day0fbt_img_sccl_1/139-4837765-7756643?pd_rd_w=HPunx&pf_rd_p=bcb8482a-3db5-4b0b-9f15-b86e24acdb00&pf_rd_r=HVWGXMQMC73KVXCK2EBT&pd_rd_r=914a5484-95f0-4e9a-b579-295f5cc7d3d0&pd_rd_wg=wNh3U&pd_rd_i=B0002UB2K0&psc=1
https://www.amazon.com/Midland-18-259W-Through-Weather-Antenna/dp/B00009V2YP/ref=pd_day0fbt_img_sccl_2/139-4837765-7756643?pd_rd_w=HPunx&pf_rd_p=bcb8482a-3db5-4b0b-9f15-b86e24acdb00&pf_rd_r=HVWGXMQMC73KVXCK2EBT&pd_rd_r=914a5484-95f0-4e9a-b579-295f5cc7d3d0&pd_rd_wg=wNh3U&pd_rd_i=B00009V2YP&psc=1
https://www.amazon.com/gp/offer-listing/B00176T9OY/ref=dp_olp_ALL_mbc?ie=UTF8&condition=ALL
https://aax-us-iad.amazon.com/x/c/QoEC1oFLfCoObzVhAtgExo4AAAGAQ85yjAEAAAH0AZCJEG8/http://www.amazon.com/gp/slredirect/picassoRedirect.html?ie=UTF8&adId=A07672992L08MWSMOIXKI&qualifier=1650405044&id=3497141478219675&widgetName=sd_onsite_desktop&url=%2Fdp%2FB071HFV836%2Fref%3Dsyn_sd_onsite_desktop_219%3Fpsc%3D1%26pd_rd_plhdr%3Dt
https://sellercentral.amazon.com/abis/listing/syh/ref=udp_sdp_sell?_encoding=UTF8&mons_sel_best_mkid=amzn1.mp.o.ATVPDKIKX0DER&ld=AMZUDP&coliid=&asin=B00176T9OY&colid=&qid=&sr=
https://www.amazon.com/Midland-Weather-Alert-Emergency-Bundle/dp/B01I3EVRT2
https://www.amazon.com/product-reviews/B01I3EVRT2
https://www.amazon.com/Midland-18-STR-Strobe-Weather-Hazards/dp/B0002UB2K0/ref=pd_day0fbt_sccl_1/139-4837765-7756643?pd_rd_w=HPunx&pf_rd_p=bcb8482a-3db5-4b0b-9f15-b86e24acdb00&pf_rd_r=HVWGXMQMC73KVXCK2EBT&pd_rd_r=914a5484-95f0-4e9a-b579-295f5cc7d3d0&pd_rd_wg=wNh3U&pd_rd_i=B0002UB2K0&psc=1


4/19/22, 3:33 PM Sign up for Alert LA County

https://lacounty.gov/emergency/alert-la/find-your-emergency-notification-system-2/ 1/6

Sign up for Emergency Alerts
        

We work with agencies across L.A. County to ensure you are
receiving the most up-to-date information. You can also opt
to use an emergency notification system specific to your
community.  Below are additional systems you can use to
ensure you stay safe.

Alhambra -  Alert Alhambra
[https://member.everbridge.net/index/453003085615389#/lo
gin]  
Agoura Hills - Connect-CTY
[http://stagea11.visioninternet.net/i-want-to/connect-cty]  
Arcadia - Alert Arcadia
[https://www.arcadiaca.gov/discover/public_information/alert
_arcadia_.php]  
Artesia - Notify Me [http://www.cityofartesia.us/index.aspx?
nid=64]  
Avalon - Code Red [https://public.coderedweb.com/CNE/en-
US/680352C0D0C7]  
Azusa - Notify Me
[https://www.ci.azusa.ca.us/AlertCenter.aspx]  

372

mailto:?subject=Emergency%20Notification%20Services%20Listings&body=Emergency%20Notification%20Services%20Listings:%20https://lacounty.gov/emergency/alert-la/find-your-emergency-notification-system-2/
https://lacounty.gov/emergency/alert-la/find-your-emergency-notification-system-2/
https://lacounty.gov/emergency/alert-la/find-your-emergency-notification-system-2/
https://lacounty.gov/emergency/alert-la/find-your-emergency-notification-system-2/
https://lacounty.gov/emergency/alert-la/find-your-emergency-notification-system-2/
https://member.everbridge.net/index/453003085615389#/login
http://stagea11.visioninternet.net/i-want-to/connect-cty
https://www.arcadiaca.gov/discover/public_information/alert_arcadia_.php
http://www.cityofartesia.us/index.aspx?nid=64
https://public.coderedweb.com/CNE/en-US/680352C0D0C7
https://www.ci.azusa.ca.us/AlertCenter.aspx
https://messenger.providesupport.com/messenger/0b37mqk0nlprw1epcjru23ksw6.html
https://lacounty.gov/


4/19/22, 3:33 PM Sign up for Alert LA County

https://lacounty.gov/emergency/alert-la/find-your-emergency-notification-system-2/ 2/6

Beverly Hills - Beverly Hills Emergency Alert
[http://www.beverlyhills.org/living/emergencymanagement/e
mergencytelephonenotificationsignup/]  
Bradbury - Blackboard Connect
[http://www.cityofbradbury.org/]  
Burbank - Alert Burbank
[https://www.readyburbank.org/burbank-community-alert]  
Calabasas - Calabasas City Notification System
[https://cityofcalabasas.bbcportal.com/Entry]  
Carson - Alert SouthBay [https://alertsouthbay.com/]  
Claremont - Claremont ENS
[https://member.everbridge.net/index/453003085611465#/si
gnup]  
Compton - Alert Compton
[http://www.comptoncity.org/depts/fire/preparedness/alert.a
sp]  
Culver City - Culver City Stay Informed
[http://www.culvercity.org/live/public-safety/emergency-
preparedness/stay-informed]  
Diamond Bar - Notify Me
[https://www.diamondbarca.gov/769/Emergency-
Notifications]  
Downey - Downey Alerts [https://www.downeyca.org/our-
city/departments/emergency-preparedness/downey-alerts]  
El Monte - Alert LA County [https://www.ci.el-
monte.ca.us/271/Resources-Information]  
El Segundo - Alert SouthBay [https://alertsouthbay.com/]  
Gardena - Alert SouthBay [https://alertsouthbay.com/]  
Glendale - Glendale Emergency Alert
[https://www.glendaleca.gov/government/departments/fire-
department/other/emergency-preparedness-response]  
Hawthorne - Alert SouthBay [https://alertsouthbay.com/]  
Hermosa Beach - Alert SouthBay [https://alertsouthbay.com/]

373

http://www.beverlyhills.org/living/emergencymanagement/emergencytelephonenotificationsignup/
http://www.cityofbradbury.org/
https://www.readyburbank.org/burbank-community-alert
https://cityofcalabasas.bbcportal.com/Entry
https://alertsouthbay.com/
https://member.everbridge.net/index/453003085611465#/signup
http://www.comptoncity.org/depts/fire/preparedness/alert.asp
http://www.culvercity.org/live/public-safety/emergency-preparedness/stay-informed
https://www.diamondbarca.gov/769/Emergency-Notifications
https://www.downeyca.org/our-city/departments/emergency-preparedness/downey-alerts
https://www.ci.el-monte.ca.us/271/Resources-Information
https://alertsouthbay.com/
https://alertsouthbay.com/
https://www.glendaleca.gov/government/departments/fire-department/other/emergency-preparedness-response
https://alertsouthbay.com/
https://alertsouthbay.com/


4/19/22, 3:33 PM Sign up for Alert LA County

https://lacounty.gov/emergency/alert-la/find-your-emergency-notification-system-2/ 3/6

Hidden Hills - Blackboard Connect
[https://hiddenhillscity.org/city-departments/emergency-
preparedness/]  
Huntington Park - Notify Me [https://www.hpca.gov/list.aspx]  
Inglewood - Alert SouthBay [https://alertsouthbay.com/]  
La Canada Flintridge - Alert LCF [http://www.lcf.ca.gov/public-
safety]  
La Habra Heights - Alert LHH 
[http://www.la-habra-heights.org/279/Nixle-Alerts] La Mirada
- Alert LA County
[http://www.cityoflamirada.org/departments/public-
safety/alert-la-county]  
Lomita - Alert LA County
[http://www.lomita.com/cityhall/general_administration/inde
x.cfm?p=../emergency_preparedness/welcome.cfm]

Long Beach - Alert Long Beach
[https://www.longbeach.gov/disasterpreparedness/alert-long-
beach/]  
Los Angeles - Notify LA [http://emergency.lacity.org/notifyla]  
Los Angeles County - Alert LA County
[http://alert.lacounty.gov]  
Malibu - Malibu Disaster Mass Notification
[https://www.malibucity.org/566/Alerts-Emergency-
Notifications]  
Monterey Park - Notify Me
[http://www.montereypark.ca.gov/list.aspx?ListID=169]  
Palos Verdes Estates - Alert SouthBay
[https://alertsouthbay.com/]  
Pasadena - PLEAS
[https://ww5.cityofpasadena.net/fire/pleas/]  
Pico Rivera - Alert LA County [http://www.pico-

374

https://hiddenhillscity.org/city-departments/emergency-preparedness/
https://www.hpca.gov/list.aspx
https://alertsouthbay.com/
http://www.lcf.ca.gov/public-safety
http://www.la-habra-heights.org/279/Nixle-Alerts
http://www.cityoflamirada.org/departments/public-safety/alert-la-county
http://www.lomita.com/cityhall/general_administration/index.cfm?p=../emergency_preparedness/welcome.cfm
https://www.longbeach.gov/disasterpreparedness/alert-long-beach/
http://emergency.lacity.org/notifyla
http://alert.lacounty.gov/
https://www.malibucity.org/566/Alerts-Emergency-Notifications
http://www.montereypark.ca.gov/list.aspx?ListID=169
https://alertsouthbay.com/
https://ww5.cityofpasadena.net/fire/pleas/
http://www.pico-rivera.org/depts/ced/emergency/la.asp


4/19/22, 3:33 PM Sign up for Alert LA County

https://lacounty.gov/emergency/alert-la/find-your-emergency-notification-system-2/ 4/6

rivera.org/depts/ced/emergency/la.asp]  
Rancho Palos Verdes - Alert SouthBay
[https://alertsouthbay.com/]  
Redondo Beach - Alert SouthBay [https://alertsouthbay.com/]
Rolling Hills - Alert SouthBay [https://alertsouthbay.com/]  
Rolling Hills Estates - Alert SouthBay
[https://alertsouthbay.com/]  
Rosemead - Alert LA County
[http://www.cityofrosemead.org/cms/one.aspx?
pageId=10961965]  
San Dimas - Code Red
[https://www.cityofsandimas.com/code-red-emergency-
notification-system/]  
San Gabriel - Alert San Gabriel
[https://www.sangabrielcity.com/1425/Alert-San-Gabriel]  
San Marino - Notify Me [http://www.ci.san-
marino.ca.us/List.aspx]  
Santa Monica - SM Alerts
[https://cityofsantamonica.bbcportal.com/]  
Signal Hill - Notify Me
[http://www.cityofsignalhill.org/64/Emergency-Alert]  
South Gate - South Gate Alerts/Notify Me
[https://connectsouthpasadena.bbcportal.com/Entry]  
South Pasadena - Connect South Pasadena
[https://connectsouthpasadena.bbcportal.com/Entry]  
Temple City - Blackboard Connect [https://www.ci.temple-
city.ca.us/194/Emergency-Notifications]  
Torrance - TorranceAlerts
[http://www.TorranceCA.Gov/TorranceAlerts]  
Vernon - Vernon Notification System
[http://www.cityofvernon.org/]  
Walnut - Walnut Notification System
[http://www.cityofwalnut.org/how-do-i/emergency-

375

http://www.pico-rivera.org/depts/ced/emergency/la.asp
https://alertsouthbay.com/
https://alertsouthbay.com/
https://alertsouthbay.com/
https://alertsouthbay.com/
http://www.cityofrosemead.org/cms/one.aspx?pageId=10961965
https://www.cityofsandimas.com/code-red-emergency-notification-system/
https://www.sangabrielcity.com/1425/Alert-San-Gabriel
http://www.ci.san-marino.ca.us/List.aspx
https://cityofsantamonica.bbcportal.com/
http://www.cityofsignalhill.org/64/Emergency-Alert
https://connectsouthpasadena.bbcportal.com/Entry
https://connectsouthpasadena.bbcportal.com/Entry
https://www.ci.temple-city.ca.us/194/Emergency-Notifications
http://www.torranceca.gov/TorranceAlerts
http://www.cityofvernon.org/
http://www.cityofwalnut.org/how-do-i/emergency-notification-system


4/19/22, 3:33 PM Sign up for Alert LA County

https://lacounty.gov/emergency/alert-la/find-your-emergency-notification-system-2/ 5/6

notification-system]  
West Covina - E-Notification System
[http://www.westcovina.org/about-the-city/enotification]  
West Hollywood - Alert LA County
[https://www.weho.org/services/public-safety/emergency-
preparedness]  
Westlake Village - Blackboard Connect
[https://www.wlv.org/191/Emergency-Notifications]  
Whittier - Alert LA County
[https://www.cityofwhittier.org/government/administrative-
services/emergency-management-and-disaster-
preparedness]

Residents in the cities listed below can subscribe to
receive emergency alerts by visiting Nixle.com
[http://Nixle.com]

Bell 
Bellflower 
Commerce 
Covina 
Duarte 
Glendora 
Irwindale 
La Puente 
La Verne 
Lancaster

Lawndale 
Monrovia 
Montebello 

376

http://www.cityofwalnut.org/how-do-i/emergency-notification-system
http://www.westcovina.org/about-the-city/enotification
https://www.weho.org/services/public-safety/emergency-preparedness
https://www.wlv.org/191/Emergency-Notifications
https://www.cityofwhittier.org/government/administrative-services/emergency-management-and-disaster-preparedness
http://nixle.com/


4/19/22, 3:33 PM Sign up for Alert LA County

https://lacounty.gov/emergency/alert-la/find-your-emergency-notification-system-2/ 6/6

Palmdale 
Paramount
Pomona 
San Fernando 
Santa Clarita 
Sierra Madre

377



Agenda Item No.: 11.F 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH,

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT:
APPROVE FIRST AMENDMENT TO PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
AGREEMENT WITH HQE SYSTEMS INC. COVERING SUPPLEMENTAL
SERVICES FOR A NOT-TO-EXCEED AMOUNT OF $3500.

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
On March 14, 2022, the City Council unanimously voted to direct staff to go forward with HQE
Systems allocating a budget not to exceed $3,500 to further investigate potential co-location
sites for poles. 
 
DISCUSSION:
None.
 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
There is sufficient budget in non-department 65 under account 917 Emergency Preparedness
to fund the $3,500 professional service fee.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Approve professional services agreement as presented.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
CL_AGN_220411_CC_PSA_HQE_Amendment01.pdf
CL_AGN_220425_Item11F_HQE_SirenProject_PublicComment_Redacted.pdf

378

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1327346/CL_AGN_220411_CC_PSA_HQE_Amendment01.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1431683/CL_AGN_220425_Item11F_HQE_SirenProject_PublicComment_Redacted.pdf


65277.00001\34989395.2 
 
 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
 THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
(“First Amendment”) is made and entered into this 11th day of April, 2022, by and between the 
CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, a California municipal corporation (hereinafter the “CITY”), and 
HQE Systems, Inc., a California corporation with its principal office at 42075 Remington 
Avenue, Suite #109, Temecula, California 92590 (hereinafter the “CONSULTANT”). CITY and 
CONSULTANT are sometimes referred to in this First Amendment individually as a “Party” and 
collectively as the “Parties.” 
 

RECITALS 
 

A. CITY and CONSULTANT have entered into that certain Professional Services 
Agreement for Emergency Communications System services last executed on August 26, 
2021 (the “Agreement”). 

 
B. CONSULTANT rendered services under the Agreement, and the CITY paid 

$3,280.00 for such services. 
 

C. The Parties now desire to amend the Agreement in order to extend the term, 
provide for additional services to be rendered by CONSULTANT, and provide for additional 
compensation to CONSULTANT (“First Amendment”).  
 

Now, therefore, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions herein 
contained, CITY and CONSULTANT agree the following terms, as set forth in this First 
Amendment. 
 
1. Section 2 “Scope of Work” of the Agreement is amended to read as follows: 
 

CONSULTANT shall provide the services described in the Scope of Services attached 
to the Agreement as Exhibit A and incorporated therein by reference. CONSULTANT 
shall also provide the following supplemental services (“Supplemental Services”): 
 

Execute Task 2.1 of the Project Scope set by the City and all of the specified 
essential tasks outlined by the City as the sub-tasks. Create the tentative plan of 
action based on information captured from the City. 
 

The term of the Agreement shall be from August 26, 2021 to August 26, 2023 unless 
terminated sooner pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement. Such term may be 
extended upon written agreement of both CITY and CONSULTANT. 

 
2. Section 3 “Cost” of the Agreement is amended to read as follows: 
 

The CITY agrees to pay CONSULTANT for the Scope of Services attached to the 
Agreement as Exhibit A and incorporated therein by reference, a fixed fee of Three 

379



65277.00001\34989395.2 
 
 

Thousand Two Hundred Eighty Dollars ($3,280). The CITY agrees to pay 
CONSULTANT for the Supplemental Services, a fixed fee of Three Thousand Five 
Hundred Dollars ($3,500). These amounts include the cost for the services and all 
expenses, travel and mileage, attendance at meetings, and reimbursable expenses. 
 

3. Section 4 “Method of Payment” of the Agreement is amended to read as follows: 
 

Upon full execution of the Agreement and this First Amendment, CONSULTANT shall 
submit an invoice in duplicate and addressed to the CITY OF ROLLING HILLS, CITY 
MANAGER, 2 Portuguese Bend Road, Rolling Hills, CA 90274. CITY shall remit 
payment for the Services within fourteen (14 days) of receiving the invoices. 

 
4.  Except as amended by this First Amendment, all provisions of the Agreement shall 
remain in full force and effect. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment on the 

date and year first written above. 
 
CITY OF ROLLING HILLS         HQE SYSTEMS, INC. 
 
  
 
__________________________         __________________________ 
ELAINE JENG, City Manager         HENRY HERNANDEZ, Chief Operating Officer    

   
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________          
CHRISTIAN HORVATH, City Clerk 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
__________________________          
MICHAEL JENKINS 
CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
 

380



From: Debra Shrader
To: Arlene Honbo
Cc: Elaine Jeng; Christian Horvath; Leah Mirsch; Patrick Wilson; Bea Dieringer; Jim Black; Jeff Pieper; Don Crocker;

Alfred Visco
Subject: Re: HQE Siren Project for Rolling Hills on City Council Agenda tonight 4/25
Date: Monday, April 25, 2022 11:44:16 AM

Dear City Council Members,

As a block captain, I've watched the city study the use of sirens for notifications in case of
emergencies.  After long months of research, I'm concerned that the approval of the HQE
Siren Project has been postponed to check on a NOAA alternative.  Please move the study
along so we can all benefit. 

Thank you, 

Debra Shrader
Zone 13
RH Block Captain

On Mon, Apr 25, 2022 at 11:06 AM Arlene Honbo < > wrote:
Dear Block Captains and Support Team,
The City Council decided at the March 28 meeting to allocate funds to have HQE Systems
re-assess the placement of proposed siren poles in the city.  They expressed concerns
proposed poles would create view issues.
At the April 11 meeting the City Council postponed the approval of the amended contract of
$3500 to HQE Systems because Councilmember Bea Dieringer wanted to evaluate using
NOAA Weather Radios instead.  A new resident from Malibu alerted Bea that Malibu is not
moving forward with their siren study, although it has not been confirmed.

Please attend the City Council meeting this evening to understand how the City Council
intends to address notifying residents in the event there is no power, no cell phone or phone
service in the event of an emergency.  Our letter from the Block Captains and residents with
support for a siren system was submitted for the March meeting.

If you are unable to attend, please consider sending an email with your opinion.
Thanks!
Arlene

-- 
Debra Shrader

Hope for healing for the world.... I miss people!!

381

mailto:teach2play@gmail.com
mailto:arleneahonbo@gmail.com
mailto:ejeng@cityofrh.net
mailto:chorvath@cityofrh.net
mailto:lmirsch@cityofrh.net
mailto:pwilson@cityofrh.net
mailto:bdieringer@cityofrh.net
mailto:jblack@cityofrh.net
mailto:jpieper@cityofrh.net
mailto:dwcrocker@aol.com
mailto:visco@linkline.com


Agenda Item No.: 12.A 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH, CITY CLERK / EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT TO
CITY MANAGER

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: DISCUSS SETTING TIME LIMITS FOR PUBLIC COMMENTS AND
COUNCIL COMMENTS ON AGENDA ITEMS. (MAYOR BLACK)

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
None.
 
DISCUSSION:
None.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Consider and provide direction to staff.
 
ATTACHMENTS:

382



Agenda Item No.: 12.B 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH,

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: DISCUSS HOLDING AN ANNUAL STATE OF THE CITY EVENT.
(MIRSCH)

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
At the February 14, 2022 City Council meeting, Councilmember Leah Mirsch expanded on the
Council's direction for staff to inform the community on the city's accomplishments and
activities in the last two years to support the 2020 strategic plan and inquired if the City
Council would consider holding a State of the City event annually.  
 
DISCUSSION:
None.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Consider and provide direction to staff.
 
ATTACHMENTS:

383



Agenda Item No.: 12.C 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH,

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: DISCUSS TRACKING TIME SPENT BETWEEN CITY MANAGER AND
INDIVIDUAL COUNCIL MEMBERS. (MAYOR BLACK)

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
None.
 
DISCUSSION:
None.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Consider and provide direction to staff.
 
ATTACHMENTS:

384



Agenda Item No.: 12.D 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH, CITY CLERK / EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT TO
CITY MANAGER

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: CONSIDER POTENTIAL FORMATION OF SUBCOMMITTEE
CONSISTING OF MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL AND ROLLING
HILLS COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION BOARD MEMBERS TO DISCUSS
DRAINAGE ISSUES CITYWIDE. (MAYOR BLACK)

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
None.
 
DISCUSSION:
None.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Provide direction to staff.
 
ATTACHMENTS:

385



Agenda Item No.: 13.A 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: JOHN SIGNO, DIRECTOR OF PLANNING & COMMUNITY SERVICES

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: FIRE FUEL ABATEMENT ENFORCEMENT AND CODE ENFORCEMENT
CASES QUARTERLY REPORT FOR THE FIRST QUARTER OF 2022
(JANUARY 1 THROUGH MARCH 31).

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
The Code Enforcement division provides quarterly updates on code enforcement cases and
fuel abatement cases which consist of active and closed cases. The attachments show active
and closed cases consisting mainly of unpermitted work, dead vegetation and code violation
complaints from neighbors.
 
DISCUSSION:
During the first quarter of 2022, staff transitioned from using an in-house code enforcement
officer to contract services with Willdan Engineering. The previous in-house code enforcement
officer left in December 2021 leaving the City without an officer at the beginning of the year.
Willdan Engineering started at the beginning of March and has been directed to follow up on
on-going cases during the transition period while becoming familiar with the City's tracking
system and procedures.
 
The Code Enforcement Division is continuing to use iWorQ to generate quarterly updates and
track code enforcement and fire fuel abatement cases. Those reports are attached.  In the first
quarter of 2022 (January 1, 2022 through March 31, 2022), there was a total of 4 new Code
Enforcement cases that were opened involving dead vegetation with 1 closed. Additionally,
there were 2 on-going cases opened prior to the quarter that were closed: 1 involved illegal
construction and the other dead vegetation.
 
From January 1, 2021, there were 76 new cases of which 59 were closed; the remaining 17
cases are still active. There were also 2 cases opened prior to 2021 that remain open. Code
Enforcement is following up on those cases.
 
On March 31, 2022, a Quarterly Fire Fuel meeting was held with participants from LA County
Agricultural Commissioner/Weights & Measures (ACWM) and Southern California Edison

386



(SCE). ACWM reported brush clearance activities for four vacant properties in the City, and
activities in neighboring areas. SCE indicated they would begin pre-inspection in May or June.
SCE advises residents to report overgrown vegetation if near power equipment. Residents
can contact SCE on their website, sce.com.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Receive and file.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
Opened_Cases_Report_Q12022.pdf
Closed_Cases_Report_Q12022.pdf
All_Cases_Report_2021-2022.pdf

387

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1341297/Opened_Cases_Report_Q12022.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1341298/Closed_Cases_Report_Q12022.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1341299/All_Cases_Report_2021-2022.pdf


Page: 1 of 1 

 

Opened 
Cases 

 

  

1/1/2022 - 03/31/2022 
 

Case # Case Date Address of Violation Description Main Status 

259 3/24/2022 42 Portuguese Bend Road 3 Dead Trees Open 
258 3/8/2022 74 Saddleback Road Dead Eucalyptus tree/pine trees, 

accumulation of dead vegetation 
Open 

256 3/3/2022 76 Saddleback Road Dead Eucalyptus tree in power 
lines and dead pine tree 

Closed 

255 2/15/2022 17 Bowie Road Dead Vegetation Open 

     
 

 

  

Total Records: 4 4/20/2022 
 

 

388



Page: 1 of 1 

 

Closed 
Cases 
Report 

 

  

1/1/2022 - 03/31/2022 
 

Case # Case Date Address of Violation Description Main Status Case Closed 

Group: 106.5.4 - Expiration. 

119 5/16/2019 67 Portuguese Bend Road Illegal Construction Closed 2/1/2022 

      

Group Total: 1 

Group: 8.30.010 - Dead or alive tumbleweeds and dead trees, shrubs, palm fronds or other plants as 
public nuisance. 

223 6/22/2021 1 Pinto Road Dead Vegetation Closed 3/10/2022 

      

Group Total: 1 

      
 

 

p  

Total Records: 2 4/20/2022 
 

 

389



 
 

All Cases Report 
2021-2022 
1/1/2021 - 4/1/2022 

 

Case Date Status Address of Violation Description 

3/29/2022 Open 42 Portuguese Bend Rd Dead Tree 

3/8/2022 Open 74 Saddleback Road Dead Eucalyptus tree/pine trees, accumulatin of dead 
vegetation 

3/3/2022 Closed 76 Saddleback Road Dead Eucalyptus tree in power lines and dead pine 
tree 

2/15/2022 Open 17 Bowie Road Dead Vegetation 

12/30/2021 Open 3 Appaloosa Lane Dead Tree 

11/23/2021 Open 2 Acacia Lane Unpermitted replacement of roof on guest house, 
unpermitted demolition of pool deck, and no C&D 
permit.  

10/19/2021 Pending 1 Hackamore Road Barking Dog 

10/13/2021 Closed 2 El Concho Illegal structure 

9/28/2021 Closed 8 Midderidge Lane Dead Vegetation 

9/14/2021 Closed 28 Portuguese Bend Road Dead Vegetation 

9/9/2021 Closed 66 Portuguese Bend Road Tumbleweeds 

9/1/2021 Closed 1 Crest Road East Tumbleweeds 

8/23/2021 Closed 38 Crest Road West Dead Vegetation 

8/18/2021 Open 5 Caballeros Road Dead vegetation 

8/18/2021 Closed 7 Crest Road East Tumbleweeds 

8/10/2021 Open 1 Ranchero Road Illegal construction 

8/3/2021 Open 53 Portuguese Bend Road View Impairment 
7/26/2021 Closed 2 Acacia Lane Dead Vegetation 

7/26/2021 Closed 16 Cinchring Road Tumbleweeds 

7/20/2021 Closed 4 Pine Tree Lane Dead Vegetation 

7/23/2021 Closed 19 Wideloop Dead Vegetation 

7/22/2021 Closed 20 Upper Blackwater 
Canyon Road 

Dead vegetation, palm tree fronds, and dead trees 

390



7/22/2021 Closed 62 Eastfield Drive Dead palm tree fronds 

7/21/2021 Closed 6 Open Brand Road Dead fronds 

7/21/2021 Closed 5 Crest Road East Tumbleweeds 

7/20/2021 Closed 88 Saddleback Road Dead Vegetation 

7/1/2021 Closed 6 Saddleback Road Dead Tree 

7/6/2021 Open 1 Chestnut Lane Illegal structure 

6/29/2021 Closed 80 Saddleback Road Dead vegetation  
6/22/2021 Closed 1 Pinto Road Dead Vegetation 

6/28/2021 Closed 77 Portuguese Bend Road Dead Vegetation 

7/21/2021 Closed 1 Crest Road West Dead Vegetation 

6/21/2021 Closed 7 Pine Tree Lane Dead Vegetation 

6/17/2021 Closed 5 Johns Canyon Road View 

6/17/2021 Closed 17 Cinchring Road Dead Vegetation 

6/11/2021 Closed 8 Crest Road East Illegal import/export of dirt 
6/16/2021 Closed 2 Spur Lane Import of gravel; unpermitted 

5/18/2021 Closed 21 Chuckwagon Road Illegal work & no C&D permit 
2/25/2021  2 Spur Lane 17.16.230 - Import and export of soil. 
5/25/2021  5 Chuckwagon Road Dead vegetation 

5/25/2021 Closed 6 Pine Tree Lane Dead Vegetation 

4/27/2021 Closed 7 Chuckwagon Lane Animal complaint 
6/8/2021 Open 2 El Concho Road Planting trees, illegal construction 

6/3/2021 Open 1 Hackamore Road Illegal construction, unpermitted. Boat stored in 
prohibited location. 

4/28/2021  3 Johns Canyon Pine tree obstructing view 

4/26/2021  4 Ranchero Road Dead Vegetation 

4/21/2021 Pending 2 Buggy Whip Drive broken fence and trash 

4/7/2021 Closed 8 Flying Mane Road Old Code Case 

4/7/2021 Closed 4 Middleridge Lane South Old Code Case 

4/7/2021 Closed 76 Eastfield Drive  Old Code Case 

4/7/2021 Closed 7 Crest Road East Old Code Case 

4/7/2021 Closed 1 Middleridge Lane North  Old Code Case 

4/7/2021 Closed 23 Middleridge Lane 
North 

Old Code Case 

4/7/2021 Closed 32 Portuguese Bend Road Old Code Case 

4/7/2021 Closed 30 Portuguese Bend Road Old Code Case 

4/7/2021 Closed 34 Portuguese Bend Road Old Code Case 

391



4/7/2021 Closed 38 Portuguese Bend Road Old Code Case 

4/1/2021 Closed 3 Lower Blackwater  
Canyon 

Dead Vegetation 

3/29/2021 Closed 2 Spur Lane  Dead Vegetation 

3/26/2021 Closed 65 Eastfield Road  Dead Vegetation 

3/25/2021 Closed 77 Saddleback Road  Dead Vegetation 

3/22/2021 Closed 32 Portuguese Bend Road Dead Vegetation 

3/17/2021 Closed 49 Saddleback Road Dead Vegetation 

3/17/2021 Closed 57 Saddleback Road  Dead Vegetation 

3/17/2021 Closed 55 Saddleback Road  Dead Vegetation 

3/11/2021 Closed 6 Possum Ridge Road  Dead Vegetation 

3/4/2021 Closed 3 Spur Lane  Dead Vegetation 

2/23/2021 Closed 76 Saddleback Road Dead Vegetation 

2/23/2021 Closed 74 Saddleback Road  Dead Vegetation 

2/23/2021 Closed 4 Possum Ridge Road  Dead Vegetation 

2/23/2021 Closed 2 Possum Ridge Road Dead Vegetation 

2/23/2021 Closed 1 Crest Road East  Dead Vegetation 

2/3/2021 Closed 11 Upper Blackwater 
Canyon Road 

BMP 

2/3/2021 Closed 12 Upper Blackwater 
Canyon Road 

Dead Vegetation 

2/1/2021 Closed 59 Eastfield Drive  Nuisance 

1/27/2021 Closed 87 Crest Road East Dead Vegetation 

3/11/2020 Open* 2950 Palos Verdes Drive  Expired Permit 
6/24/2020 Open* 61 Eastfield Drive  Grading and Drainage 

    
 

 

Total Records: 78 
Closed: 59 
Not Closed: 19 
 
*Open cases prior to 2021 that have not been closed 

4/20/2022        

 

 

392



Agenda Item No.: 14.A 
Mtg. Date: 04/25/2022

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH,

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 
CALIFORNIA GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 54957.6 
CITY DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVE: CITY MANAGER 
UNREPRESENTED EMPLOYEE: SENIOR MANAGEMENT ANALYST
CANDIDATE

DATE: April 25, 2022

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
None.
 
DISCUSSION:
None.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
None.
 
ATTACHMENTS:

393


	CITY COUNCIL Agenda
	Item 5.A - Cover Page
	Item 5.A - CL_AGN_220425_CC_BlueFolderItem_7I.pdf
	Item 5.A - CL_AGN_220425_CC_BlueFolderItem_11F.pdf
	Item 7.A - Cover Page
	Item 7.A - CL_AGN_220425_CC_AffidavitofPosting.pdf
	Item 7.B - Cover Page
	Item 7.C - Cover Page
	Item 7.C - CL_MIN_220407_CC_F.pdf
	Item 7.C - CL_MIN_220411_CC_F.pdf
	Item 7.D - Cover Page
	Item 7.D - CL_AGN_220425_PaymentOfBills.pdf
	Item 7.E - Cover Page
	Item 7.E - CL_AGN_220425_Rolling Hills YTD Tonnage Report.pdf
	Item 7.F - Cover Page
	Item 7.F - PVPLC Reducing Fuel Load Project RH 2022(Phase 4)_Revised.pdf
	Item 7.F - Fourth Amendment to Fire Fuel Abatement (conservancy)-draft.pdf
	Item 7.G - Cover Page
	Item 7.G - RollingHillsAddendum_RTCs(FinalDraft).pdf
	Item 7.G - PVP_EWMP_Sec_3.5.2(FinalDraft).pdf
	Item 7.G - Email from WaterBoard 040622.pdf
	Item 7.G - Rolling Hills Addendum Letter & Attachments 1.31.2022.pdf
	Item 7.H - Cover Page
	Item 7.H - ResolutionNo1294_59-61_EastfieldDrive_JugeTamayo.pdf
	Item 7.H - Exhibit A - Photo Key and Photos.pdf
	Item 7.H - Exhibit B - April 2014 Deck Photo.pdf
	Item 7.H - Exhibit C - Arborist Report 59 - 61 Eastfield Dr 11-30-2021.pdf
	Item 7.H - CL_AGN_220328_ResolutionNo2021-21-CTV.pdf
	Item 7.I - Cover Page
	Item 7.I - CL_AGN_220411_2021 Financial_Audit_Results-RH.pdf
	Item 7.I - CL_AGN_220411_City of Rolling Hills FS Final 04-08-22.pdf
	Item 7.I - CL_AGN_220411_City of Rolling Hills Report on IC Final 04-08-22.pdf
	Item 7.I - CL_AGN_220411_City of Rolling Hills Audit Communication Letter Final 04-08-22.pdf
	Item 7.I - CL_AGN_220425_Item7I_RH City Audit_PublicComment_Redacted.pdf
	Item 7.J - Cover Page
	Item 7.J - HR_EHB_220425_Final.pdf
	Item 7.K - Cover Page
	Item 7.K - SecondAmendment_CM_Agreement_ElaineJeng_2022_F.pdf
	Item 11.A - Cover Page
	Item 11.B - Cover Page
	Item 11.B - 2022-01-17 US Treasury - ARPA Final Rule - Guidance v2-c1.PDF
	Item 11.C - Cover Page
	Item 11.C - CL_AGN_220314_CC_SewerMain_PortugueseBend_CostEstimate_2021.pdf
	Item 11.C - NV5_Rolling Hills Sewer Main Torrance Additions 3282022-2.pdf
	Item 11.D - Cover Page
	Item 11.D - CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Improvements.pdf
	Item 11.D - CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option01.pdf
	Item 11.D - CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option01B.pdf
	Item 11.D - CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option02.pdf
	Item 11.D - CL_AGN_220314_CC_CityHall_ADA_Option03.pdf
	Item 11.E - Cover Page
	Item 11.E - April11-2022EmailKamranJahangard.pdf
	Item 11.E - Malibu_Siren Feasibility Report_14JULY2020_FINAL.pdf
	Item 11.E - NOAA Weather Radio.pdf
	Item 11.E - NOAA Weather Radio - Wikipedia.pdf
	Item 11.E - Amazon.comMidlandNOAAWeatherRadio.pdf
	Item 11.E - Sign up for Alert LA County.pdf
	Item 11.F - Cover Page
	Item 11.F - CL_AGN_220411_CC_PSA_HQE_Amendment01.pdf
	Item 11.F - CL_AGN_220425_Item11F_HQE_SirenProject_PublicComment_Redacted.pdf
	Item 12.A - Cover Page
	Item 12.B - Cover Page
	Item 12.C - Cover Page
	Item 12.D - Cover Page
	Item 13.A - Cover Page
	Item 13.A - Opened_Cases_Report_Q12022.pdf
	Item 13.A - Closed_Cases_Report_Q12022.pdf
	Item 13.A - All_Cases_Report_2021-2022.pdf
	Item 14.A - Cover Page



